MORTALITY OF PEOPLE WITH SEVERE MENTAL ILLNESS: CAUSES AND WAYS OF ITS REDUCTION

EDITED BY: Mario Luciano, Andrea Fiorillo, Maurizio Pompili and Norman Sartorius PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Psychiatry





Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-83250-107-8 DOI 10.3389/978-2-83250-107-8

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

MORTALITY OF PEOPLE WITH SEVERE MENTAL ILLNESS: CAUSES AND WAYS OF ITS REDUCTION

Topic Editors:

Mario Luciano, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy Andrea Fiorillo, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy Maurizio Pompili, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy Norman Sartorius, Action for Mental Health (AMH), Switzerland

Citation: Luciano, M., Fiorillo, A., Pompili, M., Sartorius, N., eds. (2022). Mortality of People with Severe Mental Illness: Causes and Ways of its Reduction. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-83250-107-8

Table of Contents

05 Editorial: Mortality of People with Severe Mental Illness: Causes and Ways of its Reduction

Mario Luciano, Maurizio Pompili, Norman Sartorius and Andrea Fiorillo

09 Resilience, Cardiological Outcome, and Their Correlations With Anxious-Depressive Symptoms and Quality of Life in Patients With an Implantable Cardioverter Defibrillator

Celeste Isella, Alessandra Gasparini, Giulia Lucca, Marta Ielmini, Ivano Caselli, Nicola Poloni, Carlo Dajelli Ermolli, Fabrizio Caravati, Battistina Castiglioni, Roberto De Ponti and Camilla Callegari

- 16 Biomarkers, Inflammation, and Bipolar Disorder: Association Between the Improvement of Bipolar Disorder Severity and the Improvement in C-Reactive Protein Levels After 7 Days of Inpatient Treatment Alessandro Cuomo, Despoina Koukouna, Alessandro Spiti, Giovanni Barillà, Arianna Goracci, Simone Bolognesi and Andrea Fagiolini
- 21 Use of Psychoeducation for Psychotic Disorder Patients Treated With Modern, Long-Acting, Injected Antipsychotics Antonio Ventriglio, Annamaria Petito, João Maurício Castaldelli-Maia,

Julio Torales, Valeria Sannicandro, Eleonora Milano, Salvatore Iuso and Antonello Bellomo

- 27 The Importance of Suicide Risk Formulation in Schizophrenia Isabella Berardelli, Elena Rogante, Salvatore Sarubbi, Denise Erbuto, David Lester and Maurizio Pompili
- 40 COVID-19-Related Mortality Risk in People With Severe Mental Illness: A Systematic and Critical Review

Marc De Hert, Victor Mazereel, Marc Stroobants, Livia De Picker, Kristof Van Assche and Johan Detraux

60 Barriers to Somatic Health Care for Persons With Severe Mental Illness in Belgium: A Qualitative Study of Patients' and Healthcare Professionals' Perspectives

Laurence Kohn, Wendy Christiaens, Johan Detraux, Jan De Lepeleire, Marc De Hert, Benoit Gillain, Benjamin Delaunoit, Isabelle Savoye, Patriek Mistiaen and Vicky Jespers

71 Case Series: Managing Severe Mental Illness in Disaster Situation: the Croatian Experience After 2020 Earthquake

Sara Medved, Azijada Srkalović Imširagić, Igor Salopek, Dragan Puljić, Hrvoje Handl, Marina Kovač, Alma Mihaljević Peleš, Danijela Štimac Grbic, Luka Romančuk, Roberto MuŽić, Laura Shields Zeeman and Martina Rojnić Kuzman

78 Scaling Evidence-Based Interventions to Improve the Cardiovascular Health of People With Serious Mental Illness

Christina T. Yuan, Emma E. McGinty, Arlene Dalcin, Stacy Goldsholl, Faith Dickerson, Kimberly A. Gudzune, Gerald J. Jerome, David A. Thompson, Karly A. Murphy, Eva Minahan and Gail L. Daumit

85 Concept of the Munich/Augsburg Consortium Precision in Mental Health for the German Center of Mental Health

Peter Falkai, Nikolaos Koutsouleris, Katja Bertsch, Mirko Bialas, Elisabeth Binder, Markus Bühner, Alena Buyx, Na Cai, Silvia Cappello, Thomas Ehring, Jochen Gensichen, Johannes Hamann, Alkomiet Hasan, Peter Henningsen, Stefan Leucht, Karl Heinz Möhrmann, Elisabeth Nagelstutz, Frank Padberg, Annette Peters, Lea Pfäffel, Daniela Reich-Erkelenz, Valentin Riedl, Daniel Rueckert, Andrea Schmitt, Gerd Schulte-Körne, Elfriede Scheuring, Thomas G. Schulze, Rudolf Starzengruber, Susanne Stier, Fabian J. Theis, Juliane Winkelmann, Wolfgang Wurst and Josef Priller

- 101 The Complex Interplay Between Physical Activity and Recovery Styles in Patients With Severe Mental Disorders in a Real-World Multicentric Study Gaia Sampogna, Mario Luciano, Matteo Di Vincenzo, Ileana Andriola, Enrico D'Ambrosio, Mario Amore, Gianluca Serafini, Alessandro Rossi, Claudia Carmassi, Liliana Dell'Osso, Giorgio Di Lorenzo, Alberto Siracusano, Rodolfo Rossi, Andrea Fiorillo and Working Group LIFESTYLE
- 112 Effects of Exercise on Mortality Rates of Individuals with Severe Mental Illness

David A. Baron, Asmita Mishrekar and Shan Kazmi

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Stephan Zipfel, University of Tübingen, Germany

*CORRESPONDENCE Mario Luciano mario.luciano@unicampania.it

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Psychological Therapy and Psychosomatics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 02 August 2022 ACCEPTED 03 August 2022 PUBLISHED 18 August 2022

CITATION

Luciano M, Pompili M, Sartorius N and Fiorillo A (2022) Editorial: Mortality of people with severe mental illness: Causes and ways of its reduction. *Front. Psychiatry* 13:1009772. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.1009772

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Luciano, Pompili, Sartorius and Fiorillo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Mortality of people with severe mental illness: Causes and ways of its reduction

Mario Luciano^{1*}, Maurizio Pompili², Norman Sartorius³ and Andrea Fiorillo¹

¹Department of Psychiatry, University of Campania "Luigi Vanvitelli", Naples, Italy, ²Department of Neurosciences, Mental Health, and Sensory Organs, Faculty of Medicine and Psychology, Suicide Prevention Centre, Sant'Andrea Hospital, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ³Association for the Improvement of Mental Health Programmes (AMH), Geneva, Switzerland

KEYWORDS

lifestyle, mental disorders, physical activity, mortality, morbidity

Editorial on the Research Topic

Mortality of people with severe mental illness: Causes and ways of its reduction

Severe mental disorders (SMD) are associated with a variety of other illnesses and have poorer health outcomes and higher mortality than other non-communicable disease (1-3). People with severe mental disorders die on average 10–20 years earlier than the general population (4); this gap is increasing over time and recent data suggest that their standardized mortality ratios are higher than those previously reported (5). Only a minority of deaths of people with SMD are attributable to unnatural causes, such as suicide, homicide or accidents (6, 7): the majority of deaths are due to physical disorders, such as cardiovascular, respiratory and infectious diseases, diabetes mellitus and cancers (8, 9).

During the COVID-19 pandemic the mortality rates of patients with SMIs were even higher, due to physical complications of COVID-19 infection (10) and reduced access to care. Compared with the general population, people with SMI have a significantly higher risk of being infected by COVID-19, and of being hospitalized in intensive care units due to COVID-19 complications (11). This increased risk is due to several factors, including: (1) the presence of cognitive dysfunctions in people with SMI, which diminish compliance with preventive behavior (12); (2) the higher prevalence of comorbid medical conditions that are associated with severe forms of COVID-19 illness; (3) socioeconomic disadvantages, which result in unsafe working and living environments. Moreover, available data on COVID-19 infection suggest that people with severe mental disorders are more likely to be infected and die because of COVID-19 sequelae (13, 14). For these reasons, it has been advocated that patients with SMD should be given priority in programs of vaccination against COVID-19 (11, 15). The increased morbidity and mortality in patients with severe mental disorders is also due to unhealthy lifestyle behaviors. Compared with the general population, patients with SDM have higher rates of sedentary behaviors, of tobacco smoking and of unhealthy diet (16, 17). Moreover, these patients are less likely to comply with appropriate interventions to correct unhealthy lifestyle behaviors and to seek medical help for physical diseases (18).

Among other factors that can contribute to the excess of morbidity and mortality in patients with severe mental disorders, various forms of stigma play an important role. Stigma leads to professionals' negative attitudes toward people with mental disorders, and to discrimination in the process of health care. Side-effects of many psychotropic medications and drugs are also contributing to the increased vulnerability to physical illness of people with SMD (19, 20).

More recently, the increased comorbidity between SMDs and physical disorders was seen as being related to common etiopathogenetic factors of SMD and other disorders, including the involvement of the immunological system, inflammation, and mitochondrial dysfunction (21). In fact, a low-grade systemic inflammatory state has been reported both in patients with SMD and in patients with metabolic syndrome, type 2 diabetes mellitus, moderate to severe obesity and hypertension (22).

Moreover, this evidence is further supported by the fact that interventions aimed at improving physical health activities or at rebalancing unhealthy as well as attention to diet habits in people with severe mental disorders are associated with a reduction of inflammatory state, through a reduction in blood levels of BDNF and pro-inflammatory cytokines, which leads to an improvement of health and a recovery from both physical and mental illnesses (23, 24).

From a public health perspective, the comorbidity between mental and physical disorders should be now considered a major health problem. Parallel to the public awareness of the magnitude of this problem, it became clear that a single discipline approach will not be able to identify effective solutions and that a multilevel approach, including the involvement of different health professionals and, stakeholders, patients and relatives, is needed for a proper long-term management of physical and mental health conditions.

The importance of lifestyle for the maintenance of physical and mental health led to the development of several psychosocial and behavioral interventions aiming at an improvement patients' physical health and dietary patterns and a reduction of alcohol abuse and tobacco smoking. The ultimate aims of these interventions were the reduction of cardiovascular risk factors and of the Body Mass Index (BMI). In addition to encouraging results, these studies also made it clear that that the improvement of physical health of people with severe mental disorders also leads to an improvement of mental health and progress in several other health-related domains, such as patients' empowerment, improved social contacts, and a reduction of the numbers of relapses and hospitalizations (16).

The focus of the Research Topic "Mortality of People with Severe Mental Illness: Causes and Ways of its Reduction" is to improve the understanding of the complex relationship between the higher rates of mortality and physical comorbidities of people with SMD and of risk factors and treatment strategies to improve the health and life of people with SMIs. All these issues have been addressed in the Research Topic. Six accepted papers are original research (4 are Original Research Papers and 2 are Brief Research Reports); moreover, the issue also includes 1 Review, 1 Policy and Practice Review paper, 1 Mini Review, 1 Perspective and 1 Case report paper, covering most aspects related to the management of physical comorbidity in patients with severe mental disorders.

Several papers included in this Research Topic delt with the clinical characterization of patients with severe mental disorders at risk of developing physical illnesses. The paper by Isella et al. focused on the role of resilience in a sample of patients who received an implantable cardioverter defibrillator; Sampogna et al. explored, in a sample of patients with SMD, the influence of recovery style on patients' engagement in healthy lifestyle behaviors, physical activity and improvement of dietary patterns. Baron et al. have addressed the issue of physical activity of patients with SMD, reporting that interventions associated with an improvement of physical activity levels can reduce patients' overall mortality. The paper by Berardelli et al. dealt with the relationship between lifestyle behaviors, mental health, and suicide risk and ideation.

The relationship among mental and physical health during emergencies have been addressed by De Hert et al. and by Medved et al. In particular, De Hert et al. provided an overview of published studies addressing the increased mortality rates of patients with SMD during the COVID-19 pandemic, while Medved et al. described the impact of the 2020 Croatian devastating earthquake on the physical and mental health of people with SMD Cuomo et al. focused on the inflammatory processes and on the association between inflammation and onset and maintenance of mental disorders showing an increase of a series of inflammatory markers in acute phase of patients with bipolar disorder, and the normalization of these indexes associated with the improvement of the patients' mental health status.

Four papers included in this Research Topic deal with interventions aiming at improving the physical health of people with severe mental disorders. Ventriglio et al. tested the efficacy of a psychosocial intervention providing information about the possible metabolic side effects of antipsychotics and their prevention and management. They reported that patients with SMD receiving the experimental intervention reported an improvement of BMI, a decrease in serum levels of fasting glucose, hemoglobin glycosylation and cholesterol, along with an improvement in mental health-related domains. The challenges in the implementation of psychosocial interventions in routine practice has been addressed by Yuan et al. and by Kohn et al. In particular, Yuan et al. reported results of the implementation of interventions related to (1) weight loss; (2) tobacco smoking cessation; and (3) hypertension, dyslipidaemia and diabetes care, in a sample of patients with SMD. Kohn et al., in their original research paper, analyzed patients' and healthcare professionals' perspectives on somatic health in three psychiatric settings. They reported that stigma, communication difficulties among professionals and organizational difficulties (i.e., low availability of equipment, reduced building capacity, understaffing) are the most important factors hindering the achievement of satisfying levels of physical health in people with severe mental disorders.

Lastly, in their Policy and Practice Review, Falkai et al. present in overview of the activity of the "Munich/Augsburg consortium Precision in Mental Health (PriMe)," which will develop a global research framework aiming to deepen the understanding of comorbidities of patients with SMD and to identify and validate predictive markers of chronicity and mortality in in routine settings The PriMe Consortium will also aim to develop novel multimodal treatments, identify strategies to disseminate personalized treatments and ways to test their effectiveness, utility and scalability.

Taken together, the papers included in this Research Topic provide new knowledge and insights about the comorbidity of mental and physical disorders; they also highlight that much more work needs to be done. Over the past 10 years research on the complex interplay between mental and physical health has rapidly progressed and produced important evidence In

References

1. Fiorillo A, Luciano M, Pompili M, Sartorius N. Editorial: Reducing the mortality gap in people with severe mental disorders: the role of lifestyle psychosocial interventions. *Front Psychiatry.* (2019) 20:434. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00434

2. Thornicroft G. Physical health disparities and mental illness: the scandal of premature mortality. *Br J Psychiatry.* (2011) 199:441–2. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.111.092718

3. Plana-Ripoll O, Musliner KL, Dalsgaard S, Momen NC, Weye N, Christensen MK, et al. Nature and prevalence of combinations of mental disorders and their association with excess mortality in a population-based cohort study. *World Psychiatry.* (2020) 19:339–49. doi: 10.1002/wps.20802

4. Correll CU, Sikich L, Reeves G, Johnson J, Keeton C, Spanos M, et al. Metformin add-on vs. antipsychotic switch vs continued antipsychotic treatment plus healthy lifestyle education in overweight or obese youth with severe mentai ilness: results from the IMPACT trial. *World Psychiatry*. (2020) 19:69–80. doi: 10.1002/wps.20714

5. Zabeen S, Lawn S, Venning A, Fairweather K. Why do people with severe mental illness have poor cardiovascular health?-The need for implementing a recovery-based self-management approach. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 18:12556. doi: 10.3390/ijerph182312556

6. Firth J, Solmi M, Wootton RE, Vancampfort D, Schuch FB, Hoare E, et al. A meta-review of "lifestyle psychiatry": the role of exercise, smoking, diet and sleep in the prevention and treatment of mental disorders. *World Psychiatry.* (2020) 19:360–80. doi: 10.1002/wps.20773

the years to come, research should focus on the identification of protective factors that could reduce comorbidity of mental and physical disorders and reduce the mortality of people with severe mental disorders and on the acquisition of results which will allow the assessment of the value and cost-effectiveness of psychosocial interventions in dealing with the problems of comorbidity.

Author contributions

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

7. Leucht S, Burkard T, Henderson J, Maj M, Sartorius N. Physical illness and schizophrenia: a review of the literature. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2007) 116:317–33. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.2007.01095.x

8. World Health Organization (WHO). Management of Physical Health Conditions in Adults With Severe Mental Disorders. WHO Guidelines (2018). Available online at: https://www.who.int/mental_health/evidence/guidelines_ physical_health_and_severe_mental_disorders/en/

9. Fabrazzo M, Monteleone P, Prisco V, Perris F, Catapano F, Tortorella A, et al. Olanzapine Is faster than haloperidol in inducing metabolic abnormalities in schizophrenic and bipolar patients. *Neuropsychobiology*. (2015) 72:29–36. doi: 10.1159/000437430

10. Adhanom Ghebreyesus T. Addressing mental health needs: an integral part of COVID-19 response. *World Psychiatry.* (2020) 19:129–30. doi: 10.1002/wps. 20768

11. De Hert M, Mazereel V, Detraux J, Van Assche K. Prioritizing COVID-19 vaccination for people with severe mental illness. *World Psychiatry*. (2021) 20:54–5. doi: 10.1002/wps.20826

12. Stewart DE, Appelbaum PS. COVID-19 and psychiatrists' responsibilities: a WPA position paper. *World Psychiatry.* (2020) 19:406–7. doi: 10.1002/wps.20803

13. Taquet M, Geddes JR, Husain M, Luciano S, Harrison PJ. 6-month neurological and psychiatric outcomes in 236 379 survivors of COVID-19: a retrospective cohort study using electronic health records. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2021) 8:416–27. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(21)00084-5

14. Wang Q, Xu R, Volkow ND. Increased risk of COVID-19 infection and mortality in people with mental disorders: analysis from electronic health records in the United States. *World Psychiatry*. (2021) 20:124–30. doi: 10.1002/wps.20806

15. Tzur Bitan D. Patients with schizophrenia are under-vaccinated for COVID-19: a report from Israel. *World Psychiatry*. (2021) 20:300–1. doi: 10.1002/wps.20874

16. Luciano M, Sampogna G, Del Vecchio V, Giallonardo V, Palummo C, Andriola I, et al. The impact of clinical and social factors on the physical health of people with severe mental illness: results from an Italian multicentre study. *Psychiatry Res.* (2021) 303:114073. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2021.114073

17. Teasdale SB, Jackson SE, Smith L, Eaton M, Jacka FN, Veronese N, et al. A meta-review of "lifestyle psychiatry": the role of exercise, smoking, diet and sleep in the prevention and treatment of mental disorders. *World Psychiatry*. (2020) 19:360–80. doi: 10.1002/wps.20773

18. Jacob L, Tully MA, Barnett Y, Lopez-Sanchez GF, Butler L, Schuch F, et al. The relationship between physical activity and mental health in a sample of the UK public: a cross-sectional study during the implementation of COVID-19 social distancing measures. *Ment Health Phys Act.* (2020) 19:100345. doi: 10.1016/j.mhpa.2020.100345

19. Solmi M, Fornaro M, Ostinelli EG, Zangani C, Croatto G, Monaco F, et al. Safety of 80 antidepressants, antipsychotics, anti-attention-deficit/hyperactivity medications and mood stabilizers in children and adolescents with psychiatric disorders: a large scale systematic meta-review of 78 adverse effects. *World Psychiatry*. (2020) 19:214–232. doi: 10.1002/wps.20765

20. Correll CU, Cortese S, Croatto G, Monaco F, Krinitski D, Arrondo G, et al. Efficacy and acceptability of pharmacological, psychosocial, and brain stimulation interventions in children and adolescents with mental disorders: an umbrella review. *World Psychiatry.* (2021) 20:244–75. doi: 10.1002/wps.2 0881

21. Bersani FS, Biondi M, Coviello M, Fagiolini A, Majorana M, Minichino A, et al. Psychoeducational intervention focused on healthy living improves psychopathological severity and lifestyle quality in psychiatric patients: preliminary findings from a controlled study. *J Ment Health.* (2017) 26:271–5. doi: 10.1080/09638237.2017.1294741

22. Lindqvist D, Dhabhar FS, James SJ, Hough CM, Jain FA, Bersani FS, et al. Oxidative stress, inflammation and treatment response in major depression. *Psychoneuroendocrinology.* (2017) 76:197–205. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2016.11.031

23. Ryu J, Jung JH, Kim J, Kim CH, Lee HB, Kim DH, et al. Outdoor cycling improves clinical symptoms, cognition and objectively measured physical activity in patients with schizophrenia: a randomized controlled trial. *J Psychiatr Res.* (2020) 120:144–53. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2019. 10.015

24. Firth J, Stubbs B, Teasdale SB, Ward PB, Veronese N, Shivappa N, et al. Diet as a hot topic in psychiatry: a population-scale study of nutritional intake and inflammatory potential in severe mental illness. *World Psychiatry.* (2018) 17:365–7. doi: 10.1002/wps.20571





Resilience, Cardiological Outcome, and Their Correlations With Anxious-Depressive Symptoms and Quality of Life in Patients With an Implantable Cardioverter Defibrillator

Celeste Isella¹, Alessandra Gasparini¹, Giulia Lucca¹, Marta Ielmini¹, Ivano Caselli¹, Nicola Poloni¹, Carlo Dajelli Ermolli², Fabrizio Caravati², Battistina Castiglioni², Roberto De Ponti² and Camilla Callegari^{1*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Andrea Fiorillo, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

Reviewed by:

Delfina Janiri, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy Gaia Sampogna, University of Campania "L. Vanvitelli", Italy

> *Correspondence: Camilla Callegari camilla.callegari@uninsubria.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychosomatic Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 24 August 2021 Accepted: 27 October 2021 Published: 24 November 2021

Citation:

Isella C, Gasparini A, Lucca G, Ielmini M, Caselli I, Poloni N, Dajelli Ermolli C, Caravati F, Castiglioni B, De Ponti R and Callegari C (2021) Resilience, Cardiological Outcome, and Their Correlations With Anxious-Depressive Symptoms and Quality of Life in Patients With an Implantable Cardioverter Defibrillator. Front. Psychiatry 12:763726. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.763726 ¹ Department of Medicine and Surgery, Section of Psychiatry, University of Insubria, Varese, Italy, ² Department of Heart and Vessels, Ospedale di Circolo, University of Insubria, Varese, Italy

Background: Resilience is proven as a protective factor against the development of psychiatric disorders, and it has gained clinical relevance in the development and progression of cardiovascular pathology. The authors performed a longitudinal study on patients with implantable cardioverter defibrillator (ICD) with the primary aim to highlight the possible existence of a correlation between individual resilience capacity, depressive and anxiety symptoms, and quality of life in terms of outcomes. The secondary aim was to analyze the differences between patients with major cardiac events in the follow-up and patients without cardiac events with respect to the previous variables.

Materials and Methods: A total of 80 patients enrolled in the Cardiology Unit were evaluated at T_0 and during the follow-up through the following scales: the *14-item Resilience Scale* (RS-14), the *Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale* (HADS), and the *World Health Organization Quality of Life-Brief Version* (WHOQOL-Bref).

Results: A significant linear correlation between resilience and all the areas of quality of life at T_0 , T_1 , and T_2 emerged. A negative correlation between resilience and anxiety and depressive symptoms emerged, as well as between depression and anxiety and quality of life. Patients with cardiac events during the follow up have shown a worse quality of life and the onset of anxiety-depressive symptoms over time, without changes to the resilience scores. Patients without cardiac events showed an increasing trend in resilience scores.

Discussion: Given the speed and simplicity of use of the RS-14 scale, it seems promising to further investigate the real clinical usefulness of this instrument in the cardiology field.

Keywords: implantable cardioverter defibrillator, resilience, anxiety, depression, life quality, screening, outcome

BACKGROUND

In recent years, resilience, defined as the "universal capacity which allows a person, group or community to prevent, minimize or overcome the damaging effects of adversity" (1), has gained clinical relevance in several medical disciplines, with particular attention to development and progression of chronic diseases. In fact, resilience not only moderates the link between risk factors and outcome but also allows maximizing the benefits coming from specific interventions, aimed at recovering from specific pathologies (2, 3). Indeed, resilience has proved itself effective in allowing a more rapid remission, increasing coping skills regarding one's condition and related treatments; this is also in line with current neuroscientific models (4-6). Regarding cardiovascular pathology, resilience is found to be particularly high in patients with coronary artery disease (7), although lower than the general population (8), and is associated with a better outcome (9) and a minor incidence of post-traumatic stress disorder symptoms (10). Some authors (5, 11) found that in cardiovascular population, psychological resilience seems to independently predict patients' mental and physical quality of life but has not been examined in relation to depression and in relation to the use of implantable cardioverter defibrillator (ICD).

Most patients undergoing ICD placement are able, within a span of variable time after the surgery, to recover their normal level of activity (12) with a good degree of satisfaction with the device (13). However, a significant percentage of patients could experience more relevant difficulties, which may persist for a prolonged time. The reported prevalence of common psychological and emotional disorders among carriers of ICD ranges from 15 to 60% (14, 15). The most represented diagnoses are anxiety disorders (24–87%), depressive disorders (9–15%), post-traumatic stress disorder (up to 20%), and adjustment disorders (16, 17).

The link between resilience and depressive symptoms is also well-known; several studies concluded that resilience is a protective factor against the development of psychiatric disorders, such as PTSD and depression (18, 19). Furthermore, negative effects and their reciprocal influences with resilience have been related to an increased risk of mortality in patients with cardiovascular disease (20, 21). In fact, there is an intrinsic relationship between psychological state and arrhythmic risk, demonstrated by the increased incidence of ventricular arrhythmias malignant in subjects with anxiety and depression (11).

Moreover, the psychological sequelae, experienced by ICD patients, may cause an impairment of their quality of life. The perception of a good quality of life in ICD carriers, defined as "a multidimensional health outcome in which biological, psychological and social functioning are interdependent," should be taken into consideration as a success factor for the implant (22).

Given this premise, the authors performed a longitudinal study on 80 patients with ICD with the primary aim to highlight the possible existence of a correlation between individual resilience capacity and depressive and anxiety symptoms, using quality of life in terms of outcomes. The secondary aim was to analyze the differences between patients with major cardiac events (death, hospitalizations, incidence of arrhythmias, and ICD shocks) in the follow-up and patients without cardiac events with respect to the previous variables.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The prospective observational study VC was conducted on 80 patients enrolled in the Cardiology Unit of the "ASST Sette Laghi—Ospedale di Circolo—Fondazione Macchi" of Varese. The study was approved by the Ethical Committee of Insubria on April 10, 2018 (study no. 22). This study observed regulatory and legal requirements (DL n.211, June 24, 2003, and DM December 17, 2004), according to the Declaration of Helsinki's ethical principles. Following the Institutional Review Board approval, all patients were specifically informed about the opportunity to participate in this study and signed a written specific consent before the enrollment. Data collected referred to the period between June 15, 2018 and June 30, 2019. Patients were evaluated at T_0 , at the time of ICD implant, after 3 months (T_1), and after 12 months (T_2).

To be enrolled in the present study, patients had to fulfill the following inclusion criteria: patients aged between 18 and 85 years with indication to ICD implant, both in primary and secondary prevention; and willingness to sign the informed consent. Exclusion criteria were life expectancy <12 months, neurodegenerative diseases, moderate or severe cognitive impairment, moderate or severe intellectual disability, depressive and anxiety disorders diagnosis, previous or current psychopharmacology treatment at T₀, or abuse of alcohol or illicit substances. The following socio-demographic and clinical variables were taken into consideration: gender, age, education, marital status, employment, living conditions, past medical history, length of hospitalization, type of ICD, New York Heart Association (NYHA) (23) class, number of shocks after the implant, hospitalization, and access to the emergency room of cardiological relevance.

The following evaluation scales were administered at T_0 and during the follow up: the *14-item Resilience Scale*, which allows the assessment of resilience levels according to a two-factor structure (competence personal and self-acceptance) (24–26); the *Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale* (HADS) that consists of 14 items, 7 of those for anxiety levels, whereas the others estimate depression grades, and that showed acceptable psychometric properties in several medical fields including cardiology (27, 28); and the *World Health Organization Quality of Life-Brief Version* (WHOQOL-Bref), shortened version of WHOQoL-100, which comprises four domains (physical health, psychological health, relationships, and environment) and allows an overall judgment on patients' quality of life and on general health (29, 30).

Collected data were analyzed using SPSS Version 22.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, 2013). Continuous variables were represented by mean \pm deviation standard or median \pm standard error in case of non-Gaussian distribution. The qualitative

TABLE 2 | Psychological variables at T₀, T₁ and T₂.

| | Total |
|--|----------------|
| Gender | |
| Male | 60 (80%) |
| Female | 15 (20%) |
| Age | |
| Mean | 69 ± 10.49 |
| Education | |
| None | 1 (1.3%) |
| Primary school | 26 (34.7%) |
| Junior high school/High school | 6 (60%) |
| Bachelor's degree | 3 (4%) |
| Marital status | |
| Unmarried | 4 (5.3%) |
| Married | 58 (77.3%) |
| Divorced | 6 (8%) |
| Widowed | 7 (9.4%) |
| Employment | |
| Unemployed | 14 (28.6%) |
| Employed | 10 (20.4%) |
| Retired | 25 (51%) |
| Living condition | |
| No caregiver | 69 (92%) |
| Caregiver | 6 (8%) |
| Familiarity for serious mental illness | 0 |
| Past medical history | |
| Hypertension | 59 (78.67%) |
| Previous myocardial ischemia | 50 (66.67%) |
| Respiratory pathologies | 19 (25.33%) |
| Neoplastic pathologies | 11 (14.67% |
| Neurologic pathologies | 12 (16%) |
| Minor psychiatric disorders | 4 (5.33%) |
| NYHA class T0 | |
| Class I | 40 (53.33%) |
| Class II | 27 (36%) |
| Class III | 7 (9.33%) |
| Class IV | 1 (1.33%) |

variables were represented by frequencies and distributions of frequency. Once the normal distribution of the scores obtained at the RS-14 was confirmed, comparison of means by ANOVA test was performed; given the non-normality of other data (Lilliefors p < 0.05) the Mann-Whitney test was used. The evaluation of the existence of a possible correlation between resilience and other continuous variables collected was made through the calculation of Pearson's R and R2. Authors also performed a multivariate regression considering resilience, depression, and anxiety as independent variables and WHOQOL-Bref scores as dependent variables. The possible existence of a variation of resilience and other psychological variables over time was subsequently assessed, using the ANOVA test for paired data and the Wilcoxon Matched Pairs Test for non-Gaussian data. A p value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

| | To | T ₁ | T ₂ |
|---------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|
| RS-14 (mean) | 85.52 ±9.61 | 88.00 ± 9.40 | 87.61 ±5.55 |
| HADS-d (median) | 5 ± 0.74 | 2 ± 0.60 | $4\ \pm 0.58$ |
| HADS-a (median) | $6\ \pm 0.63$ | 3 ± 0.61 | 4 ± 0.58 |
| WHOQoL-Bref (mea | an) | | |
| Global | 55.25 ± 2.97 | 50.00 ± 2.76 | 62.50 ± 2.67 |
| Physical health | 66.07 ± 1.40 | 71.41 ± 1.44 | 69.65 ± 2.28 |
| Psychological | 70.83 ± 1.33 | 70.83 ± 1.32 | 70.83 ± 1.41 |
| Social relationship | 70.85 ± 1.74 | 66.67 ± 1.60 | 66.67 ± 1.70 |
| Environment | 65.61 ± 1.90 | 65.63 ± 1.34 | 68.75 ±1.27 |
| | | | |

RESULTS

Participation in the study was proposed to 80 patients; 75 patients (93.75%) signed the informed consent with subsequent enrollment. At T_1 , 7 patients dropped out of the study because they did not want to be assessed thorough the questionnaires. At T_2 , among the 37 patients recruited for this last phase of study, one patient died not for cardiovascular problems, and 36 completed the follow-up. Socio-demographic and clinical characteristics of samples are listed in **Table 1**.

The hospitalization lasted between 3 and 68 days, with a median of 6 days (95% CI = 8–13 days). Most patients (89.33%) were discharged at home, whereas 8 patients (10.67%) were admitted to a cardiological rehabilitation center after hospital discharge. Implant complications occurred in 5 patients (6.67%): in two cases the cause was arrhythmic, two were on a hemorrhagic basis, and one on an infectious basis. The ICD was implanted in primary prevention in 59 patients (78.67%), while in the remaining 21.33% (n = 16) in secondary prevention for sustained ventricular arrhythmias (68.75%; n = 11) or cardiocirculatory arrest (31.25%; n = 5). Forty patients (53.33%) received a single/dual chamber defibrillator, 40% (n = 30) a biventricular defibrillator, whereas the remaining 6.67% (n = 5) a subcutaneous device. **Table 2** shows changes of the considered psychological variables during the study period (**Table 2**).

By comparing intra-individual's modification of RS-14 score at T0 and during the follow-up, no statistically significant differences emerged (p = 0.06).

Regarding the HADS scores, anxious symptomatology improved at the first follow-up after 3 months (p = 0.008), though it worsened again after 12 months (p = 0.007). On the contrary, depressive symptoms underwent a progressive improvement between T₀ and T₁ (p = 0.002) then remained stable over time. Regarding the WHOQoL global score, no statistically significant differences were observed between T₀ and T₁ (p = 0.37), whereas it has improved at the second follow-up after 12 months (p = 0.002); no statistically significant differences were observed in the Physical Health and Psychological domains' score over the study period. In the Social Relationship domain, patients' scores worsened at the first follow-up (p = 0.027), showing no further variation after 12 months. Lastly, a statistically significant difference was observed

| | r | <i>p</i> -value |
|---------------------|-------|-----------------|
| WHOQoL-Bref (T0) | | |
| Global | 0.30 | 0.009 |
| Physical health | 0.44 | <0.0001 |
| Psychological | 0.56 | < 0.0001 |
| Social relationship | 0.34 | 0.0003 |
| Environment | 0.19 | 0.09 |
| HADS-a | -0.42 | 0.0004 |
| HADS-d | -0.66 | <0.0001 |

in the Environment domain, with a clear improvement after 12 months from the implant (p = 0.03).

A significant linear correlation was found between resilience (RS-14) and all areas of quality of life (WHOQoL-Bref), except for the Social Relationship domain, during the whole study period. In greater detail, this correlation appeared stronger for Physical Health and Psychological domains (**Table 3**). Furthermore, a strong inverse correlation between resilience levels and anxious-depressive symptoms emerged from data analysis; these results remained constant over time during the subsequent follow-up (**Table 3**).

At the first outpatient visit to check ICD functioning (T_1) , it emerged that two patients received a shock from the device; one patient had been appropriately shocked for the onset of sustained ventricular tachycardia, whereas for the other the shock was inappropriate for the onset of atrial fibrillation. By consulting the hospital software, it was also found that 13.24% of patients had one or more accesses to the emergency department or admissions to the cardiology department. In greater detail, 66.67% of the patients had one accesses. The main causes of hospitalization were arrhythmias (22.22%), heart failure (44.44%), myocardial infarction (11.11%), and other cardiac causes (22.22%).

At T₂, ICD shocks had been recorded for four patients: two patients received appropriate shocks for the onset of sustained ventricular tachycardia, whereas one patient received three inappropriate ICD shocks for the onset of supraventricular tachycardia. It was also found that 27.03% of patients had made one or more visits to the emergency room or admissions to cardiology department. Leading causes of hospitalization were the presence of arrhythmias (30%) and the onset of heart failure (30%), followed by myocardial infarction (20%) and other cardiac causes (20%).

In the group of patients that concluded the follow-up with events, an improvement has been observed during the whole study period in the Psychological, Social Relationship, and Environment domains, whereas other psychological variables did not show statistically significant variations. No statistically significant differences were found in patients without events (**Table 4**).

Comparing the group of patients, those with events (device shocks and/or hospital admissions for cardiac causes) and those without events, it was found that at time T_1 the patients with

cardiac events presented on average increased levels of anxiety $(3 \pm 0.41 \text{ vs.} 5 \pm 1.27; z = -1.90; p = 0.06)$ and a significant reduction in the overall quality of life (62.50 ± 2.28 vs. 43.75 ± 6.57; z = 2.67; p = 0.008). Similar results were found at T₂: patients with cardiac events had on average a worse overall quality of life (62.50 ± 3.29 vs. 50.00 ± 4.85; z = 2.79; p = 0.009); furthermore, patients with events show worse scores in the Environmental domain compared to those without cardiac events and/or hospitalization (68.75 ± 2.07 vs. 59.37 ± 3.07; z = -2.99; p = 0.005). No further statistical differences had been observed in the two groups.

A multivariate regression considering resilience, anxiety, and depression as independent variables and WHOQOL-Bref as the dependent one was performed at each time point of the study.

At T_0 , an association between the physical (b = 0.45; p = 0.0001), psychological (b = 0.47 p < 0.0001 areas), and environmental areas (b = 0.30; p = 0.02) of the WHOQOL-Bref emerged. No independent variables and global and social quality of life were identified. Anxiety was characterized as an independent modifier of the physical area (b = -0.28; p = 0.02) and depression as an independent modifier of the psychological area (b = -0, 26; p = 0.03). At T₁, the multivariate analysis showed that resilience was independently associated with the physical areas (b = 0.28; p = 0.019), with the social one (b = 0.50; p = 0.0001), and the psychological one (b = 0.48; p < 0.0001) of the WHOQOL-Bref. Anxiety (b =-0.27; p = 0.016) and depression (b = -0.28; p = 0.04) were also related to the physical and psychological areas (anxiety: b = -0.23; p = 0.01; depression: b = -0.28; p = 0.009),while the environmental area showed a correlation only with depression (b = -0.40; p = 0.022). At T₂, no significant findings emerged.

DISCUSSION

Despite the success of cardiac defibrillator implantation for the prevention of sudden cardiac death and in terms of cardiological outcome, there is a growing demand not only to improve the general mortality and safety of patients, but also their quality of life (14). Many patients with ICD experience high degrees of distress in the period immediately before and after the implant, but most of them are usually able to quickly return to normal activities and report feelings of relief. Cardiac events, however, can worsen the individual response to the implant. The purpose of this work was therefore to describe the complex interaction between underlying cardiological disease, ICD implantation, and individual factors of stress vulnerability and resilience on a real clinical sample, in order to better understand the psychological variables on which to intervene in order to obtain a better adaptation and an increase in the quality of life. In fact, emotion regulation has emerged as one of the most important personal competencies in modulating the risk of psychopathological burden (31, 32). Moreover, as in other clinical fields, better health outcomes could also be predicted using the pharmacogenetic information through pharmacogenetic testing as part of routine

TABLE 4 Changes in psychological variables in patients without and with events (ICD shocks and/or hospitalization).

| | To | Τ1 | T ₂ | T0-T2 | <i>p</i> -value |
|------------------------|---------------------------------|-------------------|------------------|-----------------|-----------------|
| Changes in psychologic | al variables in patients witho | ut events | | | |
| RS-14 (mean) | 84.45 ±11.17 | 84.73 ± 10.00 | 86.18 ± 5.04 | t = 0.59 | 0.57 |
| HADS-d (median) | 3 ±1.42 | 3 ± 1.32 | 4 ±0.82 | z = 0.77 | 0.44 |
| HADS-a (median) | 6 ± 1.15 | 4 ± 1.26 | 5 ± 1.30 | <i>z</i> = 0.12 | 0.91 |
| WHOQoL-Bref (mean) | | | | | |
| Global | 50.00 ± 4.85 | 50.00 ± 5.61 | 50.00 ± 5.93 | z = 0.84 | 0.07 |
| Physical health | 60.71 ± 4.03 | 67.86 ± 3.32 | 64.29 ± 4.43 | z = 0.46 | 0.65 |
| Psychological | 58.33 ± 4.93 | 70.80 ± 2.97 | 70.83 ±2.60 | z = 1.94 | 0.05 |
| Social relationship | 66.70 ± 3.05 | 66.67 ±2.41 | 66.67 ±2.19 | z = 2.03 | 0.04 |
| Environment | 59.37 ± 3.07 | 65.63 ± 2.74 | 68.75 ±2.12 | z = 2.52 | 0.011 |
| Changes in psychologic | al variables in patients with e | events | | | |
| RS-14 (mean) | 86.00 ± 9.06 | 89.44 ± 8.97 | 88.24 ± 5.75 | <i>t</i> = 1.29 | 0.21 |
| HADS-d (median) | 5 ±0.87 | 3 ± 0.65 | 4 ± 0.69 | z = 2.28 | 0.02 |
| HADS-a (median) | 6 ±0.77 | 2 ± 0.70 | 4 ±0.62 | z = 1.56 | 0.12 |
| WHOQoL-Bref (mean) | | | | | |
| Global | 62.50 ± 3.29 | 62.50 ± 3.06 | 62.50 ± 2.79 | z = 1.38 | 0.17 |
| Physical health | 71.43 ±2.30 | 71.43 ±2.14 | 71.43 ±2.61 | z = 0.69 | 0.49 |
| Psychological | 70.80 ±2.37 | 75.00 ±2.49 | 70.83 ± 1.73 | z = 0.89 | 0.37 |
| Social relationship | 75.00 ±2.16 | 75.36 ±2.41 | 76.12 ±2.19 | z = 1.99 | 0.17 |
| Environment | 68.75 ± 2.07 | 65.63 ± 1.48 | 68.85 ±1.53 | z = 1.38 | 0.16 |

clinical care in the management of cardiovascular disease (33-35). In general, it is possible to observe that in the year following an ICD implant, patients need a period of adaptation, against which various internal and external factors intervene, with consequences both on a psychological level and on the quality of life. After a year an overall improvement was observed in both aspects; however, for patients who presented problems of a cardiac nature during the observation period, such recovery appears more difficult and slower, also in relation to elements of reinforcement and negative expectations related to body, health, and future. Patients with cardiac events during the follow-up have shown a worse quality of life and the onset of anxietydepressive symptoms over time, without changes to the resilience scores. Patients without cardiac events showed an increasing trend in resilience scores. Good resilience skills can instead promote faster activation of effective coping strategies, thus allowing faster remission, as confirmed in other works (4). From these results, the need to propose an early screening in order to identify the patients most at risk of developing not only physical but also psychological complications emerges (36, 37). The tests used in the present work have proved to be useful in this regard; in particular, the presence of high levels of resilience, measured through the RS-14, was found to be statistically significantly correlated to better perception of life quality and lower levels of anxiety and depression. This correlation was maintained both at baseline and in the follow-up. It also showed no variability in individual scores at either follow-up, thus confirming it to be an individual characteristic, independent of external factors. An early definition of the resilience level of each patient before implantation of a defibrillator could be a useful tool in predicting the most vulnerable subjects and therefore guaranteeing the possibility of greater attention to their psychological well-being and guarantee them a targeted psychological support path.

Although it is not possible to define a statistically significant correlation between baseline levels of resilience and the onset of major cardiac events, due to the limited number of cardiac events that occurred in the follow-up period, the trend followed by our data encourages us to continue collecting data on this topic. Furthermore, given the speed and simplicity of use of the RS-14 scale, it seems promising to also further investigate the real clinical usefulness of this instrument in the cardiology field. The main limitation of this study is the total sample size. A further limitation is represented by the recruitment during the cardiological visit coinciding with the implantation of the ICD; this situation could in fact affect the patient's emotional state and represent a confounding factor in the responses to the questionnaires. Another limit of the study could be represented by the lack of collection of information regarding coping strategies, personality traits, and cognitive styles of the patients enrolled. The strengths of this study are represented by the perspective-longitudinal structure and by the double approach, intra-individual and between groups. This allowed an optimal evaluation over time of the psychophysical state of the patients. The sample examined also belongs to the real-world and is strongly representative of the population receiving a defibrillator implant. The literature shows little data in this field and our work appears innovative and a source of desirable future insights. This work confirms the need for a more careful assessment of the psychological needs and expectations of patients who undergo an ICD implant, especially in the presence of organic complications; it would be desirable to carry out a screening before implantation to identify the most vulnerable patients and direct them to a targeted path that may include professionals dedicated to the treatment of psychological complications as well as physical ones. Given the speed and simplicity of use of the RS-14 scale, it seems promising to further investigate the real clinical usefulness of this instrument in the cardiology field.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

REFERENCES

- Grotberg E. A guide to promoting resilience in children: strengthening the human spirit. In: *Early Childhood Development: Practice and Reflections, Vol.* 8. The Hague: Bernard Van Leer Foundation (1995).
- Poloni N, Zizolfi D, Ielmini M, Pagani R, Caselli I, Diurni M, et al. A naturalistic study on the relationship among resilient factors, psychiatric symptoms, and psychosocial functioning in a sample of residential patients with psychosis. *Psychol Res Behav Manag.* (2018) 11:123– 31. doi: 10.2147/PRBM.S159571
- 3. Zizolfi D, Poloni N, Caselli I, Ielmini M, Lucca G, Diurni M, et al. Resilience and recovery style: a retrospective study on associations among personal resources, symptoms, neurocognition, quality of life and psychosocial functioning in psychotic patients. *Psychol Res Behav Manag.* (2019) 12:385– 95. doi: 10.2147/PRBM.S205424
- 4. Nawaz A, Malik J, Batool A. Relationship between resilience and quality of life in diabetics. *J Coll Physicians Surg Pak.* (2014) 24:670–5.
- Silarova B, Nagyova I, Rosenberger J, Studencan M, Ondusova D, Reijneveld SA, et al. Sense of coherence as an independent predictor of health-related quality of life among coronary heart disease patients. *Qual Life Res.* (2012) 21:1863–71. doi: 10.1007/s11136-011-0106-2
- Feldman R. What is resilience: an affiliative neuroscience approach. World Psychiatry;. (2020) 19:1321150. doi: 10.1002/wps.20729
- De Lemos C, Moraes D, Campos Pellanda L. Resilience in patients with ischemic heart disease. Arq Bras Cardiol. (2016) 106:130–5. doi: 10.5935/abc.20160012
- Nouri-Saeed A, Salari A, Nouri-Saeed A, Rouhi-Balasi L, Fatemeh M. Resilience and the associated factors in patients with coronary artery disease. *J Nurs Midwifery Sci.* (2015) 2:23–8.
- Chan I, Lai J, Wong K. Resilience is associated with better recovery in Chinese people diagnosed with coronary heart disease. *Psychol Health.* (2006) 21:335–49. doi: 10.1080/14768320500215137
- Meister RE, Weber T, Princip M, Schnyder U, Barth J, Znoj H, et al. Resilience as a correlate of acute stress disorder symptoms in patients with acute myocardial infarction. *Open Heart.* (2015) 2:261. doi: 10.1136/openhrt-2015-000261
- Toukhsati S, Jovanovic A, Dehghani S, Tran T, Tran A, Hare D. Low psychological resilience is associated with depression in patients with cardiovascular disease. *Eur J Cardiovasc Nurs.* (2017) 16:64–69. doi: 10.1177/1474515116640412
- Bainger E, Fernsler J. Percivied quality of life before and after implantation of an internal cardioverter defibrillator. Am J Crit Care. (1995) 4:36– 43. doi: 10.4037/ajcc1995.4.1.36
- Pycha C, Calabrese J, Gulledge A, Maloney J. Patient and spouse acceptance and adaptation to implantable cardiovrter defibrillator. *Cleve Clin J Med.* (1990) 57:441–4. doi: 10.3949/ccjm.57.5.441

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of ASST-Settelaghi, Varese. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CC, BC, and RD contributed to conception and design of the study. CI, CD, and FC organized the database. CI and AG performed the statistical analysis. GL and AG wrote the first draft of the manuscript. FC, MI, IC, and CD wrote sections of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

- Bilge A, Ozben B, Demircan SC, Yilmaz E, Adalet K. Depression and anxiety status of patients with implantable cardioverter defibrillator and precipitating factors. *Pacing Clin Electrophysiol.* (2006) 29:619– 26. doi: 10.1111/j.1540-8159.2006.00409.x
- Magyar-Russell G, Thombs B, Cai J, Baveja T, Kuhl EA, Singh PP, et al. The prevalence of anxiety and depression in adults with implantable cardioverter defibrillators: a systematic review. J Psychosom Res. (2011) 71:223–31. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2011.02.014
- Sears S, Todaro J, Lewis T, Sotile W, Conti J. Examining the psychosocial impact of implantable cardioverter defibrillators: a literature review. *Clin Cardiol.* (1999) 22:481–9. doi: 10.1002/clc.4960220709
- Poloni N, Ielmini M, Caselli I, Ceccon F, Bianchi L, Isella C, et al. Medically unexplained physical symptoms in hospitalized patients: a 9-year retrospective observational study. *Front. Psychiatry.* (2018) 9:626. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00626
- Bonanno G. Loss, trauma, and human resilience: have we underestimated the human capacity to thrive after extremely aversive events? *Am Psychol.* (2004) 59:20–8. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.59.1.20
- Pietrzak R, Johnson D, Goldstein M, Malley J, Rivers A, Morgan C, et al. Psychosocial buffers of traumatic stress, depressive symptoms, and psychosocial difficulties in veterans of operations enduring freedom and Iraqi Freedom: the role of resilience, unit support, and post deployment social support. J Affect Disord. (2010) 9:74–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2009.04.015
- Van den Broek K, Tekle F, Habibovi, M, Alings M, Van der Voort P, Denollet J. Emotional distress, positive affect, and mortality in patients with an implantable cardioverter defibrillator. *Int J Cardiol.* (2013) 165:327– 32. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2011.08.071
- Berg S, Thorup C, Borregaard B, Christensen A, Thrysoee L, Rasmussen T, et al. Patient-reported outcomes are independent predictors of oneyear mortality and cardiac events across cardiac diagnoses: findings from the national DenHeart survey. *Eur J Prev Cardiol.* (2019) 26:624– 37. doi: 10.1177/2047487318769766
- 22. Sears S, Conti J. Quality of life and psychological functioning of ICD patients. *Heart.* (2002) 875:488–93. doi: 10.1136/heart.87.5.488
- 23. The Criteria Committee of the New York Heart Assoc. *Nomenclature and Criteria for Diagnosis of Diseases of the Heart and Blood Vessels*. Boston: Little Brown (1964).
- 24. Wagnild G. The Resilience Scale User's Guide for the US English Version of the Resilience Scale and the 14-item resilience Scale (RS-14). Montana: The Resilience Center (2009).
- Callegari C, Bertù L, Caselli I, Isella C, Ielmini M, Bonalumi C, Ferrario M, et al. Resilience in older adults: influence of the admission in nursing home and psychopathology. *Neuropsychiatry*. (2016) 6:117–23. doi: 10.4172/Neuropsychiatry.1000129
- 26. Callegari C, Bert,ù L, Lucano M, Ielmini M, Braggio E, Vender S. Reliability and validity of the Italian version of the 14-item resilience

scale. *Psychol Res Behav Manag.* (2016) 9:277-84. doi: 10.2147/PRBM. S115657

- Zigmond A, Snaith R. The hospital anxiety and depression scale. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica. (1983) 67:361– 70. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.1983.tb09716.x
- Costantini M, Musso M, Viterbori P, Bonci F, Del Mastro L, Garrone O, et al. Detecting psychological distress in cancer patients: validity of the Italian version of the hospital anxiety and depression scale. *Support Care Cancer*. (1999) 7:121–7. doi: 10.1007/s005200050241
- The WHOQoL Gruop. Development of the World health Organization WHOQoL-BREF quality of life assessment. *Psychol Med.* (1998) 28:551– 8. doi: 10.1017/S0033291798006667
- 30. De Girolamo G, Rucci P, Scocco P, Becchi A, Coppa F, D'Addario A, et al. La valutazione della qualità della vita: validazione del WHOQOL-Breve [Quality of life assessment: validation of the Italian version of the WHOQOL-Brief]. *Epidemiol Psichiatr Soc.* (2009) 9:45–55. doi: 10.1017/S1121189X00007740
- Moccia L, Janiri D, Giuseppin G, Agrifoglio B, Monti L, Mazza M. Reduced hedonic tone and emotion dysregulation predict depressive symptoms severity during the COVID-19 outbreak: an observational study on the italian general population. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2020) 18:255. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18010255
- 32. Janiri D, Moccia L, Dattoli L, Pepe M, Molinaro M, De Martin V, et al. Emotional dysregulation mediates the impact of childhood trauma on psychological distress: First Italian data during the early phase of COVID-19 outbreak. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry.* (2021) 55:1071–8. doi: 10.1177/0004867421998802
- Fried K, Li J, Voora D. Use of pharmacogenetic information in the treatment of cardiovascular disease. *Clin Chem.* (2017) 63:177–85. doi: 10.1373/clinchem.2016.255232
- Ielmini M, Poloni N, Caselli I, Diurni M, Grecchi A, Callegari C. The role of pharmacognetic testing in the treatment of

bipolar disorder: preliminary results. *Minerva Psichiatrica*. (2018) 59:10. doi: 10.23736/S0391-1772.17.01954-9

- Pagani R, Gasparini A, Ielmini M, Caselli I, Poloni N, Ferrari M, et al. Twenty years of Lithium pharmacogenetics: a systematic review. *Psychiatry Res.* (2019) 278:42–50. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2019. 05.036
- Charney D. Psychobiological mechanisms of resilience and vulnerability: implications for successful adaptation to stress. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2004) 161:195–216. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.161.2.195
- 37. Masten A. Risk, Vulnerability and Protective Factors in Developmental Psychopathology. New York, NY: Plenum (1985).

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Isella, Gasparini, Lucca, Ielmini, Caselli, Poloni, Dajelli Ermolli, Caravati, Castiglioni, De Ponti and Callegari. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Biomarkers, Inflammation, and Bipolar Disorder: Association Between the Improvement of Bipolar Disorder Severity and the Improvement in C-Reactive Protein Levels After 7 Days of Inpatient Treatment

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Mario Luciano, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

Reviewed by:

Luca Steardo, University Magna Graecia of Catanzaro, Italy Xenia Gonda, Semmelweis University, Hungary

*Correspondence: Alessandro Cuomo alessandrocuomo86@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychosomatic Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 27 October 2021 Accepted: 17 November 2021 Published: 14 December 2021

Citation:

Cuomo A, Koukouna D, Spiti A, Barillà G, Goracci A, Bolognesi S and Fagiolini A (2021) Biomarkers, Inflammation, and Bipolar Disorder: Association Between the Improvement of Bipolar Disorder Severity and the Improvement in C-Reactive Protein Levels After 7 Days of Inpatient Treatment. Front. Psychiatry 12:803034. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.803034 Alessandro Cuomo*, Despoina Koukouna, Alessandro Spiti, Giovanni Barillà, Arianna Goracci, Simone Bolognesi and Andrea Fagiolini

Dipartimento di Medicina Molecolare e dello Sviluppo, Dipartimento di Psichiatria, University of Siena, Siena, Italy

Introduction: Compared to the general population, people with severe mental illness (SMI) have a poorer health status and a higher mortality rate, with a 10–20-year reduction in life expectancy. Excess mortality and morbidity in SMI have been explained by intertwined components. Inflammatory processes could increase the morbidity and mortality risk in patients with bipolar disorder (BD) because of a bidirectional interaction between BD and conditions related to inflammation. This pilot study aimed to evaluate the relationship between C-Reactive-Protein (CRP) and bipolar disorder severity.

Methods: A retrospective observational study was conducted on 61 hospitalized patients with bipolar disorder. CRP was measured at admission to inpatient treatment (T0) and after seven days from the admission (T1). Clinical Global Impression for Depression, Mania and Overall Bipolar Illness were recorded at T0 and T1. Comparisons among the recorded CRP values were determined through the paired *t*-test. Correlations between CRP and CGI scores were determined through Spearman's correlation coefficient at T0 and T1.

Results: A statistically significant decrease in CRP values was observed after 7 days of hospitalization (p < 0.001) and positive significant correlations emerged between CRP and CGI scores at T0 and T1.

Conclusion: Patients admitted to the inpatient unit reported a statistically significant decrease of CRP values during the first 7 days of treatment. Although the direction of the relationship between BP severity and inflammation status continues to remain unclear, this study showed a relationship between the improvement of bipolar disease symptoms and the improvement of the inflammatory marker CRP.

Keywords: bipolar disorder, inflammation, CRP, C-reactive protein, biomarker, inpatients

INTRODUCTION

The morbidity, mortality, and suffering associated with severe mental disorders are not only a result of psychiatric symptoms and their attendant dysfunction (1). Medical disease and medical risk factors are common in patients with mental illness in general and in patients with bipolar disorder (BD) in particular. Physical illness affects the course, severity, and treatment of bipolar disorder (2–6), and lead to even greater morbidity, mortality, and disability (7).

Many physical illnesses have been cited as highly prevalent in patients with bipolar disease, the most common of which are obesity, cardiovascular disease, diabetes, and thyroid disease. Since patients with bipolar disorder spend most of their time in the depressive phase of the illness, there is often a loss of the discipline and motivation required to reduce such physical risk factors.

Katon has established a clear relationship between depression and several negative health behaviors including poor diet, excessive eating, smoking, abuse of substances, and a sedentary lifestyle (8). For example, mortality due to cardiovascular disease has been reported as doubled in patients with BD (9). Moreover, abnormalities in the homeostatic balance between the sympathetic and the parasympathetic systems, with loss of heart rate variability (HRV), sympathoadrenal activation, hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis activation, immune system dysregulation resulting in a pro-inflammatory status, platelet activation, and endothelial dysfunction have been observed in many patients with BD, major depressive disorder (MDD), and other psychiatric disorders (10). The study of inflammatory biomarkers and their change in the different phases of BD may contribute to the research about the etiology and treatment of BD (11).

Many studies have identified neuroinflammatory mechanisms of bipolar disorder (BD), showing how these mechanisms may impact the disease progression and the effectiveness of drug treatment.

For instance, a correlation between autoimmune processes and increased expression of psychiatric disorders is supported by the increased risk of patients with systemic autoimmune diseases developing BD (12). Although such chronic immune dysfunction appears to contribute significantly to developing comorbidities in BD, the direction of this cause-effect relationship is still unclear. Specifically, it is not yet clear whether BD increases the risk for immune dysfunction or whether a pre-existing inflammatory condition increases the risk of BD. The most recent hypothesis suggests a bidirectional interaction between BD and conditions related to inflammation and that these reinforce each other; moreover, specific genetic and environmental factors contribute to increasing the risk (13).

Several biologic mechanisms may contribute to the increased mortality risk from natural causes found among patients with bipolar disorder, such as dysregulation of the hypo-thalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis; the dysregulation of the autonomic nervous system may also lead to insulin resistance and may worsen metabolic syndrome (14), and pharmacological treatment.

Measuring neuroinflammation through pro and antiinflammatory cytokines should determine a positive increase in the treatment of bipolar disorder. Rosenblat et al. hypothesized a simultaneous trend in mood levels, cognitive functions, and inflammatory markers in patients with bipolar disorder (13). According to this scheme, cytokine levels increase chronically and can increase both during depressive and manic episodes. Specifically, Fernandes et al. showed an increase in C reactive protein (CRP) more markedly in the acute phase of mania (15, 16), while Klaus Munkholm et al. showed an altered leukocyte component in patients with bipolar disorder compared to the healthy control group on a sample of 300 blood draws (17).

High levels of CRP have been found in various psychiatric disorders but particularly in schizophrenia, depressive disorders, bipolar disorder (18). Scientific evidence has found a correlation between high levels of C-reactive protein and manic states, while more uncertain data are those concerning euthymic and depressive states (19), although some studies show the increase, decrease or absence of variations of CRP during the various phases of the disease (14). The role of C-reactive protein in the neuro-progression of the disease remains unclear.

This retrospective pilot work aimed to evaluate the relationship between the improvement of the acute symptoms of bipolar disorder and the improvement of the inflammatory marker levels C-reactive protein in hospitalized patients.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This observational study aimed to retrospectively evaluate the relationship between the inflammatory marker CRP and bipolar disorder severity. The study was approved by the University of Siena and Area Vasta - South-East Institutional Review Board - Ethics Committee (num. ID17856; Approval Date: 05/02/2021).

Consecutive patients were enrolled according to the following criteria: (1) a diagnosis of bipolar disorder according to the Fifth Edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders [DSM-5]; (2) age \geq 18 years; (3) length of hospital stay longer than 8 days; (4) voluntary participation, ability to understand and sign consent information. Exclusion criteria were: (1) Primary diagnosis of schizophrenia, schizophrenic form disorder, schizoaffective disorder, and delusional disorder; (2) NeuRodegenerative disorders, intellectual disability, neurological diseases, history of head injury; (3) Any clinical condition that could interfere with the reliability of the assessment, such as: current infection, recent surgery, trauma, burns, neoplastic processes, joint rheumatism such as rheumatoid arthritis and rheumatic polymyalgia, autoimmune diseases such as SLE, inflammatory bowel disease, pelvic inflammatory disease, myocardial infarction, appendicitis, pancreatitis, cholangitis, pyelonephritis, gout, and tuberculosis; (4) Pharmacological treatment in progress with anti-inflammatories or corticosteroids doses.

Patients were treated with standard of care medications for bipolar disorder, mainly consisting of a mood stabilizer and/or an antipsychotic combined, when necessary, with other medications such as antidepressants, benzodiazepines, or other hypnotics.

Biomarkers, Inflammation, and Bipolar Disorder

TABLE 1 | Patients characteristics.

| | Median (IQR) or N (%) | |
|---------------------------------|-----------------------|--|
| N. Patients | 61 | |
| Age, years | 50 (38–63) | |
| Sex | | |
| Female | 42 (68.9%) | |
| Male | 19 (31.1%) | |
| Diagnosis | | |
| Bipolar disorder (type I) | 30 (49.2%) | |
| Bipolar disorder (type II) | 31 (50.8%) | |
| Other psychiatric comorbidities | 9 (14.8%) | |
| Physical comorbidities | 13 (21.3%) | |
| BMI | 25.3 (22.1–27.2) | |
| Underweight (<18.5) | 4 (6.6%) | |
| Normal (18.5–22.9) | 16 (26.2%) | |
| Overweight (23.0–24.9) | 9 (14.8%) | |
| Obese (≥25.0) | 32 (52.5%) | |
| Smoking | 31 (50.8%) | |

Endpoints

Blood tests were collected at admission to inpatient treatment (T0) and after 7 days from the admission (T1).

Blood Tests and Psychometric Scales

CRP was collected for all patients at T0 and T1. CRP values higher than 0.5 mg/dL were considered as abnormal values. Clinical Global Impression (CGI) for Depression, Mania and Overall Bipolar Illness were registered at T0 and T1.

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistical analyses are presented as mean \pm standard deviation or median and interquartile range for continuous variables and frequencies and percentages for qualitative variables. Comparisons were determined through the paired *t*-test. Correlations between CRP and CGI scores were determined through Spearman's correlation coefficient at T0 and T1. Statistical significance was set at 5% (p < 0.05). STATA17 (StataCorp, College Station, TX, USA) was used for all statistical analyses.

RESULTS

Sixty-one patients (42 females and 19 males, median age 50 years, IQR: 38–63 years) were enrolled and included in the study. Thirty patients were affected by bipolar disorder type I, 31 patients by bipolar disorder type II. Other psychiatric comorbidities were present in 9 patients. Thirteen patients reported significant physical comorbidities. Complete patients' characteristics are reported in **Table 1**.

Mean CRP significantly decreased during hospitalization (mean CRP at admission: 0.60 ± 0.24 mg/dL; mean CRP after 7 days: 0.42 ± 0.17 mg/ dL; p < 0.001; no missing values). Positive

DISCUSSION

We found that patients admitted to the inpatient unit reported a reduction of CRP during the first 7 days of supervised treatment, in synch with the improvement of their acute symptoms of bipolar disorder. Our results confirm those already reported in other studies in which CRP detected in the various stages of bipolar disorder disease was higher in untreated patients, possibly due to a direct protective role of medication treatment (i.e., mood stabilizers or atypical antipsychotics) against the patient's inflammatory state or due to the improvement in bipolar disease related to the use of appropriate medications (15, 16). For instance, Van den Ameele et al. found that untreated patients with BD showed disease-related inflammatory cytokine alterations, while patients in a state of euthymia and receiving a treatment with mood stabilizers such as lithium, had similar values to healthy controls, this suggesting a role of medications such as lithium in normalizing the immune system (20).

This study has several limitations. First, the observation period was short, and we were unable to report on the longerterm changes of CRP, for instance during the euthymia period. Second, the concentration of baseline CRP exhibited a large interindividual variability. Third, the sample size was small. Fourth, we were unable to establish if the decrease in CRP was specifically related to specific medications or were instead due to other factors (i.e., admission to the hospital). Finally, possible confounding effects on the CRP serum caused by minor comorbidities were not considered.

Because of the factors above, we were unable to establish if the decrease in inflammatory markers was primarily a direct effect of the medications that were prescribed during inpatient stay, or may also be related to other factors, such as the inpatient admission itself, psychoeducation, and the consequent improvement in circadian rhythms and daily routine. Indeed, the positive correlation between CRP and a higher degree of symptoms severity could be related to the activation of the stress response induced by symptoms such as increased psychomotor activity and lack of sleep, via complex interplay of endocrine, nervous, and immune mechanisms that involve activation of the sympathetic-Adreno-Medullar (SAM) axis, the Hypothalamus-Pituitary-Adrenal (HPA) axis, and the immune system (21). Nonetheless, our results confirm a relationship between CRP and clinical status, with a decrease in CRP as patients' acute symptoms improved. A recent paper evaluated the association between inflammation and specific symptoms of depression and suggested symptom-specific rather than generalized effects of inflammation on depression (22).

Studying the relationship between the improvement of the acute symptoms of bipolar disorder and the reduction of the C-reactive protein levels may hypothesize new clinicallyoriented research: (1) whether and how much an early improvement of inflammatory markers indicates the efficacy of a new treatment; (2) whether and which anti-inflammatory

| | CRP T0 | CGI OBI T0 | CGI Depression T0 | CGI Mania TO |
|-------------------|---------|------------|-------------------|--------------|
| CRP T0 | 1.0000 | | | |
| CGI OBI TO | 0.7607* | 1.0000 | | |
| CGI Depression T0 | 0.4017* | 0.3871* | 1.0000 | |
| CGI Mania T0 | 0.8811* | 0.7185* | 0.4517* | 1.0000 |
| | CRP T1 | CGI OBI T1 | CGI Depression T1 | CGI Mania T1 |
| CRP T1 | 1.0000 | | | |
| CGI OBI T1 | 0.3330* | 1.0000 | | |
| CGI Depression T1 | 0.6609* | 0.2661* | 1.0000 | |
| CGI Mania T1 | 0.4998* | 0.4249* | 0.4708* | 1.0000 |

TABLE 2 | Spearman's correlation coefficient at T0 and T1.

*p < 0.05.

treatments can reduce bipolar disorder symptoms; and (3) if the decrease of inflammatory markers is directly correlated with an improvement of bipolar disorder symptoms or if the improvement of inflammatory markers indicates the change of a third factor (e.g., an infection, a change in microbiota, etc.) that is correlated with the symptoms of bipolar disorder and that may become a future target of bipolar disorder treatment.

Specifically, a pooled analysis of population-based cohort studies, reported that higher concentrations of CRP were strongly associated with the presence of four physical symptoms (loss of energy, sleep problems, changes in appetite, fatigue) and one cognitive symptom (lack of interest in doing things). Following these suggestions, future studies could further investigate the relationship between inflammatory markers, such as CRP, and specific symptoms of bipolar disease.

CONCLUSIONS

A significant decrease in CRP was observed in patients admitted to the inpatient unit during the first 7 days of treatment, as their symptoms of bipolar disorder improved. It remains to be established which specific factor contribute to the decrease in CRP and whether the decrease of CPR is related to an improvement of bipolar disorder symptoms or vice-versa.

REFERENCES

- Kupfer DJ. The increasing medical burden in bipolar disorder. JAMA. (2005) 293:2528–30. doi: 10.1001/jama.293.20. 2528
- Fagiolini A, Kupfer DJ, Houck PR, Novick DM, Frank E. Obesity as a correlate of outcome in patients with bipolar I disorder. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2003) 160:112–7. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.160.1.112
- Fagiolini A, Frank E, Scott JA, Turkin S, Kupfer DJ. Metabolic syndrome in bipolar disorder: findings from the Bipolar Disorder Center for Pennsylvanians. *Bipolar Disord*. (2005) 7:424–30. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-5618.2005.00234.x
- Black DW, Winokur G, Hulbert J, Nasrallah A. Predictors of immediate response in the treatment of mania: the importance of comorbidity. *Biol Psychiatry*. (1988) 24:191–8. doi: 10.1016/0006-3223(88) 90274-0

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary materials, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the University of Siena and Area Institutional Vasta South-East Review Board Ethics Committee. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AC, DK, and AF contributed to conception and design of the study. AS organized the database. GB and AS performed the statistical analysis. AC, DK, and SB wrote the first draft of the manuscript. AG and GB wrote sections of the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

- Black DW, Winokur G, Bell S, Nasrallah A, Hulbert J. Complicated mania. Comorbidity and immediate outcome in the treatment of mania. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (1988) 45:232–6. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1988.01800270040005
- Black DW, Hulbert J, Nasrallah A. The effect of somatic treatment and comorbidity on immediate outcome in manic patients. *Compr Psychiatry*. (1989) 30:74–9. doi: 10.1016/0010-440X(89)90119-3
- Hajek T, Slaney C, Garnham J, Ruzickova M, Passmore M, Alda M. Clinical correlates of current level of functioning in primary care-treated bipolar patients. *Bipolar Disord.* (2005) 7:286–91. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-5618.2005.00182.x
- Katon WJ. Clinical and health services relationships between major depression, depressive symptoms, and general medical illness. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2003) 54:216–26. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(03)00273-7
- Osby U, Brandt L, Correia N, Ekbom A, Sparen P. Excess mortality in bipolar and unipolar disorder in Sweden. Arch Gen Psychiatry. (2001) 58:844– 50. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.58.9.844

- Shih PB. Metabolomics Biomarkers for Precision Psychiatry. Adv Exp Med Biol. (2019) 1161:101–13. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-21735-8_10
- Macaluso M, Preskorn SH. How biomarkers will change psychiatry: from clinical trials to practice. Part I: introduction. J Psychiatr Pract. (2012) 18:118– 21. doi: 10.1097/01.pra.0000413277.11091.25
- Wang LY, Chiang JH, Chen SF, Shen YC. Systemic autoimmune diseases are associated with an increased risk of bipolar disorder: a nationwide population-based cohort study. J Affect Disord. (2018) 227:31–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.10.027
- Rosenblat JD, McIntyre RS. Bipolar disorder and immune dysfunction: epidemiological findings, proposed pathophysiology and clinical implications. *Brain Sci.* (2017) 7:144. doi: 10.3390/brainsci7110144
- Wadee AA, Kuschke RH, Wood LA, Berk M, Ichim L, Maes M. Serological observations in patients suffering from acute manic episodes. *Hum Psychopharmacol.* (2002) 17:175–9. doi: 10.1002/hup.390
- Fernandes BS, Steiner J, Molendijk ML, Dodd S, Nardin P, Goncalves CA, et al. C-reactive protein concentrations across the mood spectrum in bipolar disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2016) 3:1147–56. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(16)30370-4
- Fernandes BS, Molendijk ML, Kohler CA, Soares JC, Leite CM, Machado-Vieira R, et al. Peripheral brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) as a biomarker in bipolar disorder: a meta-analysis of 52 studies. *BMC Med.* (2015) 13:289. doi: 10.1186/s12916-015-0529-7
- Munkholm K, Jacoby AS, Lenskjold T, Bruunsgaard H, Vinberg M, Kessing LV. Leukocytes in peripheral blood in patients with bipolar disorder - Trait and state alterations and association with levels of cytokines and C-reactive protein. *Psychiatry Res.* (2018) 261:383–90. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2018.01.022
- Dantzer R, O'Connor JC, Freund GG, Johnson RW, Kelley KW. From inflammation to sickness and depression: when the immune system subjugates the brain. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2008) 9:46–56. doi: 10.1038/nrn2297
- Cunha AB, Andreazza AC, Gomes FA, Frey BN, da Silveira LE, Goncalves CA, et al. Investigation of serum high-sensitive C-reactive protein levels across all mood states in bipolar disorder. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2008) 258:300–4. doi: 10.1007/s00406-007-0797-0
- 20. van den Ameele S, van Diermen L, Staels W, Coppens V, Dumont G, Sabbe B, et al. The effect of mood-stabilizing drugs on cytokine levels

in bipolar disorder: a systematic review. J Affect Disord. (2016) 203:364-73. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.06.016

- Evers AK, Veeh J, McNeill R, Reif A, Kittel-Schneider S. C-reactive protein concentration in bipolar disorder: association with genetic variants. *Int J Bipolar Disord*. (2019) 7:26. doi: 10.1186/s40345-019-0162-z
- 22. Frank P, Jokela M, Batty GD, Cadar D, Steptoe A, Kivimaki M. Association between systemic inflammation and individual symptoms of depression: a pooled analysis of 15 population-based cohort studies. *Am J Psychiatry.* (2021). doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2021.20121776. [Epub ahead of print].

Conflict of Interest: AF is/has been a consultant and/or a speaker and/or has received research grants from Angelini, Apsen, Boheringer Ingelheim, Daiichi Sankyo, Doc Generici, Glaxo Smith Kline, Italfarmaco, Lundbeck, Janssen, Mylan, Neuraxpharm, Otsuka, Pfizer, Recordati, Sanofi Aventis, Sunovion, Vifor. AC is/has been a consultant and/or a speaker for Angelini, Glaxo Smith Kline, Lundbeck, Janssen, Otsuka, Pfizer, Recordati.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Cuomo, Koukouna, Spiti, Barillà, Goracci, Bolognesi and Fagiolini. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Use of Psychoeducation for Psychotic Disorder Patients Treated With Modern, Long-Acting, Injected Antipsychotics

Antonio Ventriglio^{1*}, Annamaria Petito¹, João Maurício Castaldelli-Maia², Julio Torales³, Valeria Sannicandro¹, Eleonora Milano¹, Salvatore Iuso¹ and Antonello Bellomo¹

¹ Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Foggia, Foggia, Italy, ² Department of Neuroscience, Medical School, Fundação do ABC, Santo André, Brazil, ³ Department of Psychiatry, School of Medical Sciences, National University of Asunción, Asunción, Paraguay

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Mario Luciano, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

Reviewed by:

Gaia Sampogna, University of Campania "L. Vanvitelli", Italy Luca Steardo, University Magna Graecia of Catanzaro, Italy

> *Correspondence: Antonio Ventriglio a.ventriglio@libero.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychosomatic Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 29 October 2021 Accepted: 23 November 2021 Published: 15 December 2021

Citation:

Ventriglio A, Petito A, Castaldelli-Maia JM, Torales J, Sannicandro V, Milano E, Iuso S and Bellomo A (2021) Use of Psychoeducation for Psychotic Disorder Patients Treated With Modern, Long-Acting, Injected Antipsychotics. Front. Psychiatry 12:804612. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.804612 **Introduction:** There is an increased risk of adverse metabolic effects of some modern antipsychotic drugs, and concern that long-acting, injected preparations of them may increase such risk. We now report on clinical and metabolic outcomes in patient-subjects diagnosed with affective and non-affective psychotic disorders following exposure to psychoeducation on metabolic risks of modern antipsychotics followed by treatment with long-acting atypical injected antipsychotics over 6-months.

Materials and Methods: 85 psychotic disorder outpatients (42 affective [AP]; 43 non-affective [NAP]) at the University of Foggia were treated with long-acting, injected, second-generation antipsychotics in association with a set of psychoeducational sessions concerning general health and potential effects of antipsychotic drug treatments. They were evaluated at baseline and six months.

Results: Initially, NAP subjects reported higher ratings of positive and negative symptoms than AP subjects, were more likely to receive risperidone or paliperidone, with higher CPZ-eq doses of antipsychotics (294.0 \pm 77.8 vs. 229.3 \pm 95.8 mg/day), and shorter QTc electrocardiographic recovery intervals. During the 6-month follow-up, ratings of treatment-adherence improved through overall (+8.75%), and symptom-ratings decreased (-7.57%) as did Body-Mass Index (-2.40%; all $p \leq 0.001$). Moreover, serum levels of fasting glucose, hemoglobin glycosylation, cholesterol and prolactin concentrations all decreased, with little difference between subjects with AP vs. NAP.

Discussion and Conclusions: A psychoeducational program was associated with consistent improvement in psychotic symptoms and several metabolic and physiological measures, as well as with treatment-adherence during six months of treatment with long-acting, injected, second-generation antipsychotics, in association with both affective and non-affective psychotic disorders.

Keywords: long-acting antipsychotics, psychotic disorders, metabolic changes, psychoeducation, treatmentadherence

INTRODUCTION

Major mental disorders are associated with increased risk of morbidity and mortality due to the illnesses themselves and their treatments (1). The prevalence of metabolic syndrome (MS) among schizophrenia patients may range 37-63% with a relative risk (RR) of 2-3 in patients compared to general population, as well as MS in bipolar disorder patients ranges 30-49% with a RR of 1.5-2 (2). Consequently, it has been largely described an increased risk of death from medical causes in schizophrenia and 20% (10-15 years) shorter lifespan (2, 3); similarly, affective psychoses are associated with higher standardized mortality ratios from medical causes than general population ranging 1.9-2.1 (2, 3). Many factors including poor life-style and food intake, poor attention to health needs and side effects of psychotropic drugs may impact on the metabolic outcome of patients affected by psychoses (3). Currently, the employment of second- and third- generation antipsychotics, such as serotonin- dopamine antagonists or dopamine partial agonists, are clinically preferred since are more effective on negative, affective and cognitive symptoms of psychosis (4). Nonetheless, newer antipsychotics may induce increases in bodyweight, insulin- resistance with long- term adverse physiological effects including type-2- diabetes mellitus, hypertension and dyslipidemia, in addition to obesity (4-6). Also, it has been largely described that the prevalence of metabolic syndrome in patients treated with antipsychotics is approximately 40% (33.8-42.1%) in contrast to rates of 10.4-12.2% among psychosis un-medicated patients: some atypical antipsychotics such as olanzapine and risperidone were associated to higher weight gain among non-clozapine second generation antipsychotics, as well as risperidone and amisulpride were responsible for increasing serum prolactin (7).

These metabolic issues are potentially life-threatening effects and need to be carefully assessed and treated by clinicians (8, 9). Also, strategies of prevention need to be employed and awareness regarding their own general health needs to be addressed among these patients (10). International organizations have proposed guidelines for screening and preventing metabolic issues in patients treated with antipsychotics suggesting physical monitoring and psycho-education in the long-term treatment (11, 12).

Physical activity may be a relevant therapeutic intervention for people with severe mental disorders and life style-related medical issues: this has been confirmed among schizophreniaspectrum disorders patients as well as those affected by major depressive disorder and bipolar disorder (2). In addition, lifestyle factors such as tobacco smoking, unhealthy dietary patterns, poor sleep, together with poor physical activity have been found to be associated to higher risk of mental illness and poorer outcome of illness: these data suggest that life-style factors need to be addressed within mental health care (12).

We describe the impact of a repeated, systematic, prospective psycho- educational intervention on clinical and metabolic outcomes of patients affected by stable affective (APs) and nonaffective psychoses (NAPs) treated with long-acting atypical antipsychotics over 6-months. We compared psychopathology and medical parameters of interest between the diagnostic groups at baseline and at the end of the program aimed at increasing awareness of the general health, improving diet and exercise, and limiting obesity and other side effects.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Subjects

85 outpatients affected by Affective Psychoses (n = 42; APs: Schizoaffective Disorders, Not Otherwise Specified Psychoses) and Non-Affective Psychoses (n = 43; NAPs: Schizophrenia, Delusional Disorders) attending the Unit of Psychiatric at University of Foggia and treated with long-acting atypical antipsychotics, at stable doses, have been recruited and assessed at intake (T1) and 6 months (T2) for psychopathology, treatments, adherence, and monitored for anthropometric and electrocardiographic measures. Also, they received a systematized, repeated psycho-education about physical health. Diagnoses met DSM-5 (The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition), confirmed with the Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (MINI) performed by consensus of experienced clinicians (AV, AP, and SI) (13, 14). This is a real-world study based on a straightforward clinical assessment with easy and reliable tools.

Patients were voluntarily recruited, clinically treated and followed at the Psychiatric Outpatient Services of University of Foggia Medical Center in 2014–2018, as part of an approved PhD Program in Clinical and Experimental Medicine at University of Foggia. All participants provided written, informed consent and the intervention was approved by the Medical Center Ethical Review Committee. Acutely psychiatrically or medically ill patients were excluded and we recruited those reporting a stable phase of illness in the previous three months and treated with a stable long-acting antipsychotic treatment clinically determined and followed for six months.

Assessment and Monitoring Procedures

Patients were assessed and monitored at intake (T1) and 6 months (T2) of follow-up, employing standardized methods. Clinical assessment, treatment selection and physical monitoring have been run by psychiatrists (AV, AB, VS, EM), whereas psychoeducation and rating scales have been delivered by two expert psychologists (AP, SI). Required information was gathered at intake and repeatedly during the follow-up. Electrocardiograms (with the record of QTc interval) were performed at intake and final visit as well as anthropometrics (height, weight, waist circumference, body mass index [BMI]), vital signs (blood pressure and pulse rate) and serum assays (serum lipids, carbohydrates, prolactin) which were carried out consistently by the University Medical Center clinical laboratory.

Antipsychotic drug- doses were converted to mg/day chlorpromazine-equivalents according to suggested conversion formulas (15, 16). Adherence to treatment was rated with the 30-item Drug Attitude Inventory (DAI-30) at intake and six months (17). Psychopathology including positive, negative and general symptoms were rated with the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS) (18) and the Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale (BPRS) (19) at intake and six months; each investigator has been trained in order to employ the tools correctly and levels of inter-rater agreement were calculated (κ -statistic >0.94).

Psychoeducational Program

The repeated, systematic, prospective psycho- educational intervention was provided to all subjects once/month in conjunction with the administration of monthly long-acting injectable treatment. It included six sessions concerning psychiatric and general health, diet, exercise, weight-control, current treatment, following methods recommended by Littrell and colleagues (20). Patients were also trained to regularly measure vital signs (blood pressure, pulse rate) anthropometric parameters (weight, body-mass index [BMI], waist circumference) and advised about food-selection, healthy diets, daily physical exercise. Motivational modules regarding daily activity were performed.

In this trial no control condition was included.

Data Analysis

Data analyses were performed with standard, commercial, statistical software (Statview[®]; SAS Institute, Cary, NC; Stata[®], StataCorp, College Station, TX). Data were presented as means or percentages (including %-changes) with 95%- Confidence Intervals- or standard deviations (as %-changes), compared between diagnosis by *t*-test or χ^2 . We also carried out repeated-measures ANOVA to evaluate changes in parameters of interest over time. Findings are considered statistically significant with two-tailed $p \leq 0.05$.

| TABLE 1 Subject characteristics at intake. | | | | | |
|--|-------------------------|---------------------|------------------|--------|--|
| Measures | Means [95%CI] | | | | |
| | Non-affective psychoses | Affective psychoses | All pychoses | | |
| Number (n) | 43 | 42 | 85 | - | |
| Female (%) | 30.2 [17.2–46.1] | 52.4 [36.4–68.0] | 41.2 [30.6–52.4] | 0.048 | |
| Age (years) | 43.8 [39.6–48.0] | 40.3 [36.7–43.9] | 42.0 [39.3-41.7] | 0.212 | |
| Married (%) | 9.30 [2.59–22.1] | 21.4 [10.3–36.8] | 15.3 [8.40–24.7] | 0.142 | |
| Employed (%) | 6.98 [1.46–19.9] | 19.1 [8.60–34.1] | 12.9 [6.64–22.0] | 0.117 | |
| Initial morbidity ratings | | | | | |
| PANSS (total) | 63.2 [53.9–72.5] | 50.4 [44.7–56.1] | 56.9 [51.4-62.4] | 0.022 | |
| BPRS (total) | 42.3 [37.9–46.7] | 36.9 [33.1–40.7] | 39.6 36.7-42.5[] | 0.068 | |
| Antipsychotic use (%) | | | | | |
| Risperidone-LAI | 27.9 [15.3–43.7] | 9.52 [2.66–22.6] | 18.8 [11.2–28.8] | 0.030 | |
| Paliperidone-LAI | 72.1 [56.3–84.7] | 42.9 [27.7–59.0] | 57.6 [46.4–68.3] | <0.001 | |
| Olanzapine-LAI | 0.00 [0.00–0.00] | 16.7 [6.97–31.4] | 8.24 [3.38–16.2] | 0.005 | |
| Aripiprazole-LAI | 0.00 [0.00–0.00 | 31.0 [17.6–31.4] | 15.3 [8.40–24.7] | <0.001 | |
| Mean dose (CPZ-eq mg/day) | 294 [270–318] | 229 [199–259] | 262 [242–282] | 0.001 | |
| DAI-30 score | 10.9 [10.2–11.6] | 11.1 [10.4–11.8] | 11.0 [10.5–11.5] | 0.765 | |
| Body-mass index (BMI, kg/m ²) | 28.4 [26.7–30.1] | 28.1 [26.0–30.2] | 28.2 [26.9–29.5] | 0.792 | |
| Waist circumference (cm) | 103 [98.3–108] | 101 [95.7–106] | 102 [98.5–105] | 0.668 | |
| Blood pressure & pulse | | | | | |
| Systolic (mm Hg) | 119 [116–122] | 122 [118–126] | 118 [116–120] | 0.262 | |
| Diastolic (mm Hg) | 76.8 [74.2–79.4] | 75.3 [72.4–78.2] | 76.3 [74.4–78.2] | 0.191 | |
| Pulse rate (per min) | 85.7 [82.6–88.8] | 83.4 [79.6–85.6] | 83.4 [81.5–85.3] | 0.399 | |
| QTc interval (msec) | 407 [398–416] | 420 [413–427] | 413 [407–419] | 0.020 | |
| Carbohydrates (serum) | | | | | |
| Fasting blood glucose | 94.7 [90.1–99.3] | 94.3 [89.4–99.2] | 94.5 [91.2–97.8] | 0.897 | |
| Hemoglobin glycosylation (%) | 6.28 [6.02–6.55] | 6.15 [5.96–6.34] | 6.09 [6.03-6.15] | 0.442 | |
| Serum lipids (mg/dL) | | | | | |
| Triglycerides | 143 [124–162] | 150 [120–180] | 146 [129–163] | 0.710 | |
| Total cholesterol | 188 [178–198] | 196 [184–208] | 192 [184–200] | 0.335 | |
| Low-density cholesterol (LDL) | 125 [117–133] | 123 [110–136] | 124 [117–131] | 0.859 | |
| High-density cholesterol (HDL) | 45.9 [42.5–49.3] | 49.8 [45.7–54.3] | 47.8 [45.1–50.5] | 0.150 | |
| Serum prolactin (µg/L) | 45.1 [34.6–55.6] | 40.4 [27.9–52.9] | 42.8 [34.8-50.8] | 0.563 | |

Boldface: Factors significantly different at intake by diagnostic type, by t-test or χ^2 (p < 0.05).

PANSS, Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale; BPRS, Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale; CPZ-eq, chlorpromazine-equivalent mg/day; DAI-30, 30-item Drug Attitude Inventory.

RESULTS

Sample Characteristics at Intake

85 adult outpatients affected by Affective Psychoses (n = 42; APs: Schizoaffective Disorders, Not Otherwise Specified Psychoses) and Non-Affective Psychoses (n = 43; NAPs: Schizophrenia, Delusional Disorders) were recruited in the 2014–2018 period, treated and followed for six months. Those with NAPs or APs included 30.2 and 52.3% women respectively (p = 0.048), with overall age-at-intake of 43.8 ± 12.2 vs. 40.3 ± 11.6 years. Demographic characteristics were similar through the diagnostic subgroups (**Table 1**). Psychopathological symptoms rated with PANSS and BPRS scales were slightly higher among NAPs vs. APs patients (63.2 ± 30.3 vs. 50.4 ± 18.2 [PANSS; p = 0.022] and 42.3 ± 14.4 vs. 36.9 ± 12.3 [BPRS; p = 0.068]).

Long-acting treatments, clinically selected, were exclusively based on SDA agents (injectable- risperidone [27.9%] and - paliperidone [72.0%]) for NAP patients and also included olanzapine and aripiprazole for AP patients ranking: paliperidone (42.8%)> aripiprazole (30.9%) > olanzapine (16.6%)> risperidone (9.52%) (p = 0.000). Average daily doses of antipsychotic (all converted to chlorpromazine-equivalent milligrams for comparison) were much higher among NAP vs. AP patients (294.0 ± 77.8 vs. 229.3 ± 95.8; p = 0.001).

Baseline anthropometrics, serum parameters and vital signs were somewhat similar between diagnostic groups and recorded QTc electrocardiographic interval was slightly higher among AP vs. NAP patients (419.9 \pm 22.3 vs. 406.6 \pm 29.2; p = 0.020) (**Table 1**).

Follow-Up Assessment

Measures changes from baseline (T1) were recorded after 6 months (T2) of follow-up and psycho- educational program. Changes were computed as means \pm standard deviations (not shown) but also presented in a more informative manner as %changes with standard deviations: [(parameter at T1- parameter at T2)/ parameter at T1]*100. Findings for all cases (N = 85) at 6-months showed a significant improvement of adherencerate (DAI-30; +8.75%), reduction of psychopathological ratings (-7.57 % at PANSS and -6.45 % at BPRS), decrease of BMI (-2.40%) as well as QTc Interval (-0.20%), fasting glucose (-2.54%), hemoglobin glycosylation (-3.47%), total cholesterol with an increase of high density lipoproteins (-3.98 and +34.8)% respectively), reduction in serum prolactin (-4.81%) (0.000 < p \leq 0.002). Measures changes have shown little differences among diagnoses. PANSS score decreased highly among NAP vs. AP patients (-9.54 vs. - 3.76%) as well as hemoglobin glycosylation (-3.84 vs. -2.76%), QTc interval (-0.209 vs. -0.203%) and serum prolactin (-4.97 vs. -4.49%) (0.006 $\leq p \leq 0.035$) (Table 2). Finally, we computed changes in measures among the different long-acting treatments over time: all measures did not differ among the treatments (0.068 $\leq p \leq$ 0.981; not shown).

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

This study aimed to test the impact of a psychoeducational program on general health among 85 patient-subjects diagnosed with clinically stable affective and non-affective psychoses treated with long-acting, injected, second-generation drugs,

| Measures | Changes (%) with SD | | | | | |
|--------------------------|---------------------|------|----------|-------------------------|---------------------|----------|
| | All ca | ises | p-values | Non-affective psychoses | Affective psychoses | p-values |
| PANSS score | -7.57 | 9.44 | <0.001 | -9.54 [9.03] | -3.76 [9.19] | 0.006 |
| BPRS score | -6.45 | 9.68 | <0.001 | -6.36 [11.3] | -6.63 [5.09] | 0.079 |
| DAI-30 score | +8.75 | 5.93 | <0.001 | +9.36 [5.86] | +7.58 [5.98] | 0.194 |
| BMI (kg/m ²) | -2.40 | 4.77 | <0.001 | -2.33 [5.31] | -2.77 [3.58] | 0.227 |
| Waist (cm) | -58.0 | 36.6 | 0.646 | -59.0 [34.0] | -56.2 [41.6] | 0.185 |
| QTc | -0.20 | 0.01 | 0.002 | -0.20 [0.01] | -0.20 [0.01] | 0.039 |
| Diastolic BP | +0.71 | 14.6 | 0.841 | +0.71 [13.6] | +0.70 [16.8] | 0.064 |
| Systolic BP | +2.71 | 12.2 | 0.135 | +2.04 [11.2] | +4.00 [14.2] | 0.661 |
| Pulse rate | +2.05 | 16.3 | 0.605 | +2.35 [15.7] | +1.49 [17.8] | 0.594 |
| Fasting glucose | -2.54 | 8.30 | 0.001 | -3.15 [7.36] | -1.36 [9.89] | 0.953 |
| Hemoglobin glycosylation | -3.47 | 3.87 | <0.001 | -3.84 [3.59] | -2.76 [4.34] | 0.007 |
| Total cholesterol | -3.98 | 9.54 | <0.001 | -3.33 [9.87] | -5.24 [8.92] | 0.557 |
| LDL cholesterol | -0.87 | 0.27 | 0.265 | -0.86 [0.25] | -0.89 [0.30] | 0.858 |
| HDL cholesterol | +34.8 | 55.1 | <0.001 | +27.2 [46.7] | +49.3 [67.0] | 0.186 |
| Triglycerides | -12.41 | 44.0 | 0.166 | -11.8 [44.6] | -13.4 [43.6] | 0.871 |
| Serum prolactin | -4.81 | 11.0 | 0.000 | -4.97 [13.3] | -4.49 [4.43] | 0.035 |

The 85 APs and NAPs patient-subjects were assessed clinically at baseline and 6 months, changes in measures were tested by repeated measures ANOVA.

SD, standard deviation; PANSS, Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale; BPRS, Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale; CPZ-eq, chlorpromazine-equivalent mg/day; DAI-30, 30-item Drug Attitude Inventory; BMI, Body-Mass Index; HDL, High-Density Lipids (cholesterol). LDL, Low-Density Lipids.

Boldface: Factors significantly different.

as determined by treating physicians. Changes in clinical, anthropometric and physiological measures over six months of treatment exposure were measured.

Clinicians preferred risperidone and paliperidone antipsychotics for the long-term treatment of patient-subjects diagnosed with schizophrenia or other non-affective psychoses, possibly due to their relatively high affinity at dopamine D₂-receptors and their reported benefits on both positive and negative psychotic symptoms (21). Olanzapine and aripiprazole were preferred with affective psychoses since they may have mood-stabilizing effects (22). Subjects with non-affective psychoses were also given relatively high CPZ-eq doses of antipsychotics. Among few initial differences between subjects with affective and non-affective disorders, the QTc electrocardiographic interval was slightly higher with affective disorders (Table 1). It is of interest that patients recruited in the study were not affected by serious cardiological conditions and a small number of subjects were taking anti-hypertensive drugs (27.2%; not described for heterogeneity of data). Variations of QTc intervals among patients may also reflect an additional individual variability (23).

By six-months of treatment that involved close clinical followup and continued psychoeducational intervention was associated with several moderate, but favorable changes (Table 2). These include improved adherence ratings, even above those expected with injected, long-acting drugs: this reflects the evidence that joining a psycho-educational program may increase the personal awareness about illness and improve patients' attitudes regarding its treatment (24). Also, improvements in psychoticsymptoms ratings (PANSS and BPRS) may reflect benefits of the medication provided and perhaps added benefits associated with the psychoeducational intervention aimed to increase patients' insight (25). Improvements in BMI, carbohydrates, hemoglobin glycosylation, serum lipids and prolactin concentration may in part reflect changes in life-style, diet and physical exercise, all as encouraged by the psychoeducation intervention (26). In addition, participants' attitudes toward medications and their adherence to scheduled injections improved as reflected in ratings with the DAI-30.

Limitations

Cause-and-effect relationships involved in the observed changes are not clear without a control condition lacking

REFERENCES

- Hert DEM, Correll CU, Bobes J, Cetkovich-Bakmas M, Cohen D, Asai I, et al. Physical illness in patients with severe mental disorders. I. Prevalence, impact of medications and disparities in health care. *World Psychiatry*. (2011) 10:52–77. 10.1002/j.2051-5545.2011.tb00014.x
- Stubbs B, Vancampfort D, Hallgren M, Firth J, Veronese N, Solmi M, et al. EPA guidance on physical activity as a treatment for severe mental illness: a meta-review of the evidence and Position Statement from the European Psychiatric Association (EPA), supported by the International Organization of Physical Therapists in Mental Health (IOPTMH). *Eur Psychiatry.* (2018) 54:124–44. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2018. 07.004

psychoeducation. In fact, the comparison with a controlgroup of patients treated with long-acting medications with no psychoeducation (as well as patients treated with oral antipsychotics and psychoeducation) would add more evidence on the cause-and-effect relationships between their clinical outcomes and psychoeducational intervention. Also, it is notable that differences in baseline measures and their changes with treatment related to the type of psychotic illness were somewhat negligible (Tables 1, 2). This study is limited by the relatively small number of subjects, only 6 months of treatment and follow-up, the lack of a comparison condition without a psychoeducational component, and lack of blinding to diagnosis and treatment. Nonetheless, similar improvements in clinical and metabolic status of severe mentally ill patients given the same psycho-educational program have been confirmed in our previous study conducted in 2014 (3).

In conclusion, the findings suggest favorable changes in clinical and metabolic status among severely ill psychotic outpatients treated with modern, long-acting, injected antipsychotic drugs combined with close clinical follow-up and ongoing psychoeducation. We suggest that such interventions may contribute to improving clinical and medical outcomes in psychotic disorders and limit mortality-risk, and conclude that they require further, controlled testing.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study involving human participants has been reviewed and approved by University of Foggia. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AV and AB: each authors has contributed to the development of the report. AV, AP, VS, EM, and SI: reviewing clinical and pharmacy records. AV, JC-M, and JT: analyzing data. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

- Ventriglio A, Gentile A, Baldessarini RJ, Martone S, Vitrani G, La Marca A, et al. Improvements in metabolic abnormalities among overweight schizophrenia and bipolar disorder patients. *Eur Psychiatry*. (2014) 29:402– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2013.11.005
- Rognoni C, Bertolani A, Jommi C. Second-generation antipsychotic drugs for patients with schizophrenia: systematic literature review and meta-analysis of metabolic and cardiovascular side effects. *Clin Drug Investig.* (2021) 41:303– 19. doi: 10.1007/s40261-021-01000-1
- Vancampfort D, Firth J, Correll CU, Solmi M, Siskind D, De Hert M, et al. the impact of pharmacological and non-pharmacological interventions to improve physical health outcomes in people with schizophrenia: a metareview of meta-analyses of randomized controlled trials. *Focus (Am Psychiatr Publ)*. (2021) 19:116–28. doi: 10.1176/appi.focus.19103

- Bartoli F, Crocamo C, Caslini M, Clerici M, Carrà G. Schizoaffective disorder and metabolic syndrome: A meta-analytic comparison with schizophrenia and other non-affective psychoses. J Psychiatr Res. (2015) 66–67:127– 34. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2015.04.028
- Kishimoto T, Hagi K, Nitta M, Kane JM, Correll CU. Long-term effectiveness of oral second-generation antipsychotics in patients with schizophrenia and related disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis of direct head-to-head comparisons. *World Psychiatry.* (2019) 18:208– 24. doi: 10.1002/wps.20632
- Ventriglio A, Gentile A, Stella E, Bellomo A. Metabolic issues in patients affected by schizophrenia: clinical characteristics and medical management. *Front Neurosci.* (2015) 9:297. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2015. 00297
- 9. Ventriglio A, Baldessarini RJ, Vitrani G, Bonfitto I, Cecere AC, Rinaldi A, et al. Metabolic syndrome in psychotic disorder patients treated with oral and long-acting injected antipsychotics. *Front Psychiatry.* (2019) 9:744. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00744
- Kelly JR, Gounden P, McLoughlin A, Legris Z, O'Carroll T, McCafferty R, et al. Minding metabolism: targeted interventions to improve cardiometabolic monitoring across early and chronic psychosis. *Ir J Med Sci.* (2021) 8:1–10. doi: 10.1007/s11845-021-02576-5
- De Hert M, Dekker JM, Wood D, Kahl KG, Möller HJ. Cardiovascular disease and diabetes in people with severe mental illness position statement from the European Psychiatric Association (EPA) with the European Association for the Study of Diabetes (EASD) and the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). *Eur Psychiatry.* (2009) 24:412–24. doi: 10.1016/S1888-9891(09) 70714-1
- Firth J, Solmi M, Wootton RE, Vancampfort D, Schuch FB, Hoare E, et al. A meta-review of "lifestyle psychiatry": the role of exercise, smoking, diet and sleep in the prevention and treatment of mental disorders. *World Psychiatry*. (2020) 19:360–3809. doi: 10.1002/wps.20773
- American Psychiatric Association (APA). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders - Fifth edition (DSM-5). Washington, DC: Am Psychiat Pub. (2013).
- 14. Sheehan DV, Lecrubier Y, Sheehan KH, Amorim P, Janavs J, Weiller E, et al. Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (MINI): development and validation of a structured diagnostic psychiatric interview for DSM-IV and ICD-10. *J Clin Psychiatry*. (1998) 59:22–33.
- 15. Baldessarini RJ, Tarazi FI. Drugs and the treatment of psychiatric disorders: antipsychotic and antimanic agents. In: *Hardman JG, Limbird LE, Gilman AG, editors Goodman and Gilman's the pharmacological basis of therapeutics 11th ed.* New York: McGraw-Hill. (2005).
- Gardner DM, Murphy AL, O'Donnell H, Centorrino F, Baldessarini RJ. Equivalent doses of antipsychotic agents: findings from an international Delphi survey. *Am J Psychiatry.* (2010) 167:686–93. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2009.09060802
- Hogan TP, Awad AG, Eastwood R. A self-report scale predictive of drug compliance in schizophrenics: reliability and discriminative validity. *Psychol Med.* (1983) 13:177–83. doi: 10.1017/s0033291700050182
- Kay SR, Fiszbein A, Opler LA. The positive and negative syndrome scale (PANSS) for schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Bull.* (1987) 13:261– 76. doi: 10.1093/schbul/13.2.261

- Dingemans PM, Linszen DH, Lenior ME, Smeets RM. Component structure of the expanded Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale (BPRS- E). *Psychopharmacol.* (1995) 122:263–7. doi: 10.1007/BF02246547
- Littrell KH, Hilligoss NM, Kirshner CD, Petty RG, Johnson CG. The effects of an educational intervention on antipsychotic-induced weight gain. J Nursing Scholarsh. (2003) 35:237–41. doi: 10.1111/j.1547-5069.2003.00237.x
- Lupták M, Michaličková D, Fišar Z, Kitzlerová E, Hroudová J. Novel approaches in schizophrenia-from risk factors and hypotheses to novel drug targets. World J Psychiatry. (2021) 11:277–96. doi: 10.5498/wjp.v11.i7.277
- 22. McGirr A, Vöhringer PA, Nassir Ghaemi S, Lam RW, Yatham LN. Safety and efficacy of adjunctive second-generation antidepressant therapy with a mood stabiliser or an atypical antipsychotic in acute bipolar depression: randomised systematic review and meta-analysis of a placebo-controlled trials. *Focus (Am Psychiatr Publ)*. (2021) 19:129–37. doi: 10.1176/appi.focus.19102
- Mangona E, Sandonato E, Brothers TN, Pawasauskas J. Drug-induced QTc prolongation: what we know and where we are going. *Curr Drug Saf.* (2021). doi: 10.2174/1574886316666210922153059
- 24. Sampogna G, Luciano M, Del Vecchio V, Giallonardo V, Palummo C, Andriola I, et al. Stili di vita nei pazienti con disturbi mentali gravi: quali opportunità per il trattamento? [Lifestyle in patients with severe mental disorders: a new target for psychosocial interventions?]. *Riv Psichiatr.* (2021) 56:261–71. doi: 10.1708/3681.36674
- Bighelli I, Rodolico A, García-Mieres H, Pitschel-Walz G, Hansen WP, Schneider-Thoma J, et al. Psychosocial and psychological interventions for relapse prevention in schizophrenia: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. *Lancet Psychiatry.* (2021) S2215-0366(21)00243-1. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(21)00243-1
- 26. Fernández-Abascal B, Suárez-Pinilla P, Cobo-Corrales C, Crespo-Facorro B, Suárez-Pinilla M. In- and outpatient lifestyle interventions on diet and exercise and their effect on physical and psychological health: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials in patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders and first episode of psychosis. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2021) 125:535–68. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2021.01.005

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Ventriglio, Petito, Castaldelli-Maia, Torales, Sannicandro, Milano, Iuso and Bellomo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Importance of Suicide Risk Formulation in Schizophrenia

Isabella Berardelli¹, Elena Rogante², Salvatore Sarubbi³, Denise Erbuto¹, David Lester⁴ and Maurizio Pompili^{1*}

¹ Department of Neurosciences, Mental Health, and Sensory Organs, Faculty of Medicine and Psychology, Suicide Prevention Centre, Sant'Andrea Hospital, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ² Department of Psychology, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ³ Department of Human Neurosciences, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ⁴ Psychology Program, Stockton University, Galloway, NJ, United States

Suicide is a cause of early mortality in nearly 5% of patients with schizophrenia, and 25-50% of patients with schizophrenia attempt suicide in their lifetime. Evidence points to numerous individual, clinical, social, and psychological risk factors for suicide in patients with schizophrenia. Although recognizing suicidal risk factors in schizophrenia is extremely important in suicidal risk assessment, we have recently witnessed a change in suicide risk management that shifts the focus from suicide risk assessment to suicide risk formulation. Suicide risk formulation is dependent on the data gathered in the suicide risk assessment and assigns a level of suicide risk that is indispensable for the choice of treatment and the management of patients with a high suicidal risk. In this article, we extend the suicide risk formulation model to patients with schizophrenia. Suicide risk formulation results from four different areas that help clinicians collect as much information as possible for the management of suicidal risk. The four distinct judgments comprise risk status (the risk relating to the specific group to which the patient belongs). risk state (the risk for the person compared with his baseline or another reference point in the course of his life), available resources (on whom the person can count during a crisis) and foreseeable events (which can exacerbate the crisis). In schizophrenia, the suicide risk formulation model allows the clinician to evaluate in depth the clinical context of the patient, the patient's own history and patient-specific opportunities for better choosing and applying suicide prevention strategies.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Laura Orsolini, Marche Polytechnic University, Italy

Reviewed by:

Sachin Nagendrappa, National Institute of Mental Health and Neurosciences (NIMHANS), India Frances Nkechi Adiukwu, University of Port Harcourt Teaching Hospital, Nigeria

> *Correspondence: Maurizio Pompili maurizio.pompili@uniroma1.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychosomatic Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 19 September 2021 Accepted: 02 November 2021 Published: 16 December 2021

Citation:

Berardelli I, Rogante E, Sarubbi S, Erbuto D, Lester D and Pompili M (2021) The Importance of Suicide Risk Formulation in Schizophrenia. Front. Psychiatry 12:779684. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.779684 Keywords: suicide risk, schizophrenia, prevention strategies, risk formulation, risk assessment

SUICIDE RISK FORMULATION IN SCHIZOPHRENIA

Suicidal behavior in schizophrenia is an underestimated event, with 25-50% of these patients attempting suicide in their lifetime (1–3). It is also a frequent cause of early mortality, affecting nearly 5% of patients with schizophrenia (4, 5). Suicide may occur at any time during the clinical course of schizophrenia, although several studies have suggested that the highest suicide risk occurs during the first 10 years of illness (6, 7). Previous studies have reported numerous individual, clinical, social, and psychological risk factors for suicide in patients with schizophrenia (8, 9). Furthermore, schizophrenic patients who attempt suicide typically use lethal and violent methods requiring urgent medical attention and hospitalization (10).

Due to the importance of this outcome in patients with schizophrenia, suicide risk formulation and management are essential skills for clinical practice (11, 12). Many strategies can be used to

27

prevent suicide, and awareness of suicide risk factors in patients with schizophrenia is necessary to manage suicide risk better (13).

Many factors associated with suicide in schizophrenia have been identified, but attempts to identify high-risk patients have so far produced too many false positives to be clinically useful. Suicide prevention strategies can be improved by assessing several suicide risk factors simultaneously. Although recognizing that suicidal risk factors in schizophrenia are extremely important, we have recently witnessed a change in suicide risk management that shifts the focus from suicide risk assessment to risk formulation. Suicide risk formulation is a process by which the clinician forms a judgment about the patient's suicide risk based on data collected during the suicide risk assessment, and suicide risk formulation would seem to be indispensable for treating and managing a suicidal crisis (14, 15). Pisani et al. (16) supported this paradigm shift, and they pointed to the necessity for rethinking the formulation of suicide risk from a predictive to a preventive perspective. The authors discussed that, usually in clinical practice, the assessment of suicide risk had been based on the expression "low," "moderate," or "high" risk, and they argued that this type of assessment had poor reliability and validity (16). The model proposed by those authors provides for a risk assessment that does not use a categorical approach. According to those authors, suicide risk formulation is based on four different areas that help clinicians collect as much information as possible to manage suicide risk. The four distinct judgments involved in suicide risk formulation comprise: risk status (the risk relating to the specific group to which the patient belongs), risk state (the risk of the person compared with his baseline or another reference point in the course of his life), available resources (on whom the person can count during a sudden crisis) and foreseeable events (which can exacerbate the crisis). This model redefines the concept of suicide risk formulation as a concise, empirically-based summary of a patient's immediate distress and resources at a specific moment and place (16).

In this article we extend the suicide risk formulation model to patients with schizophrenia. In schizophrenia, the suicide risk formulation model allows the clinician to evaluate in depth the clinical context of the patients, the patient's own history, and patient-specific opportunities for better application of suicide prevention strategies.

SUICIDE RISK STATUS IN SCHIZOPHRENIA

The evaluation of the risk status compares suicide risk factors in a patient relative to other patients in a given population. For this reason, risk status is expressed using comparative forms such as "higher than," "similar to," or "lower than" in relation to a relevant comparison group. These factors tend to be more enduring (i.e., fixed, historical, and static), comprising patients demographic features. Other risk factors are mainly involved in the acute phase of schizophrenia and in the remission phase (16).

Demographic features, such as Caucasian race, male sex, younger age, and being unmarried, seem to be associated with increased suicide risk in patients with schizophrenia and are considered long-term status risk factors (17-20). Recently, Dickerson et al. (21) studied 733 patients with a schizophrenia spectrum disorder in order to examine the role of different variables in suicide risk. This study found that being Caucasian (vs. African American) and male was associated with higher hazard rates for suicide. Furthermore, a meta-analysis and meta-regression of 96 studies (22) confirmed that being male was consistently associated with suicide in patients with schizophrenia but a protective factor against suicidal attempts. The authors explained this result as consistent with the "gender paradox" phenomenon (23) in which females present higher rates of suicidal ideation and non-lethal behavior than do males. Suicide mortality is typically lower for females than for males, probably because women are more likely to use less lethal methods than do men. Regarding the relationship between age and suicidal risk in schizophrenia, several studies have demonstrated that younger patients have an increased likelihood of attempting suicide (24–26).

Furthermore, studies on marital status and suicide risk indicate that being married is a protective factor for suicidal risk, and married patients indeed have more family support than patients who are not married (27). Finally, the prevalence of suicide risk in patients with schizophrenia differs across countries (28). For example, several studies have demonstrated that patients with schizophrenia who live in high-income countries were more likely to attempt suicide than those in the low- and middle-income countries. Furthermore, patients who live in North America or Europe and Central Asia present a higher prevalence of suicide attempts than patients in South Asia, sub-Saharan Africa, East Asia, and Pacific areas (28). Differences in socio-cultural and economic contexts (such as societal discrimination and stigma) and the prevalence of substance abuse (such as alcohol and cocaine) may explain these differences (29-32).

Through the model of suicide risk formulation, previous suicide attempts are among the essential enduring risk status factors for suicidal behavior (33–35). Furthermore, repeated attempts exponentially increase the risk of a lethal act (36, 37). A multicenter randomized trial conducted by Fleischhacker et al. (the ZODIAC Study) (38) analyzed 18,254 patients with schizophrenia to understand better the features of completed and attempted suicide in this population. The results confirmed that previous suicide attempts were the strongest predictor of completed suicide and future suicide attempts. In addition, using logistic regression, Li et al. (39) examined 64 inpatients with schizophrenia and found that previous suicide attempts were an independent risk factor for suicide and useful for better suicide risk formulation.

Other enduring suicide risk factors that play an important role in suicide risk formulation include adverse childhood experiences (ACEs). It has been postulated that ACEs are nearly three times more frequent in patients with schizophrenia and other psychoses than in the general population (40). Adverse childhood experiences that include physical, sexual and emotional abuse, as

well as neglect, are present in about 30% of the general population and can impair the individual's sense of security (e.g., substanceabusing parents, divorce, incarceration of a family member, etc.) (41). Is well-known that ACEs increase the risk of mental health consequences in adulthood, including depression, anxiety, psychosis, post-traumatic stress disorders, dissociative disorders, and personality disorders (42). In patients with schizophrenia, ACEs have been associated with the development of psychotic episodes (43), an earlier onset of schizophrenia (43), a higher incidence of positive and negative symptoms (44-49) and a higher risk of suicidal behavior (43, 45, 46, 50, 51). Several studies have proposed that the risk of developing psychosis is higher in patients exposed to multiple ACEs. A possible explanation is that repeated exposure to adverse experiences increases mesolimbic dopamine reactivity, causing delusions and hallucinations (40, 52-56). Several studies have reported an association between negative childhood experiences and suicidal risk in psychiatric patients (57-59). Consistent with these findings, Hassan et al. found that patients with schizophrenia who had experienced ACEs were more likely to attempt suicide than patients who did not report ACEs. Moreover, recently Prokopez et al. (60) studied 100 patients with schizophrenia and observed that multiple ACEs were associated with a higher frequency of suicide attempts. Notably, the authors observed that men and women with various adverse experiences during childhood reported more suicidal ideation and a higher frequency of at least one suicidal attempt. The women with multiple ACEs had a higher number of suicide attempts.

Family functioning, that is, the ability to adapt oneself to changes determined by the levels of cohesion, flexibility, and communication within a family, is often compromised in families of individuals with schizophrenia and is an important enduring factor in suicide risk formulation (61–63). Moreover, it seems that disrupted relationships with family members may increase suicide risk (64–67). For example, in a sample of 263 patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders, Chang et al. (68) found that suicidal behavior was associated with poorer family relationships. In addition, a study by Demir (69), that analyzed 350 psychiatric outpatients, found a significant association between suicidal behavior and abnormal emotional expression by a family member who exhibited excessive, hostile, and judgmental emotions toward the psychiatric patient.

Among other factors involved in suicide risk status, premorbid functioning in psychotic disorders influences clinical and functional outcomes (70). For example, in a study by Pompili et al. (71), good premorbid functioning increased the risk of completing suicide. The authors explained this result as being consistent with the "demoralization syndrome" (72), in which a good level of functioning and insight into the illness may cause hopeless feelings and suicidal thoughts (73). Conversely, Bakst et al. (74), who assessed premorbid functioning in a sample of 444 individuals with a first psychotic episode, found that a higher likelihood of suicide attempts before the first psychiatric hospitalization was associated with poorer premorbid functioning. Nevertheless, when the sample was divided into two groups (schizophrenia vs. other psychoses), the association was no longer significant in the patients with schizophrenia. In

contrast, the association remained significant in the patients with other psychoses. The authors interpreted this result by taking into account the heterogeneous phenomenology of schizophrenia.

Different clinical features associated with schizophrenia can be enduring suicide status risk factors. The age of schizophrenia onset has a crucial role in understanding the developmental and distinctive features (i.e., genetic and environmental antecedents) of the disorder that appear in early adulthood and become chronic and impairing (75). Early-onset schizophrenia is associated with a poorer prognosis and worse psychological, social and biological outcomes (76, 77). In particular, suicide risk seems to be associated with an early onset of schizophrenia, as confirmed by Vinokur et al. (78) in a study of 138 patients with schizophrenia. Moreover, in a British follow-up investigation (79), most suicides occurred within the first 2 years of the onset of the psychotic disorder. A study by Castelein et al. (80) that followed 424 patients with schizophrenia for 20 years found that the percentage of deaths that was from suicide declined over time from 11.0 to 2.4%. Thus, although higher suicide rates have been identified in younger patients, suicide risk remains stable throughout life in individuals with schizophrenia (2). Several authors also reported that a longer illness duration was significantly associated with lifetime suicide attempts (81, 82). Recently, Chang et al. (68) showed that a longer illness duration was one predictor of lifetime suicide attempts in a sample of 263 patients with schizophrenia. Dai et al. (83) replicated this result by comparing 908 patients with schizophrenia with suicide attempts to those without suicide.

Status factors involved in the suicide risk formulation in the acute phase of schizophrenia include the type of psychotic symptoms and categorization of schizophrenia, depressive symptoms and hopelessness, alcohol abuse, anxiety symptoms, insomnia, and illness insight. Evidence regarding the predictive value of positive and negative symptoms on suicide risk is still conflicting (80, 84, 85). Andriopoulos et al. (86) found that both positive and negative symptoms were increased in individuals with suicide ideation (vs. those without suicide ideation). Gill et al. (87) examined 42 individuals at high risk for psychosis and found a significant association between suicide ideation and negative symptoms.

However, the association between specific subtypes of schizophrenia and suicide risk is still controversial. The review conducted by Pompili et al. (33) found no significant differences in suicide risk according to the classical categorization of schizophrenia as catatonic, hebephrenic, or undifferentiated. On the other hand, paranoid schizophrenia seems associated with a higher suicide risk, probably as a result of the later age at onset (88). Possible explanations for the increased risk of suicide associated with increased age at onset of illness in patients with paranoid schizophrenia might include the stress these patients face, the deterioration in cognitive functioning, and having had a family and occupation during their early adult years (36, 89). Furthermore, a relation between command hallucinations and suicide risk has been postulated, but the data are still controversial. Fenton et al. (89), in a long-term follow-up study, observed that patients with schizophrenia who died by suicide presented lower negative symptom severity upon admission

and more often had two positive symptoms (suspiciousness and delusions) than patients without suicidal behaviors (89). Repeated psychiatric hospitalizations are a common feature of patients with schizophrenia due to the disease's chronic nature and poor medication adherence (90).

Moreover, re-hospitalization seems to be strongly associated with suicidal ideation and behaviors, as Fleischhacker et al. (38) highlighted in their study of potential baseline risk factors for attempted suicide in 18,154 patients with schizophrenia. The results showed that a history of more than five hospitalizations was, alongside previous suicide attempts, the most substantial variable associated with attempted suicide. Zhang et al. (91) assessed 520 inpatients with schizophrenia and compared suicide attempters and non-attempters. They found that patients who had attempted suicide reported significantly more frequent hospitalizations, and a logistic regression analysis confirmed that suicide attempts were associated with more hospitalizations.

An additional factor in evaluating suicide risk status in schizophrenia is patient insight into the illness. Most researchers have defined insight as being comprised of at least three domains: awareness of the disease, awareness of the need for treatment, and awareness of the consequences of the disorder (92). Some studies (93, 94) have demonstrated that hopeless awareness of the severity of the disorder (schizophrenia) was one of the most important predictors of completed suicide in patients with psychotic disorders. However, it is still uncertain whether insight was directly related to suicide or mediated by its influence on hopelessness. Several studies have demonstrated that illness awareness is associated with increased suicide risk in patients with schizophrenia (95-97). In a recent study of 100 psychiatric inpatients, Berardelli et al. (98) reported that patients with higher scores on the insight-high dimension had a 1.35 greater odds of having a higher suicide risk, indicating that greater illness insight is involved in suicide risk.

Current depressive disorders were strongly associated with suicide in patients diagnosed with schizophrenia (99, 100). More than 50% of patients who died by suicide had symptoms of depression at the time of the suicide (8), and it has been suggested that a depressive disorder may trigger suicidal behavior in vulnerable patients with schizophrenia (36). In addition, hopelessness is an important risk factor in people diagnosed with schizophrenia (101), even in the absence of a concomitant depression (94). Several studies have also reported that symptoms of demoralization in patients with schizophrenia are related to suicide risk (73). Depressive symptoms occur in different phases of the psychosis, including prodromal, acute, and postpsychotic phases (102-104). It has been proposed that depressive dimensions are intrinsic to schizophrenia psychopathology, in positive, negative, and disorganized symptom clusters (104). The close linkage between psychotic symptoms and depression, especially in the prodromal phase, suggested that depression in schizophrenia may be the severe end of a dimension of affective dysregulation from adolescence progressing to the early stages of psychosis as the illness crystalizes (105). Furthermore, depression could be a psychological reaction to the diagnosis of schizophrenia and its implications for patients' lives or could be related to early risk factors such as a childhood trauma (103). Addressing psychotic depression is important not only in suicide formulation but also for schizophrenia management as it is related to relapse, greater substance-related problems, poorer life satisfaction, mental functioning, family relationships, and medication adherence (106).

Substance abuse is a common phenomenon among individuals with schizophrenia (107). Up to 50% of patients with schizophrenia exhibit either alcohol or illicit drug dependence, and more than 70% are nicotine dependent (108). In particular, heavy cannabis abuse has been reported to be a stressor, eliciting relapse in patients with schizophrenia and related disorders (109). Although it is difficult to compare the relative impact of different mental health problems with suicide risk, alcohol and drug use disorders have been strongly linked to suicide risk (110, 111). Multiple potential links, including genetic vulnerability, treatment side effects, and psychosocial factors, have been discussed as possible pathways (112). One explanation for the increased incidence of substance use in patients with schizophrenia is the self-medication hypothesis (113). Individuals with a substance use disorder (i.e., a diagnosis of either alcohol or drug abuse or dependence) are almost six times more likely to report a lifetime suicide attempt than those without a substance use disorder (114). In addition, evidence has suggested that alcohol abuse is a predictor of suicide (7, 115). However, some authors have suggested that alcohol abuse may be associated with suicide attempts but not with completed suicide (116). As for drug abuse, most studies have reported an association with increased suicide risk (117) and impulsiveness (118). In particular, abuse of stimulants (cocaine, amphetamine) increase the risk of attempted suicide (119).

Anxiety symptoms are highly prevalent in schizophrenia and occur in up to 65% of patients (120, 121). Anxiety symptoms are strongly associated with depressive symptoms, somatization, and feelings of guilt in patients with schizophrenia (122, 123). Panic attacks have also been associated with suicide risk in schizophrenia (120). However, although anxiety symptoms do not discriminate suicide ideators from attempters, anxiety symptoms significantly predict general suicidality in schizophrenia (124). Patients with schizophrenia and anxiety symptoms have a lower quality of life but higher insight into their illness than those without anxiety symptoms (124).

In a case-control study, Pompili et al. (125) suggested the role of insomnia as a suicide risk factor. Previous research on the relationship between suicide and sleep disturbances has noted that those patients with schizophrenia who exhibited suicidal behavior presented increased overall rapid eye movement (REM) activity (126).

Other schizophrenia related factors, mainly present in the remission phase, are involved in suicide risk status including loss of confidence in pharmacotherapy, fear of further mental breakdown and fear of acute symptomatology.

Finally, risk status is the assessment of different enduring risk factors based on the clinical context and patient population, on the patient's history, and on patient-specific opportunities for prevention.

SUICIDE RISK STATE IN SCHIZOPHRENIA

Suicide risk refers to a person's current risk compared with his/her own risk at baseline or at another set point in time. Factors involved in risk state are more dynamic and related to the moment-to-moment clinical status of patients. Together, risk status and risk state allow clinicians to understand the patient's current vulnerability among their population, context, and time. The risk state formulation focuses on temporal changes and on the effect of the distress on the patient's life. The state risk factors that are mainly involved in the acute phase of schizophrenia include the presence of suicide ideation or recent suicide behavior, recent loss, social isolation, new hospitalizations, loss of faith in treatment, excessive treatment dependence, awareness of the illness, and social alienation (16).

The presence of suicidal ideation during the acute phase of schizophrenia must be carefully evaluated during the clinical interview. With the aid of appropriate psychometric tools, recent stressors and precipitant events represent important dynamic factors capable of modifying the suicide risk state. Among the various stressors, recent loss is often considered a state risk factor for suicide in patients with schizophrenia (1, 22, 99). Gallego et al. (127) investigated 3,322 patients diagnosed with schizophrenia and affective disorders and reported a significant association between recent financial or relational loss and current suicide attempts. In a sample of 180 patients with first-episode psychosis, Fedyszyn et al. (128) demonstrated that one of the most vital risk factors for suicide was a recent negative event, such as a traumatic or stressful experience. Social isolation, which consists of disrupted or non-existent interpersonal contacts and relationships, is a well-known suicide risk factor in schizophrenia (129-131). Recently, several papers have further addressed this relationship. For example, Bornheimer et al. (132) investigated the relationship between social isolation, psychosis, and suicide ideation and found a mediating effect of social isolation in the relationship between psychosis and suicide ideation. In addition, the authors identified an indirect path between positive symptoms (hallucinations and delusions) and suicide ideation through social isolation. Conversely, several studies have shown the protective role of social support in reducing suicide risk (133-135). Social support increases feelings of belongingness and prevents negative appraisals after stressful events, and the presence of individuals can physically prevent suicide attempts. However, only a few studies have analyzed the role of poor social support in suicide risk in schizophrenia spectrum disorders. Xie et al. (50) reported a significant negative correlation between social support and suicide ideation in a sample of patients with schizophrenia. In a study of 212 patients with schizophrenia, Pješčić et al. (136) found a higher prevalence of poor social support and social isolation in patients with suicide ideation.

The state risk formulation also evaluates several features related to schizophrenia and its treatment during the acute and remission phases of the illness, including recent discharge from a psychiatric ward and fear of a new hospitalization. Current discharge from a psychiatric ward as a risk factor for suicide was noted in a recent study (137) that reported a suicide rate of 178 per 100,000 person-per year within the first 3

months after discharge. Moreover, the lack of adequate outpatient healthcare seems to increase suicide risk (137). Erlangsen et al. (138) assessed 248 suicides in Denmark between 1990 and 2006 and identified recent discharge as a significant risk factor for suicide. Waiser et al. (139) examined 2,881 patients with schizophrenia through a survival analysis method. They found that \sim 32% of suicides occurred within 6 months after psychiatric hospitalization, with the rate rising to 48% within 1 year. Lastly, Lopez-Morinigo et al. (140) analyzed 426 suicides (71 patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorder and 355 controls) and demonstrated a significant association between recent hospital discharge and completed suicide in the schizophrenia group. In a systematic review by Hawton et al. (8), agitation or motor restlessness seemed to be associated with suicide risk in patients with schizophrenia during the acute phase of the illness.

It is well-known that schizophrenia can modify many facets of patients' experience, including language, emotion and intersubjectivity, all factors related to social alienation. Therefore, these symptoms of schizophrenia should be understood as human psychopathological phenomena and not only as subproducts of a malfunctioning brain (141). Disturbances in both language, emotion and social interactions in patients with schizophrenia have received some research attention. However, little attention has been paid to these dimensions' subjective experience, particularly the personal meaning for patients with schizophrenia (142). Their language, emotion and encounters with other people has been poorly investigated. Furthermore, hyper-reflexivity, which refers to a type of intensified selfconsciousness, diminished self-affection that represents a decline in consciousness of oneself as the subject of experience, and alteration of interactions with the world are other important dimensions involved in a loss of vital contact with reality in patients with schizophrenia (143). Schizophrenia should be viewed as a disorder of the person and not only of the brain. We can understand the importance of a suicide risk formulation based on the evaluation of subjective dimensions and externalsocial dimensions that are strongly connected to suicide risk (16).

In the acute phase of the illness, patients with schizophrenia may voluntarily decide to enter in a hospital if their symptoms are severe and painful. Awareness of the severity of psychotic symptoms and the fear of a new hospitalization can affect the patient's mental state, increasing hopelessness, helplessness and social isolation, all risk factors for suicide. Furthermore, clinicians can decide to commit a patient involuntarily. The decision to involuntarily commit an individual has become more challenging due to rapid changes in health care. It is important to remember that patients who are forced into treatment may develop a sense of distrust toward treatment providers and family members, which can delay recovery in the long run and can increase suicide risk. Alongside the increased awareness of symptoms, fear of the ineffectiveness of drug therapies and fear of becoming dependent on the various treatments can also increase the risk of suicide of patients with schizophrenia (144).

Among the various acute symptoms of schizophrenia, agitation seems to be involved in suicide risk. Pompili et al. (125) conducted a retrospective case-control study comparing 20 patients with schizophrenia who died by suicide with 20 living

controls and found that agitation and motor restlessness was much more common in the suicides Furthermore, the guidelines drafted by the European Psychiatric Association (145) highlight the role of agitation in affecting suicidal behavior in patients with schizophrenia. Suicide risk also seems to be associated with poor adherence to treatment as shown in several studies (8, 146). For example, Hering and Erkens (147) analyzed 603 patients with schizophrenia. They observed a four-fold increased risk of suicide in the group that interrupted treatment with antipsychotic drugs compared with the group that continued treatment. In addition, Novick et al. (148) reported that, of the 6,731 patients in the study, 28.8% of the sample was non-adherent to treatment, and this feature was associated with suicide attempts. Consistent with this, Ward et al. (149) analyzed 3,291 patients with schizophrenia, and their results demonstrated that good adherence was a protective factor against suicide.

Antipsychotic medications are known to be associated with several movement disorders, acute side effects, late-onset side effects, tardive dyskinesia, and extrapyramidal symptoms (EPSs). The latter include acute dystonia and parkinsonism which can be present also in the remission phase of schizophrenia (150). In a double-blind, randomized controlled multicenter trial on 298 patients with first-episode schizophrenia who were in treatment with risperidone or haloperidol, suicide ideation was associated with akathisia, suggesting that EPSs may have a promoting effect in suicide risk (151). However, the findings of Reutfors et al. (150) demonstrated a lower suicide risk in patients with a history of EPSs. The authors explained their results by noting that these patients were characterized by better adherence to treatment, higher dosages, and a prevalence of polypharmacy.

Other suicide state factors include the presence of medical disorders and poor mental health conditions (152). Patients with schizophrenia present higher mortality rates, probably due to the presence of a medical disorder and unhealthy lifestyle behaviors, in addition to psychiatric impairment and psychotropic medication use. The presence of physical comorbidity, the need for new pharmacological treatments and specialist visits, and fear of the prognosis and for the quality of life could increase the psychological fragility of patients, thereby becoming state risk factors.

In conclusion, the factors involved in risk state are dynamic and malleable and relate more to moment-to-moment clinical status in the acute phase of schizophrenia. Together, risk status and risk state allow clinicians to understand better an individual's current vulnerability in this population, context, and time.

AVAILABLE RESOURCES AND FORESEEABLE CHANGES IN SCHIZOPHRENIA

A suicide risk formulation model based only on a categorical label for suicide risk state requires detailed additional information in order to plan risk prevention and the management of the patient. A complete suicide risk formulation, in combination with estimates of risk state and risk status, permits an assessment of the patient's available resources and future foreseeable changes (16). Available resources are defined as resources immediately accessible to the patient and clinicians to support them during suicide crises in the acute phase of the illness. Recognizing the available resources for patients is different from assessing suicide protective factors, which often refer to general and epidemiologic factors known to decrease suicide risk across populations and are not immediately available during an acute suicidal crisis. In this sense, clinicians have to focus on the personal variables of each patient (coping strategies, resilience) and relational variables such as social support available during the acute phase of the crisis (16). Furthermore, when applying this model to patients with schizophrenia, the clinician, when identifying available resources, must consider the presence of psychotic symptomatology, patient insight, and factors that reduce collaboration between the patient and the resources.

Foreseeable changes are stressors that can increase or decrease suicide risk in the acute phase of schizophrenia. However, not all stressors increase suicide risk. Therefore, in the formulation of suicide risk, it is important to understand what makes an ordinary stressor a trigger for suicide (153). To better investigate the role of the various stressors, clinicians should investigate the subjective meaning or consequence of the stressor for the patient. In schizophrenia, foreseeable changes comprise the presence of substance use, school disciplinary action, inpatient discharge and social and relationship difficulties.

Furthermore, return to a conflictual environment after hospitalization and changes in pharmacotherapy are other

TABLE 1 | Suicide risk formulation in schizophrenia.

| Suicide risk status | Suicide risk state | Available resources | Foreseeable changes |
|--|--|---|--|
| Socio- demographic features | Comorbid psychiatric disorders | Coping strategies | Subjective meaning of the stressor |
| Previous suicide attempts | Insomnia | Resilience | Presence of substance abuse |
| Adverse childhood experiences | Recent losses | Social support | School disciplinary actions |
| Family conflicts | Social isolation | Insight | Inpatient discharge |
| Premorbid functioning | Recent discharge from a psychiatric ward | Absence of psychotic symptomatology | Social difficulties |
| Early onset schizophrenia | Agitation/motor restlessness | Good collaboration with the clinician | Conflictual environment |
| Repeated psychiatric hospitalizations | Poor compliance | | Changes in pharmacotherapy |
| Higher insight levels Positive/negative symptoms Longer duration | Extra-pyramidal symptoms | | |
| of illness | | | |

foreseeable changes that need to be assessed. To better understand suicide risk in schizophrenia, it is also important to assess whether symptoms are increasing or decreasing and the meaning of these changes for the patient. The assessment of anger, impulsivity, isolation, depression, demoralization, and hopelessness is necessary for immediately implementing suicidal risk prevention strategies. Finally, the level of engagement between the clinician and the patient, the relationship with the clinician, and the degree to which the patient's report has been honest, reliable, and credible are other essential factors (153) (**Table 1**).

SUICIDE RISK FORMULATION AND SUICIDE PREVENTION STRATEGIES IN SCHIZOPHRENIA

Suicide prevention in patients with schizophrenia is a complex phenomenon. Inadequate knowledge of suicide risk factors in patients with schizophrenia negatively affects the ability of clinicians to recognize patients at risk for suicide. Clinicians need to have better knowledge of suicide-related knowledge and suicide risk formulation in order to identify patients with high suicide risk. Careful assessment and management of psychotic symptoms, comorbid depression, hopelessness, demoralization symptoms and substance use disorders are also necessary to prevent suicide in patients with schizophrenia.

Several pharmacological and non-pharmacological strategies are available to reduce suicide risk in patients with schizophrenia. Undoubtedly enhancing adherence with medications is essential for alleviating psychotic and non-psychotic symptoms in schizophrenia. Patient-related features involved in the adherence with medications include demographic characteristics, newly starting treatment, younger age at onset of illness, alcohol dependence and other illicit substance use, homelessness, low levels of involvement in social activities, independent housing, and financial constraints (154). Lack of family support for adherence, or having no family, further contribute to non-adherence. Significantly higher IQs, executive functioning, memory, and verbal learning/fluency are also factors involved in medication adherence (155, 156). Medication non-adherence is associated with an increased risk for relapse of psychosis, persistent symptoms, and suicide attempts (157), making it indispensable to enhance adherence with medications.

Studies suggest that antipsychotic medications, including clozapine, risperidone, olanzapine and quetiapine, may reduce mortality and suicide risk in schizophrenia (158, 159). In 2002, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved clozapine for decreasing suicide risk in patients with schizophrenia. Studies have suggested that atypical antipsychotic may be more effective than the use of typical antipsychotics (146, 160). Evidence for the ability of clozapine therapy to reduce suicidal behaviors has been highlighted in several studies since the late 1990s. Meltzer and Okayli (161) observed 88 neuroleptic-resistant patients treated with clozapine for 0.5–7.0 years and reported decreased suicidal behavior. Walker

and Diforio (162) noted that suicidal behavior decreased in patients with current clozapine treatment compared with past users. Reinstein et al. (163), in a retrospective study of 295 patients, confirmed that clozapine treatment reduced suicide risk during continuous drug administration. More recently, Meltzer et al. (164), in a multicenter, randomized, international, 2-year study comparing the risk for suicidal behavior in patients treated with clozapine vs. olanzapine, observed that suicidal behavior was significantly less frequent in patients treated with clozapine. Several studies conducted by Tiihonen et al., confirmed that antipsychotic medication in general, particularly clozapine, was associated with lower suicide risk (165, 166). Furthermore, the same author observed that long-term treatment with antipsychotic drugs is associated with lower mortality, and clozapine seems to produce substantially lower mortality than any other antipsychotics (166). However, some antipsychotics, including clozapine and haloperidol and other antipsychotics, may increase the risk of depression (167). Tiihonen et al. (168) investigated whether using benzodiazepines, antidepressants, or multiple concomitant antipsychotics was associated with mortality in patients with schizophrenia. Their results demonstrated that the use of 2 or more antipsychotics was not associated with increased mortality. In contrast, antidepressant use was not associated with a higher risk for mortality and was associated with markedly fewer suicides. However, benzodiazepine use was associated with an increased risk of suicidal and non-suicidal deaths. Haukka et al. (169) observed that olanzapine, and to some degree clozapine, tended to perform well for suicide risk; which is in line with a review on the potential anti-suicidal effects of atypical antipsychotic (167). Taipale et al. (170) investigated the risk of attempted and completed suicide in patients with schizophrenia. The authors confirmed that clozapine is the only antipsychotic associated with a decreased risk of suicide. Several studies have also demonstrated that olanzapine, an atypical antipsychotic similar to clozapine, could effectively reduce depression and suicide risk in patients with schizophrenia (171, 172).

A study of 339 patients with psychotic disorders found that both olanzapine and risperidone were effective for the treatment of psychotic symptoms. However, only olanzapine produced a seven-fold lower risk of suicidal behaviors (173). In addition, olanzapine demonstrated a more significant anti-suicidal effect than haloperidol (174) and was similar to risperidone (175). Furthermore, quetiapine has been shown some potential effects for reducing suicidal risk, not only in patients with schizophrenia (167). Evidence about other atypical antipsychotic drugs on suicidal risk remains very limited. Whether all specific antipsychotics effectively prevent completed suicides also remains unclear. Long-Acting Injectable Antipsychotics (LAIs) have several advantages in terms of efficacy, safety and tolerability in treating schizophrenia. A better understanding of whether LAI treatment may decrease suicide risk by indirectly acting on a range of risk factors for suicide specific to patients with schizophrenia is of significant clinical importance. Pompili (176) suggested that long-acting injections of second-generation antipsychotics can be an effective

treatment strategy to improve medication adherence and prevent suicide risk.

Furthermore, in addition to antipsychotics, other psychotropic medications, such as antidepressants and mood stabilizers, are often used in for patients with schizophrenia (177). Research suggests that the use of antidepressants together with antipsychotic drugs has been associated with a decrease in all-cause mortality, including suicide (169). However, Tiihonen et al. (165), in a large cohort study, observed that antidepressant treatment increases the risk of suicide attempts but not of completed suicides and death. In addition, a cohort study noted that antidepressant use in schizophrenia, compared with no use, was associated with a significant reduction in risk of completed suicide (166). However, two systematic reviews of randomized controlled trials confirmed the increased risk of self-harm or suicidal attempts related to selective serotonin uptake inhibitors (SSRIs) (160, 178).

Mood stabilizers have been used to augment the effects of antipsychotic drugs in patients with schizophrenia. Mood stabilizer medications may also effectively reduce depression, aggression and impulsivity in patients with schizophrenia when administered with antipsychotic therapy. Together with clozapine, lithium is the only drug showing anti-suicidal properties in bipolar and major affective disorders (171). A comprehensive meta-analysis of the effect of lithium in reducing suicide risk reported that both completed and attempted suicide were reduced by nearly five-fold, or 80% (179). Recently, several studies have suggested that lithium treatment reduces suicide attempts, suicides, hospitalization for suicide attempts, and other suicide spectrum disorders, compared with patients treated with other mood stabilizers (180-182). Although the beneficial effects of lithium on suicide risk in affective disorders are well-documented (183), data on whether this extends to patients with schizophrenia or schizoaffective disorder are lacking (184). The potential of other mood-stabilizing agents, such as lamotrigine, which has established antidepressant activity, is less well-understood than that of lithium, valproate or carbamazepine.

Non-pharmacological strategies are also crucial in the management of suicide risk in patients with schizophrenia. Psychosocial interventions, reality-orientated therapies, cognitive-behavioral therapy, cognitive remediation, supportive therapy, education and family intervention can be used together with pharmacological therapies in order to reduce suicide risk in patients with schizophrenia. Interventions such as vocational rehabilitation, social skills training, and supportive employment may also reduce social isolation and feelings of hopelessness, decreasing suicidality.

A few studies have examined the impact of specific psychotherapeutic and psychosocial interventions on suicide risk in patients with schizophrenia (36). Evidence suggests that supportive psychotherapeutic interventions that discuss acute symptoms, depression and hopelessness, daily difficulties, medications, adverse effects, social isolation, and stigma are necessary non-pharmacological suicide prevention strategies in patients with schizophrenia (185). Findings of a recent meta-analysis that examined 11 studies showed a statistically significant treatment effect of psychosocial interventions for suicide spectrum disorders individuals with psychosis (132).

Reviews and meta-analyses of cognitive behavior therapy (CBT) for psychosis have reported positive results for various symptoms (186, 187). A randomized controlled trial of cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) for 90 patients with schizophrenia found that cognitive behavioral therapy was related to a significant reduction in suicidal ideation at the end of the psychotherapy and 9 months after the therapy (188). Additionally, psychodynamic treatments have been proposed to reduce suicide risk in patients with schizophrenia (189). Overall, clinicians should consider a phenomenological approach when treating suicidal individuals, pointing to the inner experience of the wish to be dead of each unique individual, avoiding the limitation of treating only single diagnostic entities (190, 191).

CONCLUSIONS

Suicide in schizophrenia is a complex phenomenon that represents an ongoing challenge in clinical practice. This overview shows that suicide risk in schizophrenia is influenced by a variety of demographic, clinical, psychological, social, cultural, and environmental factors. However, identifying highrisk patients only with simple techniques of suicide assessment has so far produced too many false-positive results to be clinically helpful.

Suicide prevention strategies can be improved by simultaneously assessing and examining multiple risk factors and applying the suicide risk formulation model. Therefore, therefore, the aim of the suicide risk formulation model in schizophrenia is not the prediction but rather the formulation of a complete picture of the person. Promoting communication and collaboration between professionals, patients, and families should reduce suicide risk in the short term and in the long term. Structuring a targeted intervention plan that includes pharmacological and non-pharmacological strategies seems indispensable for managing suicide risk in patients with schizophrenia.

For psychiatrists and other clinicians working with patients with schizophrenia, arriving at a clear formulation of a patient's level of risk, based on a synthesis of clinical and nonclinical information, is a core competency for assessing and managing suicide risk. In addition, in clinical settings, the suicide formulation model allows for the prevention of future suicidal behavior and leading to practical safety and crisis response plans, which are the main objective of suicide prevention.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MP and IB: conceptualization. MP, IB, and ER: methodology. IB, DE, SS, and ER: data curation. IB and ER: writing-original draft preparation. DL and MP: writing, review, and editing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

REFERENCES

- Hor K, Taylor M. Suicide and schizophrenia: a systematic review of rates and risk factors. J Psychopharmacol. (2010) 24(Suppl. 4):81–90. doi: 10.1177/1359786810385490
- Palmer BA, Pankratz VS, Bostwick JM. The lifetime risk of suicide in schizophrenia: a reexamination. Arch Gen Psychiatry. (2005) 62:247–53. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.62.3.247
- Shrivastava A, Johnston ME, Shah N, Innamorati M, Stitt L, Thakar M, et al. Persistent suicide risk in clinically improved schizophrenia patients: challenge of the suicidal dimension. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat.* (2010) 6:633– 8. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S12044
- Allebeck P, Varla A, Wistedt B. Suicide and violent death among patients with schizophrenia. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (1986) 74:43–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.1986.tb06225.x
- McGrath J, Saha S, Chant D, Welham J. Schizophrenia: a concise overview of incidence, prevalence, and mortality. *Epidemiol Rev.* (2008) 30:67–76. doi: 10.1093/epirev/mxn001
- Steblaj A, Tavcar R, Dernovsek MZ. Predictors of suicide in psychiatric hospital. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (1999) 100:383–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.1999.tb10882.x
- Heilä H, Isometsä ET, Henriksson MM, Heikkinen ME, Marttunen MJ, Lönnqvist JK. Suicide and schizophrenia: a nationwide psychological autopsy study on age- and sex-specific clinical characteristics of 92 suicide victims with schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry*. (1997) 154:1235–42. doi: 10.1176/ajp.154.9.1235
- Hawton K, Sutton L, Haw C, Sinclair J, Deeks JJ. Schizophrenia and suicide: systematic review of risk factors. *Br J Psychiatry*. (2005) 187:9–20. doi: 10.1192/bjp.187.1.9
- Pompili M, Orsolini L, Lamis DA, Goldsmith DR, Nardella A, Falcone G, et al. Suicide prevention in schizophrenia: do long-acting injectable antipsychotics (LAIs) have a role? CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets. (2017) 16:454–62. doi: 10.2174/1871527316666170223163629
- Lyu J, Zhang J. Characteristics of schizophrenia suicides compared with suicides by other diagnosed psychiatric disorders and those without a psychiatric disorder. *Schizophr Res.* (2014) 155:59–65. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.02.018
- Pompili M, Girardi P, Ruberto A, Tatarelli R. Toward a new prevention of suicide in schizophrenia. World J Biol Psychiatry. (2004) 5:201–10. doi: 10.1080/15622970410029934
- Pelizza L, Poletti M, Azzali S, Paterlini F, Garlassi S, Scazza I, et al. Suicide risk in young people at Ultra-High Risk (UHR) of psychosis: findings from a 2-year longitudinal study. *Schizophr Res.* (2020) 220:98–105. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2020.03.051
- Pompili M, Mancinelli I, Ruberto A, Kotzalidis GD, Girardi P, Tatarelli R. Where schizophrenic patients commit suicide: a review of suicide among inpatients and former inpatients. *Int J Psychiatry Med.* (2005) 35:171–90. doi: 10.2190/9CA1-EL73-1VXD-9F2V
- Silverman MM, Berman AL. Suicide risk assessment and risk formulation part I: a focus on suicide ideation in assessing suicide risk. *Suicide Life Threat Behav.* (2014) 44:420–31. doi: 10.1111/sltb.12065
- Haney EM, O'Neil ME, Carson S, Low A, Peterson K, Denneson LM, et al. Suicide Risk Factors and Risk Assessment Tools: A Systematic Review. Washington, DC: Department of Veterans Affairs (2012).
- Pisani AR, Murrie DC, Silverman MM. Reformulating suicide risk formulation: from prediction to prevention. *Acad Psychiatry*. (2016) 40:623– 9. doi: 10.1007/s40596-015-0434-6
- Iribarren C, Sidney S, Jacobs DR Jr., Weisner C. Hospitalization for suicide attempt and completed suicide: epidemiological features in a managed care population. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. (2000) 35:288–96. doi: 10.1007/s001270050241
- Skogman K, Alsén M, Ojehagen A. Sex differences in risk factors for suicide after attempted suicide-a follow-up study of 1052 suicide attempters. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. (2004) 39:113–20. doi: 10.1007/s00127-004-0709-9
- Segal DL, Mincic MS, Coolidge FL, O'Riley A. Attitudes toward suicide and suicidal risk among younger and older persons. *Death Stud.* (2004) 28:671–8. doi: 10.1080/07481180490476524

- Trovato F. Sex, marital status, and suicide in Canada: 1951-1981. Sociol Perspect. (1991) 34:427–45. doi: 10.2307/1389401
- Dickerson F, Origoni A, Schweinfurth LAB, Stallings C, Savage CLG, Sweeney K, et al. Clinical and serological predictors of suicide in schizophrenia and major mood disorders. *J Nerv Ment Dis.* (2018) 206:173–8. doi: 10.1097/NMD.00000000000772
- 22. Cassidy RM, Yang F, Kapczinski F, Passos IC. Risk factors for suicidality in patients with schizophrenia: a systematic review, meta-analysis, and meta-regression of 96 studies. *Schizophr Bull.* (2018) 44:787–97. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbx131
- Canetto SS, Sakinofsky I. The gender paradox in suicide. Suicide Life Threat Behav. (1998) 28:1–23.
- Gohar SM, Dieset I, Steen NE, Mørch RH, Vedal TSJ, Reponen EJ, et al. Association between leptin levels and severity of suicidal behaviour in schizophrenia spectrum disorders. *Acta Psychiatr Scand*. (2019) 139:464–71. doi: 10.1111/acps.13019
- Woottiluk P, Maneeton B, Jaiyen N, Khemawichanurat W, Kawilapat S, Maneeton N. Prevalence and associated factors of suicide among hospitalized schizophrenic patients. *World J Clin Cases.* (2020) 8:757–70. doi: 10.12998/wjcc.v8.i4.757
- Wang W, Zhou Y, Wang J, Xu H, Wei S, Wang D, et al. Prevalence, clinical correlates of suicide attempt and its relationship with empathy in patients with schizophrenia. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*. (2020) 99:109863. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2020.109863
- Ran MS, Wong YI, Yang SY, Ho PS, Mao WJ, Li J, et al. Marriage and outcomes of people with schizophrenia in rural China: 14-year follow-up study. *Schizophr Res.* (2017) 182:49–54. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2016.10.034
- Lu L, Dong M, Zhang L, Zhu XM, Ungvari GS, Ng CH, et al. Prevalence of suicide attempts in individuals with schizophrenia: a metaanalysis of observational studies. *Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci.* (2019) 29:e39. doi: 10.1017/S2045796019000313
- Cooper SL, Lezotte D, Jacobellis J, Diguiseppi C. Does availability of mental health resources prevent recurrent suicidal behavior? An ecological analysis. *Suicide Life Threat Behav.* (2006) 36:409–17. doi: 10.1521/suli.2006.36.4.409
- Assefa D, Shibre T, Asher L, Fekadu A. Internalized stigma among patients with schizophrenia in Ethiopia: a cross-sectional facility-based study. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2012) 12:239. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-12-239
- Karch DL, Barker L, Strine TW. Race/ethnicity, substance abuse, and mental illness among suicide victims in 13 US states: 2004 data from the National Violent Death Reporting System. *Inj Prev.* (2006) 12:ii22–7. doi: 10.1136/ip.2006.013557
- 32. Prince J. Substance use disorder and suicide attempt among people who report compromised health. *Subst Use Misuse*. (2018) 53:9–15. doi: 10.1080/10826084.2017.1323925
- Pompili M, Amador XF, Girardi P, Harkavy-Friedman J, Harrow M, Kaplan K, et al. Suicide risk in schizophrenia: learning from the past to change the future. *Ann Gen Psychiatry*. (2007) 6:10. doi: 10.1186/1744-859X-6-10
- Nordström P, Asberg M, Aberg-Wistedt A, Nordin C. Attempted suicide predicts suicide risk in mood disorders. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (1995) 92:345– 50. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.1995.tb09595.x
- Harris EC, Barraclough B. Suicide as an outcome for mental disorders. A meta-analysis. Br J Psychiatry. (1997) 170:205–28. doi: 10.1192/bjp.170.3.205
- Carlborg A, Winnerbäck K, Jönsson EG, Jokinen J, Nordström P. Suicide in schizophrenia. *Expert Rev Neurother*. (2010) 10:1153–64. doi: 10.1586/ern.10.82
- Pompili M, Serafini G, Innamorati M, Lester D, Shrivastava A, Girardi P, et al. Suicide risk in first episode psychosis: a selective review of the current literature. *Schizophr Res.* (2011) 129:1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2011. 03.008
- Fleischhacker WW, Kane JM, Geier J, Karayal O, Kolluri S, Eng SM, et al. Completed and attempted suicides among 18,154 subjects with schizophrenia included in a large simple trial. J Clin Psychiatry. (2014) 75:e184–90. doi: 10.4088/JCP.13m08563
- Li J, Ran MS, Hao Y, Zhao Z, Guo Y, Su J, et al. Inpatient suicide in a Chinese psychiatric hospital. *Suicide Life Threat Behav.* (2008) 38:449–55. doi: 10.1521/suli.2008.38.4.449
- 40. Varese F, Smeets F, Drukker M, Lieverse R, Lataster T, Viechtbauer W, et al. Childhood adversities increase the risk of psychosis: a meta-analysis
of patient-control, prospective- and cross-sectional cohort studies. *Schizophr Bull.* (2012) 38:661–71. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbs050

- Norman RE, Byambaa M, De R, Butchart A, Scott J, Vos T. The long-term health consequences of child physical abuse, emotional abuse, and neglect: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS Med.* (2012) 9:e1001349. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001349
- Walsh K, McLaughlin KA, Hamilton A, Keyes KM. Trauma exposure, incident psychiatric disorders, and disorder transitions in a longitudinal population representative sample. *J Psychiatr Res.* (2017) 92:212–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2017.05.001
- Schenkel LS, Spaulding WD, DiLillo D, Silverstein SM. Histories of childhood maltreatment in schizophrenia: relationships with premorbid functioning, symptomatology, and cognitive deficits. *Schizophr Res.* (2005) 76:273–86. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2005.03.003
- 44. Misiak B, Frydecka D. A history of childhood trauma and response to treatment with antipsychotics in first-episode schizophrenia patients: preliminary results. *J Nerv Ment Dis.* (2016) 204:787–92. doi: 10.1097/NMD.000000000000567
- Uçok A, Bikmaz S. The effects of childhood trauma in patients with first-episode schizophrenia. Acta Psychiatr Scand. (2007) 116:371–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.2007.01079.x
- Larkin W, Read J. Childhood trauma and psychosis: evidence, pathways, and implications. J Postgrad Med. (2008) 54:287–93. doi: 10.4103/0022-3859.41437
- 47. Wang Z, Xue Z, Pu W, Yang B, Li L, Yi W, et al. Comparison of first-episode and chronic patients diagnosed with schizophrenia: symptoms and childhood trauma. *Early Interv Psychiatry.* (2013) 7:23–30. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-7893.2012.00387.x
- Trotta A, Murray RM, Fisher HL. The impact of childhood adversity on the persistence of psychotic symptoms: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychol Med.* (2015) 45:2481–98. doi: 10.1017/S0033291715000574
- Schalinski I, Breinlinger S, Hirt V, Teicher MH, Odenwald M, Rockstroh B. Environmental adversities and psychotic symptoms: the impact of timing of trauma, abuse, and neglect. *Schizophr Res.* (2019) 205:4–9. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2017.10.034
- 50. Xie P, Wu K, Zheng Y, Guo Y, Yang Y, He J, et al. Prevalence of childhood trauma and correlations between childhood trauma, suicidal ideation, and social support in patients with depression, bipolar disorder, and schizophrenia in southern China. J Affect Disord. (2018) 228:41–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.11.011
- Sweeney S, Air T, Zannettino L, Galletly C. Gender differences in the physical and psychological manifestation of childhood trauma and/or adversity in people with psychosis. *Front Psychol.* (2015) 6:1768. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01768
- 52. van Os J, Kenis G, Rutten BP. The environment and schizophrenia. *Nature*. (2010) 468:203–12. doi: 10.1038/nature09563
- Alvarez MJ, Roura P, Osés A, Foguet Q, Solà J, Arrufat FX. Prevalence and clinical impact of childhood trauma in patients with severe mental disorders. *J Nerv Ment Dis.* (2011) 199:156–61. doi: 10.1097/NMD.0b013e31820c751c
- Shevlin M, Houston JE, Dorahy MJ, Adamson G. Cumulative traumas and psychosis: an analysis of the national comorbidity survey and the British Psychiatric Morbidity Survey. *Schizophr Bull.* (2008) 34:193–9. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbm069
- Whitfield CL, Dube SR, Felitti VJ, Anda RF. Adverse childhood experiences and hallucinations. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2005) 29:797–810. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2005.01.004
- Gaweda Ł, Prochwicz K, Adamczyk P, Frydecka D, Misiak B, Kotowicz K, et al. The role of self-disturbances and cognitive biases in the relationship between traumatic life events and psychosis proneness in a non-clinical sample. *Schizophr Res.* (2018) 193:218–24. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2017.07.023
- Pompili M, Innamorati M, Lamis DA, Erbuto D, Venturini P, Ricci F, et al. The associations among childhood maltreatment, "male depression" and suicide risk in psychiatric patients. *Psychiatry Res.* (2014) 220:571–8. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2014.07.056
- Zatti C, Rosa V, Barros A, Valdivia L, Calegaro VC, Freitas LH, et al. Childhood trauma and suicide attempt: a meta-analysis of longitudinal studies from the last decade. *Psychiatry Res.* (2017) 256:353–8. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2017.06.082

- Thompson MP, Kingree JB. Lamis D. Associations of adverse childhood experiences and suicidal behaviors in adulthood in a US nationally representative sample. *Child Care Health Dev.* (2019) 45:121–8. doi: 10.1111/cch.12617
- 60. Prokopez CR, Vallejos M, Farinola R, Alberio G, Caporusso GB, Cozzarin LG, et al. The history of multiple adverse childhood experiences in patients with schizophrenia is associated with more severe symptomatology and suicidal behavior with gender-specific characteristics. *Psychiatry Res.* (2020) 293:113411. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113411
- 61. Olson D. FACES IV and the circumplex model: validation study. J Marital Fam Ther. (2011) 37:64–80. doi: 10.1111/j.1752-0606.2009.00175.x
- 62. Koutra K, Triliva S, Roumeliotaki T, Stefanakis Z, Basta M, Lionis C, et al. Family functioning in families of first-episode psychosis patients as compared to chronic mentally ill patients and healthy controls. *Psychiatry Res.* (2014) 219:486–96. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2014.06.045
- Santesteban-Echarri O, MacQueen G, Goldstein BI, Wang J, Kennedy SH, Bray S, et al. Family functioning in youth at-risk for serious mental illness. *Compr Psychiatry*. (2018) 87:17–24. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2018.08.010
- Pompili M, Mancinelli I, Girardi P, Tatarelli R. Preventing suicide in schizophrenia inside the family environment. *Crisis.* (2003) 24:181–2. doi: 10.1027//0227-5910.24.4.181
- Duberstein PR, Conwell Y, Conner KR, Eberly S, Caine ED. Suicide at 50 years of age and older: perceived physical illness, family discord and financial strain. *Psychol Med.* (2004) 34:137–46. doi: 10.1017/S0033291703008584
- Randell BP, Wang WL, Herting JR, Eggert LL. Family factors predicting categories of suicide risk. J Child Fam Stud. (2006) 15:247–62. doi: 10.1007/s10826-006-9020-6
- Frey LM, Cerel J. Risk for suicide and the role of family: a narrative review. J Fam Issues. (2015) 36:716–36. doi: 10.1177/0192513X13515885
- Chang Q, Wu D, Rong H, Wu Z, Tao W, Liu H, et al. Suicide ideation, suicide attempts, their sociodemographic and clinical associates among the elderly Chinese patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders. J Affect Disord. (2019) 256:611–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2019.06.069
- Demir S. The relationship between expressed emotion and the probability of suicide among Turkish psychiatric outpatients: a descriptive cross-sectional survey. *Fam Community Health.* (2018) 41:111–6. doi: 10.1097/FCH.00000000000178
- Buonocore M, Bosinelli F, Bechi M, Spangaro M, Piantanida M, Cocchi F, et al. The role of premorbid adjustment in schizophrenia: focus on cognitive remediation outcome. *Neuropsychol Rehabil.* (2019) 29:1611–24. doi: 10.1080/09602011.2018.1433048
- Pompili M, Lester D, Innamorati M, Tatarelli R, Girardi P. Assessment and treatment of suicide risk in schizophrenia. *Expert Rev Neurother*. (2008) 8:51–74. doi: 10.1586/14737175.8.1.51
- Drake RE, Cotton PG. Depression, hopelessness and suicide in chronic schizophrenia. Br J Psychiatry. (1986) 148:554–9. doi: 10.1192/bjp.148.5.554
- Berardelli I, Sarubbi S, Rogante E, Hawkins M, Cocco G, Erbuto D, et al. The role of demoralization and hopelessness in suicide risk in schizophrenia: a review of the literature. *Medicina*. (2019) 55:200. doi: 10.3390/medicina55050200
- Bakst S, Rabinowitz J, Bromet EJ. Is poor premorbid functioning a risk factor for suicide attempts in first-admission psychosis? *Schizophr Res.* (2010) 116:210–6. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2009.11.005
- 75. Hakulinen C, McGrath JJ, Timmerman A, Skipper N, Mortensen PB, Pedersen CB, et al. The association between early-onset schizophrenia with employment, income, education, and cohabitation status: nationwide study with 35 years of follow-up. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol.* (2019) 54:1343–51. doi: 10.1007/s00127-019-01756-0
- Immonen J, Jääskeläinen E, Korpela H, Miettunen J. Age at onset and the outcomes of schizophrenia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Early Interv Psychiatry*. (2017) 11:453–60. doi: 10.1111/eip.12412
- Grover S, Sahoo S, Nehra R. A comparative study of childhood/adolescent and adult onset schizophrenia: does the neurocognitive and psychosocial outcome differ? *Asian J Psychiatr.* (2019) 43:160–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2019.05.031
- Vinokur D, Levine SZ, Roe D, Krivoy A, Fischel T. Age of onset group characteristics in forensic patients with schizophrenia. *Eur Psychiatry*. (2014) 29:149–52. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2012.11.006

- Dutta R, Murray RM, Hotopf M, Allardyce J, Jones PB, Boydell J. Reassessing the long-term risk of suicide after a first episode of psychosis. Arch Gen Psychiatry. (2010) 67:1230–7. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2010.157
- Castelein S, Liemburg EJ, de Lange JS, van Es FD, Visser E, Aleman A, et al. Suicide in recent onset psychosis revisited: significant reduction of suicide rate over the last two decades - a replication study of a Dutch incidence cohort. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:e0129263. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0129263
- Tarrier N, Barrowclough C, Andrews B, Gregg L. Risk of non-fatal suicide ideation and behaviour in recent onset schizophrenia-the influence of clinical, social, self-esteem and demographic factors. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol.* (2004) 39:927–37. doi: 10.1007/s00127-004-0828-3
- Baldessarini RJ, Tondo L, Pinna M, Nuñez N, Vázquez GH. Suicidal risk factors in major affective disorders. *Br J Psychiatry.* (2019) 11:1–6. doi: 10.1192/bjp.2019.167
- Dai Q, Wang D, Wang J, Xu H, Andriescue EC, Wu HE, et al. Suicide attempts in Chinese Han patients with schizophrenia: cognitive, demographic, and clinical variables. *Braz J Psychiatry*. (2021) 43:29–34. doi: 10.1590/1516-4446-2020-0900
- Drake RE, Gates C, Whitaker A, Cotton PG. Suicide among schizophrenics: a review. *Compr Psychiatry*. (1985) 26:90–100. doi: 10.1016/0010-440X(85)90053-7
- Pratt D, Gooding P, Johnson J, Taylor P, Tarrier N. Suicide schemas in non-affective psychosis: an empirical investigation. *Behav Res Ther.* (2010) 48:1211–20. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2010.08.005
- Andriopoulos I, Ellul J, Skokou M, Beratis S. Suicidality in the "prodromal" phase of schizophrenia. *Compr Psychiatry*. (2011) 52:479–85. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2010.10.011
- Gill KE, Quintero JM, Poe SL, Moreira AD, Brucato G, Corcoran CM, et al. Assessing suicidal ideation in individuals at clinical high risk for psychosis. *Schizophr Res.* (2015) 165:152–6. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2015.04.022
- Roy A. Suicide in chronic schizophrenia. Br J Psychiatry. (1982) 141:171–7. doi: 10.1192/bjp.141.2.171
- Fenton WS, McGlashan TH, Victor BJ, Blyler CR. Symptoms, subtype, and suicidality in patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders. *Am J Psychiatry*. (1997) 154:199–204. doi: 10.1176/ajp.154.2.199
- Bodén R, Brandt L, Kieler H, Andersen M, Reutfors J. Early nonadherence to medication and other risk factors for rehospitalization in schizophrenia and schizoaffective disorder. *Schizophr Res.* (2011) 133:36–41. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2011.08.024
- Zhang XY, Al Jurdi RK, Zoghbi AW, Chen DC, Xiu MH, Tan YL, et al. Prevalence, demographic and clinical correlates of suicide attempts in Chinese medicated chronic inpatients with schizophrenia. *J Psychiatr Res.* (2013) 47:1370–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2013.05.024
- Amador XF, Kronengold H. Understanding and assessing insight. In: Amador X, David A, editors. *Insight and Psychosis*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press (2004). p. 3–30.
- Farberow NL, Shneidman ES, Leonard CV. Suicide among schizophrenic mental hospital patients. In: Farberow NL, Shneidman ES, editors. *The Cry for Help.* New York, NY: McGraw-Hill (1961). p. 78–109.
- Drake RE, Gates C, Cotton PG. Suicide among schizophrenics: a comparison of attempters and completed suicides. Br J Psychiatry. (1986) 149:784–7. doi: 10.1192/bjp.149.6.784
- Kim CH, Jayathilake K, Meltzer HY. Hopelessness, neurocognitive function, and insight in schizophrenia: relationship to suicidal behavior. *Schizophr Res.* (2003) 60:71–80. doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964(02)00310-9
- 96. Bourgeois M, Swendsen J, Young F, Amador X, Pini S, Cassano GB, et al. Awareness of disorder and suicide risk in the treatment of schizophrenia: results of the international suicide prevention trial. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2004) 161:1494–6. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.161.8.1494
- Pompili M, Ruberto A, Kotzalidis GD, Girardi P, Tatarelli R. Suicide and awareness of illness in schizophrenia: an overview. *Bull Menninger Clin.* (2004) 68:297–318. doi: 10.1521/bumc.68.4.297.56643
- Berardelli I, Innamorati M, Sarubbi S, Rogante E, Erbuto D, De Pisa E, et al. Are demoralization and insight involved in suicide risk? An observational study on psychiatric. *Inpatients Psychopathol.* (2021) 54:127– 35. doi: 10.1159/000515056
- 99. Balhara YP, Verma R. Schizophrenia and suicide. *East Asian Arch Psychiatry*. (2012) 22:126–33.

- 100. Large M, Smith G, Sharma S, Nielssen O, Singh SP. Systematic review and meta-analysis of the clinical factors associated with the suicide of psychiatric in-patients. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2011) 124:18–29. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.2010.01672.x
- 101. Nordentoft M, Jeppesen P, Abel M, Kassow P, Petersen L, Thorup A, et al. OPUS study: suicidal behaviour, suicidal ideation and hopelessness among patients with first-episode psychosis. One-year follow-up of a randomised controlled trial. Br J Psychiatry Suppl. (2002) 43:s98–106. doi: 10.1192/bjp.181.43.s98
- Häfner H, Maurer K, Trendler G, der Heiden W, Schmidt M. The early course of schizophrenia and depression* Eur Arch Psychiatry. *Clin Neurosci.* (2005) 255:167–73. doi: 10.1007/s00406-005-0584-8
- 103. Birchwood M, Iqbal Z, Upthegrove R. Psychological pathways to depression in schizophrenia: studies in acute psychosis, post psychotic depression and auditory hallucinations. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2005) 255:202– 12. doi: 10.1007/s00406-005-0588-4
- Bartels SJ, Drake RE. Depressive symptoms in schizophrenia: comprehensive differential diagnosis. *Compr Psychiatry*. (1988) 29:467–83. doi: 10.1016/0010-440X(88)90062-4
- 105. Fusar-Poli P, Nelson B, Valmaggia L, Yung AR, McGuire PK. Comorbid depressive and anxiety disorders in 509 individuals with an at-risk mental state: impact on psychopathology and transition to psychosis. *Schizophr Bull.* (2014) 40:120–31. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbs136
- Upthegrove R, Marwaha S, Birchwood M. Depression and schizophrenia: cause, consequence, or trans-diagnostic issue? *Schizophr Bull.* (2017) 43:240– 4. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbw097
- 107. Soyka M. Alcoholism and schizophrenia. Addiction. (2000) 95:1613–8. doi: 10.1080/09652140020000849
- Kavanagh DJ, McGrath J, Saunders JB, Dore G, Clark D. Substance misuse in patients with schizophrenia: epidemiology and management. *Drugs.* (2002) 62:743–55. doi: 10.2165/00003495-200262050-00003
- Linszen DH, Dingemans PM, Lenior ME. Cannabis abuse and the course of recent-onset schizophrenic disorders. Arch Gen Psychiatry. (1994) 51:273–9. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1994.03950040017002
- 110. Pompili M, Serafini G, Innamorati M, Biondi M, Siracusano A, Di Giannantonio M, et al. Substance abuse and suicide risk among adolescents. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. (2012) 262:469–85. doi: 10.1007/s00406-012-0292-0
- 111. Carrasco-Farfan CA, Alvarez-Cutipa D, Vilchez-Cornejo J, Lizana-Medrano M, Durand-Anahua PA, Rengifo-Sanchez JA, et al. Alcohol consumption and suicide risk in medical internship: a Peruvian multicentric study. *Drug Alcohol Rev.* (2019) 38:201–8. doi: 10.1111/dar.12897
- Pereira-Morales AJ, Adan A, Camargo A, Forero DA. Substance use and suicide risk in a sample of young Colombian adults: an exploration of psychosocial factors. *Am J Addict*. (2017) 26:388–94. doi: 10.1111/ajad.12552
- 113. Winklbaur B, Ebner N, Sachs G, Thau K, Fischer G. Substance abuse in patients with schizophrenia. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci.* (2006) 8:37–43. doi: 10.31887/DCNS.2006.8.1/bwinklbaur
- Kessler RC, Borges G, Walters EE. Prevalence of and risk factors for lifetime suicide attempts in the National Comorbidity Survey. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (1999) 56:617–26. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.56.7.617
- 115. Potkin SG, Alphs L, Hsu C, Krishnan KR, Anand R, Young FK, et al. Predicting suicidal risk in schizophrenic and schizoaffective patients in a prospective two-year trial. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2003) 54:444–52. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(03)00178-1
- 116. McGirr A, Tousignant M, Routhier D, Pouliot L, Chawky N, Margolese HC, et al. Risk factors for completed suicide in schizophrenia and other chronic psychotic disorders: a case-control study. *Schizophr Res.* (2006) 84:132–43. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2006.02.025
- 117. Limosin F, Loze JY, Philippe A, Casadebaig F, Rouillon F. Ten-year prospective follow-up study of the mortality by suicide in schizophrenic patients. *Schizophr Res.* (2007) 94:23–8. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2007.04.031
- 118. Gut-Fayand A, Dervaux A, Olié JP, Lôo H, Poirier MF, Krebs MO. Substance abuse and suicidality in schizophrenia: a common risk factor linked to impulsivity. *Psychiatry Res.* (2001) 102:65–72. doi: 10.1016/S0165-1781(01)00250-5
- 119. González-Pinto A, Aldama A, González C, Mosquera F, Arrasate M, Vieta E. Predictors of suicide in first-episode affective and nonaffective psychotic

inpatients: five-year follow-up of patients from a catchment area in Vitoria, Spain. J Clin Psychiatry. (2007) 68:242–7. doi: 10.4088/JCP.v68n0209

- 120. Goodwin R, Lyons JS, McNally RJ. Panic attacks in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2002) 58:213–20. doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964(01)00373-5
- Braga RJ, Reynolds GP, Siris SG. Anxiety comorbidity in schizophrenia. Psychiatry Res. (2013) 210:1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2013.07.030
- Emsley RA, Oosthuizen PP, Joubert AF, Roberts MC, Stein DJ. Depressive and anxiety symptoms in patients with schizophrenia and schizophreniform disorder. J Clin Psychiatry. (1999) 60:747–51. doi: 10.4088/JCP.v60n1105
- 123. Temmingh H, Stein DJ. Anxiety in Patients with Schizophrenia: Epidemiology and Management. CNS Drugs. (2015) 29:819–32. doi: 10.1007/s40263-015-0282-7
- 124. Tsai J, Rosenheck RA. Psychiatric comorbidity among adults with schizophrenia: a latent class analysis. *Psychiatry Res.* (2013) 210:16–20. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2013.05.013
- Pompili M, Lester D, Grispini A, Innamorati M, Calandro F, Iliceto P, et al. Completed suicide in schizophrenia: evidence from a case-control study. *Psychiatry Res.* (2009) 167:251–7. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2008.03.018
- 126. Keshavan MS, Reynolds CF, Montrose D, Miewald J, Downs C, Sabo EM. Sleep and suicidality in psychotic patients. Acta Psychiatr Scand. (1994) 89:122–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.1994.tb01498.x
- 127. Gallego JA, Rachamallu V, Yuen EY, Fink S, Duque LM. Kane JM. Predictors of suicide attempts in 3322 patients with affective disorders and schizophrenia spectrum disorders. *Psychiatry Res.* (2015) 228:791–6. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2015.05.024
- Fedyszyn IE, Robinson J, Harris MG, Paxton SJ, Francey S. Predictors of suicide-related behaviors during treatment following a first episode of psychosis: the contribution of baseline, past, and recent factors. *Schizophr Res.* (2012) 140:17–24. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2012.06.022
- 129. Trout DL. The role of social isolation in suicide. *Suicide Life Threat Behav.* (1980) 10:10–23. doi: 10.1111/j.1943-278X.1980.tb00693.x
- Purcell B, Heisel MJ, Speice J, Franus N, Conwell Y, Duberstein PR. Family connectedness moderates the association between living alone and suicide ideation in a clinical sample of adults 50 years and older. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry.* (2012) 20:717–23. doi: 10.1097/JGP.0b013e31822ccd79
- 131. Calati R, Ferrari C, Brittner M, Oasi O, Olié E, Carvalho AF, et al. Suicidal thoughts and behaviors and social isolation: a narrative review of the literature. *J Affect Disord.* (2019) 245:653–67. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2018.11.022
- Bornheimer LA Li J, Im V, Taylor M, Himle JA. The role of social isolation in the relationships between psychosis and suicidal ideation. *Clin Soc Work* J. (2020) 48:54–62. doi: 10.1007/s10615-019-00735-x
- 133. Johnson J, Gooding PA, Wood AM, Tarrier N. Resilience as positive coping appraisals: testing the schematic appraisals model of suicide (SAMS). *Behav Res Ther.* (2010) 48:179–86. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2009.10.007
- Kleiman EM, Liu RT. Social support as a protective factor in suicide: findings from two nationally representative samples. J Affect Disord. (2013) 150:540–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2013.01.033
- 135. Kleiman EM, Riskind JH, Schaefer KE. Social support and positive events as suicide resiliency factors: examination of synergistic buffering effects. Arch Suicide Res. (2014) 18:144–55. doi: 10.1080/13811118.2013. 826155
- 136. Pješčić KD, Nenadović MM, Jašović-Gašić M, Trajković G, Kostić M, Ristić-Dimitrijević R. Influence of psycho-social factors on the emergence of depression and suicidal risk in patients with schizophrenia. *Psychiatr Danub.* (2014) 26:226–30.
- Olfson M, Wall M, Wang S, Crystal S, Liu SM, Gerhard T, et al. Short-term suicide risk after psychiatric hospital discharge. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2016) 73:1119–26. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2016.2035
- Erlangsen A, Eaton WW, Mortensen PB, Conwell Y. Schizophrenia-a predictor of suicide during the second half of life? *Schizophr Res.* (2012) 134:111-7. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2011.09.032
- 139. Weiser M, Kapra O, Werbeloff N, Goldberg S, Fenchel D, Reichenberg A, et al. A population-based longitudinal study of suicide risk in male schizophrenia patients: proximity to hospital discharge and the moderating effect of premorbid IQ. *Schizophr Res.* (2015) 169:159–64. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2015.10.006
- 140. Lopez-Morinigo JD, Ayesa-Arriola R, Torres-Romano B, Fernandes AC, Shetty H, Broadbent M, et al. Risk assessment and suicide by patients with

schizophrenia in secondary mental healthcare: a case-control study. BMJ Open. (2016) 6:e011929. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-011929

- 141. Pérez-Álvarez M, García-Montes JM, Vallina-Fernández O, Perona-Garcelán S. Rethinking schizophrenia in the context of the person and their circumstances: seven reasons. *Front Psychol.* (2016) 7:1650. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01650
- Irarrázaval L, Sharim D. Intersubjectivity in schizophrenia: life story analysis of three cases. Front Psychol. (2014) 5:100. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00100
- 143. Pérez-Alvarez M. Hyperreflexivity as a condition of mental disorder: a clinical and historical perspective. *Psicothema*. (2008) 20:181–7.
- 144. Srinivasan TN, Thara R. At issue: management of medication noncompliance in schizophrenia by families in India. Schizophr Bull. (2002) 28:531–5. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a006960
- 145. Wasserman D, Rihmer Z, Rujescu D, Sarchiapone M, Sokolowski M, Titelman D, et al. The European Psychiatric Association (EPA) guidance on suicide treatment and prevention. *Eur Psychiatry.* (2012) 27:129–41. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2011.06.003
- 146. Kasckow J, Felmet K, Zisook S. Managing suicide risk in patients with schizophrenia. CNS Drugs. (2011) 25:129–43. doi: 10.2165/11586450-000000000-00000
- 147. Herings RM, Erkens JA. Increased suicide attempt rate among patients interrupting use of atypical antipsychotics. *Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf.* (2003) 12:423–4. doi: 10.1002/pds.837
- 148. Novick D, Haro JM, Suarez D, Perez V, Dittmann RW, Haddad PM. Predictors and clinical consequences of non-adherence with antipsychotic medication in the outpatient treatment of schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res.* (2010) 176:109–13. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2009.05.004
- 149. Ward A, Ishak K, Proskorovsky I, Caro J. Compliance with refilling prescriptions for atypical antipsychotic agents and its association with the risks for hospitalization, suicide, and death in patients with schizophrenia in Quebec and Saskatchewan: a retrospective database study. *Clin Ther.* (2006) 28:1912–21. doi: 10.1016/j.clinthera.2006.11.002
- 150. Reutfors J, Clapham E, Bahmanyar S, Brandt L, Jönsson EG, Ekbom A, et al. Suicide risk and antipsychotic side effects in schizophrenia: nested case-control study. *Hum Psychopharmacol.* (2016) 31:341–5. doi: 10.1002/hup.2536
- 151. Seemüller F, Schennach R, Mayr A, Musil R, Jäger M, Maier W, et al. Akathisia and suicidal ideation in first-episode schizophrenia. J Clin Psychopharmacol. (2012) 32:694–8. doi: 10.1097/JCP.0b013e3182677958
- Olfson M, Gerhard T, Huang C, Crystal S, Stroup TS. Premature mortality among adults with schizophrenia in the United States. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2015) 72:1172–81. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2015.1737
- Moutier CY, Pisani AR, Stahl SM. Suicide prevention. In: Stahl SM, editor. Stahl's Essential Psychopharmacology Handbooks. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. (2021). p. 95.
- El-Mallakh P, Findlay J. Strategies to improve medication adherence in patients with schizophrenia: the role of support services. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat*. (2015) 11:1077–90. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S56107
- Glick ID, Stekoll AH, Hays S. The role of the family and improvement in treatment maintenance, adherence, and outcome for schizophrenia. J Clin Psychopharmacol. (2011) 31:82–5. doi: 10.1097/JCP.0b013e31820597fa
- 156. Moritz S, Favrod J, Andreou C, Morrison AP, Bohn F, Veckenstedt R, et al. Beyond the usual suspects: positive attitudes towards positive symptoms is associated with medication noncompliance in psychosis. *Schizophr Bull.* (2013) 39:917–22. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbs005
- 157. Morken G, Widen JH, Grawe RW. Non-adherence to antipsychotic medication, relapse and rehospitalisation in recent-onset schizophrenia. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2008) 8:32. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-8-32
- Reutfors J, Bahmanyar S, Jönsson EG, Brandt L, Bodén R, Ekbom A, et al. Medication and suicide risk in schizophrenia: a nested case-control study. *Schizophr Res.* (2013) 150:416–20. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.09.001
- 159. Tiihonen J, Mittendorfer-Rutz E, Torniainen M, Alexanderson K, Tanskanen A. Mortality and cumulative exposure to antipsychotics, antidepressants, and benzodiazepines in patients with schizophrenia: an observational follow-up study. *Am J Psychiatry.* (2016) 173:600–6. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2015.15050618
- 160. Khan A, Khan SR, Leventhal RM, Brown WA. Symptom reduction and suicide risk among patients treated with placebo in antipsychotic clinical

trials: an analysis of the food and drug administration database. Am J Psychiatry. (2001) 158:1449–54. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.158.9.1449

- Meltzer HY, Okayli G. Reduction of suicidality during clozapine treatment of neuroleptic-resistant schizophrenia: impact on risk-benefit assessment. *Am J Psychiatry*. (1995) 152:183–90. doi: 10.1176/ajp.152.2.183
- 162. Walker EF, Diforio D. Schizophrenia: a neural diathesis-stress model. *Psychol Rev.* (1997) 104:667–85. doi: 10.1037/0033-295X.104.4.667
- 163. Reinstein MJ, Chasonov MA, Colombo KD, Jones LE, Sonnenberg JG. Reduction of suicidality in patients with schizophrenia receiving clozapine. *Clin Drug Investig.* (2002) 22:341–6. doi: 10.2165/00044011-200222050-00008
- 164. Meltzer HY, Alphs L, Green AI, Altamura AC, Anand R, Bertoldi A, et al. Clozapine treatment for suicidality in schizophrenia: international suicide prevention trial (InterSePT). Arch Gen Psychiatry. (2003) 60:82–91. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.60.1.82
- 165. Tiihonen J, Wahlbeck K, Lönnqvist J, Klaukka T, Ioannidis JP, Volavka J, et al. Effectiveness of antipsychotic treatments in a nationwide cohort of patients in community care after first hospitalisation due to schizophrenia and schizoaffective disorder: observational follow-up study. *BMJ.* (2006) 333:224. doi: 10.1136/bmj.38881.382755.2F
- 166. Tiihonen J, Lönnqvist J, Wahlbeck K, Klaukka T, Niskanen L, Tanskanen A, et al. 11-year follow-up of mortality in patients with schizophrenia: a population-based cohort study (FIN11 study). *Lancet.* (2009) 374:620–7. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60742-X
- 167. Pompili M, Baldessarini RJ, Forte A, Erbuto D, Serafini G, Fiorillo A, et al. Do atypical antipsychotics have antisuicidal effects? A hypothesis-generating overview. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2016) 17:1700. doi: 10.3390/ijms17101700
- 168. Tiihonen J, Suokas JT, Suvisaari JM, Haukka J, Korhonen P. Polypharmacy with antipsychotics, antidepressants, or benzodiazepines and mortality in schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry. (2012) 69:476–83. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.1532
- 169. Haukka J, Tiihonen J, Härkänen T, Lönnqvist J. Association between medication and risk of suicide, attempted suicide and death in nationwide cohort of suicidal patients with schizophrenia. *Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf.* (2008) 17:686–96. doi: 10.1002/pds.1579
- 170. Taipale H, Lähteenvuo M, Tanskanen A, Mittendorfer-Rutz E, Tiihonen J. Comparative effectiveness of antipsychotics for risk of attempted or completed suicide among persons with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2021) 47:23–30. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbaa111
- Baldessarini RJ, Tondo L, Hennen J. Lithium treatment and suicide risk in major affective disorders: update and new findings. J Clin Psychiatry. (2003) 64:44–52.
- 172. Ringbäck Weitoft G, Berglund M, Lindström EA, Nilsson M, Salmi P, Rosén M. Mortality, attempted suicide, re-hospitalisation and prescription refill for clozapine and other antipsychotics in Sweden-a register-based study. *Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf.* (2014) 23:290–8. doi: 10.1002/ pds.3567
- 173. Tran PV, Hamilton SH, Kuntz AJ, Potvin JH, Andersen SW, Beasley C Jr., et al. Double-blind comparison of olanzapine versus risperidone in the treatment of schizophrenia and other psychotic disorders. J Clin Psychopharmacol. (1997) 17:407–18. doi: 10.1097/00004714-199710000-00010
- 174. Tollefson GD, Beasley CM Jr., Tran PV, Street JS, Krueger JA, Tamura RN, et al. Olanzapine versus haloperidol in the treatment of schizophrenia and schizoaffective and schizophreniform disorders: results of an international collaborative trial. *Am J Psychiatry.* (1997) 154:457–65. doi: 10.1176/ajp.154.4.457
- 175. Barak Y, Mirecki I, Knobler HY, Natan Z, Aizenberg D. Suicidality and second generation antipsychotics in schizophrenia patients: a case-controlled retrospective study during a 5-year period. *Psychopharmacology*. (2004) 175:215–9. doi: 10.1007/s00213-004-1801-2
- Pompili M. Adding suicide prevention to the triple advantages of injectable long-acting second-generation antipsychotics. *Front Psychiatry*. (2020) 10:931. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00931
- 177. Vares M, Saetre P, Strålin P, Levander S, Lindström E, Jönsson EG. Concomitant medication of psychoses in a lifetime perspective. *Hum Psychopharmacol.* (2011) 26:322–31. doi: 10.1002/hup.1209
- 178. Gunnell D, Saperia J, Ashby D. Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) and suicide in adults: meta-analysis of drug company data from

placebo controlled, randomised controlled trials submitted to the MHRA's safety review. *BMJ.* (2005) 330:385. doi: 10.1136/bmj.330.7488.385

- 179. Baldessarini RJ, Tondo L, Davis P, Pompili M, Goodwin FK, Hennen J. Decreased risk of suicides and attempts during long-term lithium treatment: a meta-analytic review. *Bipolar Disord.* (2006) 8:625–39. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-5618.2006.00344.x
- 180. Lauterbach E, Felber W, Müller-Oerlinghausen B, Ahrens B, Bronisch T, Meyer T, et al. Adjunctive lithium treatment in the prevention of suicidal behaviour in depressive disorders: a randomised, placebo-controlled, 1-year trial. Acta Psychiatr Scand. (2008) 118:469–79. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.2008.01266.x
- 181. Hayes JF, Pitman A, Marston L, Walters K, Geddes JR, King M, et al. Self-harm, unintentional injury, and suicide in bipolar disorder during maintenance mood stabilizer treatment: a UK population-based electronic health records study. *JAMA Psychiatry.* (2016) 73:630–7. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2016.0432
- 182. Song J, Sjölander A, Joas E, Bergen SE, Runeson B, Larsson H, et al. Suicidal behavior during lithium and valproate treatment: a within-individual 8-year prospective study of 50,000 patients with bipolar disorder. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2017) 174:795–802. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2017.16050542
- 183. Cipriani A, Pretty H, Hawton K, Geddes JR. Lithium in the prevention of suicidal behavior and all-cause mortality in patients with mood disorders: a systematic review of randomized trials. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2005) 162:1805–19. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.162.10.1805
- 184. Leucht S, Kissling W, McGrath J. Lithium for schizophrenia. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. (2007) 3:CD003834. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD003834.pub2
- Cotton PG, Drake RE, Gates C. Critical treatment issues in suicide among schizophrenics. *Hosp Community Psychiatry*. (1985) 36:534–6. doi: 10.1176/ps.36.5.534
- 186. Pilling S, Bebbington P, Kuipers E, Garety P, Geddes J, Orbach G, et al. Psychological treatments in schizophrenia: I. Meta-analysis of family intervention and cognitive behaviour therapy. *Psychol Med.* (2002) 32:763– 82. doi: 10.1017/S0033291702005895
- 187. Gould RA, Mueser KT, Bolton E, Mays V, Goff D. Cognitive therapy for psychosis in schizophrenia: an effect size analysis. *Schizophr Res.* (2001) 48:335–42. doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964(00)00145-6
- Bateman K, Hansen L, Turkington D, Kingdon D. Cognitive behavioral therapy reduces suicidal ideation in schizophrenia: results from a randomized controlled trial. *Suicide Life Threat Behav.* (2007) 37:284–90. doi: 10.1521/suli.2007.37.3.284
- 189. Mueser KT, Berenbaum H. Psychodynamic treatment of schizophrenia: is there a future? *Psychol Med.* (1990) 20:253–62. doi: 10.1017/S003329170001758X
- Pompili M. Critical appraisal of major depression with suicidal ideation. Ann Gen Psychiatry. (2019) 18:7. doi: 10.1186/s12991-019-0232-8
- 191. Jovanović N, Podlesek A, Medved V, Grubišin J, Mihaljevic-Peleš A, Goran T, et al. Association between psychopathology and suicidal behavior in schizophrenia. A cross-sectional study of 509 participants. *Crisis.* (2013) 34:374–81. doi: 10.1027/0227-5910/a000211

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Berardelli, Rogante, Sarubbi, Erbuto, Lester and Pompili. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





COVID-19-Related Mortality Risk in People With Severe Mental Illness: A Systematic and Critical Review

Marc De Hert^{1,2*}, Victor Mazereel¹, Marc Stroobants³, Livia De Picker^{4,5}, Kristof Van Assche^{2,6} and Johan Detraux⁷

¹ Department of Neurosciences, Center for Clinical Psychiatry, University Psychiatric Center, KU Leuven, Kortenberg, Belgium, ² Antwerp Health Law and Ethics Chair, University of Antwerp, Antwerp, Belgium, ³ Biomedical Library, University Psychiatric Center, KU Leuven, Kortenberg, Belgium, ⁴ Collaborative Antwerp Psychiatric Research Institute, University of Antwerp, Antwerp, Belgium, ⁵ University Psychiatric Hospital Campus Duffel, Duffel, Belgium, ⁶ Research Group Personal Rights and Property Rights, Faculty of Law, University of Antwerp, Antwerp, Belgium, ⁷ Department of Neurosciences, Public Health Psychiatry, University Psychiatric Center, KU Leuven, Kortenberg, Belgium

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Andrea Fiorillo, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

Reviewed by:

Daria Smirnova, Samara State Medical University, Russia Martina Rojnic Kuzman, University Hospital Centre Zagreb, Croatia

*Correspondence: Marc De Hert marc.dehert@upckuleuven.be

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychosomatic Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 20 October 2021 Accepted: 03 December 2021 Published: 13 January 2022

Citation:

De Hert M, Mazereel V, Stroobants M, De Picker L, Van Assche K and Detraux J (2022) COVID-19-Related Mortality Risk in People With Severe Mental Illness: A Systematic and Critical Review. Front. Psychiatry 12:798554. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.798554 **Background:** Increasing clinical evidence suggests that people with severe mental illness (SMI), including schizophrenia spectrum disorders, bipolar disorder (BD), and major depressive disorder (MDD), are at higher risk of dying from COVID-19. Several systematic reviews examining the association between psychiatric disorders and COVID-19-related mortality have recently been published. Although these reviews have been conducted thoroughly, certain methodological limitations may hinder the accuracy of their research findings.

Methods: A systematic literature search, using the PubMed, Embase, Web of Science, and Scopus databases (from inception to July 23, 2021), was conducted for observational studies assessing the risk of death associated with COVID-19 infection in adult patients with pre-existing schizophrenia spectrum disorders, BD, or MDD. Methodological quality of the included studies was assessed using the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS).

Results: Of 1,446 records screened, 13 articles investigating the rates of death in patients with pre-existing SMI were included in this systematic review. Quality assessment scores of the included studies ranged from moderate to high. Most results seem to indicate that patients with SMI, particularly patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders, are at significantly higher risk of COVID-19-related mortality, as compared to patients without SMI. However, the extent of the variation in COVID-19-related mortality rates between studies including people with schizophrenia spectrum disorders was large because of a low level of precision of the estimated mortality outcome(s) in certain studies. Most studies on MDD and BD did not include specific information on the mood state or disease severity of patients. Due to a lack of data, it remains unknown to what extent patients with BD are at increased risk of COVID-19-related mortality. A variety of factors are likely to contribute to the increased mortality risk of COVID-19 in these patients. These include male sex, older age, somatic comorbidities (particularly cardiovascular diseases), as well as disease-specific characteristics.

40

Conclusion: Methodological limitations hamper the accuracy of COVID-19-related mortality estimates for the main categories of SMIs. Nevertheless, evidence suggests that SMI is associated with excess COVID-19 mortality. Policy makers therefore must consider these vulnerable individuals as a high-risk group that should be given particular attention. This means that targeted interventions to maximize vaccination uptake among these patients are required to address the higher burden of COVID-19 infection in this already disadvantaged group.

Keywords: severe mental illness, schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, major depressive disorder, mortality, COVID-19

BACKGROUND

People with severe mental illness (SMI), including schizophrenia (SZ) (lifetime prevalence: 0.7%), bipolar disorder (BD) (lifetime prevalence: 0.4–1.1%), and major depressive disorder (MDD) (lifetime prevalence: 15–18%) (1–3), have a two to three times higher mortality rate than the general population (4–7). This mortality gap translates into a 10–20 years shortened life expectancy (6, 8) and appears to be widening (9).

It is well-known that the majority of deaths in individuals with SMI are due to physical diseases, predominantly cardiovascular diseases (8, 10). Non-medical factors, including unhealthy lifestyles, disparities in physical health care, and stigmatizing attitudes toward people with SMI, contribute to the higher risk of death (11–13). Disease-related factors, such as unawareness of physical problems and challenges in appraising health information due to cognitive deficits, delusions, and, in general, lower educational attainment and health literacy (11, 14–18), as well as the use of psychotropic medication (antipsychotics, antidepressants, and mood stabilizers) (4, 10, 12) may further increase the risk of physical comorbidities.

Research has shown that several respiratory viruses, including human coronaviruses, can have neuroinvasive properties (19). The central nervous system (CNS) is also a potential target for the SARS-CoV-2 virus, because angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE 2) receptors, used by the virus to enter the cells, are equally expressed in glial cells and neurons in the brain (20-23). Although there is still no convincing evidence for direct neuropathogenic effects of SARS-CoV-2 (24, 25), COVID-19 infection can cause CNS damage (26-28). In a prospective autopsy cohort study, extensive inflammatory changes, affecting both white and gray matter, were detected in the brain of patients with lethal COVID-19. This inflammatory response was most pronounced in the olfactory bulbs and medulla oblongata. Results of this study suggest that CNS changes are due to a maladaptive immune response, rather than the consequence of a direct virus-induced effect, given that viral presence was low at late stages of COVID-19 (29). The first longitudinal imaging study (which had not been peer reviewed as of Oct 13, 2021), comparing structural and functional brain scans acquired from individuals before and after SARS-CoV-2 infection (n = 401) with scans from a well-matched control group (n =384), demonstrated brain atrophy, mainly in the limbic regions with direct neuronal connectivity to the primary olfactory and gustatory system, in addition to a more diffuse loss of gray matter. These authors suggested that the observed brain changes may be due to a direct virus effect, or to neuroinflammation, following viral infection and initiating chronic neuronal dysfunctions (30).

Different pathogenic pathways may be involved (31). One of the proposed mechanisms is that the SARS-CoV-2 virus enters the CNS through the neuronal retrograde route. In this case the virus infects neurons in the periphery and uses the olfactory nerve pathway to gain access to the CNS and cause infections of immune-functioning microglia or astrocytes in the CNS (19, 30). This, however, does not rule out a pathway from the nose to the brain by other mechanisms (such as the vascular route). A review by Uversky et al. (20) stated that there are at least seven candidate routes the SARS-CoV-2 virus can use to reach the CNS.

Nevertheless, because of these findings concerns have been raised regarding the neuroinvasive effect of COVID-19 infection in patients with pre-existing neuropsychiatric disorders, in particular in SMIs, which are often already characterized by a systemic pro-inflammatory state (32, 33). According to one review, 0.9–4% of individuals infected with SARS-CoV-2 develop psychotic spectrum disorders (34). A retrospective cohort study reported the following numbers (<6 months after acute infection): 0.9% in COVID-19 infection without hospitalization, 2.9% after hospitalization, and 7% after COVID-19-related encephalopathy (28). However, some of these cases probably are due to COVID-19-related psychosocial stress or treatment (e.g., steroid treatment in patients with COVID-19) (34, 35).

Recently, five systematic reviews and meta-analyses (36–40), assessing the risk of COVID-19-related mortality in patients with a psychiatric disorder, have demonstrated that people with SMI have a higher COVID-19-related mortality risk, compared to general population controls, and even compared to people with other psychiatric disorders. This risk remained high after adjustment for age, sex, and other confounders. Although these reviews have been thoroughly conducted, certain methodological limitations may hinder the accuracy of their research findings. Most of these reviews did not use a comprehensive search strategy for COVID-19 (36-39), or did not include the Embase database (36, 37, 40). Several of these reviews not only included laboratory-confirmed COVID-19 cases, but also patients where the SARS-CoV-2 infection was based on a clinical diagnosis made by physicians (36, 37, 39), or did not make this clear in their methodology section (40). Furthermore, reviews reporting mortality data on mood disorders did not distinguish unipolar and BDs (although most of the included studies in these reviews relied on electronic medical records that do not allow a finegrained analysis of clinical variables) and/or pre-existing from post-infection or comorbid disorders [e.g., (38)]. Finally, a thorough discussion part is also missing in most of these reviews.

AIM OF THE STUDY

To overcome the above-mentioned limitations a novel systematic literature search was conducted to assess the risk of death associated with COVID-19 infection in people with SMI (schizophrenia spectrum disorders, BD, and MDD), compared with patients without SMI, or without any psychiatric disorder, and a thorough discussion part was provided.

METHODS

Search Strategy

A comprehensive literature search, using the PubMed, Embase, Web of Science, and Scopus databases (from inception to July 23, 2021), was conducted without language restriction for studies reporting data on the risk of death associated with COVID-19 infection in adult patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders, BD, or MDD, compared with controls (patients without a SMI or without a psychiatric disorder). Two of the authors (JD and MD) and two experienced biomedical information specialists worked closely together to construct effective search strings for the different databases. Full search strategies are available as Supplementary Material 1. Duplicates were removed using EndNote X9 and Rayyan QCRI (JD). After removing duplicates, titles and abstracts were screened by JD. Articles that were deemed potentially relevant according to the selection criteria were selected. JD and MD independently reviewed the full text of the selected articles and assessed their eligibility. They also attempted to identify additional studies through a systematic search of the reference lists of selected articles and of previously published systematic reviews/meta-analyses.

Selection Criteria

Inclusion criteria were:

- (i) Published, peer-reviewed, original studies,
- (ii) Population-based observational studies, including case-control, cohort, or cross-sectional studies,
- (iii) Studies including patients with laboratory-confirmed COVID-19 cases (i.e., a positive real-time reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction test),
- (iv) Studies including patients with a clinically confirmed pre-existing SMI (i.e., schizophrenia spectrum disorders, BDs, and/or unipolar depression), using a widely-accepted standardized disease coding system, such as the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM) or the International Classification of Diseases (ICD), and
- (v) Studies reporting COVID-19-related mortality outcomes [i.e., odds ratio, risk ratio, hazard ratio (HR), or associated

metrics] and comparing COVID-19-related mortality risks of SMI patients with non-SMI patients, or patients without a psychiatric disorder.

Studies that did not include patients with pre-existing SMI (thus studies where COVID-19 may have been an antecedent to the onset of the SMI disorder), a control group, COVID-19-related mortality outcomes, original data, or were not peer-reviewed and published (preprints, conference papers), as well as case reports, reviews, meta-analyses, and studies where SMI mortality outcomes were grouped with those for non-SMIs, or studies where COVID-19 was not ascertained according to laboratory testing were excluded.

This systematic review adhered to the 2020 Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Review and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines (41). We did, however, not register our protocol prior to submitting the manuscript for publication.

Data Extraction

Data from the included studies were extracted from each article by JD to collect the following information:

- (i) Study characteristics: author information, publication year, country where the study was conducted, study design (cross-sectional, cohort or case-control, prospective vs. retrospective), time period studied during the COVID-19 pandemic,
- (ii) Patient characteristics: primary diagnoses included in the study, sample sizes of SMI patients and controls, mean/median age (years), and sex distribution,
- (iii) Outcome measure: adjusted and unadjusted mortality data (odds ratio, risk ratio, HR, or associated metrics with 95% confidence interval estimates), and
- (iv) Covariates in adjusted risk.

Assessment of Risk of Bias

The quality of each observational study was rated using the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS), whereby a higher score indicated higher methodological quality and lower risk of bias. The NOS was adapted for cross-sectional data.

RESULTS

Search Strategy

The original search in the PubMed (n = 131), Embase (n = 1,133), Web of Science (n = 105), and Scopus (n = 77) databases yielded a total of 1,446 reports. Of these, 265 duplicate reports were removed. Overall, 37 references of published studies were selected as potentially eligible, of which 12 original records met the inclusion criteria. One record, identified through cross-referencing and which fulfilled the inclusion criteria, was added, resulting in a total of 13 original records. The results of the study selection are shown in the PRISMA flow diagram (see Figure 1).

Study and Patient Characteristics

Study and patient characteristics, as well as mortality data and covariates are presented in **Table 1**. Median age of SMI patients across studies ranged from 40 to 66 years and was



not reported in nine studies. Two studies were carried out in Denmark, two in France, one in Israel, one in South Korea, two in Spain, one in the U.K., and four in the U.S. Severe mental illness was almost exclusively categorized according to ICD classification criteria. In the French and Israeli studies only patients with schizophrenia (spectrum disorders) were analyzed. The U.S. study of Egede et al. (46) analyzed exclusively data of BD patients.

Quality Assessment

Data on study quality are presented in **Supplementary Material 2**. Methodological quality was high in nine studies, and moderate in four studies.

Study Results

For studies analyzing mortality data separately for patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders, BD and MDD, fully

adjusted risks (= adjusted for demographic factors and one or more comorbidities or other covariates) ranged from 1.30 to 4.36 for schizophrenia spectrum disorders, and from 2.04 to 2.68 for depression. Only two studies (42, 46) reported COVID-19-related mortality data separately for patients with BD. In the study of Egede et al. (46), including exclusively BD patients, a HR of 2.67 (95% CI: 1.07-6.67) was found, while Barcella et al. (42) did not find a significant HR [adjusted HR = 1.94 (0.97-3.90) in the fully adjusted model. A variety of factors were likely to contribute to the increased mortality risk of COVID-19 in these patients. These included male sex, older age, and somatic comorbidities, as evidenced by the reduction of the unadjusted risk after adjusting for these demographic factors and comorbidities. However, as even after this adjustment the risk of COVID-19-related mortality was still increased, other factors also seem to play a primordial role (see Table 1).

TABLE 1 | Study characteristics and mortality data of the included studies (33, 42–53).

| Study | Country | Study design | Time period | Diagnosis | Sample size | Mean/median age (years) Male gender | Risk (95% CI) | Covariates in adjusted risk |
|-------------------------|---------|--------------|---------------------------------------|---|---|--|--|---|
| Barcella et al. (42) | Denmark | Cohort study | February 27 2020–January 2 2021 | Schizophrenia spectrum disorders (F20–29) BD (F30, 31, 38) Unipolar depression, including MDD (F32–34, F39) (ICD-8 and ICD-10) Controls = patients without psychiatric disorder | Schizophrenia spectrum disorders ($n =$ 984) vs. controls ($n =$ 127,281) BD ($n =$ 485) vs. controls ($n =$ 127,281) Unipolar depression ($n =$ 3,764) vs. controls ($n =$ 127,281) | 40 (median) 48.8% 45.3 (median) 37.3% 44 (median) 30.8% | Standardized average RR: 2.29 (1.36–3.22) Unadjusted HR:4.12 (2.64–6.43) Adjusted HR:2.41 (1.53–3.79) Standardized average RR: 1.87 (1.12–3.12) Unadjusted HR:3.34 (1.66–6.70) Adjusted HR:1.94 (0.97–3.90) Standardized average RR: 1.92 (1.39–2.44) Unadjusted HR:2.63 | Age, sex, highest obtained education income, ischemic heart disease, congestive heart failure, cerebrovascular disease, CKD, HP, peripheral arter disease, DM, COPI asthma, substance abuse, and malignancy |
| | | | | | | | (1.97–3.52) Adjusted | |
| | | | | | | | HR:2.04 (1.52–2.74) | |

(Continued)

| Frontiers in | |
|---------------------|--|
| Psychiatry | |
| www.frontiersin.org | |

TABLE 1 | Continued

| Study | Country | Study design | Time period | Diagnosis | Sample size | Mean/median age (years) Male gender | Risk (95% Cl) | Covariates in adjusted risk |
|------------------------------------|---------|-------------------------------|--------------------------------|---|--|---|--|--|
| Nemani et al. (43) [†] | U.S. | Retrospective cohort study | March 3 2020-May 31 2020 | Schizophrenia spectrum disorders (F20, 22, 23, 25, 28, 29) Mood disorders -Unipolar depression, including MDD F32, 33, 34, 39 -BD F30, 31 (ICD-10) Controls = patients without psychiatric disorders, with the exception of patients with organic mental disorders, mental disorders due to substance use, mental retardation, and disorders of psychological development. | Lifetime SZ vs. controls: 75/6,349 Lifetime mood disorders vs. controls: 564/6,349 Recent SZ vs. controls: 46/6,349 Recent mood disorders vs. controls: 374/6,349 | N/A | Unadjusted OR: 2.93 (1.75–4.92) Demographically adjusted OR: 2.87 (1.62–5.08) Fully adjusted OR: 2.67 (1.48–4.80) Unadjusted OR: 1.82 (1.45–2.29) Demographically adjusted OR: 1.25 (0.98–1.61) Fully adjusted OR: 1.14 (0.87–1.49) Unadjusted OR: 2.84 (1.47–5.52) Demographically adjusted OR: 3.13 (1.50–6.54) Fully adjusted OR: 2.67 (1.26–5.69) Unadjusted OR: 2.19 (1.69–2.84) Demographically adjusted OR: 1.52 (1.13–2.03) Fully adjusted OR: 1.27 (0.94–1.73) | Demographically adjusted: age, sex, race Fully adjusted (demographically + medical risk factors) age, sex, race, smoking status, HP, heart failure, myocardial infarction, DM, CKD COPD, and cancer |

(Continued)

COVID-19-Related Mortality and SMI

TABLE 1 | Continued

| Study | Country | Study design | Time period | Diagnosis | Sample size | Mean/median age (years) Male gender | Risk (95% CI) | Covariates in adjusted risk |
|---------------------------|-------------|-------------------------------|-----------------------------------|--|--|---|---|---|
| Tzur Bitan et al. (44) | Israel | Retrospective cohort study | March 2020–October 2020 | SZ (ICD-9 or ICD-10) (F20) Controls = people without schizophrenia randomly drawn from the general population | 642 patients vs. 709 controls | 51.51 (mean, SZ) 51.37 (mean, controls) 61% | Non-adjusted OR: 3.14 (1.34–7.36) Adjusted OR (95% Cl): 3.27 (1.39–7.68) | Age, sex |
| Jeon et al. (45) | South Korea | Retrospective cohort study | 1 December 2019–15 May 2020 | Schizophrenia spectrum disorders (ICD-10) (F20–F29) Mood disorders (BD+ MDD) (ICD-10) (F30-F39) Controls = patients without a psychiatric disorder | 159 patients vs. 628 controls 273 patients vs. 1,060 controls | N/A | Adjusted OR: 2.25 (0.36–14.03) Adjusted OR (95% Cl): 2.33 (0.96–5.66) | Cohort matched by age, sex, and Charlson Comorbidity Index with up to four people without mental disorder and adjusted for type of insurance, medical history of DM and pneumonia, and us of β-blockers and anticonvulsants |
| Egede et al. (46) | U.S. | Cross-sectional analysis | March 20–July 10 2020 | BD (ICD-9 and ICD-10) (F30.1–F30.4, F30.9, F31.1–F31.6, F31.73–F31.78, F31.9) Controls = patients without a psychiatric disorder | 38 patients vs. 1,330 controls | 52.3 (mean) 29.7% | Non-adjusted HR: 2.83 (1.15–6.96) Demographically adjusted HR: 2.63 (1.07–6.49) Fully adjusted HR: 2.67 (1.07–6.67) | Gender, age, race/ethnicity, location, and primary payor, tobacco use, and BMI. |

(Continued)

COVID-19-Related Mortality and SMI

| | | Suuy | 2020-May 4 2020 | Controls = patients without a psychiatric disorder | controls | 13.370 | (1.19–12.20) Adjusted OR: 4.36 (1.09–17.44) Adjusted OR: 4.28 (1.07–17.20) |
|------------------|--------|--------------|-----------------------------------|---|--|--------|--|
| | | | | | | | Adjusted OR: 4.33 (1.08–17.34) |
| Fond et al. (48) | France | Cohort study | February 1 2020–June 9 2020 | SZ (F20,22,25) (ICD-10) Controls = patients without a SMI | 823 patients vs. 49,927 controls | 48.8% | Unadjusted OR: 1.25 (1.05–1.49) Adjusted OR: 1.30 (1.08–1.5 |
| | | | | | | | Significant interaction between SZ at age ($p =$ 0.0006): SZ patients between 65 at 80 years have significantly higher risk of death than controls of sar age [+7.89% ; |

Time period

February 27

2020-May 4

Diagnosis

SZ (F20,22,25)

(ICD-10)

Sample size

15 patients

vs. 1,077

Mean/median

age (years) Male gender

66 (median)

73.3%

Risk (95% CI)

Non-adjusted

OR: 3.80

Covariates in adjusted risk

Age, sex, smoking

Comorbidity Index Age, sex, smoking

Comorbidity Index, hydroxychloroquine Age, sex, smoking

Comorbidity Index, hydroxychloroquineazithromycin combination

Age, sex, social deprivation, smoking status, overweight

and obesity,

number of hospital stays for COVID-19, geographical areas of hospitalization

Charlson Comorbidity Index, origin of the patient, hospital category,

status, obesity, Charlson

status, obesity, Charlson

status, obesity, Charlson

TABLE 1 | Continued

Country

France

Study design

Case-control

study

Study

Fond et al. (47)

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

| Study | Country | Study design | Time period | Diagnosis | Sample size | Mean/median age (years) Male gender | Risk (95% Cl) | Covariates in adjusted risk |
|------------------------------|---------|-------------------------------|------------------------------------|---|---|---|--|--|
| Reilev et al. (49) | Denmark | Cohort study | February 27 2020–May 19 2020 | SMI=SZ (F20), schizoaffective disorder (F25), or BD (F30,31)(ICD-10) Controls = patients without a SMI | 76 patients vs. 11,046 controls | N/A | Non-adjusted OR: 3.8 (2.1–7.0) Demographically adjusted OR: 2.5 (1.2–5.1) Fully adjusted OR: 1.9 (0.9–3.9) | Age, sex Age, sex, and number of comorbidities |
| Poblador-Plou et al. (50) | Spain | Retrospective cohort study | March 4 2020–May 17 2020 | Mood disorders (ICD-9-CM) Controls = patients without a psychiatric disorder | 202 patients vs. 569 controls | N/A | Adjusted OR: 1.38 (0.98–1.95) (men with mood disorder) Adjusted OR: 1.46 (1.12–1.91) (women with mood disorder) | Age |
| Yang et al. (33) | U.K. | Retrospective cohort study | January 31 2020–July 26 2020 | MDD (ICD-9 or ICD-10) Psychotic disorders (ICD-10) Controls = non-psychiatric patients | 22,352 patients vs. 398,662 controls 1,431 patients vs. 419,583 controls | N/A | Adjusted OR: 2.68 (2.03–3.54) Adjusted OR: 3.50 (1.70–7.17) | Adjusted for birth year, sex, race or ethnicity, Townsenc deprivation index, educational attainment, annual household income, BMI, smoking status, and history of chronic cardiac disease, DM, COPE CKD, and asthma. |

TABLE 1 | Continued

| Study | Country | Study design | Time period | Diagnosis | Sample size | Mean/median age (years) Male gender | Risk (95% CI) | Covariates in adjusted risk |
|-----------------------------|---------|-------------------------------|-------------------------------------|---|--|---|---|--|
| Castro et al. (51) | U.S. | Retrospective cohort study | February 15 2020–May 24 2020 | Mood disorders (MDD and BD) (ICD-10) Controls = individuals without a psychiatric disorder | 717 patients vs. 2,271 controls | N/A | $\begin{array}{l} \label{eq:model} & \begin{tabular}{lllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$ | Age, sex, race, ethnicity, admissior site (academic medical center compared with community hospita socioeconomic status, and Charlso comorbidity index |
| Diez-Quevedo et al. (52) | Spain | Retrospective cohort study | March 1 2020–November 17 2020 | Mood disorders (ICD-10) Controls = patients without mood disorders | 279 patients (mood disorder) vs. controls | N/A | Adjusted HR: 1.52 (1.13–2.06) | Sex, age, history of medical and psychiatric disorder |

(Continued)

COVID-19-Related Mortality and SMI

| Study | Country | Study design | Time period | Diagnosis | Sample size | Mean/median age (years) Male gender | Risk (95% CI) | Covariates in adjusted risk |
|------------------|----------|--|-----------------------|---|---|---|---------------------------------------|---|
| Wang et al. (53) | U. S. | Retrospective case-control study | Up to July 29 2020 | Depressive disorder (code 3548900) (including MDD) (SNOMED-CT) Controls = patients without a psychiatric disorder | 1,460 patients with a recent (past year, but prior to COVID-19) diagnosis of depression | N/A | Unadjusted OR: 1.56 (1.28–1.91) | Age, sex, ethnicity, and medical comorbidities (cancers, CVDs, type 2 DM, obesity, CKD, COPD, asthma, and SUDs) |

Our releva relate schize

DISCUSSION

Our systematic review shows that, after full adjustment for relevant confounders, the extent of the variation in COVID-19related mortality rates between studies including people with schizophrenia spectrum disorders was large. COVID-19-related mortality risk was found to be 2- to 4-fold increased for patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders, compared with controls. There are several reasons for this variation:

- studies showing higher adjusted mortality estimates included rather small samples of patients (47), and/or presented mortality data with large confidence intervals (33, 45, 47), indicating a low level of precision of the estimated mortality outcome(s),
- (2) while some studies were strictly limited to patients with SZ (44), others included disorders covering more or less the whole spectrum of SZ-like disorders (42, 43, 45). In addition, there is (besides the lack of information about psychopharmacological treatments and psychiatric treatment settings of patients) a lack of specific information about the severity and the status (first-episode vs. chronic) of the disease. These elements are important to consider since different forms of the disorder may have different risks of COVID-19-related mortality, and
- (3) the comparison group sometimes included non-SMI patients and at other times patients without a psychiatric disorder.

Although results are more stable for studies on MDD (COVID-19-related mortality risk in these patients seems to be 1.5- to 2-fold increased, compared with controls), these studies also in most cases did not include specific information on the mood state or disease severity of the patients. While some studies were strictly limited to patients with MDD (33, 51), others (42, 43) also included mild or moderate forms of the disease.

Finally, several studies (45, 49, 50, 52) involved a mixed population and did not make a distinction between the three main categories of SMIs. Studies on BD patients clearly are lacking.

Recently, several systematic reviews and meta-analyses (36, 37, 39, 40), showed that pre-existing mental disorders were associated with an increased COVID-19-related mortality risk, compared to controls, even after adjustment for age, sex, and other confounders. In the meta-analysis of Fond et al. (37), patients with SMI (schizophrenia spectrum disorders and/or BD) were found to have the highest risk of COVID-19-related mortality (adjusted OR = 1.67; 95% CI: 1.02-2.73). Vai et al. (36) also observed that the most robust associations were found for psychotic disorders (adjusted OR = 1.68; 95% CI: 1.29-2.18) and mood disorders (adjusted OR = 1.43; 95% CI: 1.15–1.79), after adjustment for age, sex, and other confounders, with a statistically significant difference (p = 0.0047) identified between adjusted estimates for SMI patients (adjusted OR = 1.55; 95% CI: 1.30-1.85) and patients with non-SMI psychiatric disorders (adjusted OR = 1.09; 95% CI: 0.92-1.29). A very recently published cohort study confirmed the previously published evidence (54). These results thus show that patients with SMI have a statistically significantly higher risk of death than patients with

7

secondary analysis was limited to patients with recently documented psychiatric diagnoses of interest recorded in an encounter between January 1, 2019, and March 3, 2020 (recent diagnoses)

non-SMI disorders. Moreover, analyses stratified by the number of redeemed psychotropic medications indicated that COVID-19-related mortality risk increases with higher psychotropic medication use (42). All these results therefore suggest an association between mental illness severity and COVID-19related mortality risk.

A retrospective cohort study in patients with mood disorders has found that COVID-19-related mortality risk in these patients seems to be particularly elevated 2 weeks after admission, while there seems to be little difference in mortality risk with controls during early hospitalization (51). However, the meta-analysis of Vai et al. (36) found no evidence of increased in-hospital mortality in patients with psychiatric disorders vs. those without. Moreover, COVID-19-related mortality risk was significantly higher among psychiatric patients who were not admitted to the hospital than among hospitalized patients.

Factors Underlying the Association Between SMI and COVID-19-Related Mortality

Several demographic factors and somatic comorbidities have been identified that contribute to the higher observed mortality estimates associated with COVID-19 infection in people with SMI (42–44, 49, 50, 53, 55, 56) and without SMI (57–63). These include older age (\geq 65–70 years old), male gender, low socioeconomic status (SES) and educational level, and physical diseases (cardiovascular disease, hypertension, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, chronic kidney disease, diabetes). These identified factors may have a more profound impact on people with a SMI.

Firstly, as in the general population, particularly older individuals (\geq 60 years) with SMI are vulnerable to COVID-19. However, there seems to be an excess mortality due to COVID-19 among patients of this age group. Deaths due to COVID-19 were found to be 4 times higher for those with SMI, compared to individuals without SMI within the same age group [people with SMI: 0.01% (40-59 years), 0.12% (60-69 years), 0.46% (70-79 years), vs. individuals without SMI: 0.01% (40-59 years), 0.03% (60-69 years), 0.11% (70-79 years)] (55). Fond et al. (48) found that patients with SZ between 65 and 80 years had a higher risk of death [7.69% (<55 years) and 30.29% (>65 <80 years)], compared to individuals without a SMI of the same age [4.04%] (<55 years) and 22.4% (≥65 <80 years)] [Adj. OR (95% CI): 1.62 (1.27–2.06, p = 0.0002)]. These results can be linked to the accelerated biological aging hypothesis, one of the major causes of the higher premature mortality rates that are observed in people with SMI (64, 65). This means that aging of both body and brain, and, in particular for COVID-19, the senescence of immune cells (66), might be more rapid in these people. One study found that molecular brain age (i.e., biological age of the brain) was 2-6 years higher than the chronological age in individuals with SZ, and 4.7-7.5 years higher in subjects with BD. No increase in brain aging was noted in subjects with MDD (67).

The impact of SES, which has been found to be associated with health care access (68), on the risk of COVID-19related mortality remains to be elucidated, particularly in individuals with SMI (55). Due to the complexity of SES and its metrics (such as the Townsend Deprivation Index or the Distressed Communities Index), it stays unclear which individual components are associated with COVID-19-related mortality. While the impact of certain socioeconomic aspects (e.g., lower education and race) on COVID-19-related mortality has been shown (69, 70), other components (such as poverty and unemployment) were found to be protective against COVID-19-related mortality (69). Moreover, these measurements remain indirect indices of health care access and are assessed only once at baseline. Therefore, misclassification due to the absence of repeated measurements might exist (33). The same applies to the impact of the type of care/facility on the treatment outcomes for persons with SMI with COVID-19, particularly during the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic. At the beginning of this pandemic, in the U.S. (71) and in Europe (72) many inpatient psychiatric facilities created psychiatric COVID-19-positive units (PCU). When tested positive, psychiatric patients were transferred to these units, where they were treated medically for their COVID-19 illness by internists and medical nurse practitioners. Only if patients showed signs of respiratory distress, such as shortness of breath or chest pain, they were transferred to a medical emergency room for further evaluation (71). The organization of PCU, however, varied considerably across countries and over time (72). Therefore, it remains unknown what the effect is of the type of care/facility on COVID-19-related mortality figures in these persons.

Secondly, a higher somatic comorbidity burden in patients with SMI, compared to non-psychiatric patients, may also partly explain the increased COVID-19-related mortality risk. However, with the exception of cardiovascular diseases, results for other somatic comorbidities are sometimes inconsistent. In SMI and non-psychiatric populations hypertension, diabetes, and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease have been found to correlate with an increased risk of fatality in most (43, 49, 73-75), but not all studies (55, 76). Nevertheless, it is well-recognized that individuals with these comorbidities are at an increased risk for a severe course of COVID-19 (77). In addition, somatic comorbidities seem in general to be an important driver of the observed increased COVID-19-related infection and mortality estimates in patients with SMI (33, 43, 49, 53). The reasons why certain somatic comorbidities are associated with more severe COVID-19 illness in people with SMI are not yet fully understood (78).

Although results are inconsistent, the use of psychotropic medications may be another important risk factor. A recent meta-analysis (36) showed that, after adjustment for age, sex, and other confounders, COVID-19-related mortality was associated with exposure to antipsychotics (initiated before contracting COVID-19) (adjusted OR = 2.43, 95% CI: 1.81–3.25), but not to antidepressants (adjusted OR = 1.18, 95% CI: 0.93–1.50). However, a very recently published retrospective cohort study did not observe an association between antipsychotic use and COVID-19-related mortality (79). An important obstacle in finding an answer to the question whether there exists an association between the use of psychotropic medications and

COVID-19-related mortality is that specific data on the use of psychotropic medication and psychiatric status (acute phase vs. stabilization phase) across studies is lacking.

Some antipsychotic medications (particularly clozapine) seem to increase susceptibility to pneumonia and pneumonia-related mortality risk in individuals with SMI due to sedation, impaired swallowing and hypersalivation (80-82). Clozapine can also suppress immune function (78). In animal models, shortto intermediate-term exposure to clinically relevant levels of risperidone has been shown to induce inflammatory and adaptive immune process dysregulation, possibly affecting susceptibility to respiratory infections, including COVID-19 (83). Nevertheless, some studies found a protective effect for COVID-19 infection in patients treated with antipsychotics (84, 85). Based on preclinical findings, the antipsychotics chlorpromazine and haloperidol have been suggested to offer protection against SARS-CoV-2, possibly through their interactions with sigma-1 receptors, inducing antiinflammatory effects by inhibiting cytokine production (86–90). However, initial observational clinical studies did not confirm that these agents offer protection against COVID-19 infection or COVID-19-related mortality (84, 91). However, the results of these studies have to be interpreted with caution, because of possible confounding factors. Moreover, it is important to make a distinction between acute and long-term treatment effects of antipsychotic treatment.

Valproate, a mood stabilizer, also may be associated with an increased risk of respiratory infections (92). By contrast, lithium, another mood stabilizer, seems to be associated with a decreased risk of respiratory infections and demonstrated potential antiviral properties at a preclinical level (92, 93). Lithium has even been proposed as a candidate treatment for COVID-19. It can suppress NOD-like receptor family pyrin domain containing-3 (NLRP3) inflammasome activity (which is implicated in the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines during the cytokine storm), inhibits cell death (resulting in a decrease in lung parenchymal damage), and is characterized by immune-regulatory mechanisms (preventing the harmful effects of immune hyperactivation) (94). However, its antiviral properties, as well as its safety as a potential antiviral agent (due to its narrow therapeutic index and high risk of toxicity), remain to be confirmed in clinical settings (93, 95).

More promising is the association that has been observed between FIASMA (Functional Inhibitors of Acid SphingoMyelinAse) treatments, including certain SSRI and non-SSRI antidepressants such as fluvoxamine and amitriptyline, and a reduction in clinical deterioration and mortality risk in patients with COVID-19. Acid sphingomyelinase (ASM) is an important lipid-metabolizing enzyme catalyzing the hydrolysis of sphingomyelin into ceramide and phosphorylcholine (91, 96). SARS-CoV-2 probably activates this ASM-ceramide system, facilitating viral entry and infection of human nasal epithelial cells by clustering ACE-2 receptors (97, 98). Functional Inhibitors of Acid SphingoMyelinAse antidepressants are thought to impair SARS-CoV-2 entry into epithelial cells by functional inhibition of the ASM-ceramide system (99). Several retrospective (100-102) and prospective (103) observational studies, as well as a small double-blind randomized trial (104) showed that taking a FIASMA treatment was associated with a lower risk of clinical deterioration or death in both non-psychiatric and psychiatric patients with COVID-19. The anti-inflammatory properties of certain antidepressants, probably due to their high affinity for sigma-1 receptors (105), may have additional value in managing COVID-19. Nevertheless, more large-scale double-blind controlled randomized clinical trials of these medications in patients with COVID-19 are needed (99, 106, 107).

Polypharmacy has been found to be associated with a higher risk of developing COVID-19 (108). Psychotropic polypharmacy is quite common in patients with SMI (12). According to a Swedish study, 25% of patients dispensed antipsychotic drugs receive a combination of two or more antipsychotic drugs. These patients also did more often take anxiolytics and sedatives than those prescribed antipsychotic monotherapy (109). Psychotropic polypharmacy, particularly during the treatment of elderly people with SMI, seems to be associated with greater adverse effects on most physical diseases, compared to monotherapy (4), as it carries the risk of adverse drug reactions. As the possible contribution of antipsychotic polypharmacy to the general excess mortality in people with SMI remains unclear (110, 111), further meta-analyses are needed analyzing mortality outcomes based on specific antipsychotic combinations rather than pooling data irrespective (111). The risks of adverse drug reactions due to psychotropic polypharmacy may be higher among certain regions in the world. Because of these aspects, the impact of psychotropic polypharmacy on COVID-19-related mortality therefore remains unknown.

Benzodiazepines (BZDs) and BZD-related medications (BZDRs) may also be of concern. A Swedish study in patients with SZ (112) showed that high exposure to BZDs is associated with an up to 70% higher mortality risk, compared with no users of BZDs. This is an important observation, knowing that the use of these medications by patients with SMI probably is even more common in other developed countries as the U.S (112). Although the risk of respiratory impairment associated with BZD use in the general population remains debated, in several studies current or recent exposure to certain BZDs or BZDRs has been found to be associated with an increased pneumonia risk (113), particularly in critically ill patients in intensive care units (114) or elderly (115, 116), whose immune system is vulnerable. BZDs and BZDRs, taken by 30-60% of individuals with SZ or BD (55), illnesses already characterized by a systemic pro-inflammatory state (see further), therefore may increase the risk for COVID-19-related mortality in these persons.

Finally, clinically relevant drug interactions between psychotropic medications and antiviral COVID-19 therapies may exist. The co-administration of protease inhibitors (blocking the protease enzyme that the virus needs to replicate), with certain antipsychotics (e.g., haloperidol and quetiapine), the mood stabilizer carbamazepine, or the BZDs midazolam or triazolam should be avoided because of increased toxicity and possible life-threatening events (117, 118).

Results of the studies included in our review indicate that COVID-19-related mortality risk, even after adjustment for all above mentioned factors, remains high in these patients (see **Table 1**). This indicates that SMI-related issues (i.c., immunological disturbances) may further increase the risk of COVID-19-related mortality. In one of the included studies [i.c., (43)] the high risk of mortality associated with schizophrenia spectrum disorders ranked second behind age in strength of an association among all known demographic and medical risk factors examined.

Research has shown that disease-related immune dysregulation may provide some explanation for the higher susceptibility of people with SMI for severe clinical outcomes of COVID-19 (42, 83, 119, 120). Hyperactivation of the immune system, leading to excess release of pro-inflammatory cytokines (hypercytokinemia) or a "cytokine storm" (cytokine release syndrome), seems to play a major role in the process of disease aggravation in patients with COVID-19 infection (121-127). Circulating levels of inflammatory biomarkers, including interleukin-1 (IL-1), interleukin-6 (IL-6), tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), and C-reactive protein (CRP), are often excessively elevated during severe SARS-CoV-2 infection. This disproportionate release of cytokines beyond that of a controlled immune response has been associated with poor outcomes and an increased risk of mortality (22, 122, 124, 126, 128, 129). As SMIs already are often characterized by a systemic proinflammatory state or overproduction of pro-inflammatory cytokines, which may persist even after patients' symptoms have improved (32, 33), the systemic hyperinflammation triggered by SARS-CoV-2 infection may be more pronounced in these individuals, leading to excess tissue damage, multi-organ failure, and death. A reduction in lymphocyte natural killer cell activity (a common finding in severe COVID-19) in some patients with SMI may further explain why COVID-19-related mortality rates are higher in these individuals (119, 120, 130-132). However, these hypotheses remain to be tested more rigorously.

Particularly in older patients, perturbations in gut microbiome composition, which seem to be related to elevated concentrations of inflammatory cytokines, may exacerbate COVID-19-related severity (133). This observation may be important knowing that people with SMI present with various alterations of the gut microbiome (134).

Prevention Strategies and Possible Therapeutic Options

Given the strong association between COVID-19-related mortality and SMI, it is paramount that COVID-19 vaccination and equitable access to COVID-19 vaccines for people with SMI should be a matter of priority (135–137). This should be even more obvious knowing that the management of physical diseases (including comorbid conditions causing more severe COVID-19 illness) in people with SMI is already suboptimal, due to non-medical factors such as stigmatization and disparities in physical health care (10, 11, 13). It is therefore astonishing to note that some governments within and outside the European Union (e.g., India) are still doubting whether these individuals should be prioritized for COVID-19 vaccination (135).

However, only granting priority access to people with SMI in national vaccination strategies will not be sufficient, as a significant COVID-19 vaccination gap seems to exist between these individuals and the general population, despite having been granted early universal or priority access to SARS-CoV-2 vaccination (138-140). Targeted interventions to maximize vaccination uptake among these patients will be needed (139, 140). There are ways mental health professionals and agencies can address barriers to COVID-19 vaccination, based on the Increasing Vaccination Model (IVM). Identifying and addressing internal conflicts (by using motivational interviewing), social network interventions (making clinician recommendations build on interpersonal trust), and direct behavior change interventions (including reminders and primes, automatic appointments, and presumptive healthcare professional communication) can be helpful in this regard (141). Developing an intentional vaccine delivery strategy in conjunction with experts, utilizing multiple communication channels, and expanding vaccine delivery outside of the hospital to reach patients can be another strategy (142). Finally, the involvement of peers, family, or volunteers to support people with SMI in making healthcare choices may also be helpful. These types of actions can pay off. Our research group has shown that vaccine willingness among patients with psychiatric disorders in our university psychiatric hospital with a targeted prevention program was just as high as in the general population: 93% or 1,070 of 1,151 patients who were offered COVID-19 vaccination accepted this vaccination (143). Other studies confirmed that vaccination willingness among these patients is at least almost as high as in the general population (144, 145).

Several therapeutic options for this vulnerable population may exist to reduce the increased mortality rate: the use of medications that target specific inflammatory markers, the use of a cytokine filter targeting multiple different cytokines at a larger scale, natural killer cell-based immunotherapies, and the use of nicotine, nicotinic receptor agonists, or positive modulators of these receptors (activation of these receptors, particularly a7 nAChR, can suppress production of pro-inflammatory cytokines as these receptors are abundantly expressed in a variety of immune cells) (122, 127, 130, 131). Early prediction of a cytokine storm is made possible by several biochemical and hematological markers (128). In addition to reducing pathogen exposure, individual immunity in this vulnerable population can be enhanced by promoting a healthy lifestyle, regular exercise, balanced nutrition, and quality sleep (125). However, more research on these therapeutic options is urgently needed.

Patients with SMI often have lower vitamin D levels (146). Several meta-analyses (147, 148) and publications (146, 149– 153) suggest that vitamin D supplementation may be potentially effective in preventing COVID-19 infection and mitigating the clinical course of the disease. Study results, however, remain difficult to interpret due to possible confounding factors (149, 154).

STRENGTHS AND LIMITATIONS

Our review has particular strengths. Compared to other available systematic reviews, we developed a more comprehensive search strategy for the retrieval of reports of controlled trials. With the exception of Ceban et al. (38), our review is the only one that also included the Embase database to obtain a more comprehensive coverage of the existing US and EU literature. Finally, a thorough and critical discussion of this issue is presented in this paper.

Nevertheless, our systematic and critical review has its limitations that are inherent to the nature of the available evidence, and in that respect comparable to the previously published reviews. An important limitation is that all included studies are observational and mostly retrospective, and therefore causal relationships cannot be inferred. Most of the included studies in our systematic review were carried out during the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic, which lasted from February/March until May/June 2020. During this period, in most countries testing was largely restricted to individuals exhibiting symptoms or to certain risk groups, due to a limited PCR-testing capacity at that time. This biased deployment of testing can distort true estimates of COVID-19-related mortality rate in people with SMI. Most of the studies on mood disorders involved mixed populations and did not make a distinction as to whether an individual with a mood disorder had MDD or BD. The two largest studies on COVID-19-related mortality risk in patients with BD to date (42, 155) only included around 500 patients. This is an important limitation given the possible differential impact of COVID-19-related mortality risk across SMIs. Therefore, more studies are needed that present separate data for patients with BD and MDD to gain a better estimate of true COVID-19-related mortality risks associated with these groups of people with SMI. Control groups also varied across studies: some control groups excluded patients with psychiatric disorders, while others included non-SMI disorders. Finally, most studies did not provide detailed patient sociodemographic characteristics (i.c., mean/median age, gender), or other detailed information on clinical/psychiatric variables (such as severity and status of the disease), and smoking histories. Future studies therefore should further explore these issues to better understand which specific patients are at an increased risk of COVID-19related mortality.

CONCLUSION

Even without taking COVID-19 into account, people with SMI already have a two to three times higher mortality rate

REFERENCES

- McIntyre RS, Berk M, Brietzke E, Goldstein BI, López-Jaramillo C, Kessing LV, et al. Bipolar disorders. *Lancet.* (2020) 396:1841–56. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31544-0
- Malhi GS, Mann JJ. Depression. Lancet. (2018) 392:2299–312. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31948-2
- Owen MJ, Sawa A, Mortensen PB. Schizophrenia. Lancet. (2016) 388:86–97. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01121-6
- Correll CU, Detraux J, De Lepeleire J, De Hert M. Effects of antipsychotics, antidepressants and mood stabilizers on risk for physical diseases in people with schizophrenia, depression and bipolar disorder. *World Psychiatry*. (2015) 14:119–36. doi: 10.1002/wps.20204

than the general population, largely attributable to somatic comorbidities. Our review has shown that individuals with SMI, particularly patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders, are at significantly higher risk of COVID-19-related mortality, not only due to higher somatic comorbidity rates and the possible use of psychotropic medication, but also to unknown factors at the moment that will have to be explored in future research. Severe mental illness therefore should be identified as a separate, independent risk factor for a more severe clinical course when infected with COVID-19 and targeted as a high-risk population. Consequently, targeted interventions to maximize vaccination uptake among these people should be prioritized in health policy worldwide.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JD: search and analysis. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to thank Krizia Tuand and Thomas Vandendriessche, the biomedical reference librarians of the KU Leuven Libraries—2Bergen—Learning Centre Désiré Collen (Leuven, Belgium), for their help in conducting the systematic literature search.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2021.798554/full#supplementary-material

- Hayes JF, Miles J, Walters K, King M, Osborn DP. A systematic and metaanalysis of premature mortality in bipolar affective disorder. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2015) 131:417–25. doi: 10.1111/acps.12408
- Laursen TM, Musliner KL, Benros ME, Vestergaard M, Munk-Olsen Mortality and life expectancy in persons with severe unipolar depression. J Affect Disord. (2016) 193:203–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2015.12.067
- Walker ER, McGee RE, Druss BG. Mortality in mental disorders and global disease burden implications: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2015) 72:334–41. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2014.2502
- Liu NH, Daumit GL, Dua T, Aquila R, Charlson F, Cuijpers P, et al. Excess mortality in persons with severe mental disorders: a multilevel intervention framework and priorities for clinical practice, policy and research agendas. *World Psychiatry*. (2017) 16:30–40. doi: 10.1002/wps.20384

- De Hert M, Detraux J. Reversing the downward spiral for people with severe mental illness through educational innovations. *World Psychiatry*. (2017) 16:41–2. doi: 10.1002/wps.20377
- De Hert M, Correll CU, Bobes J, Cetkovich-Bakmas M, Cohen D, Asai I, et al. Physical illness in patients with severe mental disorders. I. Prevalence, impact of medications and disparities in health care. *World Psychiatry*. (2011) 10:52–77. doi: 10.1002/j.2051-5545.2011.tb 00014.x
- 11. Kohn L, Christiaens W, Detraux J, De Lepeleire J, De Hert M, Gillain B, et al. Barriers to somatic health care for persons with severe mental illness in Belgium: a qualitative study of patients' and healthcare professionals' perspectives. *Front Psychiatry*. (2021). doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.798530. [Epub ahead of print].
- 12. De Hert M, Detraux J, Vancampfort D. Impact of medication effects on physical health. In: Corrigan PW, Ballentine SL, editors. *Health and Wellness in People Living with Serious Mental Illness*. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association Publishing (2021). p. 103–29.
- De Hert M, Cohen D, Bobes J, Cetkovich-Bakmas M, Leucht S, Ndetei DM, et al. Physical illness in patients with severe mental disorders. II. Barriers to care, monitoring and treatment guidelines, plus recommendations at the system and individual level. *World Psychiatry.* (2011) 10:138–51. doi: 10.1002/j.2051-5545.2011.tb0 0036.x
- Kim SW, Park WY, Jhon M, Kim M, Lee JY, Kim SY, et al. Physical health literacy and health related behaviors in patients with psychosis. *Clin Psychopharmacol Neurosci.* (2019) 17:279–87. doi: 10.9758/cpn.2019.17 .2.279
- 15. Sheffield Karcher NR, Barch DM. Cognitive IM, deficits in psychotic disorders: lifespan perspective. а Neuropsychol Rev. (2018) 28:509-33. doi: 10.1007/s11065-018-9388-2
- Tempelaar WM, Termorshuizen F, MacCabe JH, Boks MPM, Kahn RS. Educational achievement in psychiatric patients and their siblings: a register-based study in 30 000 individuals in the Netherlands. *Psychol Med.* (2017) 47:776–84. doi: 10.1017/S0033291716 002877
- Dickerson FB, Kreyenbuhl J, Goldberg RW, Fang L, Medoff D, Brown CH, et al. A 5-year follow-up of diabetes knowledge in persons with serious mental illness and type 2 diabetes. J Clin Psychiatry. (2009) 70:1057–8. doi: 10.4088/jcp.08l04602
- Isohanni I, Jones PB, Järvelin MR, Nieminen P, Rantakallio P, Jokelainen J, et al. Educational consequences of mental disorders treated in hospital. A 31-year follow-up of the Northern Finland 1966 Birth Cohort. *Psychol Med.* (2001) 31:339–49. doi: 10.1017/s0033291701 00304x
- Desforges M, Le Coupanec A, Dubeau P, Bourgouin A, Lajoie L, Dubé M, et al. Human coronaviruses and other respiratory viruses: underestimated opportunistic pathogens of the central nervous system? *Viruses*. (2019) 12:14. doi: 10.3390/v12010014
- Uversky VN, Elrashdy F, Aljadawi A, Ali SM, Khan RH, Redwan EM. Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 infection reaches the human nervous system: how? *J Neurosci Res.* (2021) 99:750–77. doi: 10.1002/jnr. 24752
- Yassin A, Nawaiseh M, Shaban A, Alsherbini K, El-Salem K, Soudah O, et al. Neurological manifestations and complications of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Neurol.* (2021) 21:138. doi: 10.1186/s12883-021-0 2161-4
- Liu C, Martins AJ, Lau WW, Rachmaninoff N, Chen J, Imberti L, et al. Time-resolved systems immunology reveals a late juncture linked to fatal COVID-19. *Cell.* (2021) 184:1836.e22–57.e22. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2021.02.018
- Ni W, Yang X, Yang D, Bao J, Li R, Xiao Y, et al. Role of angiotensinconverting enzyme 2 (ACE2) in COVID-19. *Crit Care.* (2020) 24:422. doi: 10.1186/s13054-020-03120-0
- Maury A, Lyoubi A, Peiffer-Smadja N, de Broucker T, Meppiel E. Neurological manifestations associated with SARS-CoV-2 and other coronaviruses: a narrative review for clinicians. *Rev*

Neurol (Paris). (2021) 177:51-64. doi: 10.1016/j.neurol.2020. 10.001

- Schirinzi T, Landi D, Liguori C. COVID-19: dealing with a potential risk factor for chronic neurological disorders. J Neurol. (2021) 268:1171–8. doi: 10.1007/s00415-020-10131-y
- Cagnazzo F, Arquizan C, Derraz I, Dargazanli C, Lefevre PH, Riquelme C, et al. Neurological manifestations of patients infected with the SARS-CoV-2: a systematic review of the literature. J Neurol. (2021) 268:2656–65. doi: 10.1007/s00415-020-1 0285-9
- Collantes MEV, Espiritu AI, Sy MCC, Anlacan VMM, Jamora RDG. Neurological manifestations in COVID-19 infection: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Can J Neurol Sci.* (2021) 48:66–76. doi: 10.1017/cjn.2020.146
- Taquet M, Geddes JR, Husain M, Luciano S, Harrison PJ. 6-month neurological and psychiatric outcomes in 236 379 survivors of COVID-19: a retrospective cohort study using electronic health records. *Lancet Psychiatry.* (2021) 8:416–27. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(21)0 0084-5
- 29. Schurink B, Roos E, Radonic T, Barbe E, Bouman CSC, de Boer HH, et al. Viral presence and immunopathology in patients with lethal COVID-19: a prospective autopsy cohort study. *Lancet Microbe*. (2020) 1:e290–9. doi: 10.1016/S2666-5247(20)30144-0
- Douaud G, Lee S, Alfaro-Almagro F, Arthofer C, Wang C, Lange F, et al. Brain imaging before and after COVID-19 in UK Biobank. *medRxiv* [*Preprint*]. (2021) 2021.06.11.21258690. doi: 10.1101/2021.06.11.212 58690
- Roy D, Ghosh R, Dubey S, Dubey MJ, Benito-León J, Kanti Ray B. Neurological and neuropsychiatric impacts of COVID-19 pandemic. *Can J Neurol Sci.* (2021) 48:9–24. doi: 10.1017/cjn.2020.173
- Rajkumar RP. Cross-national variations in COVID-19 mortality: the role of diet, obesity and depression. *Diseases*. (2021) 9:36. doi: 10.3390/diseases9020036
- 33. Yang H, Chen W, Hu Y, Chen Y, Zeng Y, Sun Y, et al. Prepandemic psychiatric disorders and risk of COVID-19: a UK Biobank cohort analysis. *Lancet Healthy Longev.* (2020) 1:e69–79. doi: 10.1016/S2666-7568(20)30013-1
- Brown E, Gray R, Lo Monaco S, O'Donoghue B, Nelson B, Thompson A, et al. The potential impact of COVID-19 on psychosis: a rapid review of contemporary epidemic and pandemic research. *Schizophr Res.* (2020) 222:79–87. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2020.05.005
- Dinakaran D, Manjunatha N, Naveen Kumar C, Suresh BM. Neuropsychiatric aspects of COVID-19 pandemic: a selective review. Asian J Psychiatr. (2020) 53:102188. doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2020. 102188
- 36. Vai B, Mazza MG, Delli Colli C, Foiselle M, Allen B, Benedetti F, et al. Mental disorders and risk of COVID-19-related mortality, hospitalisation, and intensive care unit admission: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2021) 8:797–812. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(21)0 0232-7
- Fond G, Nemani K, Etchecopar-Etchart D, Loundou A, Goff DC, Lee SW, et al. Association between mental health disorders and mortality among patients with covid-19 in 7 countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2021) 78:1208–17. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.20 21.2274
- Ceban F, Nogo D, Carvalho IP, Lee Y, Nasri F, Xiong J, et al. Association between mood disorders and risk of COVID-19 infection, hospitalization, and death: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Psychiatry.* (2021) 2021:e211818. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2021.1818
- Liu L, Ni SY, Yan W, Lu QD, Zhao YM, Xu YY, et al. Mental and neurological disorders and risk of COVID-19 susceptibility, illness severity and mortality: a systematic review, meta-analysis and call for action. *EClinicalMedicine*. (2021) 40:101111. doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2021.101111
- Toubasi AA, AbuAnzeh RB, Tawileh HBA, Aldebei RH, Alryalat SAS. A meta-analysis: the mortality and severity of COVID-19 among patients with mental disorders. *Psychiatry Res.* (2021) 299:113856. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2021.1 13856

- Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *BMJ*. (2021) 372:n71. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n71
- Barcella CA, Polcwiartek C, Mohr GH, Hodges G, Søndergaard K, Niels Bang C, et al. Severe mental illness is associated with increased mortality and severe course of COVID-19. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2021) 144:82–91. doi: 10.1111/acps. 13309
- Nemani K, Li C, Olfson M, Blessing EM, Razavian N, Chen J, et al. Association of psychiatric disorders with mortality among patients with COVID-19. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2021) 78:380–6. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2020.4442
- Tzur Bitan D, Krieger I, Kridin K, Komantscher D, Scheinman Y, Weinstein O, et al. COVID-19 prevalence and mortality among schizophrenia patients: a large-scale retrospective cohort study. *Schizophr Bull.* (2021) 47:1211–7. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbab012
- Jeon HL, Kwon JS, Park SH, Shin JY. Association of mental disorders with SARS-CoV-2 infection and severe health outcomes: nationwide cohort study. *Br J Psychiatry.* (2021) 2021:1–8. doi: 10.1192/bjp.20 20.251
- Egede C, Dawson AZ, Walker RJ, Garacci E, Campbell JA, Egede LE. Relationship between mental health diagnoses and COVID-19 test positivity, hospitalization, and mortality in Southeast Wisconsin. *Psychol Med.* (2021) 2021:1–269. doi: 10.1017/S0033291721002312
- Fond G, Pauly V, Orleans V, Antonini F, Fabre C, Sanz M, et al. Increased in-hospital mortality from COVID-19 in patients with schizophrenia. *Encephale.* (2021) 47:89–95. doi: 10.1016/j.encep.2020. 07.003
- Fond G, Pauly V, Leone M, Llorca PM, Orleans V, Loundou A, et al. Disparities in intensive care unit admission and mortality among patients with schizophrenia and COVID-19: a national cohort study. *Schizophr Bull.* (2021) 47:624–34. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbaa158
- 49. Reilev M, Kristensen KB, Pottegård A, Lund LC, Hallas J, Ernst MT, et al. Characteristics and predictors of hospitalization and death in the first 11 122 cases with a positive RT-PCR test for SARS-CoV-2 in Denmark: a nationwide cohort. *Int J Epidemiol.* (2020) 49:1468–81. doi: 10.1093/ije/d yaa140
- Poblador-Plou B, Carmona-Pírez J, Ioakeim-Skoufa I, Poncel-Falcó A, Bliek-Bueno K, Cano-Del Pozo M, et al. Baseline chronic comorbidity and mortality in laboratory-confirmed COVID-19 cases: results from the PRECOVID Study in Spain. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2020) 17:5171. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17145171
- Castro VM, Gunning FM, McCoy TH, Perlis RH. Mood disorders and outcomes of covid-19 hospitalizations. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2021) 178:541–7. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2020.20060842
- Diez-Quevedo C, Iglesias-González M, Giralt-López M, Rangil T, Sanagustin D, Moreira M, et al. Mental disorders, psychopharmacological treatments, and mortality in 2150 COVID-19 Spanish inpatients. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2021) 143:526–34. doi: 10.1111/acps.13304
- Wang Q, Xu R, Volkow ND. Increased risk of COVID-19 infection and mortality in people with mental disorders: analysis from electronic health records in the United States. *World Psychiatry.* (2021) 20:124–30. doi: 10.1002/wps.20806
- 54. Das-Munshi J, Chang KC, Bakolis I, Broadbent M, Dregan A, Hotopf M. All-cause and cause-specific mortality in people with mental disorders and intellectual disabilities, before and during the COVID-19 pandemic: cohort study. *Lancet Reg Health Eur.* (2021) 11:100228. doi: 10.1016/j.lanepe.2021.100228
- 55. Maripuu M, Bendix M, Öhlund L, Widerström M, Werneke U. Death associated with coronavirus (covid-19) infection in individuals with severe mental disorders in Sweden during the early months of the outbreak-an exploratory cross-sectional analysis of a population-based register study. *Front Psychiatry*. (2021) 11:609579. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.609579
- De Picker LJ. Closing COVID-19 mortality, vaccination, and evidence gaps for those with severe mental illness. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2021) 8:854–5. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(21)00291-1
- 57. Pijls BG, Jolani S, Atherley A, Derckx RT, Dijkstra JIR, Franssen GHL, et al. Demographic risk factors for COVID-19 infection, severity, ICU admission

and death: a meta-analysis of 59 studies. BMJ Open. (2021) 11:e044640. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-044640

- Bae S, Kim SR, Kim MN, Shim WJ, Park SM. Impact of cardiovascular disease and risk factors on fatal outcomes in patients with COVID-19 according to age: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Heart.* (2021) 107:373–80. doi: 10.1136/heartjnl-2020-317901
- 59. Silverio A, Di Maio M, Citro R, Esposito L, Iuliano G, Bellino M, et al. Cardiovascular risk factors and mortality in hospitalized patients with COVID-19: systematic review and meta-analysis of 45 studies and 18,300 patients. *BMC Cardiovasc Disord.* (2021) 21:23. doi: 10.1186/s12872-020-01816-3
- Liu Y, Lu H, Wang W, Liu Q, Zhu C. Clinical risk factors for mortality in patients with cancer and COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis of recent observational studies. *Expert Rev Anticancer Ther.* (2021) 21:107–19. doi: 10.1080/14737140.2021.1 837628
- Zhang L, Hou J, Ma FZ Li J, Xue S, Xu ZG. The common risk factors for progression and mortality in COVID-19 patients: a metaanalysis. Arch Virol. (2021) 166:2071–87. doi: 10.1007/s00705-021-0 5012-2
- Corona G, Pizzocaro A, Vena W, Rastrelli G, Semeraro F, Isidori AM, et al. Diabetes is most important cause for mortality in COVID-19 hospitalized patients: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord.* (2021) 22:275–96. doi: 10.1007/s11154-021-0 9630-8
- 63. Jordan RE, Adab P, Cheng KK. Covid-19: risk factors for severe disease and death. *BMJ*. (2020) 368:m1198. doi: 10.1136/bmj.m1198
- Laursen TM. Causes of premature mortality in schizophrenia: a review of literature published in 2018. *Curr Opin Psychiatry.* (2019) 32:388–93. doi: 10.1097/YCO.000000000 000530
- Eyler LT, Jeste DV. Aging of the body and the brain in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res. (2018) 196:1–3. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2017.11.036
- 66. De Picker LJ, Yolken R, Benedetti F, Borsini A, Branchi I, Fusar-Poli P, et al. ECNP Immuno-NeuroPsychiatry TWG. Viewpoint | European COVID-19 exit strategy for people with severe mental disorders: too little, but not yet too late. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2021) 94:15–7. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2021.01.008
- Lin CW, Chang LC, Ma T, Oh H, French B, Puralewski R, et al. Older molecular brain age in severe mental illness. *Mol Psychiatry.* (2020) 10.1038/s41380-020-0834-1. doi: 10.1038/s41380-020-0834-1
- Karanth S, Fowler ME, Mao X, Wilson LE, Huang B, Pisu M, et al. Race, socioeconomic status, and health-care access disparities in ovarian cancer treatment and mortality: systematic review and meta-analysis. *JNCI Cancer Spectr.* (2019) 3:pkz084. doi: 10.1093/jncics/pkz084
- Hawkins RB, Charles EJ, Mehaffey JH. Socio-economic status and COVID-19-related cases and fatalities. *Public Health.* (2020) 189:129–34. doi: 10.1016/j.puhe.2020.09.016
- Gaglioti AH, Li C, Douglas MD, Baltrus PT, Blount MA, Zahidi R, et al. Population-level disparities in COVID-19: measuring the independent association of the proportion of black population on COVID-19 cases and deaths in US counties. *J Public Health Manag Pract.* (2021) 27:268–77. doi: 10.1097/PHH.00000000001354
- Brody BD, Parish SJ, Kanellopoulos D, Russ MJ, A. COVID-19 testing and triage algorithm for psychiatric units: one hospital's response to the New York region's pandemic. *Psychiatry Res.* (2020) 291:113244. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113244
- Rojnic Kuzman M, Vahip S, Fiorillo A, Beezhold J, Pinto da Costa M, Skugarevsky O, et al. Mental health services during the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic in Europe: results from the EPA Ambassadors Survey and implications for clinical practice. *Eur Psychiatry*. (2021) 64:e41. doi: 10.1192/j.eurpsy.2021.2215
- Rabbani G, Shariful Islam SM, Rahman MA, Amin N, Marzan B, Robin RC, et al. Pre-existing COPD is associated with an increased risk of mortality and severity in COVID-19: a rapid systematic review and meta-analysis. *Expert Rev Respir Med.* (2021) 15:705–16. doi: 10.1080/17476348.2021.1866547
- 74. Alqahtani JS, Oyelade T, Aldhahir AM, Alghamdi SM, Almehmadi M, Alqahtani AS, et al. Prevalence, severity and mortality associated

with COPD and smoking in patients with COVID-19: a rapid systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE.* (2020) 15:e0233147. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0233147

- Rosenthal N, Cao Z, Gundrum J, Sianis J, Safo S. Risk factors associated with in-hospital mortality in a US national sample of patients with COVID-19. *JAMA Netw Open.* (2020) 3:e2029058. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.29058
- Bajgain KT, Badal S, Bajgain BB, Santana MJ. Prevalence of comorbidities among individuals with COVID-19: a rapid review of current literature. *Am J Infect Control.* (2021) 49:238–46. doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2020.06.213
- CDC COVID-19 Response Team. Preliminary estimates of the prevalence of selected underlying health conditions among patients with coronavirus disease 2019 - United States, February 12-March 28, 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. (2020) 69:382–6. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6913e2
- Shinn AK, Viron M. Perspectives on the COVID-19 pandemic and individuals with serious 14 mental illness. J Clin Psychiatry. (2020) 81:20com13412. doi: 10.4088/JCP.20com13412
- Nemani K, Conderino S, Marx J, Thorpe LE, Goff DC. Association between antipsychotic use and COVID-19 mortality among people with serious mental illness. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2021) e212503. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2021.2503
- Haga T, Ito K, Sakashita K, Iguchi M, Ono M, Tatsumi K. Risk factors for pneumonia in patients with schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacol Rep.* (2018) 38:204–9. doi: 10.1002/npr2.12034
- Yang SY, Liao YT, Liu HC, Chen WJ, Chen CC, Kuo CJ. Antipsychotic drugs, mood stabilizers, and risk of pneumonia in bipolar disorder: a nationwide case-control study. *J Clin Psychiatry*. (2013) 74:e79–86. doi: 10.4088/JCP.12m07938
- Kuo CJ, Yang SY, Liao YT, Chen WJ, Lee WC, Shau WY, et al. Second-generation antipsychotic medications and risk of pneumonia in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2013) 39:648–57. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbr202
- May M, Slitzky M, Rostama B, Barlow D, Houseknecht KL. Antipsychoticinduced immune dysfunction: a consideration for COVID-19 risk. *Brain Behav Immun Health.* (2020) 6:100097. doi: 10.1016/j.bbih.2020.100097
- Prokopez CR, Vallejos M, Lopredo LS, Sfriso LE, Chiapella LC, Arce C, et al. An analysis of the possible protective effect of antipsychotics for SARS-CoV-2 in patients under treatment for severe mental illnesses. *Schizophr Res.* (2021) 233:99–100. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2021.06.019
- Moga S, Teodorescu A, Ifteni P, Gavris C, Petric PS. Inflammatory response in SARS-CoV-2 infection of patients with schizophrenia and longterm antipsychotic treatment. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat.* (2021) 17:3053– 60. https://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S325062
- Plaze M, Attali D, Prot M, Petit AC, Blatzer M, Vinckier F, et al. Inhibition of the replication of SARS-CoV-2 in human cells by the FDAapproved drug chlorpromazine. *Int J Antimicrob Agents*. (2021) 57:106274. doi: 10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2020.106274
- Plaze M, Attali D, Petit AC, Blatzer M, Simon-Loriere E, Vinckier F, et al. Repurposing chlorpromazine to treat COVID-19: the reCoVery study. *Encephale.* (2020) 46:169–72. doi: 10.1016/j.encep.2020.05.006
- Vaugeois J-M. Psychotropics drugs with cationic amphiphilic properties may afford some protection against SARS-CoV-2: a mechanistic hypothesis. *Psychiatry Res.* (2020) 291:113220. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113220
- Brimson JM, Prasanth MI, Malar DS, Brimson S, Thitilertdecha P, Tencomnao T. Drugs that offer the potential to reduce hospitalization and mortality from SARS-CoV-2 infection: the possible role of the sigma-1 receptor and autophagy. *Expert Opin Ther Targets*. (2021) 25:435–49. doi: 10.1080/14728222.2021.1952987
- Gordon DE, Jang GM, Bouhaddou M, Xu J, Obernier K, White KM, et al. A SARS-CoV-2 protein interaction map reveals targets for drug repurposing. *Nature*. (2020) 583:459–68. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2286-9
- Hoertel N, Sánchez-Rico M, Vernet R, Jannot AS, Neuraz A, Blanco C, et al. AP-HP/Universities/INSERM Covid-19 research collaboration and AP-HP Covid CDR Initiative. Observational study of haloperidol in hospitalized patients with COVID-19. *PLoS ONE*. (2021) 16:e0247122. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0247122
- 92. Landén M, Larsson H, Lichtenstein P, Westin J, Song J. Respiratory infections during lithium and valproate medication: a within-individual prospective

study of 50,000 patients with bipolar disorder. Int J Bipolar Disord. (2021) 9:4. doi: 10.1186/s40345-020-00208-y

- Murru A, Manchia M, Hajek T, Nielsen RE, Rybakowski JK, Sani G, et al. International Group for The Study of Lithium Treated Patients (IGSLi). Lithium's antiviral effects: a potential drug for CoViD-19 disease?. Int J Bipolar Disord. (2020) 8:21. doi: 10.1186/s40345-020-00191-4
- 94. Qaswal AB, Suleiman A, Guzu H, Harb T, Atiyat B. The potential role of lithium as an antiviral agent against SARS-CoV-2 via membrane depolarization: review and hypothesis. *Sci Pharm.* (2021) 89:11. doi: 10.3390/scipharm89010011
- Rajkumar RP. Lithium as a candidate treatment for COVID-19: promises and pitfalls. Drug Dev Res. (2020) 81:782–5. doi: 10.1002/ddr.21701
- Kornhuber J, Rhein C, Müller CP, Mühle C. Secretory sphingomyelinase in health and disease. *Biol Chem.* (2015) 396:707–36. doi: 10.1515/hsz-2015-0109
- Carpinteiro A, Edwards MJ, Hoffmann M, Kochs G, Gripp B, Weigang S, et al. Pharmacological inhibition of acid sphingomyelinase prevents uptake of SARS-CoV-2 by epithelial cells. *Cell Rep Med.* (2020) 1:100142. doi: 10.1016/j.xcrm.2020.100142
- Carpinteiro A, Gripp B, Hoffmann M, Pöhlmann S, Hoertel N, Edwards MJ, et al. Inhibition of acid sphingomyelinase by ambroxol prevents SARS-CoV-2 entry into epithelial cells. J Biol Chem. (2021) 296:100701. doi: 10.1016/j.jbc.2021.100701
- 99. Hoertel N, Sánchez-Rico M, Cougoule C, Gulbins E, Kornhuber J, Carpinteiro A, et al. Repurposing antidepressants inhibiting the sphingomyelinase acid/ceramide system against COVID-19: current evidence and potential mechanisms. *Mol Psychiatry.* (2021) 2021:1–2. doi: 10.1038/s41380-021-01254-3
- 100. Hoertel N, Sánchez-Rico M, Gulbins E, Kornhuber J, Carpinteiro A, Lenze EJ, et al. AP-HP/Université de Paris/INSERM COVID-19 research collaboration, AP-HP COVID CDR Initiative, "Entrepôt de Données de Santé" AP-HP Consortium. Association between FIASMAs and reduced risk of intubation or death in individuals hospitalized for severe COVID-19: an observational multicenter study. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* (2021) 110:1498–1511. doi: 10.1002/cpt.2317
- 101. Hoertel N, Sánchez-Rico M, Vernet R, Beeker N, Jannot AS, Neuraz A, et al. AP-HP/Universities/INSERM COVID-19 Research Collaboration and AP-HP COVID CDR Initiative. Association between antidepressant use and reduced risk of intubation or death in hospitalized patients with COVID-19: results from an observational study. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2021) 26:5199–5212. doi: 10.1038/s41380-021-01021-4
- 102. Darquennes G, Le Corre P, Le Moine O, Loas G. Association between functional inhibitors of acid sphingomyelinase (FIASMAs) and reduced risk of death in COVID-19 patients: a retrospective cohort study. *Pharmaceuticals (Basel)*. (2021) 14:226. doi: 10.3390/ph14030226
- Seftel D, Boulware DR. Prospective cohort of fluvoxamine for early treatment of coronavirus disease 19. Open Forum Infect Dis. (2021) 8:ofab050. doi: 10.1093/ofid/ofab050
- 104. Lenze EJ, Mattar C, Zorumski CF, Stevens A, Schweiger J, Nicol GE, et al. Fluvoxamine vs placebo and clinical deterioration in outpatients with symptomatic COVID-19: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA*. (2020) 324:2292–300. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020. 22760
- 105. Sukhatme VP, Reiersen AM, Vayttaden SJ, Sukhatme VV. Fluvoxamine: a review of its mechanism of action and its role in COVID-19. Front Pharmacol. (2021) 12:652688. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2021.652688
- 106. Salles J, Briand-Mésange F, Trudel S, Ausseil J, Salles JP, Chap H. Can antidepressants unlock prescription of rimonabant in the fight against COVID-19? *Mol Psychiatry.* (2021) 2021:1–2. doi: 10.1038/s41380-021-01221-y
- Stip E, Arnone D, Abdel Aziz K, Javaid SF. Diversity of mechanism of action of psychotropic drugs in their anti-COVID-19 properties. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2021) 2021:1–5. doi: 10.1038/s41380-021-01222-x
- 108. McQueenie R, Foster HME, Jani BD, Katikireddi SV, Sattar N, Pell JP, et al. Multimorbidity, polypharmacy, and COVID-19 infection within the UK Biobank cohort. *PLoS ONE.* (2020) 15:e0238091. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0238091

- 109. Bergendal A, Schiöler H, Wettermark B, Björkstén KS. Concomitant use of two or more antipsychotic drugs is common in Sweden. *Ther Adv Psychopharmacol.* (2015) 5:224–31. doi: 10.1177/2045125315588647
- 110. Kadra G, Stewart R, Shetty H, MacCabe JH, Chang CK, Taylor D, et al. Longterm antipsychotic polypharmacy prescribing in secondary mental health care and the risk of mortality. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2018) 138:123–32. doi: 10.1111/acps.12906
- 111. Buhagiar K, Templeton G, Blyth H, Dey M, Giacco D. Mortality risk from long-term treatment with antipsychotic polypharmacy vs monotherapy among adults with serious mental illness: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Schizophr Res.* (2020) S223:18–28. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2020.08.026
- 112. Tiihonen J, Mittendorfer-Rutz E, Torniainen M, Alexanderson K, Tanskanen A. Mortality and cumulative exposure to antipsychotics, antidepressants, and benzodiazepines in patients with schizophrenia: an observational follow-up study. *Am J Psychiatry.* (2016) 173:600–6. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2015.15050618
- 113. Sun GQ, Zhang L, Zhang LN, Wu Z, Hu DF. Benzodiazepines or related drugs and risk of pneumonia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. (2019) 34:513–21. doi: 10.1002/gps.5048
- 114. Caroff DA, Szumita PM, Klompas M. The relationship between sedatives, sedative strategy, and healthcare-associated infection: a systematic review. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol.* (2016) 37:1234–42. doi: 10.1017/ice.2016.129
- 115. Huang KH, Tai CJ, Kuan YH, Chang YC, Tsai TH, Lee CY. Pneumonia risk associated with the use of individual benzodiazepines and benzodiazepine related drugs among the elderly with Parkinson's Disease. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 18:9410. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18179410
- 116. Taipale H, Tolppanen AM, Koponen M, Tanskanen A, Lavikainen P, Sund R, et al. Risk of pneumonia associated with incident benzodiazepine use among community-dwelling adults with Alzheimer disease. CMAJ. (2017) 189:E519–29. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.160126
- 117. Gatti M, De Ponti F, Pea F. Clinically significant drug interactions between psychotropic agents and repurposed COVID-19 therapies. CNS Drugs. (2021) 35:345–84. doi: 10.1007/s40263-021-00811-2
- University of Liverpool. COVID-19 Drug Interactions. Available online at: https://www.covid19-druginteractions.org/checker. (accessed December 18, 2021).
- Momtazmanesh S, Zare-Shahabadi A, Rezaei N. Cytokine alterations in schizophrenia: an updated review. *Front Psychiatry*. (2019) 10:892. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00892
- Mohan M, Perry BI, Saravanan P, Singh SP. COVID-19 in people with schizophrenia: potential mechanisms linking schizophrenia to poor prognosis. *Front Psychiatry*. (2021) 12:666067. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.666067
- Mukaetova-Ladinska EB, Kronenberg G. Psychological and neuropsychiatric implications of COVID-19. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. (2021) 271:235–48. doi: 10.1007/s00406-020-01210-2
- 122. Rizvi S, Danic M, Silver M, LaBond V. Cytosorb filter: an adjunct for survival in the COVID-19 patient in cytokine storm? A case report. *Heart Lung.* (2021) 50:44–50. doi: 10.1016/j.hrtlng.2020.09.007
- 123. Ye Q, Wang B, Mao J. The pathogenesis and treatment of the 'Cytokine Storm' in COVID-19. J Infect. (2020) 80:607–13. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2020.03.037
- 124. Kar SK, Verma P, Verma SK, Saxena SK. Mental illnesses among COVID-19 patients: possible immunological underpinnings. *Asian J Psychiatr.* (2020) 53:102376. doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2020.102376
- Kim SW, Su KP. Using psychoneuroimmunity against COVID-19. Brain Behav Immun. (2020) 87:4–5. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.03.025
- Liu F, Li L, Xu M, Wu J, Luo D, Zhu Y, et al. Prognostic value of interleukin-6, C-reactive protein, and procalcitonin in patients with COVID-19. J Clin Virol. (2020) 127:104370. doi: 10.1016/j.jcv.2020.104370
- 127. Tizabi Y, Getachew B, Copeland RL, Aschner M. Nicotine and the nicotinic cholinergic system in COVID-19. FEBS J. (2020) 287:3656–63. doi: 10.1111/febs.15521
- Rowaiye AB, Okpalefe OA, Onuh Adejoke O, Ogidigo JO, Hannah Oladipo O, Ogu AC, et al. Attenuating the effects of novel COVID-19 (SARS-CoV-2) infection-induced cytokine storm and the implications. *J Inflamm Res.* (2021) 14:1487–510. doi: 10.2147/JIR.S301784

- 129. Moradian N, Gouravani M, Salehi MA, Heidari A, Shafeghat M, Hamblin MR, et al. Cytokine release syndrome: inhibition of pro-inflammatory cytokines as a solution for reducing COVID-19 mortality. *Eur Cytokine Netw.* (2020) 31:81–93. doi: 10.1684/ecn.2020.0451
- 130. Bao C, Tao X, Cui W, Hao Y, Zheng S, Yi B, et al. Natural killer cells associated with SARS-CoV-2 viral RNA shedding, antibody response and mortality in COVID-19 patients. *Exp Hematol Oncol.* (2021) 10:5. doi: 10.1186/s40164-021-00199-1
- 131. Market M, Angka L, Martel AB, Bastin D, Olanubi O, Tennakoon G, et al. Flattening the COVID-19 curve with natural killer cell based immunotherapies. *Front Immunol.* (2020) 11:1512. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01512
- 132. Manickam C, Sugawara S, Reeves RK. Friends or foes? The knowns and unknowns of natural killer cell biology in COVID-19 and other coronaviruses in July 2020. *PLoS Pathog.* (2020) 16:e1008820. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1008820
- 133. Vignesh R, Swathirajan CR, Tun ZH, Rameshkumar MR, Solomon SS, Balakrishnan P. Could perturbation of gut microbiota possibly exacerbate the severity of COVID-19 via cytokine storm? *Front Immunol.* (2021) 11:607734. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.607734
- 134. Nguyen TT, Kosciolek T, Eyler LT, Knight R, Jeste DV. Overview and systematic review of studies of microbiome in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. J Psychiatr Res. (2018) 99:50–61. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2018.01.013
- 135. The Lancet Psychiatry. A matter of priority: COVID-19 vaccination and mental health. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2021) 8:551. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(21)00209-1
- De Hert M, Mazereel V, Detraux J, Van Assche K. Prioritizing COVID-19 vaccination for people with severe mental illness. *World Psychiatry*. (2021) 20:54–5. doi: 10.1002/wps.20826
- Mazereel V, Van Assche K, Detraux J, De Hert M. COVID-19 vaccination for people with severe mental illness: why, what, and how? *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2021) 8:444–50. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30564-2
- Tzur Bitan D, Kridin K, Cohen AD, Weinstein O. COVID-19 hospitalisation, mortality, vaccination, and postvaccination trends among people with schizophrenia in Israel: a longitudinal cohort study. *Lancet Psychiatry.* (2021) 8:901–8. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(21)00256-X
- 139. Curtis HJ, Inglesby P, Morton CE, MacKenna B, Walker AJ, Morley J, et al. Trends and clinical characteristics of COVID-19 vaccine recipients: a federated analysis of 57.9 million patients' primary care records *in situ* using OpenSAFELY. *MedRxiv*. (2021) 01.25.21250356. doi: 10.1101/2021.01.25.21250356
- 140. De Picker LJ, Dias MC, Benros ME, Vai B, Branchi I, Benedetti F, et al. Severe mental illness and European COVID-19 vaccination strategies. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2021) 8:356–9. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(21)00046-8
- 141. Brewer NT, Abad N. Ways that mental health professionals can encourage COVID-19 vaccination. JAMA Psychiatry. (2021). doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2021.2951
- 142. Beste LA, Chen A, Geyer J, Wilson M, Schuttner L, Wheat C, et al. Best practices for an equitable Covid-19 vaccination program. *NEJM Catal Innov Care Deliv.* (2021) 2:238. doi: 10.1056/CAT.21.0238
- 143. Mazereel V, Vanbrabant T, Desplenter F, De Hert M. COVID-19 vaccine uptake in patients with psychiatric disorders admitted to or residing in a university psychiatric hospital. *Lancet Psychiatry.* (2021) 8:860–1. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(21)00301-1
- 144. Jefsen OH, Kølbæk P, Gil Y, Speed M, Dinesen PT, Sønderskov KM, et al. COVID-19 vaccine willingness amongst patients with mental illness compared with the general population. *Acta Neuropsychiatr.* (2021) 33:273– 6. doi: 10.1017/neu.2021.15
- 145. Danenberg R, Shemesh S, Tzur Bitan D, Maoz H, Saker T, Dror C, et al. Attitudes of patients with severe mental illness towards COVID-19 vaccinations: a preliminary report from a public psychiatric hospital. J Psychiatr Res. (2021) 143:16–20. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2021. 08.020
- 146. Werneke U, Gaughran F, Taylor DM. Vitamin D in the time of the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic a clinical review from a public health and public mental health perspective. *Ther Adv Psychopharmacol.* (2021) 11:20451253211027699. doi: 10.1177/20451253211027699

- 147. Liu N, Sun J, Wang X, Zhang T, Zhao M, Li H. Low vitamin D status is associated with coronavirus disease 2019 outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Infect Dis.* (2021) 104:58–64. doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2020.12.077
- 148. Teshome A, Adane A, Girma B, Mekonnen ZA. The impact of vitamin D Level on COVID-19 infection: systematic review and metaanalysis. *Front Public Health.* (2021) 9:624559. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021. 624559
- Ferrari D, Locatelli M, Briguglio M, Lombardi G. Is there a link between vitamin D status, SARS-CoV-2 infection risk and COVID-19 severity? *Cell Biochem Funct*. (2021) 39:35–47. doi: 10.1002/cbf.3597
- 150. Faniyi AA, Lugg ST, Faustini SE, Webster C, Duffy JE, Hewison M, et al. Vitamin D status and seroconversion for COVID-19 in UK healthcare workers. *Eur Respir J.* (2021) 57:2004234. doi: 10.1183/13993003.042 34-2020
- Viani-Walsh D, Kennedy-Williams S, Taylor D, Gaughran F, Lally J. Vitamin D deficiency in schizophrenia implications for COVID-19 infection. *Ir J Psychol Med.* (2020) 2020:1–10. doi: 10.1017/ipm.2020.107
- 152. Grant WB, Lahore H, McDonnell SL, Baggerly CA, French CB, Aliano JL, et al. Evidence that vitamin D supplementation could reduce risk of influenza and COVID-19 infections and deaths. *Nutrients.* (2020) 12:988. doi: 10.3390/nu12040988
- 153. Fond G, Masson M, Richieri R, Korchia T, Etchecopar-Etchart D, Sunhary de Verville PL, et al. The Covid-19 infection: an opportunity to develop systematic vitamin D supplementation in psychiatry. *Encephale.* (2021) 2021:S0013-7006(21)00057-9. doi: 10.1016/j.encep.2021.02.002

- 154. Shah K, Saxena D, Mavalankar D. Vitamin D supplementation, COVID-19 and disease severity: a meta-analysis. *QJM*. (2021) 114:175–81. doi: 10.1093/qjmed/hcab009
- 155. Fond G, Pauly V, Leone M, Orleans V, Garosi A, Lancon C, et al. Mortality among inpatients with bipolar disorders and COVID-19: a propensity score matching analysis in a national French cohort study. *Psychol Med.* (2021) 2021:1–10. doi: 10.1017/S0033291721003676

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 De Hert, Mazereel, Stroobants, De Picker, Van Assche and Detraux. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Barriers to Somatic Health Care for Persons With Severe Mental Illness in Belgium: A Qualitative Study of Patients' and Healthcare Professionals' Perspectives

Laurence Kohn¹, Wendy Christiaens¹, Johan Detraux², Jan De Lepeleire³, Marc De Hert^{4,5*}, Benoit Gillain⁶, Benjamin Delaunoit⁷, Isabelle Savoye¹, Patriek Mistiaen¹ and Vicky Jespers¹

¹ Belgian Health Care Knowledge Centre, Brussels, Belgium, ² Department of Neurosciences, Public Health Psychiatry, University Psychiatric Center, Catholic University of Leuven, Kortenberg, Belgium, ³ Department of Public Health and Primary Care, Catholic University of Leuven, Leuven, Belgium, ⁴ Department of Neurosciences, Center for Clinical Psychiatry, University Psychiatric Center, Catholic University of Leuven, Kortenberg, Belgium, ⁵ Antwerp Health Law and Ethics Chair, University of Antwerp, Antwerp, Belgium, ⁶ Société Royale de Santé Mentale de Belgique, Ottignies, Belgium, ⁷ Centre Régional Psychiatrique Les Marronniers, Tournai, Belgium

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Andrea Fiorillo, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

Reviewed by:

Stefano Barlati, University of Brescia, Italy Padmavati Ramachandran, Schizophrenia Research Foundation, India

*Correspondence:

Marc De Hert marc.dehert@upckuleuven.be

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychosomatic Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 20 October 2021 Accepted: 03 December 2021 Published: 26 January 2022

Citation:

Kohn L, Christiaens W, Detraux J, De Lepeleire J, De Hert M, Gillain B, Delaunoit B, Savoye I, Mistiaen P and Jespers V (2022) Barriers to Somatic Health Care for Persons With Severe Mental Illness in Belgium: A Qualitative Study of Patients' and Healthcare Professionals' Perspectives. Front. Psychiatry 12:798530. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.798530 **Background:** A huge and still growing mortality gap between people with severe mental illness (SMI) and the general population exists. Physical illnesses, mainly cardiovascular diseases, substantially contribute to the high mortality rates in patients with SMI. Disparities in somatic health care access, utilisation, and provision contribute to these poor physical health outcomes.

Methods: A qualitative study, using semi-structured interviews, was set up to explore SMI patients' and healthcare professionals' perspectives on somatic health care in different psychiatric settings of the three Belgian regions (Flanders, Brussels, Wallonia). Interviews were digitally recorded and transcribed prior to qualitative inductive thematic analysis, using Nvivo software. The COnsolidated criteria for REporting Qualitative research (COREQ) were used for reporting methods and findings.

Results: Collaboration and information flows between psychiatric healthcare professionals, non-psychiatric healthcare professionals, and persons with SMI were troublesome. This seemed to be mainly due to stigma and prejudice and challenging communication and data transfer. Lack of sufficient training and experience to identify and treat somatic health problems in people with SMI (for psychiatrists and psychiatric nurses) and lack of psychiatric knowledge and feeling or sensitivity for psychiatric patients (for non-psychiatric healthcare professionals) further complicated adequate somatic health care. Finally, optimal somatic follow-up of patients with SMI was hampered by organisational problems (unavailability of equipment, unadapted infrastructure, understaffing, hospital pharmacy issues, and insufficient health promotion/lifestyle interventions), patient-related issues (unawareness of physical problems, non-adherence, need for accompaniment) and financial barriers.

60

Conclusion: There is an urgent need for integrated somatic and mental healthcare systems and a cultural change. Psychiatrists and primary care providers continue to consider the mental and physical health of their patients as mutually exclusive responsibilities due to a lack of sufficient training and experience, poor or absent liaison links, time constraints and organisational and financial barriers. Modifying these aspects will improve the quality of somatic health care for these vulnerable patients.

Keywords: physical health, severe mental illness (SMI), health disparities, qualitative research, health care, barriers

BACKGROUND

People with severe mental illness (SMI), usually defined as a psychiatric illness that causes serious functional impairment (i.e., schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, or major depressive disorder), have a two to three times higher mortality rate than the general population (1, 2). This increased mortality rate is observed in both high- and low-income countries (1). Somatic comorbidities, mainly cardiovascular diseases, contribute significantly to this excess mortality (3, 4), even in young adults with SMI (5).

Non-medical factors, including an unhealthy lifestyle (highfat diet, smoking, substance use, lack of physical exercise), and the use of psychotropic medication (particularly antipsychotics) are important risk factors for somatic complications and disorders (2, 6-8). Disparities in somatic health care access, utilisation, and provision may be another cause of the excess mortality due to somatic comorbidities in this vulnerable population. Research has shown that people with SMI often receive fewer physical health screenings and interventions, compared to the general population, even in developed countries (1, 2, 9, 10). Despite clear directions and numerous recommendations over the last decade to improve the quality of somatic health care for people with SMI (1, 10-13), little to no progress has been made. Moreover, it even seems that the mortality gap between people with SMI and the general population is widening (14).

Several patient and illness-, treatment-, healthcare provider-, as well as healthcare system-related factors act as barriers to the recognition and management of somatic comorbidities in patients with SMI (2). A US study (15) showed that lack of awareness of somatic problems, poverty, financial barriers and stigma were primary barriers to oral health care for adult community mental health outpatients with SMI. Cognitive dysfunctions, lack of adherence, lack of integration services, and lack of access to somatic health care have been identified as barriers to appropriate lung cancer (16) and cardiovascular (17, 18) health care among people with SMI. The excess risk of mortality in patients with SMI due to disparities in somatic health, and associated high healthcare costs, make this group of patients an important public health issue that should be addressed (19).

Previous qualitative research (15, 20, 21) indicated that persons with SMI are largely dissatisfied with their somatic health care, due to significant barriers. However, most of this research has been performed in countries with differing healthcare systems from Belgium. The latter is important as Belgium, a country with a population of 11,639,146 (June 2021), has a complex political organisation. It is divided into three highly autonomous regions: Flanders (the Dutch-speaking region in the north), Wallonia (the French-speaking region in the south), and Brussels (the capital, which is officially bilingual). Finally, there is also a minority German-speaking community (in the east of Wallonia). Both federal and regional governments have responsibility for health care in Belgium. The Federal Public Service for Health, Food Chain Safety and the Environment oversees public health care. The regional Flemish, Walloon, and German-speaking communities all have their own administrative healthcare divisions.

AIM OF THE STUDY

The purpose of this study was to identify barriers to somatic health care in the Belgian context by exploring the perspectives on somatic health care of mental healthcare professionals and patients with an SMI in psychiatric settings of different Belgian regions. This study was part of a larger project aimed to examine the status of somatic health care of people with SMI and to understand why this care is sub-optimal in Belgium. Besides exploring the perspectives of patients and healthcare providers on this topic, other aspects (such as the prevalence of somatic problems in people with SMI, and the organisation and financing of somatic health care for people with SMI) have been examined in this project (22). The English version of the full report is accessible on the Belgian Health Care Knowledge Centre (KCE) website. The COnsolidated criteria for REporting Qualitative research (COREQ) were used for reporting methods and findings (see Supplementary Material 1).

METHODS

Design

The present study applied a qualitative research design. We conducted semi-structured individual face-to-face interviews and group interview sessions with healthcare professionals in several residential psychiatric settings. To explore the patients' perspectives on somatic health care in a psychiatric setting, we planned to conduct focus groups. After concertation with patients associations we thought patients would feel more comfortable in focus groups than during individual face-to-face interviews as they are used to discuss personal issues in groups (e.g., for therapy or in self-help groups). During all (individual and group) interviews, a set of predetermined questions was used to guide the interview. For multidisciplinary healthcare teams

and focus groups "case examples – patient scenarios" were used to facilitate the discussion. However, additional questions could be asked where appropriate.

Settings

For each region (Flanders, Wallonia, and Brussels) we identified four psychiatric settings: 1 psychiatric hospital (PH), 1 general hospital psychiatric ward (GHPW), 1 psychiatric nursing home (PNH) and 1 sheltered housing facility (SHF). Settings were identified through an address list of mental health care settings. We tried to find a balance between private/public, academic/nonacademic, and Dutch/French-language settings.

Participants

Patient Inclusion Criteria

Patients were included if they had an SMI (defined in this study as having a diagnosis of schizophrenia or related conditions, bipolar disorder, or moderate to severe depression), for which they had been admitted to one of the four above mentioned psychiatric care facilities.

Patients had to be aged 18 years or older, Dutch or Frenchspeaking, and previously stayed for at least once in the past 5 years in one of the above mentioned types of psychiatric settings. The relatively brief 5 year time period was chosen in order to allow patients to be still able to recall past events fully and accurately.

Recruitment Strategy

In January 2020, directors of psychiatric services were contacted personally by telephone. A formal invitation was sent by e-mail, if showing interest (only one director declined to take part in the study due to understaffing problems). Each setting in the sample was visited. During these visits we interviewed: a psychiatrist in an individual face-to-face interview, a somatic practitioner (general practitioner or specialist, if there was no general practitioner entitled to the setting) in an individual faceto-face interview, and the multidisciplinary team (psychiatric nurses, psychologists, educators) in a group interview.

Patients were recruited with the collaboration of patient organisations. They were invited by letter, e-mail, social media, newsletters, or when attending a meeting, and were asked to express their interest to participate in a focus group about their experience with the prevention, treatment, and/or follow-up of their somatic health problems during residential psychiatric care. For this communication, KCE provided a text which was adapted after discussion with and input of the patient organisations. Potential candidates were gathered by the patient organisations, ensuring that the inclusion criteria were met, and a list with the names of the candidates was transmitted to KCE researchers. Next, the KCE researchers contacted the potential participants directly by e-mail, sending the information about the project and the informed consent form (reviewed by one of the patient organisations to ensure readability). The patients were invited to read the information (information about KCE, aim of the study, inclusion criteria, practical information about the study, all necessary information for participation) and informed KCE researchers about their decision to participate or not. The informed consent form was signed before the start of the interview. A moderator read through the information sheet of the informed consent, gave explanations, and answered participants' questions. The moderator also asked permission to audio-record and transcribe the interview.

Ethical Approval

The qualitative study of the patients' perspectives was submitted and approved by the hospital-faculty ethical comity of the Erasme Hospital (Université Libre de Bruxelles – Belgian Advisory Committee on Bioethics study number CCB B406202042676).

Data Collection

Based on the literature and exploratory informal meetings with healthcare practitioners, three semi-structured interview guides were developed: one for physicians, one for the multidisciplinary team, and one for patients. Cases describing somatic health problems frequently occurring in the population of psychiatric patients (e.g., weight gain, diabetes) or common acute or chronic problems (a fall, a cough, chronic bronchitis) were used to facilitate the discussion within the multidisciplinary teams. These "case scenarios" were developed and discussed with a representative of one of the patient organisations before finalisation. Based on these scenarios, healthcare professionals were questioned about how somatic health was addressed and managed in their setting. The core topics of the interview guides were:

- What is the place of somatic care in the management of patients: from intake to discharge?
- How is the quality of the management of somatic chronic care perceived?
- What are barriers or challenges in somatic care for chronic and acute health problems, as well as prevention of health problems?
- What are examples of good practises?
- Do you have suggestions to improve somatic health care?
- How is the collaboration between healthcare professionals?

For patients, the same "case scenarios" as for the professionals, were used to structure the discussion if needed. All interviews were moderated in the respondents' native language by KCE researchers. A representative of the patient organisation was present during the interviews or, if not able to attend, contacted the patient after the interview to ensure he/she coped well with the interview and to build trust with the patient. Patients organisations also signed a confidentiality agreement.

Although interviews were originally planned in February, March, and April 2020, due to COVID-19 restrictions, several interviews were postponed to June-July 2020 (for healthcare professionals) and September-October 2020 (for patients). Three (out of 18) individual interviews with healthcare professionals (one with a French-speaking general practitioner and two with Flemish general practitioners) were performed remotely via the online Zoom application. In total, we met about 50 healthcare professionals from 10 different settings (due to the COVID-19 crisis we did not include healthcare professionals for all settings, see section on study limitations). This sample is described in more detail in **Table 1**. For patients, all focus groups had to be carried out via the Zoom web application with a limit of five participants per session. For each focus group, one KCE moderator was foreseen, accompanied by one observer (a representative of a patient organisation) and one note-taker (KCE researcher). For each region we planned to have two focus groups, each consisting of 6–8 participants. So we intended to meet a minimum of 36 persons with an SMI. However, due to the COVID-19 crisis, the recruitment of participants was hampered. As only four Dutch-speaking patients and for Brussel only one patient finally agreed to participate, focus groups became individual interviews. For Wallonia, five patients were interviewed in one online focus group.

Data Analysis

Interviews were audio-recorded. After the interview, a transcript was made by an external firm. Next, the transcripts were coded by two KCE researchers (LK and WC) with NVIVO software. Data were analysed by thematic analysis. An inductive thematic analysis was performed by both researchers. Each researcher made a list of primary codes (WC for the Dutch interviews, LK for the French interviews) without clustering. In a second step, both Dutch and French codes were compared and clustered together, resulting in a hierarchical code tree. Findings were described based on these clusters of codes.

RESULTS

An overview of the themes emerging from the qualitative analysis is presented in **Figure 1**.

Healthcare Provider-Related Factors

Lack of Sufficient Training and Experience *Psychiatric Staff*

Interviewed psychiatrists referred to their lack of training and experience in addressing somatic health care issues. They explained they were specialised in mental health care already early during their curriculum. Somatic health problems usually were less discussed during training and considered secondary to mental health. In the further course of their career, their knowledge about somatic health care and medical care skills tended to become passive knowledge. Because psychiatrists overemphasised mental health at the expense of somatic health care, they often felt uncomfortable when providing somatic medical care to patients with SMI and rather referred the patient to a general practitioner or specialist for their somatic problems.

"Whether it's simple hypothyroidism or... a simple lack of vitamins, I think we can handle that. But a patient with severe hypertension, for example, ... is still something for an internist or a general practitioner... Our psychiatrists feel uncomfortable when confronted with somatic comorbidities... we have to recognise that we are specialists in psychiatry." (Psychiatrist-GHPW)

The same applies to nurses. In PHs or GHPWs, nurses are "psychiatric nurses." During the interviews, psychiatric nurses mentioned they lost their competencies for a wide range of

| | | Flan | Flanders | | | Brus | Brussels | | | Wal | Wallonia | |
|----------------------|----------------------------|-------------------------|---|-----------------------------------|---------------------|------------------------------|---|----------------------------------|---|---|-----------------------------|----------------------------------|
| Type of setting | Psychiatric ward | Psychiatric hospital | Psychiatric Sheltered nursing housing home facility | Sheltered housing facility | Psychiatric ward | Psychiatric hospital | Psychiatric Sheltered nursing home housing facility | Sheltered housing facility | Psychiatric Psychiatric ward hospital | Psychiatric hospital | Psychiatric nursing home | Sheltered housing facility |
| Language | Dutch | Dutch | \ \ | Dutch | French | French | Dutch | French | French | French | French | \ \ |
| Psychiatrist | - | . – | I | - | 2 | 1+2** | - | ÷- | . | - | I | I |
| Somatic Physician | 1 emergency doctor | 1 GP | I | 1 GP | 1 GP | 1 GP + 1* GP | 1 GP | ~ | 1 GP | 1 specialist | 1 GP | I |
| Paramedical team | Team of nurses Team of and | Team of nurses | / | Team of nurses / and educators | / 8 | Team of nurses and social | Team of nurses Muttidisciplinary Team of and educators team | Multidisciplina team | ry Team of nurses. | Multidisciplinary Multidisciplinary / team team | Multidisciplinary team | ~ |
| | psychologist | | | | | workers | | | psychologist, physiotherapist, educator | it, | | |



somatic healthcare tasks such as wound care, injections, or blood sampling. Because they are no longer or less experienced with these tasks, they are often tentative, unsure, or uncomfortable performing them.

Somatic Healthcare Providers

Interviewed participants mentioned that transfers to a somatic ward were not self-evident. They stated that staff at the somatic ward seemed very reluctant to take over the patient's care. If patients with SMI were treated at the emergency department, psychiatric staff complained of patients being referred back too soon to the psychiatric ward. Many of these patients did not receive a decent screening of somatic problems. Examinations, like an ECG, were not performed due to the young age of the patient, while the addictive behaviour justified it.

"If you kindly request an emergency physician in a general hospital to perform an electrocardiogram on a 30-year-old cocaine addict, and he tells you 'but he is not old enough to have a heart attack', while the patient already had two infarctions..."(Psychiatrist-GHPW)

Uncomfortable feelings and lack of training and experience to cope with these patients were supposed to be the main reasons for this way of acting by the somatic staff.

Patients' Accounts

In general, psychiatric patients themselves experienced the limited somatic skills of healthcare providers as obsolete. They also felt that psychiatric healthcare professionals focus on mental health at the expense of somatic health care.

"Because my cough persisted for so long without any examination, ... well after almost two months of coughing, I insisted that at least a doctor should be called to listen to my lungs at last" (Patient report)

According to the patients' accounts, the provision of medical care varied substantially from setting to setting (PHs, GHPWs, PNHs, SHFs), within the same setting and among healthcare professionals. Patients also attributed differences in the management of medical care to the type of somatic health problem [priority was given to patients with an addiction or with a known somatic health problem at admission (e.g., diabetes)]. Medical care for unanticipated somatic health needs, however, was problematic. Patients mentioned they were well monitored for adverse drug reactions during the stay, with the exception of weight gain.

Stigmatisation of People With SMI Somatic Healthcare Providers

The staff of psychiatric settings reported that dentists, general practitioners, or somatic specialists are less willing to treat residential psychiatric patients than those without such a diagnosis. Psychiatric nurses mentioned that the waiting time could be several days before a specialist arrived. Even for staff within the GHPW, where the care of patients with somatic comorbidities should be easier to manage due to the easy access to any specialisation present within the general hospital, it was difficult to find a specialist willing to come to the GHPW to examine a patient.

According to psychiatric healthcare workers, patients with SMI are often perceived by somatic healthcare providers as nonhygienic, self-neglecting, difficult to understand, non-adherent, skipping appointments, manipulative, attention-seeking, pretending, or they "don't look sick" or "not that sick."

"These are patients who... how should I say it, they are not sexy, people tend to be condescending towards these patients, who not always have a neat appearance,.. they don't resemble most patients in a waiting room, or sometimes they are very weird. They talk to themselves, they have, I don't know, weird bags, messy hair..., they cannot come on time, they come either two hours early or five hours too late, or they come another day... " (Psychiatrist-GHPW)

Patients' Accounts

A major concern raised by patients was diagnostic misinterpretation or misattribution of signs and symptoms of somatic illness to the SMI, leading to under-diagnosis and mistreatment of the somatic condition, or delayed medical care. Indeed, patients often complained that their somatic health problems were not taken seriously by healthcare professionals. They mentioned that their symptoms were not fully explored or easily misattributed to stress or psychiatric illness. Sometimes healthcare staff even did not listen, ridiculed the patient, did not believe the patient, minimised or denied their problems. In addition, the way they expressed pain or discomfort was often not understood by the staff.

"Yes, you very often hear other patients on the psychiatric ward say 'I have something but the doctors don't believe me.' You hear that so often. Or, you go to a hospital and when they see in your medical file that you are admitted to a psychiatric ward, then suddenly they don't take you seriously." (Patient report)

Patients also mentioned that some healthcare professionals, even psychiatrists, are patronising.

Unclear Roles and Responsibilities

Psychiatric nurses found it very difficult and time-consuming to find out who to consult in case of somatic health problems.

"The question is often 'Who does what?'. You have the main treating physician, in this case, the psychiatrist, but does the somatic specialist take over all somatic tasks? Or does he expect us to do certain things ourselves, such as prescribing and adjusting medication, somatic monitoring..." (Team-GHPW)

Data Transfer Problems

Somatic Healthcare Providers

Healthcare providers stated that at the time of admission to the psychiatric setting the management of existing or chronic somatic problems was often delayed and complicated by the absence of information on the medical history of the patient.

Interviewees reported that data transfer problems occurred frequently and that there was always a risk of losing information.

"I think of a patient who was very feverish, ..., I saw that she had been seen by a general practitioner two hours before, ... the note was summarised as 'hyperthermia, suspected urinary tract infection' and that's all. So we don't know how much temperature, what was done during the physical examination, what was excluded, not excluded. Are there any instructions to follow if the temperature... So it's true ..., it would help me a lot if there was more information." (Psychiatrist in training-PH)

Patients' Accounts

Patients complained about healthcare providers not communicating about the timing of (follow-up) consultations, somatic diagnoses, the prescribed treatment including changes in medication schedule and possible side-effects, and who to contact in case of a somatic health problem during their stay.

Healthcare System-Related Factors Psychiatric Hospital Pharmacy Issues

Some psychiatric patients with a chronic somatic disease (e.g., diabetes) did not receive the type or brand that was prescribed or which the patient is accustomed to, due to formulary restrictions (i.e., the medication was not available in the formulary or list of medications available for use at the hospital). However, the new medication of choice could be more expensive or less safe (e.g., due to medication compatibility issues during switching) than the restricted agent. A request for formulary addition from the general practitioner was not always granted. Moreover, when a new medicine was prescribed by a general practitioner or a specialist, it took a couple of days to get the prescribed medicine to the patient, because the prescription needed to be approved by the psychiatrist in charge and by the hospital pharmacy.

"Yes, indeed, if the psychiatrist is present, then you still have to see whether you can reach him to validate that prescription. Then the pharmacy still has to validate the prescription and then it's still possible that they have to order it (...) Yes, so sometimes two days pass before he gets his medication, while across the street in the village, there is a pharmacy and then they have it an hour later. And we need two days..."(Staff-PNH)

Unavailability of Equipment/Unadapted Infrastructure

If somatic treatment following hospitalisation was necessary (e.g., perfusion), it was sometimes difficult to manage within the psychiatric setting due to the unavailability of equipment (e.g., infusion stand) or the lack of adaptive infrastructure (e.g., steps) preventing the patient from moving safely around the ward.

Financial Barriers

Often institutional financial constraints were put forward by patients and healthcare professionals as an explanation for inadequate somatic health care. This lack of resources leads to heavy workload as a result of understaffing, insufficient primary care providers (e.g., general practitioners) or non-psychiatric specialists (e.g., dietitian, physiotherapist) in psychiatric settings, the critical shortage of medical equipment, inappropriate infrastructure to provide adequate somatic health care in psychiatric settings, and a nomenclature insufficient to fund appropriate somatic health care by the general practitioner. The current funding also seemed to be insufficient for the general practitioner or specialist to attend team meetings, or to work on electronic medical records.

"I am a self-employed person, paid on a flat-rate basis, the equivalent of seeing three psychiatric patients per day. In a nursing home, I would see 10 to 15 patients. So obviously, I don't do everything very well. (laughs) (...) In a nursing home, I would earn three to four times more." (General practitioner-PH)

Insufficient Health Promotion

Several lifestyle intervention and health promotion initiatives were mentioned by the interviewees, such as workshops on health related themes, smoking cessation interventions and the creation of smoke-free environments, interactive toothbrushing education, behavioural weight loss programs, the provision of sport equipment,... However, this seemed not to be a priority in psychiatric settings. Discouraging smoking and encouraging physical activities, for example, seemed to be very challenging due to a lack of time, limited space available for sport activities, specific patient characteristics, and barriers to finance sport facilities or competent technical staff to support sports initiatives or smoking cessation programs in psychiatric facilities. Moreover, patients of GHPWs complained they experience strong barriers to use sports facilities at the general hospital, particularly due to stigma. A domain that was reported to be very difficult to manage (also related to the side effects of the medication), was nutrition. The setting was not always able to supply dietetic food (e.g., in some places residents had to choose between different sugar-sweetened beverages during meals, because mineral water was not available).

Impractical Guideline Recommendations

Although recommendations certainly can be very helpful in the acute treatment, prevention and follow-up of somatic health problems, our study indicated that clinical somatic local guidance should be adapted to the specificities of psychiatric patients. Some guidelines were perceived as too general and therefore not applicable to very specific cases and contexts.

Patient-Related Factors

Unawareness of Physical Problems

Interviewed healthcare professionals mentioned that patients had difficulties expressing complaints and accepting that a consultation or examination is necessary. This has several consequences in terms of somatic healthcare provision: longer medical consultations or repetitive consultations for the same complaint. Unfortunately, healthcare professionals are often running out of time.

"(...) a real psychotic person doesn't know what's up or under and is busy with a lot of other things besides what he feels in his body. They often have no contact or less contact with their bodies. So before you realise that there's something wrong, that something is going on.... And then you still have to take him to the right consultation" (Staff-PNH)

Lack of Treatment Adherence

Interviewed healthcare professionals reported that once treatment is initiated, it is difficult to keep psychiatric patients adherent. Because of their illness, some patients also do not easily accept to be examined or have their parameters taken. According to healthcare providers this leads to a deterioration of somatic problems.

Need for Accompaniment

Psychiatric staff reported that psychiatric patients need to be accompanied to somatic health services (e.g., specialist, dentist, emergency service), particularly when the service is external to the psychiatric hospital or ward. Mentioned reasons for accompanying patients on visits to somatic healthcare professionals were: the patient is not calm enough to go alone, runaway risk, long waiting times (becoming a problem in noisy and crowded rooms), and the need to clarify somatic problems. However, accompanying patients weighs heavily on the workload of the healthcare teams, because it is very time-consuming.

Patients noted a less than optimal planning of somatic health care at the time of discharge, and that they were left to their own devices. They had to find a general practitioner outside the hospital, to manage their medication (as there was no supply from the hospital), and to make follow-up appointments for their somatic health care with the general practitioner or specialist.

DISCUSSION

Our qualitative study showed that healthcare provider-related factors (lack of sufficient training and experience, stigma, unclear roles and responsibilities, data transfer problems), healthcare system-related problems (hospital pharmacy issues, unavailability of equipment/unadapted infrastructure, financial barriers, insufficient health promotion, unadapted recommendations), and patient-related issues (unawareness of physical problems, non-adherence, need for accompaniment) complicates adequate somatic health care.

Emerging evidence shows that well-integrated care can improve the quality of health care and several patient outcomes (23-25). Therefore, healthcare professionals should take a holistic approach to health care for the benefit of the patient (26, 27), and all of the above mentioned barriers to somatic health care should be tackled with this basic idea in mind. For example, information sharing systems within and across different healthcare services, shared protocols between mental and somatic health services, and co-location of services can help solve problems regarding data transfer and unclear roles and responsibilities, and remove barriers to delivering integrated care (28). Being able to access information from single or multiple electronic individual medical records can be an important facilitator, as it allows healthcare professionals to identify and track individuals with an SMI needing somatic health services (28). This, however, requires an adequate IT infrastructure and the tackling of medico-legal barriers. Shared protocols, setting out the responsibilities of mental health and somatic services in delivering somatic health care, is another important facilitator (14, 28). Clear agreements with physicians concerning the somatic health care of patients at the psychiatric ward could also reduce patients' waiting times and anxieties, and improve their medical follow-up.

Nevertheless, a successful ending of this mission requires a certain amount of flexibility and openness on the part of individual healthcare professionals. For example, our study showed that co-location of services does not necessarily lead to better somatic health care for people with SMI. Indeed, somatic and mental healthcare staff should also be willing to collaborate. According to Rodgers et al. (28) this emphasises that people rather than organisational systems or structures are primarily responsible for successful integration of care. In this regard, the concept of liaison services can be very important. Liaison services and care coordinators/navigators certainly can play a pivotal role in improving communication (28). It was noted during the interviews that a liaison person between the specialties (such as general practitioners with a special interest in psychiatry) improved communication and led to better somatic health care. One can also develop policies to promote the use of psychiatric-trained healthcare professionals, such as psychiatric nurses, on somatic wards (29), or vice versa.

Stigmatising attitudes towards people with SMI remain another important barrier to adequate somatic health care (28, 30). Our study showed that somatic healthcare professionals often are hesitant to handle people with SMI, due to prejudices and stigmatisation. Psychiatric staff (including general practitioners) reasoned this might be due to lack of training and experience, feelings of insecurity in dealing with people with SMI, the anticipation that people with SMI are nonadherent, the unkempt presentation of patients, the already heavy workload for somatic healthcare specialists and the complexity and/or the slow pace of working with people with SMI. People with SMI reported diagnostic misinterpretation and patronising attitudes.

Previous research indeed has shown that non-psychiatric healthcare providers often feel uncomfortable (e.g., feeling anxious) when working with psychiatric patients, due to a lack of essential communication skills, fear of being physically hurt, and stigmatisation and prejudices towards mental illness (29). These negative attitudes can compromise somatic healthcare professionals' ability to respond to medical symptoms and deliver qualitative somatic care (29). Interestingly, several studies (31–33) have demonstrated that even mental healthcare professionals have negative stereotypes and social distance desire towards people with SMI, particularly people with schizophrenia.

Stigmatisation (and somatic care) may be further complicated by patient-related barriers such as cognitive and communication deficits and reduced pain sensitivity. Studies have shown that particularly people with schizophrenia are characterised by a reduced pain sensitivity (partly due to the analgesic properties of antipsychotic medications, partly to hypoalgesia as a potential endophenotype of schizophrenia spectrum disorders) and a decreased ability to communicate pain (due to the cognitive deficits). As people with SMI have high rates of somatic health conditions that are often associated with clinical pain (e.g., diabetes), these painful somatic conditions may often go unreported and lead to delays in the identification and treatment. This contributes to an increased risk of somatic comorbidity and mortality (13, 34, 35).

Some of the above-proposed initiatives can be implemented earlier than others. Effective communication between providers, shared protocols, and the empowerment of individuals to coordinate care needs of people with SMI may be realised rather quickly. The accomplishment of cultural changes and educational innovations to overcome the lack of training in the screening, assessment, and management of somatic health aspects amongst psychiatrists and psychiatric nurses, and vice versa, to reduce negative attitudes towards people with SMI on the part of somatic healthcare professionals by providing them "a guide in the handling of patients with SMI," and enhance their knowledge about the health risks associated with psychotropic medications, need more time (14).

Clinical experts, consulted for our report (22) repeatedly declared that the integration of primary care providers (in most cases a general practitioner) in psychiatric settings is vital to improving the somatic health care of patients with SMI. Olson et al. (36) showed that the lack of a primary care provider on an inpatient psychiatric ward was associated with increased suffering and poorer overall health in patients with SMI. Despite this, there is a shortage of primary care providers in Belgian psychiatric settings. There are manifold reasons for this: a restricted nomenclature, resulting in general practitioners and somatic specialists being hesitant to provide somatic health care to people with SMI, heavy workload, information-sharing difficulties (not being able to access information from medical records), and difficulties in dealing with the complexity of working with people with SMI. Physicians in our study had a feeling of ambivalence when taking up the somatic health care of these patients. They expressed concern regarding their lack of medical knowledge, limited training, and communication skills in treating mental illness, leading to a lack of confidence and diagnostic misinterpretation.

We also learned from our study that adequate somatic health care is hampered by organisational and logistical issues, such as limited on-site equipment, psychiatric staff time constraints, heavy workload of somatic healthcare professionals, and hospital pharmacy issues.

Healthcare providers in psychiatric settings stated that people with SMI and somatic comorbidities make heavy demands on their available time. They considered the organisation of consultations with somatic specialists not only as challenging but also as time-consuming. Staff members have to arrange the logistics for transport to the external ward or hospital and have to accompany the patient, for example, to ensure he is well-understood by somatic specialists and that follow-up is arranged. These measures, of course, require sufficient staffing. These problems have been confirmed in other studies (37, 38). Another logistic problem cited by healthcare providers concerned the hospital pharmacy issues. Although formulary restrictions are implemented to reduce drug costs and ensure the appropriate use of pharmaceutical products, they can have negative effects on patient outcomes (particularly medication adherence, clinical outcomes, and treatment satisfaction) and enhance total medical costs by increasing health care resource utilisation (physician visits and hospitalizations) (39, 40).

An important aspect of a holistic approach to health care is to pay attention to the patients' autonomy and self-care behaviours. For example, medication adherence, which in all sections of our full report was identified as a patient- and illness-related barrier (22), has been shown to improve by applying collaborative, patient-centred communications skills (41), even in patients with SMI (42). However, the benefits of achieving patient-centred care for medication adherence through techniques such as motivational interviewing and shared decision making in people with SMI are minimal and less conclusive than in general medicine (43–45). Nevertheless, the success of these techniques may be improved if the relationship between patient and therapist is trusting and the technique is adapted to the patient's process and values (46).

Finally, healthcare professionals should focus not only on the screening and acute management of physical health aspects in people with an SMI, but also on the prevention and follow-up of patient's somatic health problems (47). Research (10, 48, 49) has shown that the integration of team members trained in a non-psychiatric discipline (e.g., nutrition, physiotherapy), and the involvement of peers, family, or volunteers to support people with SMI in making lifestyle behaviour changes or healthcare choices, improves their somatic health care. Lifestyle behaviour interventions, such as smoking cessation interventions, behavioural weight loss programmes, and psychoeducation (combined with behavioural interventions) are effective for persons with an SMI. Peer-led programmes for self-management of comorbid general medical conditions are effective for improving the health status of patients with an SMI (e.g., physical health-related quality of life, medication adherence) and the utilisation of healthcare services by these patients (50, 51). An ongoing randomised controlled trial is investigating the feasibility of a novel intervention involving training volunteers to be 'Health Champions' to support people with SMI using mental health services to manage and improve their physical health (52). Follow-up after discharge from psychiatric hospital is another necessity. After residential psychiatric care, general practitioners should be actively implicated by psychiatrists in providing post-discharge care of patients.

LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY

Due to the COVID-19 crisis, we were not able to recruit as many participants as planned. Consequently, we did not reach data sufficiency. Moreover, we were obliged to "meet" the participants online. This way of data gathering may have resulted in a selection bias: patients had to feel comfortable with the use of information technology and the "distant" communication imposed by the video conference. It is therefore probable that we met patients with a higher socioeconomic status than would have been the case if we had been able to recruit people for an "in person" face-to-face interview. From the researchers' point of view, it is more difficult to create an atmosphere of trust and empathy in an online interview. Patients were also recruited through patients' associations. The associations might represent a specific type of patient, being involved in and aware of "self-care." On the other hand, one could also argue that given the inclusion of patients probably having a better somatic health status, our results may be rather conservative, having missed the most poignant storeys. All this means that our findings are not generalisable to all psychiatric settings and are in fact hypotheses that necessitate further research to come to firm conclusions. In addition, as a general observation we would like to emphasise the large variation we found in patients' accounts. Apart from individual differences, also organisational settings largely diverged. However, due to the small number of participants, we could not do specific subgroup analyses. In other words we could not differentiate between GHPWs, PHs, PNHs, and SHFs. We were forced to draw up general conclusions, without specifying the setting. In addition, during the interviews most attention was paid to what went wrong, leaving positive accounts largely unaddressed. However, this does not mean positive experiences are non-existent.

CONCLUSION

There is an urgent need for integrated somatic and mental healthcare systems and a cultural change. However, integrated care for people with SMI and somatic comorbidities is still a long way from becoming a reality. Psychiatrists and primary care providers continue to consider the mental and physical health of their patients as mutually exclusive responsibilities. Lack of sufficient training and experience, poor or absent liaison links, time constraints and organisational and financial barriers, limit the ability of most healthcare professionals to focus beyond their specialty. Modifying these aspects will improve the quality of somatic health care for these vulnerable patients. However, above all, a certain amount of flexibility and openness, as well as a willingness to communicate on the part of individual healthcare professionals is a prerequisite for successful management of somatic health care barriers.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethical Committee of the Erasme Hospital (Université Libre de Bruxelles – Belgian Advisory Committee on Bioethics Study Number CCB B406202042676). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

REFERENCES

- Gronholm PC, Chowdhary N, Barbui C, Das-Munshi J, Kolappa K, Thornicroft G, et al. Prevention and management of physical health conditions in adults with severe mental disorders: WHO recommendations. *Int J Ment Health Syst.* (2021) 15:22. doi: 10.1186/s13033-021-00444-4
- De Hert M, Correll CU, Bobes J, Cetkovich-Bakmas M, Cohen D, Asai I, et al. Physical illness in patients with severe mental disorders. I. Prevalence, impact of medications and disparities in health care. *World Psychiatry*. (2011) 10:52–77. doi: 10.1002/j.2051-5545.2011.tb00014.x
- Correll CU, Solmi M, Veronese N, Bortolato B, Rosson S, Santonastaso P, et al. Prevalence, incidence and mortality from cardiovascular disease in patients with pooled and specific severe mental illness: a large-scale meta-analysis of 3 211 768 patients and 113 383 368 controls. *World Psychiatry.* (2017) 16:163–80. doi: 10.1002/wps.20420
- Janssen EM, McGinty EE, Azrin ST, Juliano-Bult D, Daumit GL. Review of the evidence: prevalence of medical conditions in the United States population with serious mental illness. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry*. (2015) 37:199– 222. doi: 10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2015.03.004
- Olfson M, Gerhard T, Huang C, Crystal S, Stroup TS. Premature mortality among adults with schizophrenia in the United States. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2015) 72:1172–81. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2015.1737
- Mazereel V, Detraux J, Vancampfort D, van Winkel R, De Hert M. Impact of psychotropic medication effects on obesity and the metabolic syndrome in people with serious mental illness. *Front Endocrinol.* (2020) 11:573479. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.573479
- Correll CU, Detraux J, De Lepeleire J, De Hert M. Effects of antipsychotics, antidepressants and mood stabilizers on risk for physical diseases in people with schizophrenia, depression and bipolar disorder. *World Psychiatry*. (2015) 14:119–36. doi: 10.1002/wps.20204
- De Hert M, Detraux J, Vancampfort D. Impact of medication effects on physical health. In: Corrigan PW, Ballentine SL, editors. *Health and Wellness in People Living With Serious Mental Illness*. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association Publishing (2021). p. 103–29.
- Lamontagne-Godwin F, Burgess C, Clement S, Gasston-Hales M, Greene C, Manyande A, et al. Interventions to increase access to or uptake of physical health screening in people with severe mental illness: a realist review. *BMJ Open.* (2018) 8:e019412. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-019412
- Liu NH, Daumit GL, Dua T, Aquila R, Charlson F, Cuijpers P, et al. Excess mortality in persons with severe mental disorders: a multilevel intervention framework and priorities for clinical practice, policy and research agendas. *World Psychiatry*. (2017) 16:30–40. doi: 10.1002/wps.20384
- Firth J, Siddiqi N, Koyanagi A, Siskind D, Rosenbaum S, Galletly C, et al. The Lancet Psychiatry Commission: a blueprint for protecting physical health in people with mental illness. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2019) 6:675– 712. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(19)30132-4
- 12. World Health Organization. *Guidelines for the Management of Physical Health Conditions in Adults With Severe Mental Disorders*. Geneva: World Health Organization (2018).
- De Hert M, Cohen D, Bobes J, Cetkovich-Bakmas M, Leucht S, Ndetei DM, et al. Physical illness in patients with severe mental disorders. II. Barriers to care, monitoring and treatment guidelines, plus recommendations at the system and individual level. *World Psychiatry.* (2011) 10:138–51. doi: 10.1002/j.2051-5545.2011.tb00036.x

FUNDING

This work was funded by KCE, Belgian government.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2021.798530/full#supplementary-material

- De Hert M, Detraux J. Reversing the downward spiral for people with severe mental illness through educational innovations. *World Psychiatry*. (2017) 16:41–2. doi: 10.1002/wps.20377
- McKibbin CL, Kitchen-Andren KA, Lee AA, Wykes TL, Bourassa KA. Oral health in adults with serious mental illness: needs for and perspectives on care. *Commun Mental Health J.* (2015) 51:222–8. doi: 10.1007/s10597-014-9758-z
- Bergamo C, Sigel K, Mhango G, Kale M, Wisnivesky JP. Inequalities in lung cancer care of elderly patients with schizophrenia: an observational cohort study. *Psychosom Med.* (2014) 76:215– 20. doi: 10.1097/PSY.0000000000000050
- Smith DJ, Langan J, McLean G, Guthrie B, Mercer SW. Schizophrenia is associated with excess multiple physical-health comorbidities but low levels of recorded cardiovascular disease in primary care: cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open.* (2013) 3:e002808. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2013-002808
- Mitchell AJ, Lord O. Do deficits in cardiac care influence high mortality rates in schizophrenia? A systematic review and pooled analysis. *J Psychopharmacol.* (2010) 24 (4 Suppl.):69–80. doi: 10.1177/1359786810382056
- 19. De Hert M, Dekker JM, Wood D, Kahl KG, Holt RI, Möller HJ. Cardiovascular disease and diabetes in people with severe mental illness position statement from the European Psychiatric Association (EPA), supported by the European Association for the Study of Diabetes (EASD) and the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). *Eur Psychiatry*. (2009) 24:412– 24. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2009.01.005
- Björk Brämberg E, Torgerson J, Norman Kjellström A, Welin P, Rusner M. Access to primary and specialized somatic health care for persons with severe mental illness: a qualitative study of perceived barriers and facilitators in Swedish health care. *BMC Fam Pract.* (2018) 19:12. doi: 10.1186/s12875-017-0687-0
- Kaufman EA, McDonell MG, Cristofalo MA, Ries RK. Exploring barriers to primary care for patients with severe mental illness: frontline patient and provider accounts. *Issues Ment Health Nurs.* (2012) 33:172-80. doi: 10.3109/01612840.2011.638415
- 22. Jespers V, Christiaens W, Kohn L, Savoye I, Mistiaen P. Somatic Health Care in a Psychiatric Setting. Health Services Research (HSR) Brussels: Belgian Health Care Knowledge Centre (KCE) (2021). Available online at: https:// kce.fgov.be/sites/default/files/atoms/files/KCE_338_Psychosomatic_Report_ 2.pdf (accessed December 11, 2021).
- 23. Martens N, Destoop M, Dom G. Organization of Community Mental Health Services for persons with a severe mental illness and comorbid somatic conditions: a systematic review on somatic outcomes and health related quality of life. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2021) 18:462. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18020462
- Thornicroft G, Ahuja S, Barber S, Chisholm D, Collins PY, Docrat S, et al. Integrated care for people with long-term mental and physical health conditions in low-income and middle-income countries. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2019) 6:174–86. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(18)30298-0
- Lemmens LC, Molema CC, Versnel N, Baan CA, de Bruin SR. Integrated care programs for patients with psychological comorbidity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Psychosom Res. (2015) 79:580–94. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2015.07.013
- Melamed OC, Fernando I, Soklaridis S, Hahn MK, LeMessurier KW, Taylor VH. Understanding engagement with a physical health service: a qualitative study of patients with severe mental illness. *Can J Psychiatry*. (2019) 64:872– 80. doi: 10.1177/0706743719862980

- Pudalov LR, Swogger MT, Wittink M. Towards integrated medical and mental healthcare in the inpatient setting: what is the role of psychology? *Int Rev Psychiatry*. (2018) 30:210–23. doi: 10.1080/09540261.2018.1552125
- Rodgers M, Dalton J, Harden M, Street A, Parker G, Eastwood A. Integrated care to address the physical health needs of people with severe mental illness: a mapping review of the recent evidence on barriers, facilitators and evaluations. *Int J Integr Care.* (2018) 18:9. doi: 10.5334/ijic.2605
- Alexander V, Ellis H, Barrett B. Medical-surgical nurses' perceptions of psychiatric patients: a review of the literature with clinical and practice applications. *Arch Psychiatr Nurs.* (2016) 30:262–70. doi: 10.1016/j.apnu.2015.06.018
- Stone EM, Chen LN, Daumit GL, Linden S, McGinty EE. General medical clinicians' attitudes toward people with serious mental illness: a scoping review. J Behav Health Serv Res. (2019) 46:656–79. doi: 10.1007/s11414-019-09652-w
- Rivera-Segarra E, Varas-Díaz N, Santos-Figueroa A. "That's all Fake": health professionals stigma and physical healthcare of people living with serious mental illness. *PLoS ONE*. (2019) 14:e0226401. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0226401
- 32. Loch AA, Hengartner MP, Guarniero FB, Lawson FL, Wang YP, Gattaz WF, et al. The more information, the more negative stigma towards schizophrenia: Brazilian general population and psychiatrists compared. *Psychiatry Res.* (2013) 205:185–91. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2012.11.023
- Nordt C, Rössler W, Lauber C. Attitudes of mental health professionals toward people with schizophrenia and major depression. *Schizophr Bull.* (2006) 32:709–14. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbj065
- Zhou L, Bi Y, Liang M, Kong Y, Tu Y, Zhang X, et al. A modality-specific dysfunction of pain processing in schizophrenia. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2020) 41:1738–53. doi: 10.1002/hbm.24906
- 35. Stubbs B, Thompson T, Acaster S, Vancampfort D, Gaughran F, Correll CU. Decreased pain sensitivity among people with schizophrenia: a metaanalysis of experimental pain induction studies. *Pain.* (2015) 156:2121– 31. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.000000000000304
- Olsen CG, Boltri JM, Amerine J, Clasen ME. Lacking a primary care physician is associated with increased suffering in patients with severe mental illness. J Prim Prev. (2017) 38:583–96. doi: 10.1007/s10935-017-0490-7
- Bjørkvik J, Henriquez Quintero DP, Vika ME, Nielsen GH, Virtanen JI. Barriers and facilitators for dental care among patients with severe or longterm mental illness. *Scand J Caring Sci.* (2021). doi: 10.1111/scs.12960
- Slack-Smith L, Hearn L, Scrine C, Durey A. Barriers and enablers for oral health care for people affected by mental health disorders. *Aust Dent J.* (2017) 62:6–13. doi: 10.1111/adj.12429
- Park Y, Raza S, George A, Agrawal R, Ko J. The effect of formulary restrictions on patient and payer outcomes: a systematic literature review. J Manag Care Spec Pharm. (2017) 23:893–901. doi: 10.18553/jmcp.2017.23.8.893
- Happe LE, Clark D, Holliday E, Young T. A systematic literature review assessing the directional impact of managed care formulary restrictions on medication adherence, clinical outcomes, economic outcomes, and health care resource utilization. J Manag Care Spec Pharm. (2014) 20:677– 84. doi: 10.18553/jmcp.2014.20.7.677
- Palacio A, Garay D, Langer B, Taylor J, Wood BA, Tamariz L. Motivational interviewing improves medication adherence: a systematic review and metaanalysis. J Gen Intern Med. (2016) 31:929–40. doi: 10.1007/s11606-016-3685-3
- Hughes F, Vess J, Johnson E. Increase adherence to psychotropic medication through motivational adherence therapy: a quality improvement project. *Issues Ment Health Nurs.* (2018) 39:709– 13. doi: 10.1080/01612840.2018.1455118

- Vanderwaal FM. Impact of motivational interviewing on medication adherence in schizophrenia. Issues Ment Health Nurs. (2015) 36:900– 4. doi: 10.3109/01612840.2015.1058445
- Hegedüs A, Kozel B. Does adherence therapy improve medication adherence among patients with schizophrenia? A systematic review. *Int J Ment Health Nurs.* (2014) 23:490–7. doi: 10.1111/inm.12089
- Barkhof E, Meijer CJ, de Sonneville LM, Linszen DH, de Haan L. The effect of motivational interviewing on medication adherence and hospitalization rates in nonadherent patients with multi-episode schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2013) 39:1242–51. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbt138
- 46. Dobber J, Latour C, de Haan L, Scholte Op Reimer W, Peters R, Barkhof E, et al. Medication adherence in patients with schizophrenia: a qualitative study of the patient process in motivational interviewing. *BMC Psychiatry.* (2018) 18:135. doi: 10.1186/s12888-018-1724-9
- Maj M, Stein DJ, Parker G, Zimmerman M, Fava GA, De Hert M, et al. The clinical characterization of the adult patient with depression aimed at personalization of management. *World Psychiatry.* (2020) 19:269– 93. doi: 10.1002/wps.20771
- Phan SV. Medication adherence in patients with schizophrenia. *Int J Psychiatry Med.* (2016) 51:211–9. doi: 10.1177/00912174166 36601
- Zhao S, Sampson S, Xia J, Jayaram MB. Psychoeducation (brief) for people with serious mental illness. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2015) 2015:CD010823. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD010823.pub2
- Druss BG, Singh M, von Esenwein SA, Glick GE, Tapscott S, Tucker SJ, et al. Peer-led self-management of general medical conditions for patients with serious mental illnesses: a randomized trial. *Psychiatr Serv.* (2018) 69:529– 35. doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.201700352
- Druss BG, Zhao L, von Esenwein SA, Bona JR, Fricks L, Jenkins-Tucker S, et al. The Health and Recovery Peer (HARP) Program: a peer-led intervention to improve medical self-management for persons with serious mental illness. *Schizophr Res.* (2010) 118:264–70. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2010. 01.026
- 52. Williams J, Fairbairn E, McGrath R, Bakolis I, Healey A, Akpan U, et al. A feasibility hybrid II randomised controlled trial of volunteer 'Health Champions' supporting people with serious mental illness manage their physical health: study protocol. *Pilot Feasibil Stud.* (2021) 7:116. doi: 10.1186/s40814-021-00854-8

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Kohn, Christiaens, Detraux, De Lepeleire, De Hert, Gillain, Delaunoit, Savoye, Mistiaen and Jespers. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Case Series: Managing Severe Mental Illness in Disaster Situation: the Croatian Experience After 2020 Earthquake

Sara Medved¹, Azijada Srkalović Imširagić², Igor Salopek³, Dragan Puljić², Hrvoje Handl⁴, Marina Kovač², Alma Mihaljević Peleš^{1,5}, Danijela Štimac Grbic^{5,6}, Luka Romančuk³, Roberto MuŽić⁶, Laura Shields Zeeman⁷ and Martina Rojnić Kuzman^{1,5*}

¹ Department of Psychiatry and Psychological Medicine, Zagreb University Hospital Centre, Zagreb, Croatia, ² Neuropsychiatric Hospital "Dr Ivan Barbot", Popovača, Croatia, ³ Department of Psychiatry, General Hospital Karlovac, Karlovac, Croatia, ⁴ University Psychiatric Clinic "Sveti Ivan", Zagreb, Croatia, ⁵ School of Medicine, University of Zagreb, Zagreb, Croatia, ⁶ Croatian Institute of Public Health, Zagreb, Croatia, ⁷ Department of Mental Health Prevention, Trimbos Institute (Netherlands Institute of Mental Health and Addiction), Utrecht, Netherlands

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Mario Luciano, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

Reviewed by:

Maja Pantovic Stefanovic, University of Belgrade, Serbia Davide Papola, University of Verona, Italy

> *Correspondence: Martina Rojnić Kuzman mrojnic@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychosomatic Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 15 October 2021 Accepted: 22 December 2021 Published: 02 February 2022

Citation:

Medved S, Imširagić AS, Salopek I, Puljić D, Handl H, Kovač M, Peleš AM, Štimac Grbic D, Romančuk L, MuŽić R, Zeeman LS and Kuzman MR (2022) Case Series: Managing Severe Mental Illness in Disaster Situation: the Croatian Experience After 2020 Earthquake. Front. Psychiatry 12:795661. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.795661 On the 29th of December 2020, amidst the COVID-19 pandemic, Petrinja in the Croatian Sisak-Moslavina County experienced a strong earthquake, resulting in a severe disruption in mental health service delivery. Specialized care community mental health teams were introduced days within the event with the aim to bridge the gap in psychiatric care that was severely disturbed in the region affected by the earthquake. Through a case series of patients with SMI, we describe how care was quickly deployed and delivered after a natural disaster and during a pandemic resulting in their functional recovery. Community mental health teams have the potential to provide feasible, comprehensive, and accessible mental health services, and their continued implementation in the post-disaster period in Croatia could be beneficial for care management of people with severe mental illness.

Keywords: severe mental illness, crisis, community mental health team, earthquake, CMHT

INTRODUCTION

An earthquake of 6.4 moment magnitude (Mw) hit Petrinja in Croatian Sisak-Moslavina County on 29th of December 2020, which resulted in severe structural damage in the region and seven death causalities (1). It was also the second earthquake of that magnitude in Croatia that year; in March 2020, a 5.4 Mw earthquake hit the city of Zagreb, the capital of Croatia, but it did not affect Sisak-Moslavina County substantially (2). During the period when Petrinja earthquake hit, Croatia was facing a second lockdown to curb the number of COVID-19 cases. The health system and health personnel were overloaded with cases of COVID-19 nationwide (3).

Prior research shows that after exposure to severe trauma, such as an earthquake, the general population is at higher risk of developing psychiatric problems, especially post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), depression, and anxiety symptoms (4, 5). A significantly higher number of people show depressive and psychotic symptoms for months, even years after an earthquake has occurred (6–8). Furthermore, acute stress after these catastrophic events seldom increases the acute development of stress related disorders, such as peptic ulcer, hypertension, asthmatic attack, and ulcerative colitis (9–11). People with existing mental health issues, particularly severe
mental illness (SMI), are even more susceptible to the adverse impacts of stressful events and to developing concomitant symptoms and mental health issues (12). People with SMI may also not have sufficient coping mechanisms or social resources to cope with these stressors or traumatic events (13). Also, due to a significant number of comorbidities and a shorter lifespan than general population (14, 15), people with SMI may be prone to the worsening of somatic conditions. Early intervention after trauma reduces acute stress and prevents psychological disturbances and, consequently, stress related somatic symptoms, including cardiovascular, gastric, pulmonary, etc. (16).

The majority of studies that focused on interventions in humanitarian crises have been conducted in lowand middle-income countries (17-19). In high-income countries, earthquakes in Kobe, L'Aquila, and Tohoku were the most investigated (20). Humanitarian research is often conducted in partnership with humanitarian organizations that are responding to the crisis (21). One of those organizations set standards to be applied in humanitarian response¹, emphasizing the need for accessible health services to people with psychosocial disabilities². Natural disasters are and will continue to represent a great challenge in addressing mental health issues globally (22, 23). Implementation of mental health policies that focus on prevention and improving crisis response in care delivery are important to support populations affected by natural disasters (24). Since the COVID-19 pandemic, several studies have described how double disasters (i.e., natural disasters coupled with the COVID-19 pandemic) affect the mental health of whole communities (25 - 30).

The scientific and clinical community have advocated for the development and implementation of community-based services for people with mental illness (23). Community mental health teams (CMHT) providing specialized community-based mental health care are one example of a service delivery model that can support care outcomes for people with mental illness, and many countries have integrated these teams as a part their overall mental health service infrastructure. CMHT can support people with mental illness in achieving their recovery goals in and around their community and provide appropriate specialized care in the event of a crisis to prevent unnecessary psychiatric-related hospitalization (31, 32).

This paper will present a case series study that consist of five case studies reporting on the deployment of CMHT in affected regions up to 7 months after the 2020 Petrinja earthquake to provide insights on the method and care delivered to manage the mental health of people with SMI. The cases will demonstrate the possibility of CMHTs to early detect, monitor, and manage SMI in disaster situations.

CASE DESCRIPTIONS

Prior to the earthquake in 2020, mental health care in the Sisak-Moslavina County was provided by both the Dr. Ivan Barbot neuropsychiatric hospital and the Dr. Ivo Pedišić general hospital serving a population of ~160,000 inhabitants. After the earthquake, the psychiatric department within the "Dr. Ivo Pedišić" general hospital was repurposed for non-psychiatric use. The earthquake and COVID-19 pandemic resulted in only emergency services being maintained (33, 34). Emergency medical service (EMS) staff is usually not sufficiently trained in mental health care (35). Public transportation within the County was reduced and, in some places, stopped entirely, many private cars were damaged. As a result, regular psychiatric outpatient care in the County was hardly accessible for the majority of the population. Croatia has several years of experience in the implementation of CMHTs, partially through a European Commission project LaRge-scalE implementation of COmmunity based mental health care for people with seVere and Enduring mental ill health in EuRopE (RECOVER-E) (31) which focuses on the development, implementation, and evaluation of CMHTs for SMI in five sites in five Central and Eastern European countries. Following the joint initiative of the Croatian Psychiatric Association (CPA), RECOVER-E project experts from Croatia and the Dr. Ivan Barbot hospital, the Ministry of Health endorsed the establishment and deployment of CMHTs on January 3rd, 2021 for Sisak-Moslavina County. The Croatian Institute of Public Health provided the support to CMHTs from May 2021 until August 2021 when all previously existing psychiatric services have returned in function and the need for CMHTs diminished. CMHTs were funded by the Croatian Health Insurance Fund within the compulsory health insurance package. The structure of CMHT members was adopted from RECOVER-E project and adjusted to reflect local needs and opportunities (31). Members of the CMHT included at least one psychiatrist, psychiatry resident, psychiatric nurse, psychologist, and in some instances a child and adolescent psychiatrist. CMHTs included local mental health professionals from Dr. Ivan Barbot hospital and professional volunteers from the CPA. CMHTs provided on-site crisis resolution, psychological interventions, psychopharmacological home treatment, remote consultations, and a range of flexible interventions depending on specific needs such as liaising with the local general hospitals in case of emergent somatic comorbidity, liaising with general practitioners (GP) where medication prescription was needed, and liaising with other rescue teams in case of severe home damage related to the earthquake. The teams were situated in three major centers of the County, Petrinja, Sisak, and Glina, where temporary psychiatric ambulances separate from EMS were established. The information about implementation was shared through the local and national media, and informative brochures with contacts for CMHTs were distributed to first responder organizations, local civil defense, non-governmental organizations (NGO), and community health centers. The intervention was available to those who expressed the need for psychiatric care and to those who were detected in need by the community. A flexible team structure enabled all age groups to be treated. The patients would

¹Sphere Association. About (2018). Available online at: https://spherestandards. org/about/ (accessed December 1, 2021).

²Sphere Association. The Sphere Handbook Humanitarian Charter and Minimum Standards in Humanitarian Response (2018). Available online at: https://handbook.spherestandards.org/en (accessed December 1, 2021).

be followed by the CMHT until returning to their previous level of functioning or declining further visits. The rate of declining was not investigated; however, there were obviously no contraindications since the team did not oppose the any discontinuation. From January 4th 2021 to August 1st 2021, CMHTs provided altogether 758 interventions to the people in Sisak-Moslavina County. Most interventions were provided to people suffering from stress related disorders (81%), and 9.3% for people with SMI. Of all interventions, 3.6% were provided for non-psychiatric reasons, such as gastritis, hypertension, and arrythmias. Other interventions (6.1%) included support for people with dementia, alcohol related disorders, insomnia, intellectual disabilities, behavioral and emotional disorders in childhood, and personality disorders. Five cases of patients demonstrate the role of CMHT in early detection, monitoring, and management of SMI.

Case 1

Seven days after the earthquake, a local NGO informed the CMHT about a patient in a possible acute mental health crisis in a remote, hard to reach community. The team managed to visit the patient within 2 days. A 57-year-old female appeared unwilling to participate in the intersection with the CMHT, appeared tense, depressed, and frightened. She was living with her son who described those symptoms have been present for more than a month. He informed their GP about her condition, but due to the disruption in healthcare services, they did not receive follow-up support or care. During the conversation, she would occasionally stare at one point on the celling but denied having any hallucinations. She confirmed that she was having difficulty sleeping and experienced anxiety. She accepted treatment support for the sleep troubles and anxiety and agreed to then have her mental health status re-assessed by the CMHT. The team prescribed her olanzapine 5 mg/daily. Three days after the first visit, her son contacted the team saying the patient refused to eat and drink. The CMHT requested the Croatian mountain rescue service to transport the CMHT to the patient, since the terrain was inaccessible for an EMS vehicle. Upon arrival, the patient refused to talk, and the son confirmed she muttered what seemed to resemble suicidal ideation. The team assessed this as a high-risk situation and took the patient and informed EMS about the arrival of the patient at the Dr. Ivan Barbot psychiatric hospital for inpatient admission. She was later diagnosed with unspecified psychosis and discharged after 3 weeks of hospitalization in an improved condition, however with negative symptoms still mildly present. By the end of July 2021, she continued to receive routine outpatient care at the Dr. Ivan Barbot psychiatric hospital.

Case 2

Following a telephone call 2 weeks after the earthquake, the CMHT visited a patient in a dislocated municipality. The patient was already receiving mental health care for unspecified psychosis and complex PTSD since 2005 but was not able to visit a psychiatrist due to the lack of public transportation after the earthquake. He shared the household with one of his parents, was unemployed, and received social allowances as his only source of

income. He was prescribed diazepam by a GP in doses from 30 to 60 mg per day as needed. However, the patient complained that diazepam was not helping anymore: he had parasuicidal thoughts and could not sleep for longer than an hour every night. He did not want to be admitted to the hospital but was willing to take medications. The team administrated olanzapine 5 mg and started immediately providing short supportive psychotherapy session. After the initial 45-min session, the patient reported slight improvement, did not report any suicidal thoughts and intentions, and he made a suicide prevention contract with the team. For coping with depressive symptoms, the patient was prescribed with fluvoxamine 100 mg/daily and olanzapine 10 mg/daily. He and his parent were provided with all necessary mental health service contacts. CMHT visited next week and provided the second supportive psychotherapy session. The patient described vanishing of all suicidal thoughts and achieving a good sleep routine. The team contacted his GP for further prescription of medication and performed weekly telephone sessions with the patient. During the last visit in June 2021, the patient reported being stable. He found few new activities, was taking care of abandoned animals, and started to engage into physical activity. By that time, public transport returned to operation, and he continued his ongoing care with his treating psychiatrist.

Case 3

Approximately 2 weeks after the earthquake, the team was informed about a 44-year-old unemployed patient near Glina that was in psychiatric treatment since 2017 due to schizoaffective disorder and generalized anxiety disorder. His last psychiatric appointment was 6 months before the earthquake, when the psychiatrist continued with mirtazapine 30 mg/daily, paroxetine 20/daily, and pregabalin 450 mg/daily, and switched him from olanzapine 20 mg/daily to risperidone 4 mg/daily due to drowsiness. A few months before the earthquake, he was engaged in neurological treatment for restless leg syndrome and prescribed with ropinirole 8 mg/daily and diazepam 30 mg/daily. However, since the COVID-19 restrictions came into force and health services were disrupted after the earthquake, he was not able to stay in regular neurological outpatient visits. During the teams' first visit, the patient was anxious, seemed traumatized, had trouble sleeping, and prominent restless leg syndrome symptoms. He reported that he had severe limitations in functioning and felt unsafe in his home, despite the building being categorized safe to remain in by civil engineers employed by the municipality. The team re-prescribed olanzapine (10 mg/daily) and advised him to discontinue mirtazapine as a second antidepressant due to expected olanzapine induced drowsiness. The team provided supportive psychotherapy together with psychological debriefing. In the following week, the team gradually reduced doses of diazepam (to 20 mg/daily) and continued to provide supportive psychotherapy. The patient was followed until May 2021 in which anxiety and sleeping disturbances were reduced. He became more active and became a municipal maintenance worker. His restless leg syndrome improved, and the team gave him directions on continuing his neurological outpatient visits.

Case 4

In the middle of January 2021, the CMHT was consulted to see a mistrustful 59-year-old woman in Petrinja diagnosed with schizophrenia and multiple somatic comorbidities. The team was contacted by her daughter reporting the patient being suspicious and refusing to take her long-acting injectable antipsychotic that she had last received a few weeks before the earthquake. There was also a lack of information about when the next injection would be received, as there was no communication with her treating psychiatrist. The patient refused to be seen by an EMS team but agreed to meet with members of the CMHT in Petrinja's community health center. During the visit, the patient confided to the team members about her paranoid beliefs. She reported that household members were attempting to poison her, and that she does not like to take long-acting injectable antipsychotics as she felt she no longer had schizophrenia. She also complained about pelvic discomfort and vaginal bleeding. Because of the high risk of further illness progression due to medication nonadherence and the lack of support system, all possibly resulting in deterioration of psychic and somatic health, the team indicated a further diagnostic evaluation and treatment, so the patient was transferred to Dr. Ivan Barbot hospital. During the 1-month in hospital stay, she was seen by a psychiatrist, internal medicine specialist, and a gynecologist, and diagnosed with residual schizophrenia, bacterial pneumonia, and cervical polyps. She was prescribed with haloperidol 7 mg/daily, promazine 25 mg/daily, and biperiden 2 mg/daily upon which her psychotic symptoms diminished. She was successfully treated for pneumonia and after discharge continued the gynecological monitoring in an outpatient clinic. Until the beginning of August 2021, she continued to experience stability in her psychiatric state.

Case 5

After the earthquake, all beneficiaries from Counties' retirement homes were temporarily relocated to a hospice in the town of Topusko. In July 2021, 6 months after the earthquake, during the CMHT regular round of home visits, the team was notified about a beneficiary with previously diagnosed schizophrenia that started being hostile toward the hospice workers. The 47year-old patient articulated that her body is not hers, and her sense of touch is unusual. During the placement in the Topusko hospice, she was treated for pulmonary tuberculosis, asthma, and COVID-19 infection with the introduction of quadruple antituberculosis therapy. She received regular mental health treatment, including 75 mg clozapine and 1.5 mg alprazolam daily. CMHT provided her with psychosocial support in the form of counseling and increased clozapine dose for 12.5 mg daily. One week after the initial visit, CMHT noticed an additional deterioration of her mental state in the form of paranoia toward other beneficiaries. Given the new circumstances, and despite the increased clozapine dosage, the possibility of antitubercular therapy-induced psychosis was considered. Therefore, CMHT transferred her to Dr. Ivan Barbot hospital where eventually the diagnosis of iatrogenic genesis of psychotic exacerbation was confirmed. Upon achieving the remission of psychotic symptoms, she was displaced to the Special Hospital for Pulmonary Diseases and Tuberculosis where she continued treatment for pulmonary tuberculosis.

DISCUSSION

This case series presents diverging experiences of mental health issues during the pandemic and in the aftermath of the 2020 earthquake. All cases demonstrate the importance of early detection of symptoms or changes in functioning and regular contact with patients to inform changes in mental health status or in circumstances.

We believe introducing CMHTs as a standard post-disaster mental health intervention could have several benefits. First, they improve access to psychiatric services which is often disrupted in disaster situation, such as in our experience. It is well-known that low levels of accessibility of mental health services increase the inequality in the provision of adequate care for people with SMI (36). The mental health services in general became less accessible during the pandemic in the majority of countries (33, 34). It was also noted that SMI patients had a higher level of morbidity and mortality due to COVID-19, and one of the explanations lies in the inadequate accessibility and provision of mental health services for SMI patients (37). Novel approaches to delivery of care during the pandemic have helped offset the psychiatric risks to SMI patients, and it is presumable that those approaches may be applicable to other disaster scenarios (12). The CMHT may represent the only accessible service in the event of an acute mental health crisis or given measures imposed during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Second, CMHTs can provide fast response to prevent further escalation of an acute mental health crisis. Early detection of symptoms has a positive impact on the outcome and recovery of the disease (38). Our CMHT was able to visit the patient in case number 1 within 48 h and used other available facilities in order to relieve the burden on EMS services. Implementation of mental health outreach teams immediately after severe earthquakes showed significant mental health benefits in Armenia, China, and Japan (39-43). After the 1988 Armenian earthquake, a psychiatric outreach program with trauma/grief-focused brief psychotherapy to adolescents was implemented, which was associated with a reduction of risk of developing PTSD and prevented the exacerbation of depressive symptoms (40, 41). In 2008, Sichuan earthquake psychological rescue services were quickly deployed as well as hotlines for psychological support have been implemented for people near the disaster areas, and also for general public (42). Brief mental health intervention provided demonstrated that overall patient-level results were extremely satisfactory, with marked improvements of functionality and/or symptom intensity seen in the affected population (43). After the 2011 Tohoku earthquake and tsunami, psychiatric mobile teams were immediately dispatched to work in collaboration with local mental health professionals (39). The teams supported them in continuing pre-disaster psychiatric services, providing on-site treatment of acute stress and psychoeducation at communal shelters (39). For adequate post-disaster service, planning, preparation, and management are essential (44). Timely interventions can be observed in countries with predetermined guidelines for post-disaster period (25, 39, 42). Croatia has several recommendations for psychosocial support in disaster situations (45, 46). However, the precise establishment and provision of outreach psychiatric care in crisis situation is not defined (45, 46).

Finally, the flexibility in formation of CMHTs makes them efficient in detecting a wide range of clinical situations. In these cases, the connection of CMHTs with GPs, EMS, and hospital allowed the resolution of highly complex somatic conditions, like detecting iatrogenic psychosis. Unfortunately, CMHTs are not commonly seen in South Eastern European countries, but there are several initiatives and pilot programs that aim to develop and sustain community-based mental health services, including CMHTs (31, 47, 48). They are intended mostly for patients with SMI as an enforcement for rehospitalization prevention and overall admission reduction. CMHT can be adjusted across different clinical groups, such as for persons with first episode psychosis, those with intellectual disabilities, forensic patients, etc., and the members can be formed of different specialists (e.g., some teams include employment specialists, police officers, or social workers) (49-51).

This paper as a case series report has several limitations. The primary limitation is lack of a comparison group (52). However, this limitation is inherent to case studies. The benefits of receiving outreach community psychiatric care for patients with SMI have been emphasized (31, 32), and we believe we provided SMI patients with above-standard care especially in the situation where standard care is not available at all. CMHTs after 2020 Petrinja earthquake were conducted on the back of numerous highly devoted professional volunteers. Those professionals do not necessary reflect the overall mental health workforce in Croatia. Selection bias might also be present, since only patients who agreed to receiving treatment by the CMHT were included in this particular case series. However, we believe this case series provides valuable information about the management of patients with SMI in double disaster using CMHTs and will lead to more extensive research in the field of outreach post-disaster services.

In sum, after a disaster, CMHTs have the potential to deliver feasible, comprehensive, and accessible mental health services in remote areas affected by a disaster or impacted more substantially due to public health measures in the place, for instance, in the event of the COVID-19 pandemic.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Files**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and

institutional requirements. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article. All patients in this case series gave informed consent for the publication.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SM, AI, IS, DP, HH, RM, LR, MK, AP, DŠ, and MRK participated in the project and in the study. SM, AI, IS, and DP participated in the writing of the first draft of the manuscript, gave critically relevant comments in the revised version of the manuscript study, and approved the final version of it. HH, RM, and LR gave critically relevant comments and approved the final version. MK, AP, LZ, and DŠ gave critically relevant comments, participated in the writing of the final revision of the manuscript, and approved the final version of it. MRK revised the first draft of the study, and gave critically relevant comments on the subsequent revisions of the manuscript, and approved the final version of it. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

The implementation of the psychiatric mobile team service was funded by the Croatian Health Insurance Fund according to their diagnostic and therapeutic procedures codebook as a part of compulsory health insurance in Croatia. The Croatian Institute of Public Health initiated and funded the project Preservation of mental health in the earthquake-affected area in the Sisak-Moslavina County in the period of May 15th to August 15th 2021 within which SM, IS, HH, and RM received funds for assistance during the service delivery in the County.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Part of the volunteers were educated in flexible assertive community treatment through the programme RECOVER-E (European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under grant agreement No. 779362.) in the 2018, as an integrated part of the project. We express our deepest condolences to the disaster victims and their families. We greatly appreciate first responders, self-organized volunteers, supportive institutional representatives, and the members of the Croatian Psychiatric Association who volunteered and provided psychiatric care after the earthquake. Without their engagement and enthusiasm, the implementation of mobile teams would not be so successful and extensive.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2021.795661/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Markusic S, Stanko D, Penava D, Ivancic I, Orsulic OB, Korbar T, et al. Destructive M6.2 petrinja earthquake (croatia) in 2020preliminary multidisciplinary research. *Remote Sens.* (2021) 13:1095. doi: 10.3390/rs13061095
- Atalić J, Uroš M, Šavor Novak M, Demšić M, Nastev M. The Mw5.4 Zagreb (Croatia) earthquake of March 22, 2020: impacts and response. *Bull Earthquake Eng.* (2021) 19:3461–89. doi: 10.1007/s10518-021-01117-w
- Tallon JM, Gomes P, Bacelar–Nicolau L. Comparative prevalence of COVID–19 in European countries: a time window at second wave. *Biom Biostat Int J.* (2020) 9.6:196–207. doi: 10.15406/bbij.2020.09.00321
- Farooqui M, Quadri SA, Suriya SS, Khan MA, Ovais M, Sohail J, et al. Posttraumatic stress disorder: a serious post-earthquake complication. *Trends Psychiatry Psychother*. (2017) 39:135–43. doi: 10.1590/2237-6089-2016-0029
- Cerdá M, Paczkowski M, Galea S, Nemethy K, Péan C, Desvarieux M. Psychopathology in the aftermath of the Haiti earthquake: a population-based study of posttraumatic stress disorder and major depression. *Depress Anxiety*. (2013) 30:413–24. doi: 10.1002/da.22007
- Ayub M, Saeed K, Kingdon D, Naeem F. Rate and predictors of psychotic symptoms after Kashmir earthquake. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2015) 265:471–81. doi: 10.1007/s00406-014-0561-1
- Cénat JM, Derivois D. Assessment of prevalence and determinants of posttraumatic stress disorder and depression symptoms in adults survivors of earthquake in Haiti after 30 months. J Affect Disord. (2014) 159:111– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2014.02.025
- Başoglu M, Kiliç C, Salcioglu E, Livanou M. Prevalence of posttraumatic stress disorder and comorbid depression in earthquake survivors in Turkey: an epidemiological study. J Trauma Stress. (2004) 17:133– 41. doi: 10.1023/B:JOTS.0000022619.31615.e8
- Nishizawa M, Hoshide S, Shimpo M, Kario K. Disaster hypertension: experience from the great East Japan earthquake of 2011. *Curr Hypertens Rep.* (2012) 14:375–81. doi: 10.1007/s11906-012-0298-z
- Matsuoka T, Yoshioka T, Oda J, Tanaka H, Kuwagata Y, Sugimoto H, et al. The impact of a catastrophic earthquake on morbidity rates for various illnesses. *Public Health*. (2000) 114:249–53. doi: 10.1016/S0033-3506(00)00339-5
- 11. Shiga H, Miyazawa T, Kinouchi Y, Takahashi S, Tominaga G, Takahashi H, et al. Life-event stress induced by the Great East Japan Earthquake was associated with relapse in ulcerative colitis but not Crohn's disease: a retrospective cohort study. *BMJ Open.* (2013) 3:e002294. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2012-002294
- Jing GP, Katz CL. An update on psychotic spectrum disorders and disasters. Curr Opin Psychiatry. (2021) 34:211–5. doi: 10.1097/YCO.00000000000000000
- Robilotta S, Cueto E, Yanos PT. An examination of stress and coping among adults diagnosed with severe mental illness. *Isr J Psychiatry Relat Sci.* (2010) 47:222–31.
- Schneider F, Erhart M, Hewer W, Loeffler LA, Jacobi F. Mortality and medical comorbidity in the severely mentally ill. *Dtsch Arztebl Int*. (2019) 116:405– 11. doi: 10.3238/arztebl.2019.0405
- Filipčić I, Filipčić IŠ, Grošić V, Bakija I, Šago D, Benjak T, et al. Patterns of chronic physical multimorbidity in psychiatric and general population. J Psychosom Res. (2018) 114:72–80. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2018.09.011
- Alexander DA. Early mental health intervention after disasters. Adv Psychiatr Treat. (2005) 11:12–8. doi: 10.1192/apt.11.1.12
- Purgato M, Gastaldon C, Papola D, van Ommeren M, Barbui C, Tol WA. Psychological therapies for the treatment of mental disorders in low- and middle-income countries affected by humanitarian crises. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2018) 7:CD011849. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD011849.pub2
- Papola D, Purgato M, Gastaldon C, Bovo C, van Ommeren M, Barbui C, et al. Psychological and social interventions for the prevention of mental disorders in people living in low- and middle-income countries affected by humanitarian crises. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2020) 9:CD012417. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD012417.pub2
- Uphoff E, Robertson L, Cabieses B, Villalón FJ, Purgato M, Churchill R, et al. An overview of systematic reviews on mental health promotion, prevention, and treatment of common mental disorders for refugees, asylum seekers, and internally displaced persons. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2020) 9:CD013458. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD013458.pub2

- Ripoll Gallardo A, Pacelli B, Alesina M, Serrone D, Iacutone G, Faggiano F, et al. Medium- and long-term health effects of earthquakes in high-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Epidemiol.* (2018) 47:1317–32. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyy130
- Mistry AS, Kohrt BA, Beecroft B, Anand N, Nuwayhid I. Introduction to collection: confronting the challenges of health research in humanitarian crises. *Confl Health*. (2021) 15:38. doi: 10.1186/s13031-021-00371-8
- Patel V, Prince M. Global mental health: a new global health field comes of age. JAMA. (2010) 303:1976–7. doi: 10.1001/jama.2010.616
- Patel V, Saxena S, Lund C, Thornicroft G, Baingana F, Bolton P, et al. The Lancet Commission on global mental health and sustainable development. *Lancet.* (2018) 392:1553–98. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31612-X
- 24. World Health Organization. Promoting Mental Health: Concepts, Emerging Evidence, Practice: Report of the World Health Organization (2005).
- Sohrabizadeh S, Yousefian S, Bahramzadeh A, Hossein Vaziri M. A systematic review of health sector responses to the coincidence of disasters and COVID-19. *BMC Public Health*. (2021) 21:709. doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-10806-9
- Shultz JM, Fugate C, Galea S. Cascading risks of COVID-19 resurgence during an active 2020 atlantic hurricane season. JAMA. (2020) 324:935– 6. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.15398
- 27. Simsek P, Abdulkadir G. Double disaster: pandemic and earthquake. *Erciyes* Med J. (2021) 43:209–11. doi: 10.14744/etd.2020.03342
- Cueto LJ, Agaton CB. Pandemic and typhoon: positive impacts of a double disaster on mental health of female students in the Philippines. *Behav Sci.* (2021) 11:64. doi: 10.3390/bs11050064
- 29. Simonovic SP, Kundzewicz ZW, Wright N. Floods and the COVID-19 pandemic—A new double hazard problem. *Wiley Interdiscip Rev Water*. (2021) 8:e1509. doi: 10.1002/wat2.1509
- Rocha I, Dos Santos Costa A, Islam Z, Jain S, Goyal S, Mohanan P, et al. Typhoons during the COVID-19 pandemic in the Philippines: impact of a double crises on mental health. *Disaster Med Public Health Prep.* (2021) 1–4. doi: 10.1017/dmp.2021.140
- 31. Shields-Zeeman L, Petrea I, Smit F, Walters BH, Dedovic J, Kuzman MR, et al. Towards community-based and recovery-oriented care for severe mental disorders in Southern and Eastern Europe: aims and design of a multi-country implementation and evaluation study (RECOVER-E). *Int J Ment Health Syst.* (2020) 14:30. doi: 10.1186/s13033-020-00361-y
- 32. Goscha RJ, Rapp CA, Bond GR, Drake RE. Case management and assertive community treatment. In: McQuistion HL, Sowers WE, Ranz JM, Feldman JM, editors. *Handbook of Community Psychiatry*. New York, NY: Springer (2012). p. 293–308. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4614-3149-7_24
- 33. World Health Organization. The Impact of COVID-19 on Mental, Neurological and Substance Use Services: Results of a Rapid Assessment. Geneva: World Health Organization (2020). Available Online at: https://apps.who.int/ iris/bitstream/handle/10665/335838/9789240012455-eng.pdf?sequence=1& isAllowed=y
- 34. Rojnic Kuzman M, Vahip S, Fiorillo A, Beezhold J, Pinto da Costa M, Skugarevsky O, et al. Mental health services during the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic in Europe: results from the EPA Ambassadors Survey and implications for clinical practice. *Eur Psychiatry*. (2021) 64:e41. doi: 10.1192/j.eurpsy.2021.2215
- Pajonk FG, Bartels HH, Biberthaler P, Bregenzer H, Moecke H. Psychiatric emergencies in preclinical emergency service; incidence, treatment and evaluation by emergency physicians and staff. *Nervenarzt*. (2001) 72:685– 92. doi: 10.1007/s001150170047
- Bradford DW, Kim MM, Braxton LE, Marx CE, Butterfield M, Elbogen EB. Access to medical care among persons with psychotic and major affective disorders. *Psychiatr Serv.* (2008) 59:847–52. doi: 10.1176/ps.2008.59. 8.847
- Taquet M, Sierra L, Geddes JR, Harrison PJ. Bidirectional associations between COVID-19 and psychiatric disorder: retrospective cohort studies of 62 354 COVID-19 cases in the USA. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2021) 8:130– 40. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30462-4
- Bouveng O, Bengtsson FA, Carlborg. First-year follow-up of the Psychiatric Emergency Response Team (PAM) in Stockholm County, Sweden: a descriptive study. Int J Ment Health. (2017) 46:65–73. doi: 10.1080/00207411.2016.1264040

- Suzuki Y, Kim Y. The great East Japan earthquake in 2011; toward sustainable mental health care system. *Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci.* (2012) 21:7– 11. doi: 10.1017/S2045796011000795
- Goenjian A. A mental health relief programme in Armenia after the 1988 earthquake. Implementation and clinical observations. *Br J Psychiatry*. (1993) 163:230–9. doi: 10.1192/bjp.163.2.230
- Goenjian AK, Karayan I, Pynoos RS, Minassian D, Najarian LM, Steinberg AM, et al. Outcome of psychotherapy among early adolescents after trauma. *Am J Psychiatry*. (1997) 154:536–42. doi: 10.1176/ajp.154.4.536
- Higgins LT, Xiang G, Song Z. The development of psychological intervention after disaster in China. J Asia Pac Couns. (2010) 1:77–86. doi: 10.1080/21507680903570292
- Coldiron ME, Llosa AE, Roederer T, Casas G, Moro MR. Brief mental health interventions in conflict and emergency settings: an overview of four Médecins Sans Frontières - France programs. *Confl Health.* (2013) 7:23. doi: 10.1186/1752-1505-7-23
- Bisson JI, Tavakoly B, Witteveen AB, Ajdukovic D, Jehel L, Johansen VJ, et al. TENTS guidelines: development of post-disaster psychosocial care guidelines through a Delphi process. Br J Psychiatry. (2010) 196: 69– 74. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.109.066266
- Ajduković D, Bakić H, Ajduković M. Psihosocijalna podrška u kriznim situacijama velikih razmjera [Psychosocial Support in Large-Scale Crisis Situations]. Zagreb: Hrvatski Crveni kriŽ (2016). p. 35.
- Witteveen AB, Bisson JI, Ajdukovic D, Arnberg FK, Johannesson KB, Bolding HB, et al. Post-disaster psychosocial services across Europe: the TENTS project. Soc Sci Med. (2012) 75:1708–14. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2012. 06.017
- 47. Winkler P, Koeser L, Kondrátová L, Broulíková HM, Páv M, Kališová L, et al. Cost-effectiveness of care for people with psychosis in the community and psychiatric hospitals in the Czech Republic: an economic analysis. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2018) 5:1023–31. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(18)3 0388-2
- 48. Petrea I, Shields-Zeeman L, Keet R, Nica R, Kraan K, Chihai J, et al. Mental health system reform in Moldova: description of the program and reflections

on its implementation between 2014 and 2019. *Health Policy*. (2020) 124:83-8. doi: 10.1016/j.healthpol.2019.11.007

- Deschietere G. Mobility in psychiatry, an alternative to forced hospitalization? Psychiatr Danub. (2018) 30:495–7.
- Santermans L, Zeeuws D, Vanderbruggen N, Crunelle CL. Mobile crisis team in the Brussels region: facts and figures. *Psychiatr Danub*. (2019) 31(Suppl. 3):418–20.
- Girard V, Sarradon-Eck A, Payan N, Bonin JP, Perrot S, Vialars V, et al. The analysis of a mobile mental health outreach team activity: from psychiatric emergencies on the street to practice of hospitalization at home for homeless people. *Presse Med.* (2012) 41:e226–37. French. doi: 10.1016/j.lpm.2011.09.032
- Kooistra B, Dijkman B, Einhorn TA, Bhandari M. How to design a good case series. J Bone Joint Surg Am. (2009) 91(Suppl. 3):21– 6. doi: 10.2106/JBJS.H.01573

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Medved, Imširagić, Salopek, Puljić, Handl, Kovač, Peleš, Štimac Grbic, Romančuk, MuŽić, Zeeman and Kuzman. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Scaling Evidence-Based Interventions to Improve the Cardiovascular Health of People With Serious Mental Illness

Christina T. Yuan^{1*}, Emma E. McGinty¹, Arlene Dalcin², Stacy Goldsholl², Faith Dickerson³, Kimberly A. Gudzune², Gerald J. Jerome⁴, David A. Thompson⁵, Karly A. Murphy², Eva Minahan² and Gail L. Daumit^{1,2}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Andrea Fiorillo, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

Reviewed by:

Giulia Menculini, University of Perugia, Italy Carmen Moret-Tatay, Catholic University of Valencia San Vicente Mártir, Spain Gaia Sampogna, University of Campania "L. Vanvitelli", Italy

> *Correspondence: Christina T. Yuan cyuan16@jhu.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychosomatic Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 11 October 2021 Accepted: 11 January 2022 Published: 04 February 2022

Citation:

Yuan CT, McGinty EE, Dalcin A, Goldsholl S, Dickerson F, Gudzune KA, Jerome GJ, Thompson DA, Murphy KA, Minahan E and Daumit GL (2022) Scaling Evidence-Based Interventions to Improve the Cardiovascular Health of People With Serious Mental Illness. Front. Psychiatry 13:793146. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.793146 ¹ Department of Health Policy and Management, Johns Hopkins University Bloomberg School of Public Health, Baltimore, MD, United States, ² Division of General Internal Medicine, Johns Hopkins School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States, ³ Sheppard Pratt, Baltimore, MD, United States, ⁴ Department of Kinesiology, Towson University, Towson, MD, United States, ⁵ Department of Anesthesiology and Critical Care Medicine, Johns Hopkins School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States

People with serious mental illnesses (SMIs) experience excess mortality, driven in large part by high rates of cardiovascular disease (CVD), with all cardiovascular disease risk factors elevated. Interventions designed to improve the cardiovascular health of people with SMI have been shown to lead to clinically significant improvements in clinical trials; however, the uptake of these interventions into real-life clinical settings remains limited. Implementation strategies, which constitute the "how to" component of changing healthcare practice, are critical to supporting the scale-up of evidence-based interventions that can improve the cardiovascular health of people with SMI. And yet, implementation strategies are often poorly described and rarely justified theoretically in the literature, limiting the ability of researchers and practitioners to tease apart why, what, how, and when implementation strategies lead to improvement. In this Perspective, we describe the implementation strategies that the Johns Hopkins ALACRITY Center for Health and Longevity in Mental Illness is using to scale-up three evidenced-based interventions related to: (1) weight loss; (2) tobacco smoking cessation treatment; and (3) hypertension, dyslipidemia, and diabetes care for people with SMI. Building on concepts from the literature on complex health interventions, we focus on considerations related to the core function of an intervention (i.e., or basic purposes of the change process that the health intervention seeks to facilitate) vs. the form (i.e., implementation strategies or specific activities taken to carry out core functions that are customized to local contexts). By clearly delineating how implementation strategies are operationalized to support the interventions' core functions across these three studies, we aim to build and improve the future evidence base of how to adapt, implement, and evaluate interventions to improve the cardiovascular health of people with SMI.

Keywords: implementation strategies, scale-up, serious mental illness, cardiovascular health, evidence-based interventions, implementation

78

INTRODUCTION

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is the primary cause of preventable death for people with serious mental illnesses (SMIs) (1), due in large part to elevated rates of CVD risk factors (obesity, hypertension, dyslipidemia, and diabetes mellitus) and risk behaviors (tobacco smoking, physical inactivity, and unhealthy diet) that are 1.5-3 times higher in people with SMI than in the overall population (2-5). These disproportionately high rates are driven by a number of factors. At the patient level, metabolic side effects of psychotropic medications (6, 7) and shared pathophysiology between certain CVD and SMI conditions (e.g., altered inflammatory processes) (8, 9) can directly affect cardiovascular health; whereas socioeconomic risks, lack of social support, and cognitive impairment can contribute to suboptimal health habits and impede productive engagement with the healthcare system (10, 11). At the level of care delivery, the poor integration between general medical and specialty mental healthcare likely contributes to significant disparities in the levels of guideline-concordant care delivered to patients with SMI (12, 13). Primary care physicians may lack the comfort or experience in treating people with SMI, mental health specialists may view physical healthcare as outside their purview, and importantly, delivery systems often do not support or reimburse coordination efforts.

Fortunately, there are evidence-based interventions that can help improve the cardiovascular health of people with SMI. A growing number of behavioral interventions tailored to people with SMI have been shown in clinical trials to facilitate weight loss and tobacco smoking cessation (14-16). However, translating the improvements demonstrated in trials has been limited in reallife clinical settings, leading to the well-documented researchto-practice gap that undermines the uptake of many clinical interventions (17). In part, this is because implementation-or the process of gaining targeted organizational members' skillful, consistent, and committed use of a practice (18)—is often fraught with challenges, with roughly two-thirds of implementation efforts failing to achieve the intended result (19), and almost half having no effect on outcomes of interest (20). Implementation barriers are numerous and varied, including factors at the provider-level (e.g., providers' lack of self-efficacy to perform an evidence-based practice), organizational-level (e.g., lack of fit between the intervention and current workflows), and systemlevel (e.g., lack of policies and financing mechanisms that would support sustainable change).

To enhance the uptake of interventions, many translational projects employ *implementation strategies*, which refer to methods or techniques used to improve adoption, implementation, and sustainment of interventions (21). Implementation strategies constitute the "how to" component of changing healthcare practice (21) and range from discrete, relatively "light touch" strategies (e.g., reminder systems for clinicians) to more intensive multi-component strategies that may target multiple levels (e.g., organizational-level, providerlevel, and consumer-level). The wide variation in implementation strategies is useful for addressing the diverse array of barriers that may affect implementation outcomes and long-term adoption. However, the tremendous variation, both in terms of the strategies themselves and the ways in which the strategies are described, have led some to characterize the literature on implementation as a 'Tower of Babel" (22). Although several taxonomies have been developed to organize the types of strategies available (23, 24), implementation strategies are often poorly described in the literature and rarely justified theoretically. Given this lack of precision, implementation scholars are increasingly calling upon the research community to more clearly delineate how implementation strategies are operationalized (21, 25). With more robust specifications of who enacts the strategies and for what purpose, researchers and practitioners will be better able to tease apart why, what, how, and when implementation strategies actually lead to improvement.

In this paper, we describe the implementation strategies being leveraged by the Johns Hopkins ALACRITY Center for Health and Longevity in Mental Illness, a research-practice translation center funded by the National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH) that aims to reduce premature mortality among people with SMI (26). The Center's goals are to develop and test implementation strategies to support the scale-up of three evidenced-based interventions related to: (1) weight loss; (2) tobacco smoking cessation treatment; and (3) hypertension, dyslipidemia, and diabetes care for people with SMI. Building on concepts from the literature on complex health interventions, we first consider the core functions, or basic purposes of the change process that the health intervention seeks to facilitate. We next describe the forms, or implementation strategies used to carry out the core functions, using Proctor et al.'s recommendations for specifying and reporting implementation strategies (21). By delineating how the selected implementation strategies have been operationalized to support the interventions' core functions across these three studies, we aim to inform and improve future efforts to adapt, implement, and evaluate interventions to improve the cardiovascular health of people with SMI.

Evidence-Based Interventions to Improve Cardiovascular Health

The Johns Hopkins ALACRITY Center for Health and Longevity in Mental Illness aims to develop and test multi-component implementation strategies to support the scale-up of three evidence-based interventions to reduce cardiovascular risk in SMI. The first project, named ACHIEVE-Dissemination (or ACHIEVE-D for short), is a 6-month evidence-based behavioral weight loss program tailored to adults with SMI that is being delivered in Psychiatric Rehabilitation Programs throughout Maryland. The intervention was adapted from the ACHIEVE randomized-controlled trial (RCT) (15, 27), in which participants who received the intervention (i.e., group and individual weight management sessions and group exercise classes primarily delivered by trained interventionists) experienced clinically significant weight loss (7 lbs. at 18 months). To promote scale-up of the intervention so that it could be implemented by mental health program staff, we adapted the ACHIEVE program using the Enhanced Replicating Effective Programs (REP) Framework (28) to increase the acceptability and feasibility of the ACHIEVE-D curriculum in community settings.

The second project, IMPACT, is a 12-month intervention to support the uptake of evidence-based tobacco smoking cessation treatment (14, 29) in community mental health clinics in Maryland. The overarching premise is that clinics should implement the following evidence-based practices: (1) screening for tobacco use in all patients, (2) assessment of willingness to quit for those who smoke, (3) behavioral counseling for those interested in cutting down or quitting smoking, and (4) pharmacotherapy for those interested in cutting down or quitting smoking. The IMPACT intervention is designed for community mental health organization leaders and providers (e.g., therapists including licensed social workers, counselors, and psychologists; and physician, nurse practitioner, and physician assistant prescribers) to deliver the program to patients who attend community mental health clinics and currently smoke tobacco. To increase mental health providers' uptake of the intervention, we are using Gurses et al.'s interdisciplinary framework of clinicians' compliance with evidence-based guidelines (30) to guide our assessment of baseline characteristics of the clinics, providers, and evidence-based practice as well as relevant mechanisms of change (i.e., providers' knowledge and selfefficacy) to be targeted by implementation efforts.

The third project, RHYTHM, is a 12-month care coordination intervention that aims to equip mental health providers with the ability to coordinate guideline-concordant care for hypertension, dyslipidemia, and diabetes mellitus among people with SMI in the context of Psychiatric Rehabilitation Programs implementing behavioral health homes in Maryland (31-33). Guided by the Translating Evidence into Practice (TRIP) model for large-scale knowledge translation into community settings (34), the study team conducted a comprehensive review of clinical guidelines and scholarly literature to create a bundle of evidence-based care processes for hypertension, dyslipidemia, and diabetes tailored for people with SMI. The bundle includes two overarching components: (1) clinical care processes (e.g., annual dilated eye exam for patients with diabetes), and (2) care coordination and management processes (e.g., using a brief form to facilitate communication between a primary care provider and behavioral health home team at the time of a routinely scheduled visit). These evidence-based practices will be implemented using an adapted version of the Comprehensive Unit Safety Program (CUSP) strategy, which seeks to foster a team-based quality improvement culture and reduce preventable harm (31).

Form vs. Function

These three evidence-based interventions to improve cardiovascular health for people with SMI can be thought of as *complex health interventions* in which (1) the intervention's multiple components interact in a summative and synergistic fashion; (2) individuals delivering and receiving the intervention exhibit a highly complex set of behaviors; (3) changes are required at multiple levels (e.g., organizational, workforce, or patient); (4) outcomes are numerous and variable; and (5) there is some flexibility in how the intervention is implemented (35). Within the literature on complex health interventions, there is a useful distinction between the core functions of an intervention, which speaks to the basic purposes of the change process that the health intervention seeks to facilitate; and its forms, which speaks to specific strategies or activities that may be customized to local context and that are needed to carry out the core functions (36). With regards to an intervention's core functions, it is important to note that the "basic purposes of the change process" applies to both the clinical/therapeutic/administrative changes associated with improving health outcomes for patients (e.g., reducing consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages in people with SMI) as well as the implementation-related changes associated with putting the clinical or behavioral intervention into practice (e.g., training providers to increase their knowledge of an intervention). In this Perspective, we focus on the core functions of the implementation-related changes and how these map on to the specific forms, or implementation strategies, designed to facilitate these changes.

Core Functions of the Interventions

All three of the Center's projects share certain core functions related to putting the clinical interventions into practice (Table 1). For example, a core function that supports the delivery of guideline-concordant care across all three projects is to create written processes and defined standards including manuals for delivering care. Moreover, since all of the interventions are being implemented by mental health program staff-not research staff-another core function is to educate clinicians and staff to be able to deliver the interventions' components with fidelity and to use skills in motivational interviewing (i.e., an evidence-based and patient-centered communication method) to more effectively engage with clients in conversations around the targeted behaviors. To complement this educational component, a third core function is to provide opportunities to practice the motivational interviewing techniques that mental health program staff are introduced to through training. All of the projects also aim to facilitate a supportive implementation climate at the organizational-level in which mental health program staff perceive that the adoption, implementation, and use of an innovation is expected, rewarded, and supported by the organization (37).

Several of the core functions are also specific to the design of a particular intervention. In ACHIEVE-D, for example, mental health program staff serve as "coaches" to deliver weight management and exercise sessions. Consequently, a core function specific to this intervention that will be tested in the "enhanced condition" of the project is to provide tailored feedback to coaches on their delivery of these sessions. In IMPACT, in which therapists and prescribers are responsible for delivering smoking cessation treatment, a core function is to provide clinical consultation and support related to behavioral counseling for smoking cessation and prescription of pharmacotherapy. Lastly, for RHYTHM, which seeks to improve care coordination processes, one of this project's core functions is to foster a team-based quality improvement culture where providers work together to identify a patient-centered problem and then address barriers to receipt of evidence-based care for that problem.

TABLE 1 | Overview of the interventions' core functions and forms.

| Intervention | Core Functions | Forms (implementation strategies) |
|---|--|--|
| All ALACRITY center projects | Create written processes, defined standards, and manuals for delivering guideline-concordant care | Protocol |
| | Educate clinicians and staff to deliver the intervention | Training |
| | Provide opportunity to practice motivational interviewing skills when discussing the targeted behavior | Avatar practice modules |
| | Facilitate a supportive implementation climate for change | Organizational strategy meetings, adapted comprehensive unit safety program (CUSP) |
| Setting-specific | | |
| ACHIEVE-D: 6-month tailored behavioral veight loss intervention delivered by psychiatric rehabilitation program (PRP) staff | Provide tailored feedback to staff on their delivery of the intervention (in the enhanced arm) | Performance coaching |
| VIPACT: 12-month evidence-based obacco smoking cessation treatment lelivered by community mental health clinic rescribers and therapists | Provide clinical consultation and support | Coaching |
| | | Expert consultation |
| RHYTHM: 12-month care coordination ntervention for hypertension, dyslipidemia, and diabetes mellitus delivered by behavioral nealth home providers and PRP staff | Foster a team-based quality improvement culture | Adapted comprehensive unit safety program (CUSP) |

Specifying Implementation Strategies

Whereas the core functions help to clarify the basic purposes of the change process, the corresponding forms or implementation strategies—illustrate the specific activities that are needed to carry out the core functions and that can be customized to a local context.

In order to describe how implementation strategies have been operationalized with enough detail to enable measurement and reproducibility, Proctor et al. (21) recommends that researchers specify the: (1) actor(s), (2) action(s), (3) action target(s), (4) temporality, (5) dose, (6) implementation outcomes affected, and (7) theoretical, empirical, or pragmatic justification. The actor is defined as the stakeholder who actually delivers the implementation strategy, which for all three Center projects includes faculty and intervention experts from the Johns Hopkins ALACRITY Center for Health and Longevity in Mental Illness. The actions indicate the actions, steps or processes, and sequences of behavior (e.g., provide clinical supervision), whereas action targets refer to conceptual targets they attempt to impact (e.g., knowledge about the evidence-based practice). Temporality refers to the stage or phase when the strategy is used, dose refers to the dosage or intensity of the strategy, and implementation outcomes typically refer to Proctor et al.'s (38) taxonomy of implementation outcomes (acceptability, adoption, appropriateness, feasibility, fidelity, implementation cost, penetration, and sustainability). Last, the justification includes the rationale for why a strategy is being used.

For the Center's three interventions, the core functions of the changes process that are shared across projects also have corresponding implementation strategies in common, although the strategies vary in terms of how they are being operationalized (**Table 2**). For example, in order to support the core function of educating clinicians and staff to deliver the intervention, all of the projects include synchronous training that is delivered virtually in real-time as an implementation strategy. However, the dose of the training ranges from 2 h (for prescribers in IMPACT) to 15 h (for coaches in ACHIEVE-D), reflecting both the amount of content that needs to be covered as well as the feasibility of conducting the targeted actions.

To meet the needs of the core functions of the change process that are intervention-specific, the Center is also employing an array of implementation strategies that are particular to each project. For example, to enable a culture of quality improvement at participating sites, the RHYTHM project is leveraging an adapted Comprehensive Unit Safety Program (CUSP) implementation strategy comprised of provider training (which is a discrete strategy common across projects) that is combined with expert facilitation and implementation of a fivestep quality improvement process (which are strategies specific to RHYTHM). The CUSP strategy is designed to foster a teambased quality improvement culture, in which clinicians and staff are first trained on the science of quality improvement, and then work in CUSP teams to create a process at their organization for continuously identifying and addressing barriers to evidence-based care. By training providers and putting standard processes to implement evidence-based care in place, the CUSP implementation strategy is designed to improve the organization's culture as well as providers' self-efficacy to deliver guideline-concordant care.

DISCUSSION

Improving the cardiovascular health of people with SMI is a lynchpin to reducing premature mortality in this

All ALACRITY center projects

| Implementation strategy Treatment protocol Synchronous online training | | Action | Action targets | Temporality | Dose | Outcome | |
|--|---|---|---|---|--|--|--|
| | | nt protocol Provide a manual for Knowledge and self- delivering the evidence-based coaches/peer leader practices (ACHIEVE-D), therapists/prescriber and clinic staff (RHY deliver the intervention | | Ongoing | As needed | Adoption, fidelity | |
| | | Present information needed to implement all intervention components including brief training on motivational interviewing (MI); provide opportunity to practice skills | Knowledge, self-efficacy, and skills of coaches/peer leaders (ACHIEVE-D), therapists/prescribers (IMPACT), and clinic staff (RHYTHM) to deliver the intervention | Pre- ACHIEVE-D: (15 h) implementation IMPACT: (4 h)/for therapists; (2 h)/for prescribers RHYTHM: (12 h) | | Adoption, fidelity | |
| | | Provide opportunity to practice motivational interviewing techniques for targeted behaviors | Self-efficacy of coaches (ACHIEVE-D), therapists/prescribers (IMPACT), and clinic staff (RHYTHM) in using motivational interviewing techniques | Monthly | ACHIEVE-D: (20 min) IMPACT: (15 min) RHYTHM: (15 min) | Penetration amongst clients, fidelity to the MI method | |
| | etting specific | | | | | | |
| ACHIEVE-D | Performance coaching (for the enhanced arm of the project) | Provide tailored feedback to coaches regarding their delivery of video-taped group sessions | Coaches' ability to deliver group sessions with fidelity to the curriculum; motivational interviewing skill development | Monthly | 1 h | Penetration amongst clients, fidelity to the intervention | |
| | Asynchronous online training | Review key concepts and discussion points prior to delivering the module; complete learning activity and quiz for each online training module | Coaches and peer leaders' knowledge, self-efficacy, and skills to deliver upcoming group sessions | Monthly | 20 min | Penetration amongst clients Fidelity to the intervention | |
| | Organizational strategy meetings | Provide data feedback on client attendance at group sessions; identify barriers at the individual and organizational levels; support group problem-solving; support learning within teams | Implementation climate and leadership engagement at the organizational level | Monthly | 30 min | Adoption, Penetration amongst clients, fidelity to the intervention | |
| IMPACT | Asynchronous online training | Present introductory information on core components of IMPACT | Therapists and prescribers' knowledge of the intervention | Pre- implementation | Once (1 h) | Adoption | |
| | Coaching calls | Provide clinical consultation and support for behavioral counseling or pharmacotherapy | Therapists and prescribers' knowledge, skills, and access to expertise | Monthly | (30 min)/therapists (15 min)/prescribers | Fidelity to the intervention | |
| | Expert consultation | Provide support for behaviora counseling or pharmacotherapy | I Prescribers and therapists' knowledge and skills, and access to expertise | Ongoing | As needed | Fidelity to the intervention | |
| | Organizational strategy meetings | Provide data feedback on delivery of core components; identify barriers at the organizational level; support group problem-solving | Implementation climate and leadership engagement at the organizational level | Monthly | 30 min | Adoption, Penetration amongst clients, Fidelity to the intervention | |
| RHYTHM | Adapted comprehen-sive unit safety program (CUSP) | Identify barriers, plan strategies to remove barriers, study and refine strategy; support learning within teams support team members | Clinic staff members' knowledge self-efficacy, skills, and access to internal expertise; remove ; barriers; promote supportive organizational climate for RHYTHM | - | 2–3h | Acceptability, Adoption, Feasibility, Fidelity to the intervention, Penetration amongst clients | |

Actors: All actions performed by faculty and intervention experts from the Johns Hopkins ALACRITY Center for Health and Longevity in Mental Illness. Theoretical justification: ACHIEVE-D: Enhanced Replicating Effective Programs (REP) Model; IMPACT: Gurses et al.'s interdisciplinary framework of clinicians' compliance with evidence-based guidelines; RHYTHM: Translating Evidence into Practice (TRIP) model.

population. To effectively scale-up interventions that have demonstrated significant improvements in CVD risks and risk behaviors in clinical trial settings, it is imperative to use implementation strategies that speak to both the core functions of the intervention's change processes and the localized implementation context. In this Perspective, we describe how the Johns Hopkins ALACRITY Center for Health and Longevity in Mental Illness is operationalizing implementation strategies to support the core functions of three evidence-based interventions related to weight loss (ACHIEVE-D); tobacco smoking cessation treatment (IMPACT); and hypertension, dyslipidemia, and diabetes mellitus care (RHYTHM) for people with SMI which, in total, address all cardiovascular risk factors. By clearly specifying how the implementation strategies have been operationalized, our goal is to contribute to the evidence base of why, how, and when implementation strategies can lead to supporting successful uptake of interventions, and ultimately, improved patient outcomes.

Moving forward, it will be important to consider how implementation strategies are being adapted to increase their acceptability and feasibility in real-life clinical settings, including modifications to improve their fit with local populations, settings, and contexts. The need to account for such adaptations is particularly salient amidst the backdrop of the COVID-19 pandemic, in which the turbulence of the external environment has prompted the need for significant modifications. For example, for all three of the Center's projects, training for mental health program staff was originally designed to be delivered in-person. With the onset of the pandemic, and ensuing restrictions related to in-person gatherings, the Center's faculty and intervention experts had to quickly pivot to reformat the training for the virtual environment. In order to systematically capture these adaptations, the Center plans to use the FRAME-IS model (39), a comprehensive framework for documenting modifications to implementation strategies, in an effort to specify implementation strategies not just in their intended form, but also in the ways in which they have evolved to respond to localized needs. Moreover, as the effectiveness of implementation strategies will likely vary (40), we plan to measure the fidelity with which the strategies are enacted so that we can better ascertain whether the strategies' effectiveness (or relative lack thereof) can be attributed to the strategy itself or to other contextual factors.

REFERENCES

- Correll CU, Solmi M, Veronese N, Bortolato B, Rosson S, Santonastaso P, et al. Prevalence, incidence and mortality from cardiovascular disease in patients with pooled and specific severe mental illness: a large-scale metaanalysis of 3,211,768 patients and 113,383,368 controls. *World Psychiatry*. (2017) 16:163–80. doi: 10.1002/wps.20420
- Newcomer JW, Hennekens CH. Severe mental illness and risk of cardiovascular disease. JAMA. (2007) 298:1794– 6. doi: 10.1001/jama.298.15.1794
- Cook BL, Wayne GF, Kafali EN, Liu Z, Shu C, Flores M. Trends in smoking among adults with mental illness and association between mental health treatment and smoking cessation. *JAMA*. (2014) 311:172– 82. doi: 10.1001/jama.2013.284985

The ALACRITY Center projects are pilot in scope, and are designed to provide a foundation to inform future scaleup of evidence-based interventions to decrease cardiovascular risk in persons with SMI. Future work should incorporate hybrid implementation effectiveness trials testing how these strategies can support intervention implementation on a larger scale. In addition, the implementation strategies used in the Center's current projects are largely focused on supporting change at the provider- or patient-level. In order to achieve widespread scale-up, an important next step will be to consider how to integrate these strategies with system-level and policy strategies at multiple levels (e.g., governmental, payer, system, and organizational). For example, it will be critical to consider what reimbursement mechanisms or other funding streams would be most appropriate and feasible to incentivize uptake of the evidence-based interventions in community settings. The ALACRITY Center's planned future work will include this policy and system-level focus with the goal to accelerate nationwide scale-up of evidence-based interventions addressing cardiovascular risk, and ultimately, reduce premature mortality in people with SMI.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CY, EEM, SG, AD, FD, KG, GJ, DT, KM, and GD contributed to the conception and design of the study. CY, EEM, SG, EM, and GD drafted the manuscript and all authors assisted with critically reviewing and revising the manuscript for important intellectual content. EEM and GD were responsible for obtaining funding for the study. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

The authors gratefully acknowledge support from the National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH) Grant P50MH11584201.

- Casagrande SS, Anderson CA, Dalcin A, Appel LJ, Jerome GJ, Dickerson FB, et al. Dietary intake of adults with serious mental illness. *Psychiatr Rehabil J.* (2011) 35:137–40. doi: 10.2975/35.2.2011.137.140
- Johnstone R, Nicol K, Donaghy M, Lawrie S. Barriers to uptake of physical activity in community-based patients with schizophrenia. J Mental Health. (2009) 18:523–32. doi: 10.3109/09638230903111114
- McIntyre RS, McCann SM, Kennedy SH. Antipsychotic metabolic effects: weight gain, diabetes mellitus, and lipid abnormalities. *Can J Psychiatry.* (2001) 46:273–81. doi: 10.1177/0706743701046 00308
- McGinty EE, Daumit GL. Epidemiology of obesity. *Psychiatr Ann.* (2011) 41:484–8. doi: 10.3928/00485713-20110921-07
- 8. Kucukgoncu S, Kosir U, Zhou E, Sullivan E, Srihari VH, Tek C. Glucose metabolism dysregulation at the onset of mental illness is not limited to

first episode psychosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Early Interv Psychiatry*. (2019) 13:1021–31. doi: 10.1111/eip.12749

- Calkin CV, Gardner DM, Ransom T, Alda M. The relationship between bipolar disorder and type 2 diabetes: more than just co-morbid disorders. *Ann Med.* (2013) 45:171–81. doi: 10.3109/07853890.2012.687835
- Draine J, Salzer MS, Culhane DP, Hadley TR. Role of social disadvantage in crime, joblessness, and homelessness among persons with serious mental illness. *Psychiatr Serv.* (2002) 53:565–73. doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.53.5.565
- Green MF. Cognitive impairment and functional outcome in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. J Clin Psychiatry. (2006) 67:36–42. doi: 10.4088/JCP.1006e12
- 12. Druss BG. Improving medical care for persons with serious mental illness: challenges and solutions. *J Clin Psychiatry.* (2007) 68:40. doi: 10.4088/JCP.0407e09
- McGinty EE, Baller J, Azrin ST, Juliano-Bult D, Daumit GL. Quality of medical care for persons with serious mental illness: a comprehensive review. *Schizophr Res.* (2015) 165:227–35. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2015.04.010
- Evins AE, Cather C, Pratt SA, Pachas GN, Hoeppner SS, Goff DC, et al. Maintenance treatment with varenicline for smoking cessation in patients with schizophrenia and bipolar disorder: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA*. (2014) 311:145–54. doi: 10.1001/jama.2013.285113
- Daumit GL, Dickerson FB, Wang N-Y, Dalcin A, Jerome GJ, Anderson CA, et al. A behavioral weight-loss intervention in persons with serious mental illness. *New Engl J Med.* (2013) 368:1594–602. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1214530
- Green CA, Yarborough BJH, Leo MC, Yarborough MT, Stumbo SP, Janoff SL, et al. The STRIDE weight loss and lifestyle intervention for individuals taking antipsychotic medications: a randomized trial. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2015) 172:71–81. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2014.14020173
- Curran GM, Bauer M, Mittman B, Pyne JM, Stetler C. Effectivenessimplementation hybrid designs: combining elements of clinical effectiveness and implementation research to enhance public health impact. *Med Care.* (2012) 50:217–26. doi: 10.1097/MLR.0b013e3182408812
- Klein KJ, Sorra JS. The challenge of innovation implementation. Acad Manag Rev. (1996) 21:1055–80. doi: 10.5465/amr.1996.9704071863
- Damschroder LJ, Aron DC, Keith RE, Kirsh SR, Alexander JA, Lowery JC. Fostering implementation of health services research findings into practice: a consolidated framework for advancing implementation science. *Implement Sci.* (2009) 4:50. doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-4-50
- Powell BJ, Proctor EK, Glass JE. A systematic review of strategies for implementing empirically supported mental health interventions. *Res Soc Work Pract.* (2014) 24:192–212. doi: 10.1177/1049731513505778
- 21. Proctor EK, Powell BJ, McMillen JC. Implementation strategies: recommendations for specifying and reporting. *Implement Sci.* (2013) 8:1–11. doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-8-139
- McKibbon KA, Lokker C, Wilczynski NL, Ciliska D, Dobbins M, Davis DA, et al. A cross-sectional study of the number and frequency of terms used to refer to knowledge translation in a body of health literature in 2006: a Tower of Babel? *Implement Sci.* (2010) 5:1–11. doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-5-16
- Powell BJ, Waltz TJ, Chinman MJ, Damschroder LJ, Smith JL, Matthieu MM, et al. A refined compilation of implementation strategies: results from the Expert Recommendations for Implementing Change (ERIC) project. *Implement Sci.* (2015) 10:1–14. doi: 10.1186/s13012-015-0209-1
- Leeman J, Baernholdt M, Sandelowski M. Developing a theory-based taxonomy of methods for implementing change in practice. J Adv Nurs. (2007) 58:191–200. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2006.04207.x
- Leeman J, Birken SA, Powell BJ, Rohweder C, Shea CM. Beyond "implementation strategies": classifying the full range of strategies used in implementation science and practice. *Implement Sci.* (2017) 12:1– 9. doi: 10.1186/s13012-017-0657-x
- 26. McGinty EE, Murphy KA, Dalcin AT, Stuart EA, Wang N-Y, Dickerson F, et al. A model for advancing scale-up of complex interventions for vulnerable populations: the ALACRITY center for health and longevity in mental illness. *J Gen Intern Med.* (2021) 36:500–5. doi: 10.1007/s11606-020-06137-x
- Casagrande SS, Jerome GJ, Dalcin AT, Dickerson FB, Anderson CA, Appel LJ, et al. Randomized trial of achieving healthy lifestyles in psychiatric rehabilitation: the ACHIEVE trial. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2010) 10:1– 12. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-10-108

- Kilbourne AM, Neumann MS, Pincus HA, Bauer MS, Stall R. Implementing evidence-based interventions in health care: application of the replicating effective programs framework. *Implement Sci.* (2007) 2:1–10. doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-2-42
- Cather C, Pachas GN, Cieslak KM, Evins AE. Achieving smoking cessation in individuals with schizophrenia: special considerations. *CNS Drugs*. (2017) 31:471–81. doi: 10.1007/s40263-017-0438-8
- Gurses AP, Marsteller JA, Ozok AA, Xiao Y, Owens S, Pronovost PJ. Using an interdisciplinary approach to identify factors that affect clinicians' compliance with evidence-based guidelines. *Crit Care Med.* (2010) 38:S282– S91. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e3181e69e02
- McGinty EE, Thompson D, Murphy KA, Stuart EA, Wang N-Y, Dalcin A, et al. Adapting the Comprehensive Unit Safety Program (CUSP) implementation strategy to increase delivery of evidence-based cardiovascular risk factor care in community mental health organizations: protocol for a pilot study. *Implement Sci Commun.* (2021) 2:1–12. doi: 10.1186/s43058-021-00129-6
- 32. Daumit GL, Dalcin AT, Dickerson FB, Miller ER, Evins AE, Cather C, et al. Effect of a comprehensive cardiovascular risk reduction intervention in persons with serious mental illness: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Network Open*. (2020) 3:e207247. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.7247
- 33. Druss BG, von Esenwein SA, Glick GE, Deubler E, Lally C, Ward MC, et al. Randomized trial of an integrated behavioral health home: the health outcomes management and evaluation (HOME) study. Am J Psychiatry. (2017) 174:246–55. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2016.16050507
- Pronovost PJ, Berenholtz SM, Needham DM. Translating evidence into practice: a model for large scale knowledge translation. *BMJ*. (2008) 337:a1714. doi: 10.1136/bmj.a1714
- Craig P, Dieppe P, Macintyre S, Michie S, Nazareth I, Petticrew M. Developing and evaluating complex interventions: the new Medical Research Council guidance. *BMJ.* (2008) 337:a1655. doi: 10.1136/bmj. a1655
- Hawe P, Shiell A, Riley T. Complex interventions: how "out of control" can a randomised controlled trial be? *BMJ.* (2004) 328:1561–3. doi: 10.1136/bmj.328.7455.1561
- Weiner BJ, Belden CM, Bergmire DM, Johnston M. The meaning and measurement of implementation climate. *Implement Sci.* (2011) 6:1– 12. doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-6-78
- Proctor E, Silmere H, Raghavan R, et al. Outcomes for implementation research: conceptual distinctions, measurement challenges, and research agenda. *Adm Policy Ment Health*. (2011) 38, 65–76. doi: 10.1007/s10488-010-0319-7
- Miller CJ, Barnett ML, Baumann AA, Gutner CA, Wiltsey-Stirman S. The FRAME-IS: a framework for documenting modifications to implementation strategies in healthcare. *Implement Sci.* (2021) 16:1– 12. doi: 10.1186/s13012-021-01105-3
- 40. Lewis CC, Klasnja P, Powell BJ, Lyon AR, Tuzzio L, Jones S, et al. From classification to causality: advancing understanding of mechanisms of change in implementation science. *Front Public Health.* (2018) 6:e00136. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2018.00136

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Yuan, McGinty, Dalcin, Goldsholl, Dickerson, Gudzune, Jerome, Thompson, Murphy, Minahan and Daumit. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Concept of the Munich/Augsburg Consortium Precision in Mental Health for the German Center of Mental Health

Peter Falkai^{1†}, Nikolaos Koutsouleris^{1,2,3†}, Katja Bertsch⁴, Mirko Bialas⁵, Elisabeth Binder³, Markus Bühner⁴, Alena Buyx⁶, Na Cai⁷, Silvia Cappello³, Thomas Ehring⁴, Jochen Gensichen⁸, Johannes Hamann⁹, Alkomiet Hasan¹⁰, Peter Henningsen¹¹, Stefan Leucht⁹, Karl Heinz Möhrmann¹², Elisabeth Nagelstutz¹³, Frank Padberg¹, Annette Peters¹⁴, Lea Pfäffel⁹, Daniela Reich-Erkelenz^{1,15}, Valentin Riedl¹⁶, Daniel Rueckert¹⁷, Andrea Schmitt^{1,18*}, Gerd Schulte-Körne¹⁹, Elfriede Scheuring¹³, Thomas G. Schulze¹⁵, Rudolf Starzengruber²⁰, Susanne Stier⁵, Fabian J. Theis²¹, Juliane Winkelmann²², Wolfgang Wurst²³ and Josef Priller^{9,24,25}

¹ Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, University Hospital, LMU Munich, Munich, Germany, ² Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology and Neuroscience, King's College London, London, United Kingdom, ³ Max Planck Institute of Psychiatry, Munich, Germany, ⁴ Department of Psychology, LMU Munich, Munich, Germany, ⁵ Münchner Psychiatrie-Erfahrene e.V., Munich, Germany, ⁶ Institute of History and Ethics in Medicine, Technical University Munich, Munich, Germany, ⁷ Helmholtz Pioneer Campus, Helmholtz Center Munich, Munich, Germany, ⁸ Institute of General Medicine, LMU Munich, Munich, Germany, ⁹ Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Technical University Munich, Munich, Germany, ¹⁰ Department of Psychiatry, Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics, Medical Faculty, University of Augsburg, Augsburg, Germany, ¹¹ Department of Psychosomatic Medicine and Psychotherapy, Technical University Munich, Munich, Germany,

¹² Bundesverband der Angehörigen Psychisch Erkrankter Menschen, Bonn, Germany, ¹³ BASTA – das Bündnis für Psychisch Erkrankte Menschen, Munich, Germany, ¹⁴ Institute of Epidemiology, Helmholtz Center Munich, Munich, Germany, ¹⁵ Institute of Psychiatric Phenomics and Genomics, University Hospital, LMU Munich, Munich, Germany, ¹⁶ Neuroimaging Center, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany, ¹⁷ Institute for Al and Informatics in Medicine, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany, ¹⁸ Laboratory of Neuroscience (LIM 27), Institute of Psychiatry, University of São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil, ¹⁹ Department of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, Psychosomatics, and Psychotherapy, University Hospital, LMU Munich, Munich, Germany, ²⁰ Oberbayerischen Selbsthilfe Psychiatrie-Erfahrener e.V., Altötting, Germany, ²¹ Institute of Computational Biology, Helmholtz Center Munich, Munich, Germany, ²² Institute of Human Genetics, Technical University Munich, Munich, Germany, ²³ Institute of Developmental Genetics, Helmholtz Center Munich, Munich, Germany, ²⁴ Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ²⁵ Centre for Clinical Brain Sciences, UK Dementia Research Institute, The University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, United Kingdom

The Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF) issued a call for a new nationwide research network on mental disorders, the German Center of Mental Health (DZPG). The Munich/Augsburg consortium was selected to participate as one of six partner sites with its concept "Precision in Mental Health (PriMe): Understanding, predicting, and preventing chronicity." PriMe bundles interdisciplinary research from the Ludwig-Maximilians-University (LMU), Technical University of Munich (TUM), University of Augsburg (UniA), Helmholtz Center Munich (HMGU), and Max Planck Institute of Psychiatry (MPIP) and has a focus on schizophrenia (SZ), bipolar disorder (BPD), and major depressive disorder (MDD). PriMe takes a longitudinal perspective on these three disorders from the at-risk stage to the first-episode, relapsing, and chronic stages. These disorders pose a major health burden because in up to 50% of patients they cause untreatable residual symptoms, which lead to early social and vocational

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Mario Luciano, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italv

Reviewed by:

Alessandro Cuomo, University of Siena, Italy Antonio Ventriglio, University of Foggia, Italy

*Correspondence:

Andrea Schmitt Andrea.Schmitt@med.unimuenchen.de

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychological Therapy and Psychosomatics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 15 November 2021 Accepted: 08 February 2022 Published: 04 March 2022

Citation:

Falkai P, Koutsouleris N, Bertsch K. Bialas M. Binder F. Bühner M, Buyx A, Cai N, Cappello S, Ehring T, Gensichen J, Hamann J, Hasan A, Henningsen P, Leucht S, Möhrmann KH, Nagelstutz E, Padberg F, Peters A, Pfäffel L, Reich-Erkelenz D. Riedl V. Rueckert D. Schmitt A. Schulte-Körne G. Scheuring E, Schulze TG, Starzengruber R, Stier S, Theis FJ, Winkelmann J, Wurst W and Priller J (2022) Concept of the Munich/Augsburg Consortium Precision in Mental Health for the German Center of Mental Health. Front. Psychiatry 13:815718. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.815718

85

disability, comorbidities, and excess mortality. PriMe aims at reducing mortality on different levels, e.g., reducing death by psychiatric and somatic comorbidities, and will approach this goal by addressing interdisciplinary and cross-sector approaches across the lifespan. PriMe aims to add a precision medicine framework to the DZPG that will propel deeper understanding, more accurate prediction, and personalized prevention to prevent disease chronicity and mortality across mental illnesses. This framework is structured along the translational chain and will be used by PriMe to innovate the preventive and therapeutic management of SZ, BPD, and MDD from rural to urban areas and from patients in early disease stages to patients with long-term disease courses. Research will build on platforms that include one on model systems, one on the identification and validation of predictive markers, one on the development of novel multimodal treatments, one on the regulation and strengthening of the uptake and dissemination of personalized treatments, and finally one on testing of the clinical effectiveness, utility, and scalability of such personalized treatments. In accordance with the translational chain, PriMe's expertise includes the ability to integrate understanding of bio-behavioral processes based on innovative models, to translate this knowledge into clinical practice and to promote user participation in mental health research and care.

Keywords: precision medicine, mortality, schizophrenia, depression, bipolar disorder, comorbidities

INTRODUCTION

Every year, approximately one third of adults in Germany and Europe meet the diagnostic criteria for a mental illness. Furthermore, 50% of adult mental health problems start before or during adolescence (1). Schizophrenia (SZ), bipolar disorder (BPD), and major depressive disorder (MDD) represent 12% of these illnesses [or 16% if clinical high-risk (CHR) states are included] and rank among the 10 most disabling diseases worldwide (2). Furthermore, in 2017 in Germany alone the costs of these diseases were €3.1 billion for SZ, €5.8 billion for BPD, and €8.7 billion for MDD (3). This burden results from chronic and/or relapsing syndromes that affect \sim 50% of patients, i.e., 6% of the adult population, and include a wide spectrum of impairments, such as cognitive and negative symptoms (e.g., avolition, social withdrawal); affective symptoms, with depressive, dysphoric or elevated mood; persistent psychotic experiences (e.g., suspiciousness, persecutory ideas, and auditory hallucinations); and lasting psychosocial and vocational deficits (4, 5). Overall, there is a need for a deeper understanding, more accurate prediction, and personalized prevention of disease chronicity across these disorders and mental illnesses more broadly.

The six German Centers for Health Research (DZGs) carry out research on common diseases of particular importance for the health of the German population. The DZG were introduced to translate research findings more effectively into medical care and back ("From bench to bedside and back"). A new national research network on mental disorders, the German Center of Mental Health (DZPG), has now been established and is currently in a 6-month networking period to develop a coherent and complementary research program. In a review process, the Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF) selected six partner sites of the DZPG, which include the universities of Berlin and Bochum, the Central Institute of Mental Health Mannheim/University of Heidelberg/University of Ulm, the universities of Jena/Halle/Magdeburg, and the universities of München/Augsburg, and Tübingen. The Munich/Augsburg site encompasses the Ludwig-Maximilian-University (LMU), Technical University of Munich (TUM), University of Augsburg (UniA), Helmholtz Center Munich (HMGU), and Max Planck Institute of Psychiatry (MPIP), which together form the research network "Precision in Mental Health (PriMe): Understanding, predicting, and preventing chronicity."

The Munich Metropolitan Area hosts an internationally acclaimed hub for mental health research with two excellence universities, the LMU and TUM; the UniA, with its newly established medical faculty; the HMGU; and the MPIP. This excellence builds on a long track record in biobehavioral neuroscience, which originated in E Kraepelin's and A Alzheimer's seminal work on affective, psychotic, and neurodegenerative disorders and continues to thrive until today. Located in the Munich Metropolitan Area (26,000 km²), the PriMe consortium covers a catchment population of more than 6.2 million people, with 90,000 annual admissions (5,000 for SZ, 2,000 for BPD, and 22,000 MDD). The consortium extends to collaborating institutions, including outpatient and primary care networks (Figure 1). With its urban and rural regions, this catchment area is ideally suited for translational research from preclinical innovation across the clinical trial stages to final implementation in primary and resident specialist care.

In the following, PriMe's scientific goals will be outlined by exemplifying some of the key contributions toward establishing a precision medicine framework for the Munich Metropolitan Area and the DZPG. To substantially improve patient outcomes, this framework will integrate better mechanistic understanding of pathogenesis and chronicity, individualized prediction, treatment and early intervention, as well as clinical implementation of disruptive therapeutic innovations across this value chain. In



Clinic Lindau, 6. Hospital Obergünzburg, 7. Hospital Günzburg.

the subsequent chapters, we outline the specific need for early intervention and prevention in regards to SZ, BPD, as well as MDD and describe the novel scientific concept of the PriMe consortium including its preliminary work. Based on PriMe's precision medicine framework, we present its five-part thematic focus. Furthermore, we illustrate PriMe's infrastructure and its embedding in the German psychiatric research landscape. Moreover, we underline PriMe's efforts in facilitating patient participation as well mentoring services for early career scientists. In addition, we discuss five platforms which will be implemented as part of the DZPG. These platforms are structured around the themes "Multimodal Data and Model Humanized Systems," "Predictive Data Science," "Personalized and Innovative Therapies," Ethical, Societal, and Implementation Challenges" as well as "Clinical Trials and Evidence-Based Medicine." We conclude by providing an outlook on PriMe's activities contributing to an overarching program for the DZPG.

FOCUS OF PriMe ON EARLY INTERVENTION AND PREVENTION OF CHRONICITY AND MORTALITY

Importantly, the risk for chronicity-related functional deficits is not confined to the established stages of SZ, BPD, and MDD but

encompasses earlier, subthreshold mental conditions, commonly referred to as CHR states (**Figure 2**). In SZ, the attenuated psychotic or basic symptoms that characterize these CHR states mark a more specific and imminent risk for psychosis, and early precursors can be traced back to adolescence and even earlier. Generally, such precursors represent critical windows for early detection, prevention, and intervention strategies. For the last 15 years, PriMe members have established and maintained research and clinical infrastructures for the early identification of vulnerable individuals in at-risk and first-episode stages of SZ, BPD, and MDD, and PriMe aims to use these infrastructures to develop biomarker-informed, disease-interceptive treatments.

Mortality is markedly increased in SZ, BPD, and MDD, resulting in a mean of more than 10 years lost because of earlier death (6). Higher mortality is likely caused by complex interactions of risk factors, including psychiatric and somatic comorbidities, lifestyle-related factors, suicide and secondary illness/treatment effects (7). Furthermore, interactions between psychiatric illnesses, such as posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and anxiety disorders, functional somatic syndromes, substance abuse, sleep disorders, neurodevelopmental conditions (e.g., autism), and personality disorders, also contribute directly or indirectly to this excess mortality. Detecting and treating such comorbidities in early SZ, BPD, and MDD may avert disease progression and promote clinical and functional recovery.



and toward old age. (B) Disease phenotypes evolve from non-specific to specific/severe manifestations. Arrows from panels (B) to (C) indicate how specificity/severity of phenotypes relates to disease strata. Heterogeneity increases as progressive and non-progressive trajectories, ranging from highly disabling phenotypes to minor impairments, mix at the population level. (C) Increasing functional impairment with disease progression from unspecific, at-risk to established episodic or chronic disease strata. At the bottom of the figure the positioning of different German Centres of Health covering mental healthcare-relevant topics across the lifespan are depicted. BPD, bipolar disorder; CHR, clinical high risk; DZD, German Center for Diabetes Research; DZHK, German Center for Cardiovascular Research; DZKJ, German Center for Child and Adolescent Health; DZPG, German Center for Mental Health; MDD, major depressive disorder; and SZ, schizophrenia.

Somatic comorbidities are hallmarks of SZ, BPD, and MDD that strongly contribute to the excess mortality of these systemlevel disorders. These comorbidities include metabolic illnesses, such as type II diabetes (T2D) and cardiovascular disorders (CVDs), and are main drivers of reduced life expectancy (8). They share pathophysiological (including immunological) pathways with mental disorders: For example, patients with T2D have an increased risk for MDD, and depressive syndromes worsen outcome in patients with myocardial infarction or stroke. PriMe aims at understanding, modeling, and treating the common roots of mental and somatic illnesses with a particular focus on immunological mechanisms (**Figure 3**). Often the aspects of somatic comorbidities in SZ, BPD, and MDD, i.e., their poor coverage, especially in primary care settings, are neglected. Particularly patients with depression and comorbid somatic disorders are cared for by primary care physicians (P). Similarly, pediatricians/family physicians are the first contact point for youths with psychosomatic syndromes, that may point to an increased risk for mental illness. Therefore, PriMe has teamed up with local networks of PCPs, pediatricians, and youth mental health services. PriMe also seeks close collaboration with the German Center for Child



and Adolescent Health (DZKJ). At the other end of the life span, mental illness and somatic comorbidities represent risk factors for neurodegenerative diseases, which is why PriMe members collaborate closely with the local German Center for Neurodegenerative Diseases (DZNE) site. These networks will support the final step of the translational cascade, i.e., the implementation of easy-to-use clinical decision support tools in real-world care settings (**Figure 3**).

The seminal paper of the Lancet Commission (9) identified unhealthy diet and sedentary lifestyle as major risk factors for the physical illness burden of patients with SZ, BPD, and MDD. The Commission gives recommendations on how to influence this modifiable risk factor, e.g., including regular exercise in treatment plans. For the last 15 years, PriMe researchers have been working along the translational cascade (**Figure 3**) to better understand the neural effects of physical exercise (10) and to derive novel therapeutic interventions to improve patients' capacity for neural plasticity, reintegration of body and mind functions, and functional recovery (11, 12), (WO/2006/120030).

Suicide risk and long-term psychopharmacological treatment also impact mortality rates. Population-based studies demonstrated that mortality can be reduced by more than 50% by effective antipsychotic treatment, especially when administered as a long-acting injection. PriMe researchers have acquired substantial expertise (**Figure 3**) in metaanalyses (13) of side-effect profiles of psychopharmacological treatments from the literature, making this knowledge available through computer-aided decision support tools (see the section "Prediction: Translating Understanding Into Precision Medicine Tools"). Furthermore, they have been involved in large-scale studies comparing the effectiveness and side-effect profiles of oral antipsychotics vs. long-acting injectables (13).

Lastly, the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic is challenging societies and health care systems, as well as the mental well-being of large parts of the population. In this context, a challenge for psychiatry is defining its role within the medical system, e.g., how psychiatric services can treat the mentally ill while supporting somatic medicine. To adapt patient services, the five PriMe institutions quickly established the following research structures: (1) epidemiological research ("MentalHealthCOVID-19" living systematic review on the consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic on mental health); (2) clinical research (online intervention programs for people with and without mental illness); (3) care structure research (Germany-wide survey on psychiatric care structures by the German Association for Psychiatry, Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics [DGPPN]); (4) nationwide surveys at UniA focusing on health care workers; and (5) biological research in close cooperation with the virology departments, e.g., LMU's All Corona Care Study (ACC) on mental stress and resilience of health care workers (N = 8,000) and the involvement of LMU in the "EviPanUnimed" study within the BMBF-supported National research network of University Medicine on COVID-19 (NUM). TUM's "MentalHealthCOVID-19" project is a living systematic review of epidemiological studies on the mental health consequences

of the COVID-19 pandemic and related containment measures. The SARS-CoV-2–related research activities of PriMe members aim at collecting and analyzing multimodal data on the indirect effects of the pandemic in patients with SZ, BPD, and MDD and on the direct inflammatory effects that potentially interact with neurobiological risk factors for SZ, BPD, and MDD on a mid- to long-term basis.

NOVEL SCIENTIFIC CONCEPT AND PRELIMINARY WORK OF THE PriMe CONSORTIUM

PriMe aims to add a precision medicine framework to the DZPG that will propel deeper understanding, more accurate prediction, and personalized prevention of disease chronicity across mental illnesses. This framework will be structured into five methodological platforms that span the entire translational chain (Figure 3) and will be used by PriMe to innovate the management of SZ, BPD, and MDD from rural to urban areas and from patients in early disease stages to patients with long-term disease courses. PriMe's goal is to establish precision medicine in mental health as the key clinical paradigm, allowing the development and implementation of personalized, preventive interventions for patients with SZ, BPD, and MDD. In accordance with the translational chain (Figure 3), the expertise stems from the ability to integrate understanding of bio-behavioral processes based on innovative models and translate this knowledge into clinical practice via predictive tools, novel treatments, and implementation strategies that follow the principles of open science. This expertise will enable groundbreaking innovations and clinical translation based on deeply phenotyped, representative cohorts of patients with SZ, BPD, and MDD, in addition to healthy individuals.

Understanding and Identifying Genetic and Environmental Risk Factors for Unfavorable Disease Courses

Both genetic and environmental risk factors moderate the development of SZ, BPD, and MDD across diagnostic boundaries. PriMe partners have delivered important insights into genetic disease mechanisms via genome-wide association studies (GWASs) and large-scale sequencing approaches, taking leading roles in genomic consortia (ConLiGen, Restless Legs syndrome and Dystonia, the Psychiatric Genomics Consortium, and CLOZIN) and methods development. The first GWAS on lithium response, the identification of MEIS1 as a major risk gene in restless leg syndrome, contributions to the pharmacogenetics of antidepressant response, and the genetic architecture of MDD (14) are only a few high-impact examples published by PriMe researchers. To improve mechanistic insights, these approaches have been extended to omics layers, from transcriptomics and epigenomics to metabolomics, with a focus on singlecell resolution. At the environmental level, early adverse life experiences constitute major risk factors for unfavorable courses of SZ, BPD, and MDD. PriMe members have been striving

to understand how these experiences act upon risk genes via dysregulation of molecular, cellular, brain-based, systemic, and social network functions (gene \times environment interactions) that lead to the biological embedding of psychological trauma and ultimately poor disease outcomes (Figure 4). PriMe partners described the first molecular mechanism of gene × childhood trauma interactions linked to FK506 binding protein 5 (FKBP5) (15). FKBP5 acts as an endogenous regulator of the stress-neuroendocrine system and plays an important role in neurons and immune cells and thus constitutes a risk factor in stress-related disorders. FKBP5 also provides a starting point for uncovering signatures of childhood adversity on molecular (mainly epigenetic), neuroanatomical, endocrine, psychophysiological, functional, and psychosocial levels. These findings stimulated pharmacological innovations and new research on trauma-focused interventions.

Trauma-Related Gene × Environment Interactions and Neuroimmune Mechanisms Moderate Neurodevelopment From the Womb to Early Adulthood

A better longitudinal understanding of exposure and biobehavioral risk patterns in any given patient will personalize prevention and treatment strategies more precisely than current cross-sectional high-risk detection approaches. To this end, PriMe researchers have reported how (1) pre- and perinatal risk factors influence brain development so that their brain structural, functional, and neurocognitive impacts can be traced into adulthood (e.g., Developing Human Connectome Project, Bavarian Longitudinal Study of Prematurity); (2) epigenetic changes after exposure to prenatal adversity may contribute to the risk for psychiatric disorders; and (3) polygenic risk markers, in combination with measures of childhood trauma, predict depression and psychosis onset in adolescence and early adulthood (16).

Environmental risk factors may also act on molecular or brain pathology *via* known psychosocial, psychological, and neurocognitive mechanisms. PriMe has accumulated evidence that personality traits (low extraversion and high neuroticism and anxiety), impaired neurocognitive functions (low cognitive control and processing speed), dysfunctional coping styles (repetitive negative thinking, dysfunctional emotion regulation), interpersonal dysregulation (insecure or disorganized attachment, impaired coping with social exclusion), and psychosocial risk factors (low social support and socioeconomic status, parental psychopathology, and migration status) entail unfavorable disease outcomes (17).

An important mode of action of these factors on disease pathology and the course of SZ, BPD, and MDD is the activation of neuroimmune mechanisms within critical maturational windows. Prenatal immune activation, e.g., by maternal infection during pregnancy, acts synergistically with exposure to postnatal trauma to induce long-lasting neurochemical and behavioral disturbances. Microglia are innate immune cells that colonize the developing brain and sense pathological changes in the



central nervous system (CNS) (18). They are crucial for neural plasticity and the maintenance of brain homeostasis but can be primed for innate immune memory. Recently, PriMe members provided the first single-cell analysis of human microglia in health and MDD (German Research Foundation CRC/TRR167), revealing disease-associated states that may be exploited for therapeutic purposes (19). PriMe investigators have

exploited for therapeutic purposes (19). PriMe investigators have also contributed important new leads in the description of autoimmune mechanisms that underlie forms of psychosis that are responsive to immunomodulatory therapies.

Prediction: Translating Understanding Into Precision Medicine Tools

The ability to predict disease courses, treatment responses, and relapse patterns of any given patient is the pacemaker of personalized medicine. Individualized prediction depends on quantitative models that integrate mechanistic knowledge with clinical, psychological, psychosocial, environmental, and biological disease markers. These multi-modal analytical approaches rest on representative longitudinal patient cohorts that cover the cross-sectional and outcome-related heterogeneity of the target population and facilitate the prediction of shortterm treatment responses to long-term disease outcomes. PriMe members have successfully established, coordinated, and analyzed such cohorts over the last 20 years, including the EU-funded PRONIA study (N = 1,976), which is currently powering the development of precision medicine tools for patients with early stage affective and psychotic disorders (20), and the PsyCourse study (N = 1,303), which aims to decompose the heterogeneity of psychotic and affective syndromes into distinct trajectories and patient subtypes (16). Furthermore, antidepressant treatment response was longitudinally characterized within the MARS study in 1,400 patients to develop depression-specific outcome predictors and disease course models (21). The BeCOME study (N > 350, recruitment ongoing) expands this concept to a transdiagnostic approach, which aims at identifying disease domains through multilevel deep phenotyping, thus contributing to a new and more precise taxonomy for affective syndromes.

High-quality longitudinal samples of patients covering the three target conditions are essential but not sufficient for developing tools that enable more precise mental health care strategies, and cutting-edge methods in predictive data science are equally important. PriMe members are pioneers in psychiatric machine learning (ML) and have showed that clustering patients with established psychosis reveals disease subtypes with distinct disease courses and genetic underpinnings (17). They developed novel methods to efficiently combine diverse phenotypic and biological model predictions in individual patients and observed that such algorithms enable the clinically scalable prediction of poor outcomes in at-risk states for psychosis or recentonset depression (20). Multi-site clinical trial data showed that it is equally possible to establish models for predicting response to non-invasive transcranial brain stimulation (NTBS) or antipsychotic treatments. These achievements were facilitated by the ML platform NeuroMiner,¹ which has been developed by PriMe partners since 2009 and provides clinician neuroscientists with openly accessible algorithms for robust model construction, validation, and knowledge sharing. PriMe has also spearheaded deep learning in large-scale population studies, e.g., ML-derived decision support based on neuroimaging (22). Pushing these modeling approaches closer to their clinical implementation, PriMe members have established an ML Model Library² that provides the research community with access to published models for external validation and experimental clinical use.

Furthermore, the in-depth analysis of multimodal, large-scale samples planned by PriMe (see the section "Innovative Therapies to Preempt Disease Progression and Chronicity") requires novel computational approaches beyond classical ML. These approaches involve deep learning that can integrate multiple layers of biological and phenotypic measurements, including high-frequency sensor-based assessments, to identify clinically useful predictive signatures. These technologies enable analysis of high-throughput data as generated by ecological momentary assessments (EMA), digital sensing, and natural language processing and thus hold great promise for novel diagnostic and therapeutic applications. PriMe members developed mobile sensing technology to continuously collect and analyze these novel information domains, including measures of mobility, smartphone interaction behavior, speech and verbal synchrony, facial expressions, eye tracking, and keyboard usage (23).

Furthermore, PriMe members aim to digitize and standardize the routine collection, integration, safe processing, and redistribution of clinical information to establish personalized, measurement-based care in psychiatry. All these efforts are supported by cutting-edge tools for federated and privacypreserving ML and guided by ethical standards for medical innovation and health technologies. The Munich School for Data Science and the German Human Genome-Phenome Archive will contribute significant expertise in embedding ethical artificial intelligence (AI) approaches in the new technologies.

A critical link between animal models and individualized prediction approaches is established by means of psychiatric neuroimaging. PriMe members have initiated standardized imaging protocols across all their scanner facilities and participate as neuroimaging partners in a German-wide initiative to standardize neuroscience data for open science and data sharing (NFDI-Neuro). This includes expertise in the development of novel multimodal imaging techniques and their evaluation in neuropsychiatric patients, including the characterization of functional and structural brain network profiles in patients with SZ, BPD, and MDD. In a recent study, the effect of brain stimulation on these brain networks was optimized for application in individual patients, and biophysical modeling of excitatory and inhibitory neurotransmitter signaling revealed region-specific stimulation effects. Moreover, PriMe partners have developed methods for cutting-edge analysis of broadly available and cost-effective electroencephalogram (EEG) recordings for the standardized assessment of brain oscillations and synchrony in psychiatric disorders. PriMe members at TUM have also pioneered quantitative metabolic and functional imaging of the human brain that provides novel insights into the neuroenergetics and directional signaling of large-scale brain networks (24). This research has been further extended to incorporate the dynamics of neurotransmitter signaling in relation to classical brain network imaging. This technology has been used to describe trajectories of aberrant dopamine transmission and their impact on brain network activity in the course of psychotic disorders and characterized the dynamics of gamma aminobutyric acid/glutamate signaling in relation to brain connectivity in the healthy brain (25).

Innovative Therapies to Preempt Disease Progression and Chronicity

PriMe identification strategies aim at personalizing available interventions, developing novel treatments, and clinically combining both to prevent disease progression, recurrence, chronicity, and mortality. Thus, disease-relevant model systems and readouts with translational relevance need to be established, a process that is especially challenging for psychiatric disorders (Figure 4). Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) from individuals with SZ, BPD, and MDD have opened avenues to study human neurodevelopment, polygenic risk, and neuroimmune interactions. PriMe members have established and shared more than 100 iPSC lines from patients treated at LMU and MPIP. Research conducted with iPSC-derived neurons and glia, including microglia, and cerebral organoids as neurodevelopmental models (26) showed their translational potential for investigating molecular and cellular mechanisms of treatment response. PriMe also hosts the German Mouse Clinic (GMC), which includes an open-access phenotyping platform for the comprehensive characterization of mouse models of human diseases and for preclinical drug testing. PriMe has thus established pathways for forward and reverse translation to facilitate the development of innovative and targeted treatments.

In neuropsychopharmacology, PriMe has envisaged (1) hitto-lead approaches, in collaboration with partners such as the Lead Discovery Center in Dortmund, and several hits emerging from human genetic and basic research findings are now being studied, including new targets for MDD (FKBP5, SLC6A15, Beclin1, and Erythropoietin variants); and (2) drug repurposing, where preclinical evidence from cellular and animal models puts the focus on the neuregulin-1 (NRG1)-ErbB4 pathway, which, as

¹http://proniapredictors.eu/neurominer/index.html

²http://proniapredictors.eu/

a regulator of the excitatory/inhibitory disbalance in SZ, likely contributes to residual cognitive symptoms: In a large drug screen conducted by LMU, spironolactone emerged as a pathway modulator (27), leading to a pioneering and recently completed multicenter Investigator-Initiated Trial (**Figure 4**).

PriMe additionally focuses on brain circuits and networks as targets for NTBS. LMU researchers established and coordinate the German Center for Brain Stimulation (GCBS) Consortium within the BMBF-funded German Research Network for Mental Disorders, an internationally visible hub for translational research on NTBS (with >30 publications during the funding period) aimed at developing innovative NTBS-based treatment strategies for psychiatric disorders. Moreover, together with the GCBS, PriMe partners are conducting various translational studies (28) and randomized controlled trials (RCTs) for the treatment of SZ and MDD that are funded by the DFG, BMBF, and EU (ERA-NET NEURON and ERA PerMed). For the region of South Bavaria, neurostimulation centers at LMU and UniA collaborate with NTBS groups at the TUM and provide novel NTBS methods and protocols to patients with SZ and MDD with a fast translational track from discovery to clinical application.

PriMe further explores other novel treatments, such as exercise therapy (ET), and is performing the largest ongoing RCT on ET in SZ (BMBF-funded ESPRIT Consortium) (29). In the field of psychotherapy, PriMe partners, funded by the DFG, BMBF, EU, and Innovationsfond, develop novel mechanismbased therapeutic strategies, including (1) trauma-focused interventions for disorders related to early adversity, bodily distress, and cognitive bias; (2) transdiagnostic interventions for depression and anxiety disorders; (3) interpersonal therapies for persistent depressive disorder; (4) interventions tailored to vulnerable and underserved groups (e.g., refugees); (5) emotion regulation training for young patients with MDD; and (6) family based programs aimed at preventing adolescent depression in at-risk cohorts. PriMe has also conducted proof-ofconcept psychotherapy studies targeting empirically established biobehavioral mechanisms and including pre-post neuroimaging for identifying neurobiological markers of change (KFO 256). In addition, PriMe members have tested novel treatments for the interactions of bodily symptoms (including pain) and depression in oncology and neurology (German Cancer Aid, BMBF IFB Dizziness). These studies integrate concepts of acute and long-term treatment, aim at potential stratifiers for future interventions and leverage the development of psychobiological markers. These strategies are also adaptive to acute societal needs: As thousands of refugees a day arrived in Munich in 2015, PriMe coordinated medical and psychological emergency care and, together with other centers, tested a stepped care approach in psychotherapeutic interventions for these vulnerable persons (MEHIRA) (30).

Implementation: From Synthesis of Current Knowledge to Guidelines and Knowledge Transfer

PriMe has internationally recognized expertise in the field of evidence-based mental health care, spearheaded by

the schizophrenia guideline groups [Association of the Scientific Medical Societies in Germany (AWMF) evidence and consensus-based S3 guidelines, World Federation of Societies of Biological Psychiatry guidelines, and International College of Neuropsychopharmacology guidelines for SZ] and the Section on Evidence-Based Medicine (EBM) in Psychiatry and Psychotherapy. The section now leads the Cochrane Schizophrenia Group and excels in all types of systematic reviews (Figure 4). PriMe will set new standards in methodology and translate results into novel therapeutic decision support tools. Examples are "living" (MentalHealthCOVID-19) and crowdsourcing-based systematic reviews on the mental health consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic; the EVENT study, which translates meta-analytic data (31) into digital decision aids for patients and professionals; and the cooperative SISYPHOS project, which is developing the first living guideline in German mental health care for digital and individualized treatment decisions.

PriMe researchers greatly value the principles of reproducibility and open science. To this end, the biobanks of PriMe's institutions pertain to the highest quality standards for ascertaining clinical phenotyping and biological data on genetics, proteomics, neuroimaging, and neurophysiology. PriMe researchers follow the TUM Open Access Policy or are members of LMU's Open Science Center (OSC) and Open Science In Medicine (OSIM) initiative. These programs are led by LMU Psychology and supported by a DFG priority research program focusing on the reproducibility of scientific findings (32). Since 2019, they have been sharing raw data and scripts from published articles (33, 34) and providing data for large multi-site analyses (32). To encourage reproducible data science, PriMe members have also established a publicaccess library hosting all published NeuroMiner models and Neuromodulation and Multimodal NeuroImaging software (NAMNIs) (YZEpLGDMJM0),3 a standardized software that facilitates replicability of results. Predictive, personalized, and technology-based medicine can come with ethical and societal challenges, e.g., algorithmic bias, impact on patient autonomy, social stigmatization, and loss of quality of life (35), and PriMe will address these issues with an interdisciplinary and flexible ethics approach which aims to recognize and address ethical and social issues as they emerge during innovation and translation.

INFRASTRUCTURE OF PriMe INCLUDING USER INVOLVEMENT AND YOUNG SCIENTISTS

PriMe's translational mindset evolved through an array of national and international research consortia, centers of excellence, several graduate schools, a clear commitment to all aspects of evidence-based psychiatry, and a broad array of implementation approaches. PriMe members broadened the scope of these approaches from the classical "bench-to-bedside" paradigm to concepts of forward and reverse translation and

³https://zenodo.org/record/4547552#

"bench-to-individualized guideline" strategies. These structures not only permit a seamless translation of novel preclinical approaches to clinical care but also enable a reverse, "guidelineto-bench" translation. PriMe fully supports translational research in the DZPG with infrastructures that cover the entire translational chain. These infrastructures include outstanding platforms for the identification of risk factors (multi-omics technologies), the production and analysis of predictive human cellular and humanized animal models, drug discovery, highly specialized imaging tools, centralized biobanks, comprehensive patient cohorts, and an extensive network of clinical trial centers led by the Munich Study Center (MSZ). PriMe's specific contributions to DZPG research hubs include the central biorepository and datasets of the German National Cohort study (NAKO Gesundheitsstudie), the open-access German Mouse Clinic (GMC), the outstanding neuroimmunology hub (e.g., SyNergy Excellence cluster), the Leibniz Supercomputing Center (LRZ), strong artificial intelligence (AI)ML analysis platforms, NTBS facilities, comprehensive clinical trial and patient-recruitment infrastructures, and excellence in EBM via a Cochrane Review Group. Built in 2001, the GMC was the first platform worldwide (36) for systematic phenotyping and has advanced to a well-established and unique center for state-of-the-art mouse phenotyping. The GMC is an open-access phenotyping platform characterizing mouse models for human diseases in multiple body systems and physiological pathways in a variety of therapeutic areas. Its collaboration with more than 170 groups has resulted in more than 200 highly cited publications on neurodevelopmental and disorder-related phenotypes, advances in modeling abnormal neurodegenerative and aging patterns [with the German Center for Neurodegenerative Diseases (DZNE)], and diabetes models (with the German Center for Diabetes Research [DZD]). Founded in 1962, the LRZ is the IT service provider for PriMe partners and serves as a hub for other research organizations in Bavaria. LRZ is located in the Munich Metropolitan Area and is one of the three national members of the Gauss Center for Supercomputing, the High-Performance Computing Center Stuttgart (HLRS), and the Jülich Supercomputing Center. Helmholtz AI has established a network of method specialists (AI consultants) for short- and mid-term collaborations. The Helmholtz AI computing resources are available for all collaborative projects on identifying biomarkers and patient groups at risk for chronicity. The TUM Institute for AI and Informatics in Medicine (AIIM@TUM) is leading DIFUTURE, one of the four consortia funded by the BMBF, during the development and networking phase of the Medical Informatics Initiative. Its infrastructure and AI expertise will support the advanced analysis of preclinical and clinical data in a secure, federated, and privacy-preserving manner.

NAKO (37) (since 2014, N = 20500, ages: 19–69), KORA (since 1984, N = 18000, ages: 25–74), and GINIplus and LISA (since 1995, N = 9,085; see the section "Prediction: Translating Understanding Into Precision Medicine Tools") are longitudinal cohort studies collecting information on mental health (e.g., depression, anxiety, PTSD, cognitive impairment, sleep disorders, subjective health, well-being), lifestyle (e.g., smoking, physical activity, alcohol, and body mass index),

comorbidities (myocardial infarction, stroke, T2D, cancer), sociodemographics (socioeconomic status, household size), and bio-samples, multi-omics data, and whole-body MRI. Specifically, the GINIplus and LISA studies provide unique opportunities to investigate how early life events affect longterm mental health development. Both studies recruited multisite birth cohorts comprising healthy, term-born infants from the general population and have been regularly following these cohorts (38). In close collaboration with PriMe members, ageappropriate mental health assessments have been integrated during the 10-year follow-up, which will enable PriMe and the DZPG to identify risk factors for disease progression, recurrence, and chronicity. The cooperation of PriMe partners in KORA, will allow disease course and outcome data on the available cohorts to be added.

Furthermore, PriMe has access to deeply phenotyped, longitudinal cohorts, enabling the study of risk factors of poor outcomes of CHR (PRONIA) and first-episode (PRONIA, BeCOME) and multi-episode disease stages (PsyCourse, BeCOME) in SZ, BPD, and MDD. PRONIA is a European sample of 1,400 patients with CHR states, first-episode depression, and psychosis that provides clinical, neuropsychological, imaging, proteomic, inflammatory, and genetic data. It is involved in the NIMH-funded HARMONY consortium, which aims at thoroughly validating predictors of disease outcome in CHR states of psychoses. PsyCourse includes 1,303 patients with multi-episode SZ and BPD, 800 of whom were followed up at four different times (17). BeCOME is a prospective, ongoing, transdiagnostic cohort focusing on affective and anxiety disorders. The goal is to characterize underlying multilevel biological trajectories of affective syndromes. BioMD-Y collects genetic and clinical data and comprehensive information on childhood trauma and other adverse life experiences in a longitudinal cohort of patients with adolescent depression (N = 420). PriMe institutions and the 32 teaching hospitals and integrated community hospitals in the Munich Metropolitan Area have implemented a powerful recruitment network to conduct large-scale clinical trials based on the aforementioned interventional approaches. This trans-sectorial recruitment approach is enhanced by a recruitment collaboration with an extended network of resident specialists (N = 270) and primary care physicians (N = 400) with 1.04 million patient contacts/year. Thus, PriMe covers all relevant sectors of the local health care system and integrates both urban and rural care environments.

Implementation of research involving service users is urgently needed. Specifically for PriMe, existing participative research approaches have been combined to form the "Munich working group for participatory research within the DZPG," which now involves people from most stakeholder groups (patient and caregiver representatives) in the greater Munich area and has already contributed to the current application. This working group will serve as an advisor for DZPG research projects with regard to participatory research. In addition, it will initiate userled research projects. Hereby, the working group can build upon existing participatory collaborations, such as the EVENT project, which embeds meta-analytic knowledge on antipsychotic drugs effects in an app to stimulate shared decision-making between patients and clinicians, or a recent study on the inclusion of caregivers in clinical decision-making (39).

Regarding implementation research, PriMe members have a long-standing track record in this field. Among many others, three projects (SISYPHUS, the MUNICH model, and RETURN) demonstrate the wide spectrum of efforts in this area: (1) The SISYPHOS project will test two strategies for implementing the German national schizophrenia guideline across 16 psychiatric hospitals. (2) The Munich Model is a disease management program that has been successfully implemented by TUM since 2006; it incorporates all evidence-based treatments and strategies related to relapse prevention in SZ and MDD, such as personal compliance profiles, psychoeducation, depot treatment, and others, and its success has been demonstrated (40). (3) The RETURN study focusses on how people with mental illness can best be supported when returning to their workplaces after being treated in a psychiatric hospital (41).

PriMe offers infrastructures for the training of medical students, nurses, psychologists, and medical specialists toward primary care, psychiatry and psychotherapy, and psychosomatic medicine and of clinician scientists. Examples is new master's course in psychotherapy at LMU Psychology in collaboration with LMU Psychiatry; the Medical Education Centers at LMU and TUM; the "Hausarzt 360" program, with its large network of teaching practices; and the new DFG-funded Graduate School "Predictors and outcomes in primary depression care" (POKAL). The PriMe initiative will offer internationally competitive education to early career researchers (ECRs) through structured graduate programs in neuroscience and psychiatric research. These programs, such as the International Max-Planck Research School Translational Psychiatry (IMPRS-TP) and the Else Kröner-Fresenius College "Translational Psychiatry," build on existing infrastructures for career development with an international perspective. Courses, seminars, lectures, Thesis Advisory Committees, and our internationally staffed research groups communicate in English. International Ph.D. students and postdocs serve as role models for ECRs with an international background. Attracting and developing young, high-potential scientists are important aspects of academic competition. Systematic mentoring is key in this respect and addressed by university programs.

DISCUSSION

A disease stage-sensitive prevention approach is needed to reduce the disabling manifestations of SZ, BPD, and MDD. As previously shown, prevention is most effective during active biobehavioral maturation phases, i.e., typically at the junction between adolescence and early adulthood (**Figure 2**). Detecting vulnerable individuals in these stages is challenging given the low temporal stability and low diagnostic specificity of symptom patterns (**Figure 2**). Hence, powerful yet broadly accessible diagnostic, prognostic, and therapeutic tools are needed to precisely identify and preventively treat persons at risk for poor disease courses. At this stage, preventive treatments should not only aim at reducing symptom burden but also strengthen the person's resilience against adverse outcomes and follow well-established concepts of primary prevention for children and adolescents. However, such preventive approaches will not completely avert clinical and functional deterioration in vulnerable populations. Therefore, new stage-sensitive therapies are needed for patients with established disorders to reduce symptoms, disability and comorbidities and activate recovery with risk-informed plasticity-enhancing interventions. IT-powered mental health networks distributed across the patient's local network of mental healthcare providers are indispensable for tailoring treatments to the patient's needs and covering the critical windows in a person's life in an ongoing and participatory fashion. Finally, similar concepts apply to the increased risk for neurodegenerative disorders, which are frequently preceded by affective syndromes during the transition to old age (Figure 2). PriMe will engage with the DZKJ and the DZNE to address these critical time windows synergistically.

In Germany, major roadblocks currently exist on the path to mental health care approach because the national health care system is primarily focused on the management of manifest and chronic conditions. This approach largely dismisses a trajectorial concept of mental disorders and wastes opportunities for earlier, more preventive and less burdensome interventions. A downstream effect is that mental health care services lack a unified digital backbone that would integrate and organize the multi-faceted health-related data produced by the streams of diagnostic and therapeutic processes. Building clinical networks on such an infrastructure (Figure 5) not only allows patients to be more effectively treated by the connected stakeholders of a local healthcare system but also expedites the development and transfer of tools and treatments to care according to a bidirectional process. By making data available that represent disease variability across all stages of SZ, BPD, and MDD, clinical networks would facilitate research into the mechanistic understanding, predictive modeling, and development of personalized therapeutics (Figure 4). At the end of this translational chain, clinical networks would quickly harness the results of well-powered clinical trials that test the effectiveness of personalized therapeutic strategies with measurable markers. Based on these concepts, PriMe's objectives in the DZPG areto develop, test and implement an early, preventive, stepped-care approach to the treatment of SZ-, BPD-, and MDD-spectrum disorders and their most prevalent comorbidities in the DZPG to continuously support all DZPG sites to do likewise for other mental disorders (e.g., addiction, anxiety disorders) by enabling multisite projects to develop strategies for any disease phenotype with the standardized toolkits of PriMe's 5 interconnected platforms (Figure 5) and by validating components of these strategies retrospectively in PriMe's existing large-scale cohorts and prospectively in PriMe's deeply characterizable and representative catchment population (Figure 1). Further information on these five platforms is provided below:

Platform I: Multimodal Data and Model Humanized Systems

This platform will focus on biobanking, neuroimmunology, stem cells, and multi-omics (Figure 5) and will be powered by the



centrally managed, high-capacity biobanks of PriMe partners, providing harmonized recruitment and phenotyping standard operating procedures for all patient admissions to the mental health services of PriMe. This PriMe Biobank network will enable other sites to safely process, distribute and analyze biological specimens and patient-derived induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) on demand across the DZPG. The Neuroimmunology hub and Munich Sequencing Alliance (see the section "Innovative Therapies to Preempt Disease Progression and Chronicity") will use this harmonized biomaterial repository to produce multiomics data for complex analytical endeavors and clinical applications across the DZPG. Harmonized phenotyping and (single-cell) multi-omics approaches that can be further expanded nationally and internationally will be critical for obtaining the sample sizes necessary for detecting relationships between risk factors, symptoms, and diseases.

To facilitate forward and backward translation of pathophysiological knowledge between iPSCs, animals, and humans, cutting-edge multimodal imaging is planned (e.g., simultaneous dopamine-PET/functional MRI/EEG in humans complemented by sub-second multi-site dopamine imaging in behaving mice). MRI, PET, and EEG protocols and data acquisition at the research-dedicated PriMe imaging facilities will be harmonized and supported by a computational backbone to store, preprocess and distribute imaging data. This imaging repository will be integrated into the biobank to make brain descriptors of mental disorders readily available for downstream analyses.

Behavioral indicators of disease progression risk and chronicity will be assessed with innovative digital approaches (smartphone-based EMA, mobile sensing, natural language processing). These digital markers of normal and pathological behavior will be safely stored and processed in PriMe's extended biobank repository, thus enabling further modeling and predictive and therapeutic research in the DZPG. By using available blood and imaging-based markers and environmental and behavioral variables, PriMe will enable the DZPG to produce and harmonize cellular (iPSCs, organoids) and animal models reflecting the pathophysiology of unfavorable courses in mental disorders.

Platform II: Predictive Data Science

PriMe proposes an ML-based data analytics platform as a core transdiagnostic facility of the DZPG. The platform will bundle clinical domain knowledge and applied engineering to derive predictive models from representative datasets, enabling the early identification of patients at risk of disease progression and the modeling of common comorbidities by using multi-view and transfer learning based on the KORA, NAKO, and GINIplus and LISA samples. The platform will be jointly run by (1) the new TUM Institute for AI and Informatics in Medicine, focusing on advanced neuroimaging and ML methods in collaboration with the new Neural Engineering for Mental Health network at TUM; (2) the HMGU Institute of Computational Biology, contributing multivariate genomic data analysis and deep-learning-based integration with clinical covariates; and (3) the LMU Section for Neurodiagnostic Applications in Psychiatry (SNAP), focusing on data fusion, disease subtype identification, and clinically scalable algorithms for outcome prediction. The outstanding expertise of this platform will support the DZPG in extracting, understanding, and utilizing predictive information from genetic to psychosocial data layers. Collaborations with other DZPG sites with expertise in computational learning theory and algorithm development could further strengthen the platform's capacity to model complex psychiatric disorders with ML.

The platform researchers will collaborate with DIFUTURE to build a digital ontology of quantitative psychiatric phenotypes, including clinically relevant measures of disease progression and chronicity in SZ, BPD, and MDD. This phenotypic ontology will lay out a "coordinate system" for the development of a DZPG Model Library that incorporates and disseminates predictive models along the translational chain. Thus, the Library will provide Platform V with well-validated models to facilitate marker-informed clinical trials. Furthermore, predictive signatures hosted in the Library will enable Platforms I and III to explore mechanistic underpinnings and novel modes of action by manipulating key elements of these signatures in appropriate cell and animal model systems and to test them in phase 1 and 2 clinical trials. Finally, adhering fully to open science principles, the Library will enable the DZPG to exchange models with external researchers and thus accelerate the development of reliable precision mental health tools.

The validation opportunities provided by the PriMe Model Library will be supported by our existing longitudinal datasets, which will be made accessible to DZPG-initiated neuromarker research. These datasets will allow to establish the prevalence, relevance, and validity of patient-derived predictive models in large-scale longitudinal cohorts of healthy people (see, e.g., KORA and NAKO studies in the section "Innovative Therapies to Preempt Disease Progression and Chronicity"). Furthermore, our cohorts of patients at different stages of SZ, BPD, and MDD recruited in previous projects (see "Innovative Therapies to Preempt Disease Progression and Chronicity") or prospectively generated in the DZPG framework (cf. Platform V) will provide researchers with opportunities for external validation and comparative neuroscience across the diagnostic entities covered by the DZPG.

Platform III: Personalized and Innovative Therapies

We propose to establish a platform in the DZPG for the development of immune- and neuromarker-informed

personalized interventions combining existing, repurposed, or novel pharmacological compounds; psychotherapeutic interventions; NTBS; and further treatment modules (e.g., ET, immunomodulatory and neuroprotective therapies). For example, we will use our large-scale and rich databases of exercise interventions in patients with SZ and healthy marathon runners (total N of both > 350) and our experience in conducting such trials to (a) enable a better understanding of how exercise induces brain plasticity (reverse translation, Platform I) and (b) facilitate new exercise trials in the DZPG (Platform V). Effective personalization requires transdisciplinary research to (1) better understand multi-level therapeutic mechanisms (Platform I), (2) measure the differential and additive efficacy of existing/repurposed interventions and novel modes of action (Platform I), (3) establish models that inform treatment choices based on the given patient's estimated response likelihoods and poor outcome risks (Platform II), (4) test novel marker-informed interventions in multi-site clinical trials, and (5) embed this knowledge into routine clinical evidence and care (Platform V). These marker-informed interventions are particularly promising for halting disease progression or even achieving complete recovery in early disease stages.

Psychotherapy plays a major role in primary mental health care and is recommended in current guidelines for SZ, BPD, and MDD. However, any given patient's access to specific psychotherapeutic methods varies considerably between urban and rural regions. In addition, psychotherapy often needs to be specifically combined with pharmacological interventions to fulfill the different requirements of acute and long-term treatment. As part of Platform III, PriMe researchers aim to individualize psychotherapy based on modules (e.g., traumafocused, interpersonal, metacognitive, or behavioral activationbased), frequency, duration, and modalities (in person vs. videophone). To this end, predictive studies are needed to identify which patient benefits from which treatment, thus leading to algorithms that optimally sequence and combine psychological and pharmacological interventions.

The infrastructures of the GCBS and the Munich Center for Brain Stimulation will provide a platform for basic research (e.g., tDCS- or rTMS-functional MRI), translational studies (tDCS + cognitive training), IITs (sham-controlled rTMS/tDCS clinical trials), personalized IITs (MRI-guided rTMS/tDCS), and home-treatment applications (tDCS with digital remote monitoring) that uses all available NTBS methods. This longstanding expertise will serve the planned DZPG as a research, intervention, and implementation hub for all aspects of personalized NTBS, i.e., it will (a) develop predictors in proof-ofconcept experiments and validate them in RCTs, (b) define and validate cross-disorder paradigms derived from model system findings (e.g., for the treatment of cognitive symptoms), and (c) provide findings from human to the preclinical platforms (reverse translation).

To further exploit the possibilities of physical exercise therapy to improve outcomes and foster recovery across various psychiatric conditions, we will use our large-scale and rich databases of exercise interventions in patients with SZ and healthy marathon runners (total N of both >350) and our experience in conducting such trials to (a) enable a better understanding of how exercise induces brain plasticity (reverse translation Platform I) and (b) facilitate new exercise trials in the DZPG (Platform V).

Platform IV: Ethical, Societal, and Implementation Challenges

Analysis and evaluation of ethics and user involvement in personalized and health technology-based medicine in psychiatry and psychotherapy are core principles of PriMe. Ethically guided personalized profiling based on collating and analyzing a multitude of data from an individual patient implies major ethical challenges regarding health literacy, quality of life, stigmatization, data protection, and allocation of scarce healthcare resources. These challenges arising from the objectives of PriMe touch the ethical principles of autonomy, solidarity, beneficence, non-maleficence, and justice, which govern therapeutic interactions between healthcare professionals and patients and their relatives. The development and implementation of novel health technologies, particularly when these are based on data-driven approaches, require responsible innovation. PriMe will offer its expertise on embedded ethics of medical innovation and health technologies to the DZPG. The integration of ethical principles in the biobehavioral modeling of psychiatric phenotypes will benefit from other DZPG sites that have established track records in neuroethics and philosophy (Figure 5).

Involvement of patients, relatives, and researchers from nonmedical disciplines is key for the translation and implementation of research into practice. The PriMe health services research group has pioneering expertise in forming patient advocacy groups. We will offer our expertise in this area to develop standardized procedures that ensure that patients and families are always heard and integrated in the DZPG. A key aspect of such user involvement lies in the development of diagnostic, prognostic, and therapeutic methods that optimally mitigate biases in clinical decision-making. To this end, PriMe will develop standards for implementing personalized profiling tools in in-person and virtual clinical practice. Adaptations of shared decision-making (SDM) for different precision care scenarios will be conceptualized with service users and providers and integrated with other DZPG sites' expertise in e-Health and telepsychiatry (Figure 5).

Platform V: Clinical Trials and Evidence-Based Medicine

Another focus of PriMe are IITs, which can be run in our large clinical recruitment network. This approach ensures that the concept of early translation of novel therapies into real-world clinical settings can be readily achieved. Along these lines, PriMe proposes establishing a DZPG Platform for phase II to IV IITs and joining similar efforts for earlier phases of therapeutics development (**Figure 5**).

Evidence-based medicine and research synthesis are additional strengths of the PriMe consortium, which also hosts the Cochrane Schizophrenia Group. PriMe will produce high-end meta-analyses and support other DZPG partners in this regard. Moreover, it will translate results of meta-analyses into smartphone-based support for SDM, as tested in the ongoing EVENT study. One well-established tool to implement new evidence-based treatments are guidelines. Because of the increasing density of scientific information and unfriendly analogous formats, guidelines are frequently outdated and not sufficiently adopted by clinicians. PriMe researchers are leading or participating in guideline development for SZ, BPD, and MDD and are currently implementing innovative online tools to make these accessible to users, including children and adolescents. PriMe plans to use living guidelines, which continuously integrate newly published studies, to broadly disseminate newest therapeutic evidence to practitioners and patients. In October 2020, SISYPHOS (see the section "Prediction: Translating Understanding Into Precision Medicine Tools"), a collaborative project of PriMe members, received funding to implement such a system for the new German S3 SZ guideline. This project will serve as a blueprint for the development of living German S3 guidelines for other diseases in the DZPG (i.e., interleaved collaboration with platform IV and SDM-guided implementation on Platform V) (Figure 5).

Finally, there is complementarity and collaboration with other German Centers for Health Research. The long-term outcome of mental disorders is determined by risk factors acting throughout the lifespan. Examples of early life risk factors that contribute to mental and somatic disorders in adulthood are infections during pregnancy; birth and delivery complications; vitamin deficiencies; and childhood trauma. Psychiatric and somatic comorbidities emerging during adulthood represent risk factors for chronic disease courses later in life. Both comorbidity clusters are preventable and share common immunological and metabolic mechanisms. PriMe hosts experts on microglia, the resident immune cells of the CNS that play central roles both in neurodevelopmental disorders and neurodegenerative diseases, providing a unique collaborative link with other DZPG centers and between PriMe and CHANCE, the Munich consortium of the DZKJ and the DZNE. Metabolic and inflammatory mechanisms also link PriMe with the health centers for diabetes research (DZD) and heart diseases and CVDs (DZHK).

Outlook

During the ongoing 6-month Concept Development Phase from September 2021 to February 2022, PriMe will collaborate with all relevant partners to formulate an overarching program and governance structure for the DZPG that involves PriMe and other DZPG sites. To this end, we plan to implement the following steps: Coordinated by the local board of directors, the consortium will establish a PriMe office to support all processes during the Concept Development Phase. A strategic survey of the unmet needs of the main disorders studied in the DZPG will be conducted. In parallel, we will implement a discussion forum for PriMe's strategic partners, including ECRs and clinician scientists, psychiatrists, psychologists, PCPs, basic researchers, and representatives of patient, caregiver, and advocacy groups. We have held an initial 2-day workshop to agree on the major tasks, milestones, and deliverables for the networking phase

and the governance structure and have established a scientific workgroup for each of the four elements of the translational chain (namely understanding and modeling, predictive markers, clinical trials, and implementation). For each of these groups, each DZPG site will delegate a basic scientist, a clinician, an ECR, and a member from a user organization. Each working group has named a spokesperson who is responsible for reporting the progress to the board of directors of the DZPG basis to ensure a continuous build-up of an overarching program resting on the translational chain. Strategic decisions will be achieved with respect to the PriMe site during biweekly meetings of the local board of directors and for the entire DZPG during monthly meetings of the coordinators and co-coordinators at each site. Results from the Concept Development Phase will be presented at the final symposium, and the results of each working group will be published, leading to an overarching program for the DZPG.

REFERENCES

- Kessler RC, Angermeyer M, Anthony JC, Graaf Rd, Demyttenaere K, Gasquet I, et al. Lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions of mental disorders in the World Health Organization's world mental health survey initiative. *World Psychiatry*. (2007) 6:168–76.
- Vos T, Lim SS, Abbafati C, Abbas KM, Abbasi M, Abbasifard M, et al. Global burden of 369 diseases and injuries in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. *Lancet.* (2020) 396:1204–22. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30925-9
- Runge C, Grunze H. Jährliche krankheitskosten bipolarer störungen in Deutschland. Nervenarzt. (2004) 75:896–903.
- Judd LL, Akiskal HS, Schettler PJ, Endicott J, Leon AC, Solomon DA, et al. Psychosocial disability in the course of bipolar I and II disorders: a prospective, comparative, longitudinal study. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (2005) 62:1322–30. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.62.12.1322
- Haefner H, an der Heiden W. Course and outcome of schizophrenia. 2nd ed. In: Hirsch SR, Weinberger DR editors. *Schizophrenia*. Malden, MA: Blackwell Science (2003). p. 101–41.
- Walker ER, McGee RE, Druss BG. Mortality in mental disorders and global disease burden implications: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2015) 72:334–41.
- Lawrence D, Hancock KJ, Kisely S. The gap in life expectancy from preventable physical illness in psychiatric patients in Western Australia: retrospective analysis of population based registers. *BMJ*. (2013) 346:f2539. doi: 10.1136/ bmj.f2539
- Ringen PA, Engh JA, Birkenaes AB, Dieset I, Andreassen OA. Increased mortality in schizophrenia due to cardiovascular disease–a non-systematic review of epidemiology, possible causes, and interventions. *Front Psychiatry*. (2014) 5:137. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2014.00137
- Firth J, Siddiqi N, Koyanagi A, Siskind D, Rosenbaum S, Galletly C, et al. The Lancet Psychiatry Commission: a blueprint for protecting physical health in people with mental illness. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2019) 6:675–712. doi: 10.1016/ S2215-0366(19)30132-4
- Maurus I, Hasan A, Röh A, Takahashi S, Rauchmann B, Keeser D, et al. Neurobiological effects of aerobic exercise, with a focus on patients with schizophrenia. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2019) 269:499–515. doi: 10.1007/s00406-019-01025-w
- Falkai P, Maurus I, Schmitt A, Malchow B, Schneider-Axmann T, Röll L, et al. Improvement in daily functioning after aerobic exercise training in schizophrenia is sustained after exercise cessation. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2021) 271:1201–3. doi: 10.1007/s00406-021-01282-8
- 12. Maurus I, Hasan A, Schmitt A, Roeh A, Keeser D, Malchow B, et al. Aerobic endurance training to improve cognition and enhance recovery in schizophrenia: design and methodology of a multicenter randomized controlled trial. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2021) 271:315–24.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors prepared the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was funded by the BMBF (DZPG PriMe 01EE2104).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Jacquie Klesing, BMedSci (Hons), Board-certified Editor in the Life Sciences (ELS), for editing assistance with the manuscript. Klesing received compensation for her work from the LMU Munich, Germany.

- Leucht S, Cipriani A, Spineli L, Mavridis D, Örey D, Richter F, et al. Comparative efficacy and tolerability of 15 antipsychotic drugs in schizophrenia: a multiple-treatments meta-analysis. *Lancet.* (2013) 382:951– 62.
- Cai N, Revez JA, Adams MJ, Andlauer TFM, Breen G, Byrne EM, et al. Minimal phenotyping yields genome-wide association signals of low specificity for major depression. *Nat Genet.* (2020) 52:437–47. doi: 10.1038/ s41588-020-0594-5
- Klengel T, Mehta D, Anacker C, Rex-Haffner M, Pruessner JC, Pariante CM, et al. Allele-specific FKBP5 DNA demethylation mediates gene-childhood trauma interactions. *Nat Neurosci.* (2013) 16:33–41. doi: 10.1038/nn.3275
- Halldorsdottir T, Piechaczek C, Soares de Matos AP, Czamara D, Pehl V, Wagenbuechler P, et al. Polygenic risk: predicting depression outcomes in clinical and epidemiological cohorts of youths. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2019) 176:615–25. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2019.18091014
- Dwyer DB, Kalman JL, Budde M, Kambeitz J, Ruef A, Antonucci LA, et al. An investigation of psychosis subgroups with prognostic validation and exploration of genetic underpinnings: the PsyCourse study. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2020) 77:523–33. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2019.4910
- Prinz M, Jung S, Priller J. Microglia biology: one century of evolving concepts. Cell. (2019) 179:292–311. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2019.08.053
- Böttcher C, Schlickeiser S, Sneeboer MAM, Kunkel D, Knop A, Paza E, et al. Human microglia regional heterogeneity and phenotypes determined by multiplexed single-cell mass cytometry. *Nat Neurosci.* (2019) 22:78–90.
- Koutsouleris N, Kambeitz-Ilankovic L, Ruhrmann S, Rosen M, Ruef A, Dwyer DB, et al. Prediction models of functional outcomes for individuals in the clinical high-risk state for psychosis or with recent-onset depression: a multimodal, multisite machine learning analysis. *JAMA Psychiatry.* (2018) 75:1156–72. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2018.2165
- Uher R, Tansey KE, Rietschel M, Heningsberg N, Maier W, Mors O, et al. Common genetic variation and antidepressant efficacy in major depressive disorder: a meta-analysis of three genome-wide pharmacogenetic studies. *Am J Psychiatry.* (2013) 170:207–17. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2012.12020237
- Bai W, Suzuki H, Huang J, Francis C, Wang S, Tarroni G, et al. A populationbased phenome-wide association study of cardiac and aortic structure and function. *Nat Med.* (2020) 26:1654–62. doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-1009-y
- Stachl C, Au Q, Schoedel R, Gosling SD, Harari GM, Buschek D, et al. Predicting personality from patterns of behavior collected with smartphones. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2020) 117:17680–7.
- Riedl V, Utz L, Castrillón G, Grimmer T, Rauschecker JP, Ploner M, et al. Metabolic connectivity mapping reveals effective connectivity in the resting human brain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2016) 113:428–33.
- Avram M, Brandl F, Cabello J, Leucht C, Scherr M, Mustafa M, et al. Reduced striatal dopamine synthesis capacity in patients with schizophrenia during remission of positive symptoms. *Brain.* (2019) 142:1813–26. doi: 10.1093/ brain/awz093

- Klaus J, Kanton S, Kyrousi C, Ayo-Martin AC, Di Giaimo R, Riesenberg S, et al. Altered neuronal migratory trajectories in human cerebral organoids derived from individuals with neuronal heterotopia. *Nat Med.* (2019) 25:561–8. doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0371-0
- Wehr MC, Hinrichs W, Brzózka MM, Unterbarnscheidt T, Herholt A, Wintgens JP, et al. Spironolactone is an antagonist of NRG1-ERBB4 signaling and schizophrenia-relevant endophenotypes in mice. *EMBO Mol Med.* (2017) 9:1448–62. doi: 10.15252/emmm.201707691
- Hasan A, Wobrock T, Guse B, Langguth B, Landgrebe M, Eichhammer P, et al. Structural brain changes are associated with response of negative symptoms to prefrontal repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation in patients with schizophrenia. *Mol Psychiatry.* (2017) 22:857–64. doi: 10.1038/mp.20 16.161
- Maurus I, Hasan A, Schmitt A, Roeh A, Keeser D, Malchow B, et al. Correction to: aerobic endurance training to improve cognition and enhance recovery in schizophrenia: design and methodology of a multicenter randomized controlled trial. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2021) 271:1405–6. doi: 10.1007/s00406-021-01289-1
- 30. Böge K, Karnouk C, Hahn E, Schneider F, Habel U, Banaschewski T, et al. Mental health in refugees and asylum seekers (MEHIRA): study design and methodology of a prospective multicentre randomized controlled trail investigating the effects of a stepped and collaborative care model. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2020) 270:95–106. doi: 10.1007/s00406-019-00991-5
- Huhn M, Nikolakopoulou A, Schneider-Thoma J, Krause M, Samara M, Peter N, et al. Comparative efficacy and tolerability of 32 oral antipsychotics for the acute treatment of adults with multi-episode schizophrenia: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. *Lancet.* (2019) 394:939–51. doi: 10.1016/ s0140-6736(19)31135-3
- Brouwer RM, Klein M, Grasby KL, Schnack HG, Jahanshad N, Teeuw J, et al. Dynamics of brain structure and its genetic architecture over the lifespan. *bioRxiv* [Preprint]. (2020). doi: 10.1101/2020.04.24.031138
- 33. Takahashi S, Keeser D, Rauchmann B-S, Schneider-Axmann T, Keller-Varady K, Maurus I, et al. Effect of aerobic exercise combined with cognitive remediation on cortical thickness and prediction of social adaptation in patients with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2020) 216:397–407. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2019.11.004
- 34. Takahashi S, Keeser D, Rauchmann B-S, Schneider-Axmann T, Keller-Varady K, Maurus I, et al. Effect of aerobic exercise on cortical thickness in patients with schizophrenia–a dataset. *Data Brief.* (2020) 30:105517. doi: 10.1016/j.dib. 2020.105517
- 35. Fiske A, Henningsen P, Buyx A. Your robot therapist will see you now: ethical implications of embodied artificial intelligence in psychiatry, psychology, and psychotherapy. J Med Internet Res. (2019) 21:5. doi: 10.2196/13216
- Collins FS, Rossant J, Wurst W. A mouse for all reasons. *Cell.* (2007) 128:9–13. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.12.018
- Linseisen J, Peters A, Pischon T, Willich S, Keil T, Boeing H, et al. The German National Cohort: aims, study design and organization. *Eur J Epidemiol.* (2014) 29:371–82. doi: 10.1007/s10654-014-9890-7
- Heinrich J, Brüske I, Cramer C, Hoffmann U, Schnappinger M, Schaaf B, et al. GINIplus and LISAplus-design and selected results of two German birth

cohorts about natural course of atopic diseases and their determinants. *Allergol Select.* (2017) 1:85–95. doi: 10.5414/ALX01455E

- Schuster F, Holzhüter F, Heres S, Hamann J. Caregiver involvement in psychiatric inpatient treatment-a representative survey among triads of patients, caregivers and hospital psychiatrists. *Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci.* (2020) 29:129. doi: 10.1017/S2045796020000426
- Hamann J, Heres S, Seemann U, Beitinger R, Spill B, Kissling W. Effects of an integrated care program for outpatients with affective or psychotic disorders. *Psychiatry Res.* (2014) 217:15–9. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2014.02.005
- Riedl L, Blank D, Kohl M, Lang A, Kehl V, Brieger P, et al. Return-to-workexperts for inpatient treatment of patients with mental illnesses– a proof-ofconcept-study (RETURN): the study protocol. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2020) 20:177. doi: 10.1186/s12888-020-02504-4
- 42. Hasan A, Roeh A, Leucht S, Langguth B, Hansbauer M, Oviedo-Salcedo T, et al. Add-on spironolactone as antagonist of the NRG1-ERBB4 signaling pathway for the treatment of schizophrenia: study design and methodology of a multicenter randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *Contemp Clin Trials Commun.* (2020) 17:100537. doi: 10.1016/j.conctc.2020.100537
- 43. Koutsouleris N, Wobrock T, Guse B, Langguth B, Landgrebe M, Eichhammer P, et al. Predicting response to repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation in patients with schizophrenia using structural magnetic resonance imaging: a multisite machine learning analysis. *Schizophr Bull.* (2018) 44:1021–34. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbx114
- 44. Zannas AS, Jia M, Hafner K, Baumert J, Wiechmann T, Pape JC, et al. Epigenetic upregulation of FKBP5 by aging and stress contributes to NF-κBdriven inflammation and cardiovascular risk. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2019) 116:11370–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1816847116
- Zannas AS, Wiechmann T, Gassen NC, Binder EB. Gene-stressepigenetic regulation of FKBP5: clinical and translational implications. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2016) 41:261–74. doi: 10.1038/npp.2015.235

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Falkai, Koutsouleris, Bertsch, Bialas, Binder, Bühner, Buyx, Cai, Cappello, Ehring, Gensichen, Hamann, Hasan, Henningsen, Leucht, Möhrmann, Nagelstutz, Padberg, Peters, Pfäffel, Reich-Erkelenz, Riedl, Rueckert, Schmitt, Schulte-Körne, Scheuring, Schulze, Starzengruber, Stier, Theis, Winkelmann, Wurst and Priller. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



The Complex Interplay Between Physical Activity and Recovery Styles in Patients With Severe Mental Disorders in a Real-World Multicentric Study

Gaia Sampogna^{1*}, Mario Luciano¹, Matteo Di Vincenzo¹, Ileana Andriola², Enrico D'Ambrosio², Mario Amore³, Gianluca Serafini³, Alessandro Rossi⁴, Claudia Carmassi⁵, Liliana Dell'Osso⁵, Giorgio Di Lorenzo⁶, Alberto Siracusano⁶, Rodolfo Rossi^{4,6}, Andrea Fiorillo¹ and Working Group LIFESTYLE

¹ Department of Psychiatry, University of Campania "L. Vanvitelli", Naples, Italy, ² Department of Basic Medical Science, Neuroscience, and Sense Organs, University of Bari Aldo Moro, Bari, Italy, ³ Department of Neuroscience, Rehabilitation, Ophthalmology, Genetics, Maternal and Child Health (DINOGMI), Section of Psychiatry, University of Genoa, Genoa, Italy, ⁴ Department of Biotechnological and Applied Clinical Sciences (DISCAB), University of L'Aquila, L'Aquila, Italy, ⁵ Psychiatric Unit, Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, AOUP, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy, ⁶ Department of Systems Medicine, University of Rome Tor Vergata, Rome, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Laura Orsolini, Marche Polytechnic University, Italy

Reviewed by:

Giuseppe Carrà, University of Milano-Bicocca, Italy Caterina Adele Viganò, University of Milan, Italy

*Correspondence:

Gaia Sampogna gaia.sampogna@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychological Therapy and Psychosomatics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

> **Received:** 16 May 2022 **Accepted:** 31 May 2022 **Published:** 11 July 2022

Citation:

Sampogna G, Luciano M, Di Vincenzo M, Andriola I, D'Ambrosio E, Arnore M, Serafini G, Rossi A, Carmassi C, Dell'Osso L, Di Lorenzo G, Siracusano A, Rossi R, Fiorillo A and Working Group LIFESTYLE (2022) The Complex Interplay Between Physical Activity and Recovery Styles in Patients With Severe Mental Disorders in a Real-World Multicentric Study. Front. Psychiatry 13:945650. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.945650

Compared with the general population, people with severe mental disorders have significantly worse physical health and a higher mortality rate, which is partially due to the adoption of unhealthy lifestyle behaviors, such as heavy smoking, use of alcohol or illicit drugs, unbalanced diet, and physical inactivity. These unhealthy behaviors may also play a significant role in the personal and functional recovery of patients with severe mental disorders, although this relationship has been rarely investigated in methodologically robust studies. In this paper, we aim to: a) describe the levels of physical activity and recovery style in a sample of patients with severe mental disorders; b) identify the clinical, social, and illness-related factors that predict the likelihood of patients performing physical activity. The global sample consists of 401 patients, with a main psychiatric diagnosis of bipolar disorder (43.4%, N = 174), psychosis spectrum disorder (29.7%; N = 119), or major depression (26.9%; N = 118). 29.4% (N = 119) of patients reported performing physical activity regularly, most frequently walking (52.1%, N = 62), going to the gym (21.8%, N = 26), and running (10.9%, N = 13). Only 15 patients (3.7%) performed at least 75 min of vigorous physical activity per week. 46.8% of patients adopted sealing over as a recovery style and 37.9% used a mixed style toward integration. Recovery style is influenced by gender (p < 0.05) and age (p < 0.05). The probability to practice regular physical activity is higher in patients with metabolic syndrome (Odds Ratio - OR: 2.1; Confidence Interval - CI 95%: 1.2-3.5; p < 0.050), and significantly lower in those with higher levels of anxiety/depressive symptoms (OR: 0.877; Cl 95%: 0.771–0.998; p < 0.01). Globally, patients with severe mental disorders report low levels of physical activities, which are associated with poor recovery styles. Psychoeducational interventions aimed at increasing patients' motivation to adopt healthy lifestyle behaviors and modifying

recovery styles may improve the physical health of people with severe mental disorders thus reducing the mortality rates.

Keywords: lifestyle, physical activity, sedentary behaviors, mortality, severe mental disorders

BACKGROUND

Recovery is a "process of change through which individuals improve their health and wellness, live a self-directed life, and strive to reach their full potential". In patients with severe mental disorders, recovery should represent the final goal of personalized treatment plans for all clinicians (1–3). The recovery styles adopted by patients with severe mental disorders predict their personal and psychosocial functioning as well as their adherence to therapeutic plans. McGlashan et al. (4) described a continuum of recovery styles, from "sealing over", which is characterized by avoiding the illness experience and is associated with negative long-term outcomes (5), to "integration", characterized by incorporating the psychotic episode into own identity. The integration style is associated with better long-term outcomes, in terms of adherence to treatments and engagement in psychosocial interventions (6–8).

The full recovery of people with severe mental disorders is hampered by many clinical and socio-demographic factors, including patient's age, pre-morbid level of functioning, educational level, working condition, social network, cognitive schemas (9), severity and type of symptoms, duration of illness, level of insight (10), clinical staging, previous treatments, time to remission, patient's social network, family ties, environmental exposures, presence of physical comorbidities (11, 12). In particular, patients with severe mental disorders have very poor physical health, suffering from coronary heart diseases, diabetes, respiratory, renal, and infectious diseases (13-17). The higher presence of physical illnesses compared to the general population is due to several causes (18, 19), including the adoption of unhealthy lifestyle behaviors, such as heavy smoking (20-23), heavy alcohol drinking (24-26), use of illicit drugs (27, 28), unbalanced diet and low levels of physical activity (29).

Physical activity, which is defined as "any bodily movement produced by skeletal muscles that results in energy expenditure", and physical exercise, defined as "a subset of physical activity that is planned, structured, and repetitive and has as a final or an intermediate objective the improvement or maintenance of physical fitness" (30), have positive effects on both physical and mental health (31). In fact, people who perform regular physical activity have a reduced risk of all-cause mortality and cardiovascular mortality.

Interventions increasing the levels of physical activity improve body composition and cardiorespiratory fitness and reduce the cardiometabolic burden and psychiatric symptoms (32). They also improve patients' quality of life, cognition, personal functioning, life skills, and social networks (33–35). Moreover, by improving patients' self-confidence and motivation to change, physical activity is also associated with improvement in the recovery process. The physical health of patients with severe mental disorders is too often devaluated (36-39). Clinicians worldwide tend to prioritize other (mental) health domains, with the consequence of not motivating enough their patients toward physical activity (40-42). The clinical, biological, and social correlates of physical activity in people with severe mental disorders have been investigated only in a few studies (43, 44). Moreover, studies exploring the relationship between physical activity and recovery styles are also lacking (45).

Appropriate interventions increasing the levels of physical activity of patients with severe mental disorders should be developed (46, 47). Several trials have been promoted with a specific focus on physical activity, including a motivational coaching in order to increase the participation in physical activity programmes of patients with severe mental disorders (48–50).

In this paper, we: (a) describe the levels of physical activity and the recovery styles in patients with severe mental disorders; (b) investigate the clinical, social, and illness-related factors that are associated with the levels of physical activity in patients with severe mental disorders.

METHODS

The present paper is based on data collected within the LIFESTYLE trial (51), a national, multicentric, randomized, controlled trial with blinded outcome assessments, coordinated by the University of Campania "Luigi Vanvitelli" in Naples and carried out in collaboration with Universities of Bari, Genova, L'Aquila, Pisa, and Rome-Tor Vergata.

Patients were included in the study if they met the following criteria: (1) age between 18 and 65 years; (2) diagnosis of schizophrenia, schizoaffective disorder, delusional disorder, other psychotic disorder, major depressive disorder, or bipolar disorder according to the DSM-5 and confirmed by the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-5 (SCID-5); (3) ability to provide written informed consent; (4) BMI \geq 25; (5) in charge to the local mental health center at least for three months before recruitment.

The main outcome measure considered for this analysis is the level of physical activities. Physical activity has been evaluated with the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ)— short form (52), which is a 18-item questionnaire exploring physical activity in terms of walking, moderate-intensity, and vigorous-intensity physical activities.

The 24-items Questionnaire on lifestyle behaviors, developed by the Italian National Institute of Health, has been used to explore patients' dietary patterns (e.g., food eaten at lunch or dinner), smoking habits (e.g., number of cigarettes smoked per day; attempts to quit smoking), and physical activity (e.g., time spent in walking per day) (53).

Recovery styles have been evaluated with the Recovery Style Questionnaire (RSQ) (54), a 39-item self-report assessment

instrument exploring six styles of adaptation to severe mental disorder and recovery: "sealing over", "tends toward sealing over", "mixed picture in which sealing over predominates", "mixed picture in which integration predominates", "tends toward integration", and "integration".

Other assessment tools include the Food Frequency Questionnaire - short version (55); the Fagerström Test for Nicotine Dependence (FTND) (56); the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) (57); the Leeds Dependence Questionnaire (LDQ) (58); the Morisky Medication Adherence Scale (MMAS) (59); the Cumulative Illness Rating Scale (CIRS) (60); the Manchester Short Assessment of Quality of Life (61); the Measurement and Treatment Research to Improve Cognition in Schizophrenia (MATRICS) Consensus Cognitive Battery (MCCB)—brief version (62, 63); the Internalized Stigma of Mental Illness (ISMI) (64); *ad-hoc* questionnaire on sexual health; the Pattern of Care Schedule (PCS)—modified version (51).

Information on weight, height, BMI, waist circumference, blood pressure, resting heart rate, HDL, LDL and overall levels of cholesterol, blood glucose, triglycerides, and blood insulin have been collected by the researcher with the Anthropometric schedule. The homeostatic model assessment (HOMA) index and the Framingham Risk Score have been calculated for quantifying insulin resistance and cardiovascular risk, respectively.

Patients' psychopathological status has been assessed with the 24-item Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale (BPRS) (65). Patients' social functioning has been explored through the Personal and Social Performance Scale (66), a 100-point single-item rating scale, subdivided into four main areas: (1) "socially useful activities"; (2) "personal and social relationships"; (3) "self-care"; and (4) "disturbing and aggressive behaviors".

This study was conducted in accordance with globally accepted standards of good practice, in agreement with the Declaration of Helsinki and with local regulations. The study protocol was formally approved by the Ethics Committee of the Coordinating Center in January 2017 (Approval Number: 64). All other methodological details of the LIFESTYLE study are reported in (51) and the trial registration number is the following: 2015C7374S.

Statistical Analyses

Descriptive statistics and frequency tables have been used to assess patients' socio-demographic and clinical characteristics. Chi-square with multiple comparisons and ANOVA with Bonferroni corrections have been adopted to detect differences in the levels of physical activities. Bivariate analyses have been performed in order to evaluate the association between the levels of physical activities, the recovery styles, and the severity of clinical symptoms.

Multivariate logistic regression models have been implemented to identify predictors of practicing physical activity. The models have been adjusted for several sociodemographic characteristics, including gender, age, presence of physical illness, being married, level of education, satisfaction with one's own life, adaptive and maladaptive coping strategies, duration of illness, and recovery styles. This statistical approach has been already adopted in previous published papers based on the LIFESTYLE trial (51, 67, 68) and the categorical variable "Center" was also entered in the regression model.

A multiple imputation approach has been used for managing missing data. The level of statistical significance was set at p < 0.05 and statistical analyses were performed using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS), version 26.0, and STATA, version 15.

RESULTS

Patients' Socio-Demographic and Clinical Characteristics

The final sample consists of 401 patients, mostly female (57.1%, N = 229) and with a mean age of 45.6 (±11.8) years. Patients are affected by bipolar disorder (43.4%, N = 174), psychosis spectrum disorder (29.7%; N = 119), or major depression (26.9%; N = 118); the duration of the illness is about 15.6 (±11.3) years.

Most patients present mild symptoms at the BPRS and have a discrete level of personal functioning (PSP value: 65.7 ± 15.1).

Most patients are either overweight (35.4%; N = 142; BMI ranging between 25–29.9) or obese (34.9%; N = 140), with a mean BMI of 32.2 (±5.5). 40.6% of patients are heavy smokers and 67.8% drink alcohol more than three times per week. 53.4% of patients (N = 214) suffer from the metabolic syndrome; in particular, 56.6% (N = 227) have systolic hypertension, 36.1% (N = 143) diastolic hypertension and 26.9% (N = 108) hyperglycaemia.

As regards diet habits, 31.0% of patients eat less than two portions of fruits per week and 37.6% less than two portions of vegetables per week. 43.5% of the sample drink about one liter of water per day, below the WHO recommended threshold of more than two liters/day (**Table 1**).

Recovery Styles and Levels of Physical Activity

The "sealing over" recovery style is adopted by 46.8% of patients (N = 174), a "mixed style" is used by 37.9% of patients (N = 141), and "integration" is used by 8.9% of patients (N = 33) only (**Figure 1**). Recovery styles vary according to gender (p < 0.05) and age (p < 0.05), while there are no differences according to the diagnostic category. Patients adopting "integration" have lower levels of anxiety/depressive and hostility symptoms compared to those using "sealing over" (p < 0.030 and p < 0.050, respectively) (**Table 2**).

Regular physical activity is performed by 29.4% (N = 119) of patients. The most frequent physical activities performed by patients are walking (52.1%, N = 62), going to the gym (21.8%, N = 26), running (10.9%, N = 13), playing football (7.6%, N = 9), cycling (9.2%, N = 11), and swimming (2.5%, N = 3). Physical activities' preferences are not influenced by body mass index, age, and duration of illness. Only playing football is preferred by male patients (p < 0.001).

Vigorous physical activity performed for at least 75 min per week is done by 15 patients (3.7%), while moderate physical activity by 21.7% of patients (**Table 3**).

TABLE 1 | Socio-demographic and clinical characteristics of the sample.

| | Global sample ($N = 401$) | | Practicing regular physical activity | | | | |
|--|------------------------------|------------|--------------------------------------|-----------|-----------------|--------|---------|
| | | | Yes (N | = 118) | No (<i>N</i> : | = 283) | P-value |
| Socio-demographic variables | | | | | | | |
| Gender, Female, % (N) | 5 | 7.1 (229) | 51.7 | (51) | 59.4 | (168) | NS |
| Age group, % (N) | | | | | | | 0.001 |
| 18–34 years | 1 | 9.2 (77) | 27.1 | (32) | 15.9 | (45) | |
| Age 35–64 | 7 | 79.1 (317) | | 67.8 (80) | | (237) | |
| Over 65 | 1.7 (7) | | 5.1 (6) | | 0.4 | (1) | |
| Occupational status, employed, % (n) | 4 | 6.1 (185) | 44.9 (53) | | 46.6 (132) | | NS |
| DSM-5 diagnosis, % (N) | | | | | | | NS |
| Psychosis spectrum disorder | spectrum disorder 29,7 (119) | | 37.3 | (44) | 26.5 | (75) | |
| ipolar disorder 43.4 (174) | | 39.0 | (46) | 45.2 | (128) | | |
| Depressive disorder | 2 | 6.9 (108) | 23.7 | (28) | 28.3 | (80) | |
| Duration of the illness, years M (SD) | 15 | 5.6 (11.3) | 15.0 (| 11.2) | 15.9 (| 11.4) | NS |
| | Mean | SD | Mean | SD | Mean | SD | |
| Clinical variables | | | | | | | |
| Brief psychiatric rating scale | | | | | | | |
| Global score | 5.4 | 2.0 | 5.3 | 1.9 | 5.4 | 2.1 | NS |
| Anxiety/depressive symptoms | 8.8 | 3.1 | 8.0 | 3.2 | 9.1 | 3.1 | 0.003 |
| Anergia | 7.7 | 3.17 | 7.0 | 2.8 | 7.9 | 3.2 | 0.004 |
| Hyperactivity symptoms | 4.7 | 1.9 | 4.8 | 1.8 | 4.7 | 1.9 | NS |
| Hostility symptoms | 4.0 | 1.9 | 3.7 | 1.5 | 4.2 | 1.9 | 0.036 |
| Personal functioning, global score | 65.7 | 15.1 | 66.1 | 14.6 | 65.4 | 15.4 | NS |
| Adherence to treatment | 1.1 | 1.0 | 0.9 | 0.9 | 1.1 | 1.1 | NS |
| Levels of internalized stigma | 10.9 | 2.1 | 10.7 | 2.2 | 11.1 | 2.1 | NS |
| Quality of life, global score | 4.1 | 1.0 | 4.3 | 0.9 | 3.9 | 1.1 | NS |
| MATRICS—Bacs scoring | 36.9 | 50.3 | 34.7 | 13.9 | 37.9 | 58.9 | NS |
| MATRICS—Category fluency | 17.9 | 5.4 | 17.6 | 5.3 | 18.0 | 5.5 | NS |
| MATRICS—Trial Making Test | 52.4 | 28.6 | 52.7 | 24.0 | 52.3 | 29.9 | NS |
| | % | N | % | N | % | N | |
| Typical antipsychotic | 21.2% | (85) | 21.2% | (25) | 21.2% | (60) | NS |
| Atypical antipsychotic | 59.6% | (239) | 62.7% | (74) | 58.3% | (165) | NS |
| Mood stabilizer | 54.9% | (220) | 56.2% | (159) | 51.7% | (61) | NS |
| Benzodiazepines | 46.6% | (187) | 47.0% | (133) | 45.8% | (54) | NS |
| Tricyclic antidepressant | 5.7% | (23) | 6.8% | (8) | 5.3% | (15) | NS |
| Second generation antidepressant | 46.4% | (186) | 42.4% | (50) | 48.1% | (136) | NS |
| Lifestyle behaviors | % | N | % | Ν | % | N | |
| Smoker, yes | 40.6% | (163) | 37.3% | (44) | 42% | (119) | NS |
| Fruit intake, three or more imes/week | 69% | (249) | 73.4 % | (80) | 67.1% | (169) | NS |
| /egetable intake, three or more imes/week | 62.4% | (227) | 59.3% | (64) | 63.7% | (163) | NS |
| Nater consumption daily, at least wo liters | 39.5% | (158) | 39% | (46) | 39.7% | (112) | NS |
| Metabolic parameters | Mean | SD | Mean | SD | Mean | SD | |
| Systolic blood pressure, mmHg | 125.6 | 13.5 | 124.1 | 12.8 | 126.3 | 13.8 | NS |
| Diastolic blood pressure, mmHg | 80.7 | 8.9 | 79.8 | 7.5 | 81.1 | 9.5 | NS |

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

| | Global sa | Global sample ($N = 401$) | | Practicing regular physical activity | | | |
|-------------------------------------|-----------|-----------------------------|-----------------------|--------------------------------------|----------------------|-------|---------|
| | | | Yes (<i>N</i> = 118) | | No (<i>N</i> = 283) | | P-value |
| Waist circumference, cm | 109.3 | 14.0 | 106.6 | 13.6 | 110.4 | 14.1 | 0.015 |
| Glycemia, mg/dl | 95.4 | 27.0 | 94.2 | 22.9 | 95.9 | 28.6 | NS |
| Insulinemia, microU/ml | 17.4 | 18.3 | 15.1 | 11.5 | 18.3 | 20.5 | NS |
| Triglycerides, mg/dL | 171.2 | 129.7 | 177.7 | 152.6 | 168.5 | 119.0 | NS |
| Total cholesterol, mg/dL | 189.9 | 40.9 | 189.4 | 38.9 | 190.0 | 41.8 | NS |
| Low density lipoproteine, mg/dL | 119.2 | 34.9 | 118.2 | 32.4 | 119.6 | 36.0 | NS |
| High density lipoproteine, mg/dL | 46.0 | 14.6 | 44.9 | 12.1 | 46.5 | 15.6 | NS |
| HOMA index | 4.9 | 11.6 | 3.8 | 3.7 | 5.4 | 13.6 | NS |
| Framingham risk score | 9.8 | 4.5 | 9.4 | 5.1 | 9.9 | 4.2 | NS |
| Framingham risk score- –10 Years | 9.3 | 7.5 | 9.3 | 7.9 | 9.4 | 7.4 | NS |
| Metabolic Syndrome | 53.4% | (214) | 45.8% | (54) | 56.5% | (160) | 0.049 |
| BMI, M (SD) | 32.5 | 5.5 | 31.3 | 4.9 | 33.0 | 5.7 | 0.004 |

NS, Not significant.



Patients performing regular physical activities have lower levels of anergia (7.0 \pm 3.2 vs. 8.1 \pm 2.8, p < 0.001) and hostility (4.2 \pm 1.9 vs. 3.7 \pm 1.5, p < 0.001) at the BPRS compared with those not practicing physical activities; no other significant clinical differences exist in the other clinical domains between the two groups. Patients practicing physical activity report higher levels of perceived satisfaction with the quality of life compared with non-active patients (4.3 \pm 0.9 vs. 3.9 \pm 1.1, p < 0.005). There are no differences in the levels of personal functioning, internalized stigma, treatment adherence, and cognitive functioning. The levels of physical activity do not differ according to the condition of being smokers or being

alcohol drinkers (**Table 1**). No differences were found between those patients practicing regular physical activities and those not practicing it in the recovery styles.

Multivariate Analyses

According to the multivariate logistic regression models, patients with metabolic syndrome have a higher probability to practice regular physical activity (OR: 2.1; CI 95%: 1.2–3.5; p < 0.050). Patients with higher levels of anxiety/depressive symptoms (OR: 0.877; CI 95%: 0.771–0.998; p < 0.01) have a significantly lower tendency to practice physical activity. The likelihood of practicing regular physical activity is not influenced by

TABLE 2 | Differences in recovery styles according to practicing regular physical activity and to symptoms' severity.

| | | Practicing regular physical activity | | | | |
|----------------------------------|-----------------------|--|-------|----------|---------|--|
| | Yes (<i>N</i> = 118) | | No (N | / = 283) | | |
| | % | Ν | % | N | | |
| Sealing over | 5.8 | 6 | 6.7 | 18 | NS | |
| Mixed toward sealing over | 48.1 | 50 | 46.3 | 124 | | |
| Mixed toward integration | 35.6 | 37 | 38.8 | 104 | | |
| Integration | 10.6 | 11 | 8.2 | 22 | | |
| Missing | | 14 | | 15 | | |
| | | | Mean | SD | P-value | |
| BPRS Anxiety/Depressive symptoms | | Sealing over ^a | 9.8 | 2.7 | 0.030 | |
| | | Mixed toward sealing over | 9.1 | 3.2 | | |
| | | Mixed toward integration | 8.8 | 2.9 | | |
| | | Integration ^a | 7.6 | 2.8 | | |
| BPRS Anergia symptoms | | Sealing over | 8.2 | 3.3 | 0.365 | |
| | | Mixed toward sealing over | 7.8 | 3.2 | | |
| | | Mixed toward integration | 7.7 | 3.0 | | |
| | | Integration | 6.9 | 2.2 | | |
| BPRS Total symptoms | | Sealing over | 6.0 | 2.5 | 0.436 | |
| | | Mixed toward sealing over | 5.4 | 2.2 | | |
| | | Mixed toward integration | 5.3 | 1.8 | | |
| | | Integration | 5.5 | 2.2 | | |
| BPRS Hyperactivity symptoms | | Sealing over | 5.2 | 1.7 | 0.486 | |
| | | Mixed toward sealing over | 4.8 | 1.9 | | |
| | | Mixed toward integration | 4.7 | 1.7 | | |
| | | Integration | 4.5 | 1.7 | | |
| BPRS Hostility symptoms | | Sealing over ^{b,c,d} | 5.3 | 2.9 | 0.016 | |
| | | Mixed toward sealing over ^d | 4.0 | 1.9 | | |
| | | Mixed toward integration ^b | 4.0 | 1.8 | | |
| | | Integration ^c | 3.9 | 1.3 | | |

Pairwise comparisons with Bonferroni corrections: ${}^{a}p < 0.042$; ${}^{b}p < 0.014$; ${}^{c}p < 0.015$; ${}^{d}p < 0.040$; NS, not significant.

TABLE 3 | Levels of physical activity evaluated at the IPAQ.

| | Global sample (N = 401) | Practicing regu | | |
|---|-------------------------|-----------------|----------------------|---------|
| | | Yes (N = 118) | No (<i>N</i> = 283) | P-value |
| Number of days practicing vigorous physical activity | | | | 0.001 |
| None | 87.3% (350) | 72.9% (86) | 83.9%(99) | |
| At least 1 day | 12.7 % (51) | 27.1%(32) | 16.1%(19) | |
| Performed at least 75 min of vigorous physical activity per week, yes | 3.7% (15) | 7.6% (9) | 2.1% (6) | 0.017 |
| Number of days practicing moderate physical activity | | | | 0.001 |
| None | 78.3% (314) | 52.5% (62) | 89.0% (252) | |
| At least 1 day | 21.7% (87) | 47.5% (56) | 11% (31) | |
| Number of days walking at least 10 min/days | | | | 0.002 |
| Seven/seven | 35.4 % (142) | 45.8% (54) | 31.1% (88) | |

other lifestyle variables, including diet, smoking, or drinking water, as well as other illness-related variables, such as duration of illness, pharmacological treatment, and recovery style (**Table 4**).

DISCUSSION

Recovery from severe mental illness is a complex and multifaceted process, which represents the ultimate goal of a

TABLE 4 | Predictors of practicing regular physical activity.

| | В | B S.E. Sign | Sign. | OR | 95% | |
|---------------------------|--------|-------------|-------|--------|-------------|-------------|
| | | | | | Lower bound | Upper bound |
| Lifestyle-related factors | | | | | | |
| Smoker | -0.302 | 0.293 | 0.302 | 0.739 | 0.417 | 1.312 |
| Fruit intake | -0.181 | 0.463 | 0.697 | 0.835 | 0.337 | 2.068 |
| Vegetables intake | -0.229 | 0.371 | 0.537 | 0.795 | 0.384 | 1.646 |
| Water consumption daily | 0.016 | 0.195 | 0.934 | 1.016 | 0.693 | 1.491 |
| Metabolic Syndrome | 0.718 | 0.279 | 0.010 | 2.050 | 1.188 | 3.540 |
| Illness-related factors | | | | | | |
| MANSA total score | -0.031 | 0.159 | 0.844 | 0.969 | 0.710 | 1.323 |
| PSP total | 0.002 | 0.011 | 0.891 | 1.002 | 0.980 | 1.024 |
| BPRS hyperactivity | 0.156 | 0.094 | 0.097 | 1.169 | 0.972 | 1.406 |
| BPRS anxiety/depressive | -0.131 | 0.066 | 0.046 | 0.877 | 0.771 | 0.998 |
| BPRS anergia | -0.078 | 0.066 | 0.241 | 0.925 | 0.812 | 1.054 |
| BPRS hostility | -0.103 | 0.116 | 0.371 | 0.902 | 0.719 | 1.131 |
| BPRS total | 0.060 | 0.102 | 0.559 | 1.061 | 0.869 | 1.296 |
| Atypical antipsychotic | -0.290 | 0.315 | 0.358 | 0.748 | 0.404 | 1.388 |
| Typical antipsychotic | -0.330 | 0.361 | 0.361 | 0.719 | 0.355 | 1.458 |
| Benzodiazepine | -0.232 | 0.288 | 0.420 | 0.793 | 0.451 | 1.393 |
| Trycyclic antidepressant | -0.147 | 0.645 | 0.820 | 0.863 | 0.244 | 3.057 |
| II gen. antidepressant | -0.220 | 0.317 | 0.487 | 0.802 | 0.431 | 1.492 |
| Constant | 3.630 | 2.305 | 0.115 | 37.717 | | |

Regression model has been controlled for possible confounding factors including age, gender, duration of the illness, and center.

Significant values have been highlighted using bold characters.

treatment plan for patients affected by different mental disorders. The adoption of different recovery styles by patients influences their personal and psychosocial functioning, therapeutic adherence, and treatments' engagement.

In our sample, the majority of recruited patients use a "sealing over" recovery style, which is associated with a negative long-term outcome (4). In fact, "sealing over" patients have an insecure identity (7), report negative experiences in early attachment, have social difficulties, and are affected by predominant negative symptoms. On the contrary, people adopting an "integration" style (i.e., incorporating the psychotic episode into their identity), report more favorable longterm outcomes in terms of engagement with services and perceived quality of life (69-71). A recent study carried out in Italy found that the integration style is associated with a good functional outcome, through acceptance of the psychotic experience and the awareness of the need for support and care, while patients adopting sealing over were less likely to maintain their social role and to invest in interpersonal relationships, with a global poorer long-term outcome (6). Unfortunately, in our study, only a minority of patients adopt this recovery style.

The present study is focused on recovery styles and the association with the levels of physical activities. In fact, recovery styles influence treatment engagement and illness status (45), as also the propensity to perform physical activities. On the other hand, physical activity can promote recovery by improving

patients' self-confidence, health status, and motivation to change. In our sample, patients reported low levels of physical activities and low levels of recovery (characterized by a prevalence of sealing over style), confirming the bidirectional relationship between recovery and physical activity. It would be interesting to explore the effects of a physical activity intervention on the levels of recovery styles of patients with severe mental disorders in a longitudinal study.

A significant obstacle to recovery in people with severe mental disorders is represented by the high rate of physical comorbidities and the reduced life expectancy compared with the general population (72-76). Several factors contribute to the higher mortality and morbidity in patient with severe mental disorders, such as the higher prevalence rate of metabolic syndrome compared to the general population (77, 78) and the adoption of unhealthy lifestyle behaviors (79). In fact, patients with severe mental disorders are frequently physically inactive, not fulfilling the WHO recommendations (80, 81). Our findings confirm the low levels of physical activity in patients with severe mental disorders (29), with only one patient out of three reporting to perform any type of physical activity. Moreover, when considering the type of physical activity, only 3.7% of patients performed at least 75 min of vigorous physical activity per week, which is the WHO recommended threshold for having a beneficial impact on physical health. It may be that people do not even know what is considered "regular physical activity" (82), suggesting the need to develop and carry out informative interventions tailored to the general population and people with severe mental disorders. Within the LIFESTYLE project, our research team has developed a psychoeducational lifestyle group intervention for people with severe mental disorders (51), whose efficacy in the improvement of healthy lifestyle behaviors has been documented in a randomized controlled trial (67, 68).

The various socio-demographic variables considered did not influence the choice of any specific physical activity, differently from data collected in the general population (83). This finding confirms that it is not possible to simply translate the strategies developed for the general population to increase physical activities to people with severe mental disorders, but that more specific and targeted interventions are needed (84, 85).

In our regression models, lifestyle- and illness-related factors have been tested as possible predictors of practicing regular physical activity. The presence of the metabolic syndrome was the only lifestyle factor significantly predicting the likelihood of patients practicing physical activity, even after controlling for age, gender, duration of illness, and pharmacological treatments. Other lifestyle factors, such as diet or smoking, do not have any impact on the outcome. It may be that patients with severe mental disorders are reluctant to practice physical activities regularly and tend to do so only as a "last resort" when they are diagnosed with severe physical disturbances, such as hypertension or obesity, which are core elements of the metabolic syndrome. This finding suggests the need the improve regular physical check-up visits for patients with severe mental disorders, who are instead treated with reluctance by other physicians (86, 87). Studies including not only overweight patients may further confirm this hypothesis and explore the role of "trait" factors such as affective temperaments, personality traits, or cognitive styles on the propensity to practice regular physical activity in patients with severe mental disorders.

The following limitations of the study are hereby acknowledged. First, the inclusion of overweight patients only, which limits the generalizability of our findings to patients with different metabolic profiles. Second, the recruitment of a mixed sample of patients with severe mental disorders, which may have reduced the effect related to the diagnostic category. Third, the relatively low sample size, which does not allow us to draw firm conclusions about our findings.

In conclusion, our findings confirm that patients with severe mental disorders are sedentary and perform any type of physical

activity only rarely. The recovery of patients with severe mental disorders is related to the adoption of healthy lifestyle behaviors (88–92).

REFERENCES

 Maj M, Stein DJ, Parker G, Zimmerman M, Fava GA, De Hert M, et al. The clinical characterization of the adult patient with depression aimed at personalization of management. *World Psychiatry*. (2020) 19:269–93. doi: 10.1002/wps.20771 Strategies aimed at increasing the levels of physical activity in patients with severe mental disorders may improve physical and mental outcomes and reduce the mortality rate. A possible way forward to improve practicing of physical activities in patients with severe mental disorders should include a specific motivational coaching on the role of exercise intervention and a personalized, patient-centered approach tailored to the needs of each individual patient.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Data published in this paper is available from the corresponding author upon request.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethical Committee University of Campania L. Vanvitelli. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

WORKING GROUP LIFESTYLE

Vincenzo Giallonardo, Valeria Del Vecchio, Arcangelo Di Cerbo, Carlotta Brandi, Luigi Marone, Bianca Della Rocca, Department of Psychiatry, University of Campania "L. Vanvitelli"; Linda Antonella Antonucci, Giuseppe Blasi, Laura De Mastro, Francesco Massari, Giulio Pergola, Alessandra Raio, Antonio Rampino, Marianna Russo, Pierluigi Selvaggi, Angelantonio Tavella, Alessandro Bertolino, University of Bari; Alice Trabucco, University of Genoa; Ramona di Stefano, Paolo Stratta, Department of Mental Health, L'Aquila; Virginia Pedrinelli, Carlo Antonio Bertelloni, Annalisa Cordone, University of Pisa; Emanuela Bianciardi, Cinzia Niolu, University of Rome Tor Vergata.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Italian Ministry of Education, Universities and Research within the framework of the Progetti di Rilevante Interesse Nazionale (PRIN) – year 2015 (Grant Number: 2015C7374S).

- Maj M, van Os J, De Hert M, Gaebel W, Galderisi S, Green MF, et al. The clinical characterization of the patient with primary psychosis aimed at personalization of management. *World Psychiatry*. (2021) 20:4–33. doi: 10.1002/wps.20809
- Fava GA, Guidi J. The pursuit of euthymia. World Psychiatry. (2020) 19:40–50. doi: 10.1002/wps.20698

- McGlashan TH, Levy ST, Carpenter WT Jr. Integration and sealing over. Clinically distinct recovery styles from schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry. (1975) 32:1269–72. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1975.01760280067006
- Gruber M, Rumpold T, Schrank B, Sibitz I, Otzelberger B, Jahn R. et al. Recover recovery style from psychosis: a psychometric evaluation of the German version of the Recovery Style Questionnaire (RSQ). *Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci.* (2018) 29:e4. doi: 10.1017/S2045796018000471
- Zizolfi D, Poloni N, Caselli I, Ielmini M, Lucca G, Diurni M, et al. Resilience and recovery style: a retrospective study on associations among personal resources, symptoms, neurocognition, quality of life and psychosocial functioning in psychotic patients. *Psychol Res Behav Manag.* (2019) 12:385–95. doi: 10.2147/PRBM.S205424
- 7. Tait L, Birchwood M, Trower P. Adapting to the challenge of psychosis: personal resilience and the use of sealing-over (avoidant) coping strategies. *Br J Psychiatr.* (2004) 185:410–5. doi: 10.1192/bjp.185.5.410
- Lysaker PH, Hasson-Ohayon I. Metacognition in psychosis: a renewed path to understanding of core disturbances and recovery-oriented treatment. World Psychiatry. (2021) 20:359–61. doi: 10.1002/wps.20914
- Moritz S, Silverstein SM, Dietrichkeit M, Gallinat J. Neurocognitive deficits in schizophrenia are likely to be less severe and less related to the disorder than previously thought. *World Psychiatry*. (2020) 19:254–5. doi: 10.1002/wps.20759
- Slade M, Sweeney A. Rethinking the concept of insight. World Psychiatry. (2020) 19:389–90. doi: 10.1002/wps.20783
- Kim H, Turiano NA, Forbes MK, Kotov R, Krueger RF, Eaton NR, et al. Internalizing psychopathology and all-cause mortality: a comparison of transdiagnostic vs. diagnosis-based risk prediction. *World Psychiatry*. (2021) 20:276–82. doi: 10.1002/wps.20859
- Menon V. Brain networks and cognitive impairment in psychiatric disorders. World Psychiatry. (2020) 19:309–10. doi: 10.1002/wps.20799
- Liu NH, Daumit GL, Dua T, Aquila R, Charlson F, Cuijpers P, et al. Excess mortality in persons with severe mental disorders: a multilevel intervention framework and priorities for clinical practice, policy and research agendas. *World Psychiatry*. (2017) 16:30–40. doi: 10.1002/wps.20384
- Nielsen RE, Banner J, Jensen SE. Cardiovascular disease in patients with severe mental illness. Nat Rev Cardiol. (2021) 18:136–45. doi: 10.1038/s41569-020-00463-7
- Stubbs B, Vancampfort D, De Hert M, Mitchell AJ. The prevalence and predictors of type two diabetes mellitus in people with schizophrenia: a systematic review and comparative meta-analysis. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2015) 132:144–57. doi: 10.1111/acps.12439
- Uju Y, Kanzaki T, Yamasaki Y, Kondo T, Nanasawa H, Takeuchi Y, et al. A cross-sectional study on metabolic similarities and differences between inpatients with schizophrenia and those with mood disorders. *Ann Gen Psychiatry*. (2020) 19:53. doi: 10.1186/s12991-020-00303-5
- Oude Voshaar RC, Aprahamian I, Borges MK, van den Brink RHS, Marijnissen RM, Hoogendijk EO, et al. Excess mortality in depressive and anxiety disorders: The Lifelines Cohort Study. *Eur Psychiatry*. (2021) 64:e54. doi: 10.1192/j.eurpsy.2021.2229
- Taipale H, Tanskanen A. Meht?l? J,Vattulainen P, Correll CU, Tiihonen J. 20-year follow-up study of physical morbidity and mortality in relationship to antipsychotic treatment in a nationwide cohort of 62,250 patients with schizophrenia (FIN20). World Psychiatry. (2020) 19:61–68. doi: 10.1002/wps.20699
- Leucht S, Burkard T, Henderson J, Maj M, Sartorius N. Physical illness and schizophrenia: a review of the literature. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2007) 116:317–33. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.2007.01095.x
- 20. Chesney E, Robson D, Patel R, Shetty H, Richardson S, Chang CK, et al. The impact of cigarette smoking on life expectancy in schizophrenia, schizoaffective disorder and bipolar affective disorder: An electronic case register cohort study. *Schizophr Res.* (2021) 238:29–35. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2021.09.006
- Estrada E, Hartz SM, Tran J, Hilty DM, Sklar P, Smoller JW, et al. Nicotine dependence and psychosis in Bipolar disorder and Schizoaffective disorder, Bipolar type. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet. (2016) 171:521–4. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.b.32385
- 22. Ringin E, Cropley V, Zalesky A, Bruggemann J, Sundram S, Weickert CS, et al. The impact of smoking status on cognition and brain

morphology in schizophrenia spectrum disorders. *Psychol Med.* (2021) 14:1–19. doi: 10.1017/S0033291720005152

- Zangen A, Moshe H, Martinez D, Barnea-Ygael N, Vapnik T, Bystritsky A, et al. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation for smoking cessation: a pivotal multicenter double-blind randomized controlled trial. *World Psychiatry*. (2021) 20:397–404. doi: 10.1002/wps.20905
- Squeglia LM. Alcohol and the developing adolescent brain. World Psychiatry. (2020) 19:393–4. doi: 10.1002/wps.20786
- 25. Listabarth S, Vyssoki B, Waldhoer T, Gmeiner A, Vyssoki S, Wippel A, et al. Hazardous alcohol consumption among older adults: A comprehensive and multi-national analysis of predictive factors in 13,351 individuals. *Eur Psychiatry*. (2020) 64:e4. doi: 10.1192/j.eurpsy.2020.112
- Drake RE, Xie H. McHugo GJ. A 16-year follow-up of patients with serious mental illness and co-occurring substance use disorder. *World Psychiatry*. (2020) 19:397–8. doi: 10.1002/wps.20793
- Volkow ND, Torrens M, Poznyak V. Managing dual disorders: a statement by the Informal Scientific Network UN Commission on Narcotic Drugs. World Psychiatry. (2020) 19:396–7. doi: 10.1002/wps.20796
- Sánchez-Gutiérrez T, Fernandez-Castilla B, Barbeito S, González-Pinto A, Becerra-García JA, Calvo A. Cannabis use and nonuse in patients with first-episode psychosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis of studies comparing neurocognitive functioning. *Eur Psychiatry.* (2020) 63:e6. doi: 10.1192/j.eurpsy.2019.9
- Vancampfort D, Firth J, Schuch FB, Rosenbaum S, Mugisha J, Hallgren M, et al. Sedentary behavior and physical activity levels in people with schizophrenia, bipolar disorder and major depressive disorder: a global systematic review and meta-analysis. *World Psychiatry.* (2017) 16:308–15. doi: 10.1002/wps. 20458
- Caspersen CJ, Powell KE, Christenson GM. Physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness: definitions and distinctions for health-related research. *Public Health Rep.* (1985) 100:126–31.
- 31. Ekelund U, Steene-Johannessen J, Brown WJ. Does physical activity attenuate, or even eliminate, the detrimental association of sitting time with mortality? A harmonised meta-analysis of data from more than 1 million men and women. *Lancet.* (2016) 388:1302–10. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30370-1
- 32. Kandola A, Ashdown-Franks G, Stubbs B, Osborn DPJ, Hayes JF. The association between cardiorespiratory fitness and the incidence of common mental health disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Affect Disord. (2019) 257:748–57. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2019.07.088
- Brooke LE, Lin A, Ntoumanis N, Gucciardi DF. Is sport an untapped resource for recovery from first episode psychosis? A narrative review and call to action. *Early Interv Psychiatry*. (2019) 13:358–68. doi: 10.1111/eip.12720
- Firth J, Solmi M, Wootton RE, Vancampfort D, Schunch FB, Hoare E, et al. A meta-review of "lifestyle psychiatry": the role of exercise, smoking, diet and sleep in the prevention and treatment of mental disorders. *World Psychiatry*. (2020) 19:360–80. doi: 10.1002/wps.20773
- 35. Stubbs B, Vancampfort D, Hallgren M, Firth J, Veronese N, Solmi M. EPA guidance on physical activity as a treatment for severe mental illness: a meta-review of the evidence and position statement from the European Psychiatric Association (EPA), supported by the International Organization of Physical Therapists in Mental Health (IOPTMH). *Eur Psychiatry.* (2018) 54:124–44. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2018.07.004
- Ayerbe L, Forgnone I, Foguet-Boreu Q, González E, Addo J, Ayis S. Disparities in the management of cardiovascular risk factors in patients with psychiatric disorders: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Psychol Med.* (2018) 48:2693–701. doi: 10.1017/S00332917180 00302
- 37. Björk Brämberg E, Torgerson J, Norman Kjellström A, Welin P, Rusner M. Access to primary and specialized somatic health care for persons with severe mental illness: a qualitative study of perceived barriers and facilitators in Swedish health care. *BMC Fam Pract.* (2018) 19:12. doi: 10.1186/s12875-017-0687-0
- Chew-Graham CA, Gilbody S, Curtis J, Holt RI, Taylor AK, Shiers D. Still 'being bothered about Billy': managing the physical health of people with severe mental illness. *Br J Gen Pract.* (2021) 71:373–6. doi: 10.3399/bjgp21X716741
- 39. Lerbæk B, Jørgensen R, Aagaard J, Nordgaard J, Buus N. Mental health care professionals' accounts of actions and responsibilities related to managing

physical health among people with severe mental illness. *Arch Psychiatr Nurs.* (2019) 33:174–81. doi: 10.1016/j.apnu.2018.11.006

- Schuch FB, Vancampfort D. Physical activity, exercise, and mental disorders: it is time to move on. *Trends Psychiatry Psychother*. (2021) 43:177–84. doi: 10.47626/2237-6089-2021-0237
- Correll CU, Sikich L, Reeves G. Metformin add-on vs. antipsychotic switch vs continued antipsychotic treatment plus healthy lifestyle education in overweight or obese youth with severe mental illness: results from the IMPACT trial. *World Psychiatry*. (2020) 19:69–80. doi: 10.1002/wps. 20714
- 42. Robson D, Haddad M, Gray R, Gournay K. Mental health nursing and physical health care: A cross-sectional study of nurses' attitudes, practice, and perceived training needs for the physical health care of people with severe mental illness. *Int J Ment Health Nurs.* (2013) 22:409–17. doi: 10.1111/j.1447-0349.2012.00883.x
- Mishu MP, Peckham EJ, Heron PN, Tew GA, Stubbs B, Gilbody S. Factors associated with regular physical activity participation among people with severe mental ill health. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol.* (2019) 54:887–95. doi: 10.1007/s00127-018-1639-2
- 44. Buhagiar K, Templeton G, Osborn DPJ. Recent physical conditions and health service utilization in people with common mental disorders and severe mental illness in England: Comparative cross-sectional data from a nationally representative sample. *Eur Psychiatry*. (2020) 63:e19. doi: 10.1192/j.eurpsy.2020.22
- Tait L, Birchwood M, Trower P. Predicting engagement with services for psychosis: insight, symptoms and recovery style. Br J Psychiatry. (2003) 182:123–8. doi: 10.1192/bjp.182.2.123
- 46. De Rosa C, Sampogna G, Luciano M, et al. Improving physical health of patients with severe mental disorders: a critical review of lifestyle psychosocial interventions. *Expert Rev Neurother*. (2017) 17:667–81. doi: 10.1080/14737175.2017.1325321
- Fiorillo A, Luciano M, Pompili M, Sartorius N. Editorial: reducing the mortality gap in people with severe mental disorders: the role of lifestyle psychosocial. *Interventions Front Psychiatry*. (2019) 10:434. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00434
- Suen YN, Lo LHL, Lee EH, Hui CL, Chan SKW, Chang WC, et al. Motivational coaching augmentation of exercise intervention for early psychotic disorders: a randomised controlled trial. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry*. (2021) 27:48674211061496. doi: 10.1177/00048674211061496
- Rosenbaum S, Lederman O, Stubbs B, Vancampfort D, Stanton R, Ward PB. How can we increase physical activity and exercise among youth experiencing first-episode psychosis? A systematic review of intervention variables. *Early Interv Psychiatry*. (2016) 10:435–40. doi: 10.1111/eip.12238
- 50. Speyer H, Christian Brix Nørgaard H, Birk M, Karlsen M, Storch Jakobsen A, Pedersen K, et al. The CHANGE trial: no superiority of lifestyle coaching plus care coordination plus treatment as usual compared to treatment as usual alone in reducing risk of cardiovascular disease in adults with schizophrenia spectrum disorders and abdominal obesity. *World Psychiatry.* (2016) 15:155–65. doi: 10.1002/wps.20318
- Sampogna G, Fiorillo A, Luciano M, Del Vecchio V, Steardo LJr, Pocai B, et al. A randomized controlled trial on the efficacy of a psychosocial behavioral intervention to improve the lifestyle of patients with severe mental disorders: study protocol. *Front Psychiatry.* (2018) 9:235. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018. 00235
- Craig CL, Marshall AL, Sjöström M, Bauman AE, Booth ML. International physical activity questionnaire: 12-country reliability and validity. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2003) 35:1381–95. doi: 10.1249/01.MSS.0000078924.61453.FB
- 53. Istituto Superiore di Sanità Osservatorio Fumo Alcol e Droga OSSFAD. Questionario di valutazione degli stili di vita.
- 54. Drayton M, Birchwood M, Trower P. Early attachment experience and recovery from psychosis. *Br J Clin Psychol.* (1998) 37:269–84.
- Marventano S, Mistretta A, Platania A, Galvano F, Grosso G. Reliability and relative validity of a food frequency questionnaire for Italian adults living in Sicily, Southern Italy. *Int J Food Sci Nutr.* (2016) 67:857–64. doi: 10.1080/09637486.2016.1198893
- Heatherton TF, Kozlowski LT, Frecker RC, Fagerström KO. The Fagerström Test for Nicotine Dependence: a revision of the Fagerström Tolerance Questionnaire. Br J Addict. (1991) 86:1119–27.

- Buysse DJ, Reynolds CF, Monk TH, Berman SR, Kupfer DJ. The Pittsburgh sleep quality index: A new instrument for psychiatric practice and research. *Psychiatry Res.* (1989) 28:193–213. doi: 10.1016/0165-1781(89)90047-4
- Raistrick D, Bradshaw J, Tober G, Weiner J, Allison J, Healey C. Development of the Leeds Dependence Questionnaire (LDQ): a questionnaire to measure alcohol and opiate dependence in the context of a treatment evaluation package. *Addiction*. (1994) 89:563–72. doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.1994.tb03332.x
- Morisky DE, Green LW, Levine DM. Concurrent and predictive validity of a self-reported measure of medication adherence. *Med Care*. (1986) 24:67–74. doi: 10.1097/00005650-198601000-00007
- Linn BS, Linn MW, Gurel L. Cumulative illness rating scale. J Am Geriatr Soc. (1968) 16:622–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.1968.tb02103.x
- Priebe S, Huxley P, Knight S, Evans S. Application and results of the Manchester Short Assessment of Quality of Life (MANSA). Int J Soc Psychiatry. (1999) 45:7–12. doi: 10.1177/002076409904500102
- Nuechterlein KH, Green MF, Kern RS, Baade LE, Barch DM, Cohen JD. The MATRICS Consensus Cognitive Battery, part 1: test selection, reliability, and validity. *Am J Psychiatry.* (2008) 165:203–13. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2007.07010042
- Kern RS, Nuechterlein KH, Green MF, Baade LE, Fenton WS, Gold JM. The MATRICS Consensus Cognitive Battery, part 2: conorming and standardization. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2008) 165:214–20. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2007.07010043
- Ritsher J, Otilingam PG, Grajales M. Internalized stigma of mental illness: Psychometric properties of a new measures. *Psychiatry Res.* (2003) 121:31–49. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2003.08.008
- Lukoff D, Nuechterlein KH, Ventura JA. Manual for expanded Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale (BPRS). Schizophre Bull. (1986) 12:594–602.
- 66. Morosini PL, Magliano L, Brambilla L, Ugolini S, Pioli R. Development, reliability and acceptability of a new version of the DSM-IV Social and Occupational Functioning Assessment Scale (SOFAS) to assess routine social functioning. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2000) 101:323–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.2000.tb10933.x
- Luciano M, Sampogna G, Del Vecchio V, Giallonardo V, Palummo C, Andriola I, et al. The impact of clinical and social factors on the physical health of people with severe mental illness: results from an Italian multicentre study. *Psychiatry Res.* (2021) 303:114073. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2021.114073
- 68. Luciano M, Sampogna G, Amore M, Andriola I, Calcagno P, Carmassi C, et al. How to improve the physical health of people with severe mental illness? A multicentric randomized controlled trial on the efficacy of a lifestyle group intervention. *Eur Psychiatry*. (2021) 64:e72. doi: 10.1192/j.eurpsy.2021.2253
- Espinosa R, Valiente C, Rigabert A, Song H. Recovery style and stigma in psychosis: the healing power of integrating. *Cogn Neuropsychiatry.* (2016) 21:146–55. doi: 10.1080/13546805.2016.11 47427
- Vender S, Poloni N, Aletti F, Bonalumi C, Callegari C. Service engagement: psychopathology, recovery style and treatments. *Psychiatry J.* (2014) 2014:249852. doi: 10.1155/2014/249852
- Feldman R. What is resilience: an affiliative neuroscience approach. World Psychiatry. (2020) 19:132–50. doi: 10.1002/wps.20729
- Fiorillo A, Sartorius N. Mortality gap and physical comorbidity of people with severe mental disorders: the public health scandal. *Ann Gen Psychiatry*. (2021) 20:52. doi: 10.1186/s12991-021-00374-y
- Filipčić I, Šimunović G. Patterns of chronic physical multimorbidity in psychiatric and general population. J Psychosom Res. (2018) 114:72–80. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2018.09.011
- Thornicroft G. Physical health disparities and mental illness: the scandal of premature mortality. *Br J Psychiatry*. (2011) 199:441–2. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.111.092718
- Carrà G, Bartoli F, Carretta D, Crocamo C, Bozzetti A, Clerici M, et al. The prevalence of metabolic syndrome in people with severe mental illness: a mediation analysis. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. (2014) 49:1739–46. doi: 10.1007/s00127-014-0835-y
- 76. De Leon J, Sanz EJ, Norén GN, De Las Cuevas C. Pneumonia may be more frequent and have more fatal outcomes with clozapine than with other second-generation antipsychotics. *World Psychiatry.* (2020) 19:120–1. doi: 10.1002/wps.20707

- Bartoli F, Carrà G, Crocamo C, Carretta D, Clerici M. Bipolar disorder, schizophrenia, and metabolic syndrome. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2013) 170:927–8. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2013.13040447
- McGlashan T, Levy ST. Sealing-over in a Therapeutic Community. *Psychiatry.* (2019) 82:1–12. doi: 10.1080/00332747.2019.159 4437
- Plana-Ripoll O, Musliner KL, Dalsgaard S. Nature and prevalence of combinations of mental disorders and their association with excess mortality in a population-based cohort study. *World Psychiatry.* (2020) 19:339–49. doi: 10.1002/wps.20802
- 80. World Health Organization. WHO Guidelines on Physical Activity and Sedentary Behaviour. Geneva: World Health Organization (2020).
- World Health Organization. (2013). Mental Health Action Plan 2013-2020. Geneva: WHO Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data.
- 82. Jayasinghe UW, Harris MF, Parker SM, Litt J, van Driel M, Mazza D, et al. Preventive Evidence into Practice (PEP) Partnership Group. The impact of health literacy and life style risk factors on health-related quality of life of Australian patients. *Health Qual Life Outcomes.* (2016) 14:68. doi: 10.1186/s12955-016-0471-1
- Eime RM, Harvey JT, Charity MJ, Nelson R. Demographic characteristics and type/frequency of physical activity participation in a large sample of 21,603 Australian people. *BMC Public Health.* (2018) 18:692. doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-5608-1
- 84. Kirschner V, Lamp N, Dinc Ü, Becker T, Kilian R, Mueller-Stierlin AS. The evaluation of a physical health promotion intervention for people with severe mental illness receiving community based accommodational support: a mixed-method pilot study. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2022) 22:6. doi: 10.1186/s12888-021-03640-1
- De Rosa C, Sampogna G, Luciano M, Del Vecchio V, Fabrazzo M, Fiorillo A, et al. Social versus biological psychiatry: It's time for integration! *Int J Soc Psychiatry*. (2018) 64:617–21. doi: 10.1177/002076401775 2969
- Butler J, de Cassan S, Turner P, Lennox B, Hayward G, Glogowska M, et al. Attitudes to physical healthcare in severe mental illness; a patient and mental health clinician qualitative interview study. *BMC Fam Pract.* (2020) 21:243. doi: 10.1186/s12875-020-01316-5
- 87. Fabrazzo M, Monteleone P, Prisco V, Perris F, Catapano F, Tortorella A, et al. Olanzapine is faster than haloperidol in inducing metabolic abnormalities

in schizophrenic and bipolar patients. *Neuropsychobiology*. (2015) 72:29-36. doi: 10.1159/000437430

- McEwen BS. The untapped power of allostasis promoted by healthy lifestyles. World Psychiatry. (2020) 19:57–8. doi: 10.1002/wps.20720
- Pereira L, Budovich A, Claudio-Saez M. Monitoring of metabolic adverse effects associated with atypical antipsychotics use in an outpatient psychiatric clinic. J Pharm Pract. (2019) 32:388–93. doi: 10.1177/0897190017752712
- Rüther T, Bobes J, De Hert M, Svensson TH, Mann K, Batra A, et al. EPA guidance on tobacco dependence and strategies for smoking cessation in people with mental illness. *Eur Psychiatry*. (2014) 29:65–82. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2013.11.002
- Stanton R, Reaburn P, Happell B. Barriers to exercise prescription and participation in people with mental illness: the perspectives of nurses working in mental health. J Psychiatr Ment Health Nurs. (2015) 22:440–8. doi: 10.1111/jpm.12205
- Unützer J, Carlo AD, Collins PY. Leveraging collaborative care to improve access to mental health care on a global scale. World Psychiatry. (2020) 19:36–7. doi: 10.1002/wps.20696

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Sampogna, Luciano, Di Vincenzo, Andriola, D'Ambrosio, Amore, Serafini, Rossi, Carmassi, Dell'Osso, Di Lorenzo, Siracusano, Rossi, Fiorillo and Working Group LIFESTYLE. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Mario Luciano, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

REVIEWED BY Francesco Monaco, Azienda Sanitaria Locale Salerno, Italy Barbara Carpita, University of Pisa, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE David A. Baron dbaron@westernu.edu

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Psychological Therapy and Psychosomatics, a section of the journal

Frontiers in Psychiatry RECEIVED 29 March 2022 ACCEPTED 29 July 2022

PUBLISHED 04 October 2022

CITATION

Baron DA, Mishrekar A and Kazmi S (2022) Effects of exercise on mortality rates of individuals with severe mental illness. *Front. Psychiatry* 13:907624. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.907624

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Baron, Mishrekar and Kazmi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or

reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Effects of exercise on mortality rates of individuals with severe mental illness

David A. Baron*, Asmita Mishrekar and Shan Kazmi

Western University of Health Sciences, Pomona, CA, United States

Persons with severe mental illness have a 10-to-20-year shorter life span than the general public. Excess morbidity and mortality in this patient population has been described as a major public health challenge worldwide. Despite robust extant literature on the role of exercise in reducing morbidity and mortality, especially from cardiovascular disease and diabetes (highly prevalent in this patient population), Very few clinical programs or clinical research projects currently exist to implement and study the effects of exercise on decreasing morbidity and mortality in this highly vulnerable patient population. Given the global lack of trained mental health providers, the need to integrate healthcare providers from different disciplines, such as nurses, physical therapists, occupational therapists, physician assistants, cannot be overstated. This mini-review will provide an historic perspective and current data supporting the need to establish exercise, and other Lifestyle Psychiatry interventions, as a key component of treatment for all patients with serious mental illness.

KEYWORDS

exercise, morbidity and mortality, serious mental illness, treatment, health monitoring

Introduction

The National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH) defines severe mental illness (SMI) as a "mental, behavioral, or emotional disorder resulting in serious functional impairment, which substantially interferes with or limits one or more major life activities" (1). Examples of SMI include schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and schizoaffective disorder. These conditions can be debilitating for individuals and often create poor quality of life, ultimately resulting in shorter life spans, especially when accounting for disability-adjusted life years (2). Individuals with SMI die 10 to 15 years earlier than the general population, on average (3). Compared to healthy controls, SMI patients have a 1.5–2.6 times greater risk of death (4, 5). Mortality in patients with SMI can be attributed to suicide and accidents, but these are not the most common causes of death (6, 7). Cardiovascular, respiratory, infectious disease, diabetes mellitus, and cancers are major contributors to the excess mortality seen in patients with SMI (8). Cardiovascular disease is easily the highest among these and only 25% of those who died with SMI are given a diagnosis for this (9).

One approach to treating SMI would be to implement lifestyle interventions that would not only improve psychiatric symptoms, but also address underlying physical health conditions. These conditions, often brought on by morbid obesity secondary to many of the psychopharmacological treatments for SMI, later result in decreased life expectancy (3). One of the proposed mechanisms to increase life expectancy and reduce mortality, as well as improve quality of life, is physical exercise (10).

Findings

As stated previously, the mortality rates are quite high in SMI patients and some studies even suggest that the mortality rate may be increasing (4). Exercise would be beneficial here as it improves mortality risk in most of the physical health conditions mentioned, particularly cardiovascular disease (11). There are additional reasons to consider exercise as a means of reducing mortality in SMI. For example, SMI patients tend to consume a poor diet compared to the general population that is high in saturated fat and low in fiber (12). SMI patients also live a more sedentary lifestyle compared to the general population and are more likely to be obese (13).

Antidepressant and antipsychotic medications are the mainstay of treatment options for SMI. However, obesity, hyperlipidemia, insulin resistance, and arrhythmias are well known side effects of these medications (14). Nonetheless, underdosing is not appropriate, as the psychiatric symptoms experienced in SMI are often debilitating. Exercise can be beneficial in this regard, as it can reduce the severity of psychiatric symptoms in a number of conditions. Most effects are seen in severe depression and anxiety (15). Improvement of SMI symptoms can be seen in insomnia, schizophrenia, dementia, delirium, and agitation (16–19). Medications are necessary as a baseline for treatment, but exercise can be a useful adjunct, not only for psychiatric disease but also for cardiovascular disease, as several studies have shown.

For example, a study was conducted on 51 overweight and obese individuals with SMI who underwent a 12-month multimodal weight control program. These individuals were all on a regimen of second-generation antipsychotic medications and divided into an intervention and control group. 31 out of the 51 individuals, called the intervention group, participated in a program that incorporated nutrition, exercise, and behavioral interventions. The remaining 20 individuals were in the control group and received antipsychotic treatment only. 20 out of the 31 subjects in the intervention group participated in the multimodal weight control program to its completion. Metrics used included body mass index, weight, hemoglobin A1c levels, blood pressure, and cholesterol levels. There were statistically significant improvements across all metrics in the intervention group, and those in the control group continued to gain weight. This research study suggests exercise can reduce disease burden and mortality (20).

Discussion

The role of exercise in maintaining physical and mental health is not new. Its origins can be traced back to Hippocrates. Over the centuries, regular exercise has been demonstrated to not only help maintain health but be an effective component of a comprehensive biopsychosocial treatment strategy for virtually all chronic diseases. In fact, regular exercise has been shown to impact positive health outcomes from a biological, psychological, and social perspective. Despite the robust extant clinical literature on the role of exercise in promoting health and well-being, and decreasing morbidity and mortality, it has been largely neglected in patients suffering from serious mental illness, despite the shortened lifespan in this patient population noted above.

A reasonable question to consider is why is this effective treatment so infrequently included in the comprehensive treatment of patients suffering from serious mental illness? A number of factors may explain this ongoing issue. First, regular exercise has not been part of the "culture" of treating this patient population (21). Until the late 1970's, patients with SMI were treated in state hospitals for months to years. During these extended hospitalizations, patients would get daily activity and smoking breaks to get outside, but exercise was rarely included. As hospitalization stays continued to decrease to days to weeks over the past 40 years, structured exercise was even less, often restricted to smoke breaks in a confined locked area. Discharge planning was focused largely on psychotropic medication management, stable housing, and outpatient social support (22). The ongoing stigma of mental illness has likely played a role in this. Patients suffering from SMI have been portrayed as potentially dangerous and a burden to society on the big and little screen (movies and TV) over the years, and funding for research and treatment has lacked far behind other "physical" illnesses, like cardiac, endocrine and oncologic diseases.

From a purely public health perspective, including regular exercise in the treatment of patients suffering from SMI would likely result in significant cost savings, not to mention the positive impact on overall health, well-being and ultimately decreased morbidity and mortality. A key factor to consider in prescribing an exercise program should be consideration of what the patient finds enjoyable and is safe and feasible given their living situation (23). The increased socialization group exercise can provide, may also be an integral component of a comprehensive biopsychosocial treatment plan.

Conclusion

The focus of this special issue of the journal was to examine strategies to decrease mortality in patients suffering from SMI. Although proper medication management and psychosocial intervention are important, the role of regular exercise cannot be overstated. The impact of Lifestyle Psychiatry interventions has been well documented to increase quality and quantity of life for all persons, especially those with chronic diseases (24). Exercise is a key component of Lifestyle interventions. We believe a thoughtful exercise plan should be included in every patient suffering from mental illness, especially those with SMI.

An exercise program has minimal side-effects, but should be monitored by a health professional, and is extremely cost-effective. Prospective outpatient, community-based clinical trials will help determine the most efficacious and effective interventions, from a personalized medical approach (25). Low tech, inexpensive treatments, like an exercise program, may have the greatest impact on increasing the lifespan in patients suffering with SMI. Let's have well controlled clinical data answer this question, never losing sight of the fact that it is one piece, albeit an important one of a larger treatment puzzle.

Although the role of regular exercise has been well documented to reduce mortality in persons with serious mental illness, the role of the psychiatrist has been largely neglected. As clinicians, psychiatrists providing care for those suffering from SMI must take an active role in "prescribing" and monitoring exercise as a critical component of comprehensive care of their patient. The extant literature does not emphasize the important role of engaging the patient to determine an exercise program that is logistically possible (access to equipment as needed), and most importantly something that is fun for the patient. Recent literature has reported the role wearable activity monitoring devices can play. Step tracking devices have been shown to increase walking distance daily through real time, non-judgmental feedback. Given the ever-growing clinical data on the value of exercise on physical and mental health for persons with SMI, we propose all psychiatry residency programs should include specific didactic and clinical instruction on how to incorporate personalized physical activity into the treatment plan for all patients with SMI, in the inpatient and outpatient setting.

Author contributions

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. National Institute of Mental Health; U.S. *Department of Health and Human Services. Mental Health.* (2022). Available online at: www.nimh.nih.gov/health/statistics/mental-illness (accessed March 23, 2022).

2. Liu NH, Daumit GL, Dua T, Aquila R, Charlson F, Cuijpers P, et al. Excess mortality in persons with severe mental disorders: a multilevel intervention framework and priorities for clinical practice, policy and research agendas. *World Psychiatry.* (2017) 16:30–40. doi: 10.1002/wps.20384

3. Richardson CR, Faulkner G, McDevitt J, Skrinar GS, Hutchinson DS, Piette JD. Integrating physical activity into mental health services for persons with serious mental illness. *Psychiatric Ser.* (2005) 56:324–31. doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.56.3.324

4. Walker ER, McGee RE, Druss BG. Mortality in mental disorders and global disease burden implications: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2015) 72:334–41. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2014.2502

5. Chesney E, Goodwin GM, Fazel S. Risks of all-cause and suicide mortality in mental disorders: a meta-review. *World Psychiatry.* (2014) 13:153–60. doi: 10.1002/wps.20128

6. Lawrence DM, D'Arcy C, Holman J, Jablensky AV, Hobbs MS. Death rate from ischaemic heart disease in western australian psychiatric patients 1980–1998. *Br J Psychiatr.* (2003) 182:31–6. doi: 10.1192/bjp.182.1.31

7. Bushe CJ, Taylor M, Haukka J. Journal of Psychopharmacology. Mortality in Schizophrenia: A Measurable Clinical Endpoint. (2010). Available online at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2951589 (accessed March 23, 2022).

8. Laursen TM. Life expectancy among persons with schizophrenia or bipolar affective disorder. *Schizophr Res.* (2013) 131:101– 4. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2011.06.008

9. Crump C, Winkleby MA, Sundquist K, Sundquist J. Comorbidities and mortality in persons with schizophrenia: a Swedish national cohort study. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2013) 170:324–3. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2012.12050599

10. Sharma A, Madaan V, Petty FD. Exercise for mental health. Prim Care Companion J Clin Psychiatry. (2006) 08:106. doi: 10.4088/PCC.v08n0208a

11. Anderson, L, Oldridge, N, Thompson, DR, Zwisler, AD, Rees, K, Martin, N, Taylor, RS. Exercise-Based cardiac rehabilitation for coronary heart disease: cochrane systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2016) 67:1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2015.10.044

12. Dipasquale, S, Pariante, CM, Dazzan, P, Aguglia, E, McGuire, P, Mondelli, V. The dietary pattern of patients with schizophrenia: a systematic review. *J Psychiatr Res.* (2013) 47:197. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2012. 10.005

13. Janney CA, Ganguli R, Richardson CR, Holleman RG, Tang G, Cauley JA, et al. Sedentary behavior and psychiatric symptoms in overweight and obese adults with schizophrenia and schizoaffective disorders (WAIST Study). *Schizophr Res.* (2013) 145:63–8. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.01.010

14. Correll CU, Detraux, J, De Lepeleire, J, De Hert M. Effects of antipsychotics, antidepressants and mood stabilizers on risk for physical diseases in people with schizophrenia, depression and bipolar disorder. *World Psychiatry*. (2015) 14:119–36. doi: 10.1002/wps.20204

15. Nardi AE, Arias-Carrion O, Budde H. Effects of exercise on anxiety and depression disorders: review of meta- analyses and neurobiological mechanisms CNS. *Neurol Disord Drug Targets.* (2014) 13:1002–14. doi: 10.2174/1871527313666140612102841

16. Dauwan, M, Begemann, M, Heringa, SM, Sommer, IE. Exercise improves clinical symptoms, quality of life, global functioning, and depression in schizophrenia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Schizophr Bull.* (2016) 42:588–99. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbv164

17. Hartescu, I, Morgan, K, Stevinson, CD. Increased physical activity improves sleep and mood outcomes in inactive people with insomnia: a randomized controlled trial. *J Sleep Res.* (2015) 24: 526–34. doi: 10.1111/jsr.12297

18. Haley MN, Casey P, Kane RY, Dārzinš P, Lawler K. Delirium management: let's get physical? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Australas J Ageing*. (2019) 38:231–41. doi: 10.1111/ajag.12636 19. Dimitriou TD. Verykouki, E, Papatriantafyllou, J, Konsta, A, Kazis, D, Magda, T. *Funct Neurol.* (2018) 33:143–7.

20. Menza M, Vreeland B, Minsky S, Gara M, Radler DR, Sakowitz M. Managing atypical antipsychotic-associated weight gain. *J Clin Psychiatry*. (2004) 65:471–7. doi: 10.4088/JCP.v65n0404

21. De Young M. Madness: An American History of Mental Illness and its Treatment. McFarland & Company. (2010).

22. Roberts R, Farris Kurtz L. Historical perspectives on the care and treatment of the mentally ill. J Soc Welfare. (1987) 14:75.

23. Dench, LN. Exercise and movement as an adjunct to group therapy for women with chronic mental illness. *Women Therapy*. (2002) 25:39–55. doi: 10.1300/J015v25n02_04

24. Fogarty M, Happell B, Pinikahana J. The benefits of an exercise program for people with schizophrenia: a pilot study. *Psychiatric Rehabil J.* (2004) 28:173. doi: 10.2975/28.2004.173.176

25. Luciano M, Sampogna G, Amore M, Andriola I, Calcagno P, Carmassi C, et al. How to improve the physical health of people with severe mental illness? A multicentric randomized controlled trial on the efficacy of a lifestyle group intervention. *EurPsychiatr.* (2021) 64:72. doi: 10.1192/j.eurpsy.202 1.2253





Ø

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne | Switzerland

Visit us: www.frontiersin.org

Contact us: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Frontiers

FOLLOW US @frontiersin



IMPACT METRICS Advanced article metrics track visibility across digital media EXTENSIVE PROMOTION Marketing and promotion of impactful research

Our network